Effects of Non-Steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs on the Gastrointestinal and Cardiovascular System

Gwen M.C. Masclee



Effects of Non-Steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs on the Gastrointestinal and Cardiovascular System

Gwen M.C. Masclee

The work described in this thesis was conducted at the department of Medical Informatics (within the IPCI; Interdisciplinary Processing of Clinical Information project) and Gastroenterology and Hepatology at the Erasmus University Medical Center, Rotterdam, the Netherlands. Parts of this thesis were conducted within international collaborative projects funded by the European Commission in the 7th Framework Programme; EU-ADR (Exploring and Understanding Adverse Drug Reactions; under grant agreement number 215847–The EU-ADR Project), SOS (Safety Of non-Steroidal Anti-inflammatory drugs; under grant agreement number 223495 - the SOS project) and SAFEGUARD (Safety Evaluation of Adverse Reactions in Diabetes; under grant agreement number 282521 - the SAFEGUARD project), and a project funded by AstraZeneca PLC. The funders had no role in design or conduct of the studies; collection, management, analysis, or interpretation of the data; preparation, review or approval of the manuscripts described in this thesis.

For reasons of consistency within this thesis, some terms have been standardized throughout the text. As a consequence, the text may differ in this respect from the articles that have been published.

Financial support for the publication of this thesis was generously provided by: Erasmus MC Interdisciplinary Processing of Clinical Information (IPCI) group Nederlands Bijwerkingen Fonds Nederlandse Hartstichting Nederlandse Vereniging voor Gastroenterologie Chipsoft B.V. Dr. Falk Phama Benelux B.V. Ferring B.V.

Cover and illustrations designed by Marloes Meerburg. Printing by Gildeprint, Enschede, the Netherlands.

ISBN 978-94-6233-285-0

Copyright © 2016 by Gwen M.C. Masclee, Rotterdam, the Netherlands.

All rights reserved. No parts of this thesis may be reproduced, distributed, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted in any form or by any means without prior permission of the author, or when appropriate, the publishers of the publications.

Effects of Non-Steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs on the Gastrointestinal and Cardiovascular System

Effecten van NSAID's op het maag-darm stelsel en cardiovasculaire systeem

Proefschrift

ter verkrijging van de graad van doctor aan de Erasmus Universiteit Rotterdam op gezag van de rector magnificus Prof.dr. H.A.P. Pols en volgens besluit van het College voor Promoties.

> De openbare verdediging zal plaatsvinden op woensdag 29 juni 2016 om 9:30 uur

> > door

Gwen Marilou Cootje Masclee

geboren te Nijmegen

Ezafung

Erasmus University Rotterdam

Promotiecommissie

Promotoren:	Prof.dr. M.C.J.M. Sturkenboom Prof.dr. E.J. Kuipers
Overige leden:	Prof.dr. M.J. Bruno Prof.dr. E.P. van Puijenbroek Prof.dr. B.H. Stricker

Copromotor: Dr. P.M. Coloma

Financial support by the Dutch Heart Foundation for the publication of this thesis is gratefully acknowledged.

CONTENTS

SECTION 1	GENERAL INTRODUCTION	
1.1	General Introduction	9
SECTION 2	USE AND EFFECTS OF PROTON PUMP INHIBITORS IN THE ELDER	RLY
2.1	A benefit-risk assessment of the use of proton pump inhibitors in the elderly	23
SECTION 3	NSAIDS AND PPIS IN THE CONTEXT OF BARRETT'S ESOPHAGUS AND ESOPHAGEAL ADENOCARCINOMA	
3.1	Incidence of Barrett's esophagus and esophageal adenocarcinoma in the United Kingdom and the Netherlands is levelling off	51
3.2	NSAIDs, statins, low-dose aspirin and PPIs and the risk of EAC among patients with BE, a population-based case-control study	67
SECTION 4	NSAIDS AND THE RISK OF UPPER GASTROINTESTINAL BLEEDING	3
4.1	Generating and evaluating a propensity model using textual features from electronic medical records	89
4.2	Cyclo-oxygenase-2 inhibitors or nonselective NSAIDs plus gastro- protective agents: what to prescribe in daily clinical practice?	107
4.3	Risk of upper gastrointestinal bleeding from different drug combinations	127
SECTION 5	NSAIDS AND PPIS AND THE RISK OF MICROSCOPIC COLITIS	
5.1	Incidence of microscopic colitis in the Netherlands in relation to the number of colonoscopies over time	159
5.2	Increased risk of microscopic colitis with use of proton pump inhibitors and non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs	163
5.3	Risk of colorectal neoplasia in patients with microscopic colitis	189

SECTION 6 NSAIDS AND THE RISK OF CARDIOVASCULAR EVENTS

6.1	Risk of acute myocardial infarction during use of individual NSAIDs: a nested case-control study in the SOS project	213
6.2	Individualized NSAID prescribing based on gastrointestinal and cardiovascular risks: a decision model in the SOS project	249
SECTION 7	POOLING OF DATA FROM MULTIPLE DATA SOURCES	
7.1	Pooling of individual patient-level data or summary estimates from multiple nested case-control studies in the SAFEGUARD project	275
SECTION 8	SUMMARY AND GENERAL DISCUSSION	
8.1	Summary and General discussion	299
8.1 APPENDICES	Summary and General discussion	299
8.1 APPENDICES	Summary and General discussion Nederlandse Samenvatting	299 315
8.1 APPENDICES	Summary and General discussion Nederlandse Samenvatting References	299 315 319
8.1 APPENDICES	Summary and General discussion Nederlandse Samenvatting References Abbreviations	299 315 319 344
8.1 APPENDICES	Summary and General discussion Nederlandse Samenvatting References Abbreviations Contributing Authors	299 315 319 344 347
8.1 APPENDICES	Summary and General discussion Nederlandse Samenvatting References Abbreviations Contributing Authors PhD Portfolio	299 315 319 344 347 350
8.1 APPENDICES	Summary and General discussion Nederlandse Samenvatting References Abbreviations Contributing Authors PhD Portfolio List of Publications	299 315 319 344 347 350 354

About the Author

360

SECTION 1

General Introduction



INTRODUCTION

The following paragraphs provide an introduction to and brief background of the topic of this thesis. The introduction elaborates on two drug classes that are the main drugs investigated in this thesis, namely non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, also known as NSAIDs, and proton pump inhibitors, which are abbreviated as PPIs.

Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs

Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) are derivatives from acetylsalicyl acid, a drug that is also known as aspirin. The first NSAID that has been developed was ibuprofen. Ibuprofen was used for the first time in 1968 for its analgesic and anti-inflammatory properties.¹ Since then many other NSAIDs have been developed and their use in the general population has gained a lot in popularity. In Europe, NSAIDs account for 7.7% of all drug prescriptions² and the annual prevalence of NSAID use is estimated at around 20%.³ This translates to around 2.6 million subjects in the Netherlands that received NSAID prescriptions from their physician in 2013 (Figure 1). You may wonder why these drugs are one of the world's most frequently prescribed drugs? This question is relatively easy to answer, since NSAIDs have analgesic, antipyretic and anti-inflammatory actions. Subsequently, NSAIDs can be given for a wide range of indications of diseases to treat, such as in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis or other inflammatory conditions.^{5, 6} NSAIDs also have an important role in the management of pain. The first step in pain management includes the use of non-opioid drugs, such as paracetamol as this is very effective in many painful conditions. When paracetamol treatment is not sufficiently effective, NSAIDs may be considered as second treatment option.



Figure 1. Number of users (solid line) and total costs in millions (dashed line) of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) and proton pump inhibitors (PPIs) in the Netherlands between 2009 and 2013.

In the general population NSAIDs such as diclofenac or ibuprofen are considered effective drugs and relative safe or even harmless. Therefore they are widely used for mild symptoms such as: headache, migraine or musculoskeletal complaints. The mechanism by which NSAIDs diminish the pain and inflammation is via inhibition of specific enzymes, the so called cyclo-oxygenase (COX) enzymes (Figure 2). One of the endproducts of these enzymes are prostaglandins, which play an important role in pain, thrombocyte aggregation and thrombosis. They are also responsible for the production of a protective mucus layer in the stomach.⁷⁻⁹ There are various isoforms of the COX-enzymes, but the most frequently studied are COX-1 and COX-2 enzyme. The COX-1 enzyme is among others responsible for production of thromboxane A₂ for platelet function and production of prostacyclin for stomach endothelium protection. COX-1 is present in most body tissues. The other isoform, COX-2 enzyme, is responsible for the perception and regulation of pain. Generally, COX-2 is present in some tissues, but during an inflammatory process the enzyme is present in other tissues as well.



Cyclo-oxygenase (COX)-1 and COX-2 inhibitors

Figure 2. Mechanism of action of cyclo-oxygenase inhibitors.

Now, given the underlying mechanisms of these enzymes, it becomes clear that the traditional nonselective (ns) NSAIDs such as ibuprofen, naproxen and diclofenac, inhibit both forms of cyclo-oxygenase enzymes. However, this results in gastrointestinal vulnerability and may lead to stomach bleeding. This was one of the key reasons for development of NSAIDs that specifically inhibited the COX-2 enzyme only, and thus should be safer for the stomach; the selective COX-2 inhibitors, such as celecoxib, etoricoxib, rofecoxib and valdecoxib.^{10, 11}

Proton Pump Inhibitors

Proton pump inhibitors (PPIs) are one of the most commonly used drugs worldwide. After introduction on the market of omeprazole in 1988, the use of PPIs rapidly rose. In later years, more PPIs became available (in particular lansoprazole, rabeprazole, pantoprazole and esomeprazole). Their share on the market for 2014 in the Netherlands was 7% of all drug dispensings. The superiority of PPIs in the treatment of non-erosive reflux disease and erosive esophagitis as compared to treatment with histamine-2 receptor antagonists (H2RA) has been proven in various randomized clinical trials and is generally accepted.¹³

In the United States PPIs ranked ninth among the most frequently dispensed therapeutic classes in 2012. A similar rise in use of PPIs has been observed in European countries. In recent years, the total amount of units prescribed and number of persons using omeprazole is ranked within the top 5 of drugs in the Netherlands. This resulted in substantial expenditures, where PPIs accounted for \$10.0 billion in 2012 in the United States and 110 million Europs in the Netherlands in 2013 (Figure 1). Although some PPIs have become available over-the-counter (OTC) in some countries, most PPIs are used on prescription.

The widespread use of PPIs is partly due to the application of PPIs for various medical conditions (Table 1). Despite the clear benefits of PPIs on upper GI safety, the minister of Health, Welfare and Sports in the Netherlands decided to exclude PPIs as part of the basic insurance and reimbursement of the costs. Nevertheless, it appeared that the number of upper GI bleedings decreased in the year following this decision.¹⁶

Table 1. Common indications for Proton Pump Inhibitor use.

Clinical indication of Proton Pump Inhibitor use	
Gastroesophageal Reflux Disease	
Peptic Ulcer Disease	
Non-ulcer dyspepsia	
Prophylaxis for NSAID or low-dose aspirin use	
Helicobacter pylori eradication	
Zollinger-Ellison syndrome	
Barrett's esophagus	

NSAID, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug

PPIs are considered relatively safe drugs because side effects are infrequent and mostly of modest severity; mainly including headache, diarrhea, constipation, nausea and rash. These occur in a small proportion of users (1% to 5%). The prolonged and potentially non-judicious use of PPIs, however, is associated with risks. Several of the adverse effects of PPIs that have been documented are pertinent to older people such as bone fractures,¹⁷⁻²⁴ pneumonia,²⁶⁻³⁵ vitamin B_{12} ,³⁶⁻⁴⁷ and iron absorption problems,⁴⁸⁻⁵³ *Clostridium difficile* infection,⁵⁵⁻⁵⁷

hypomagnesemia,⁵⁸⁻⁶³ and acute interstitial nephritis.⁶⁵⁻⁶⁸ However, due to their wide use any small adverse effect of PPIs may have a considerable impact on health and morbidity in the elderly population.

NSAID-related Adverse Events

For a long time it has been known that the use of NSAIDs is associated with various unintended side effects. The severity of these side effects range from experiencing mild symptoms; such as dyspepsia or heart burning, to severe gastroduodenal ulcerations and bleeding, leading to hospitalization and potentially even death.

Gastrointestinal events

Upper gastrointestinal (GI) bleeding is still one of the most common acute diseases in the field of gastroenterology.⁶⁹ It occurs in around 50 to 60 persons out of 100,000 persons each year. When translating this to the Netherlands, around 8,000 to 9,000 patients suffer from acute upper GI bleeding each year. Although in recent years substantial improvement in the prevention and treatment of upper GI bleeding has been accomplished, the mortality rate of upper GI bleeding is still around 5%-10%.^{70, 71} The most common cause of upper GI bleeding is still the use of NSAIDs, which increases the risk of upper GI bleeding around 2 to 4 fold ^{72, 73} and yields an annual absolute risk of upper GI bleeding of 1.36%, as based on the integration of event rates from meta-analyses and large randomized trials.⁷⁴ However, within the group of NSAIDs, the selective COX-2 inhibitors have proven in clinical trials to result less often in symptomatic upper GI ulcers or ulcer complications compared to the traditional NSAIDS.^{10, 11, 75} Yet, it is important to realize that still a considerable proportion of around 3.7% to 8.9% of selective COX-2 inhibitor users continues to experience upper GI events.⁷⁶⁻⁷⁹

However, the effects of NSAIDs extend also beyond the duodenum. Currently, evidence is accumulating that NSAID use is also associated with injury to the small bowel and colon.⁸⁰ It appeared that there are more small bowel and colonic mucosal breaks and erosions in patients when taking NSAIDs.⁸¹ However whether these physiological changes also translate to a clinically relevant outcome, such as hospitalization because of rectal bleeding or anemia remains unclear.⁸² Since the outcomes of the lower gastrointestinal system are difficult to establish, especially when considering electronic health care records for case identification, this outcome was not assessed in the current thesis. Yet the outcome of microscopic inflammation of the colon was included. NSAIDs, and to a lesser extent PPIs, are thought to interfere with the cell-to-cell attachment.⁸³⁻⁸⁸ When the bowel integrity and colonic permeability is affected, luminal antigens may enter easily the underlying layers of the intestines and elicit an immune and inflammatory reaction.⁸³

Cardiovascular events

After successful release of selective COX-2 inhibitors on the market^{10, 75} concerns were raised about their cardiovascular (CV) safety.¹¹ In 2001 a pharmaceutical company commenced a randomized clinical trial (RCT) to evaluate the efficacy of rofecoxib on the prevention of colorectal polyps, as another selective COX-2 inhibitor namely celecoxib had already been approved for this indication.⁸⁹ With the RCT the company aimed to further evaluate a prior cardiovascular safety issue of rofecoxib. The trial was terminated early when preliminary data showed an increased relative risk of adverse thrombotic cardiovascular events (including myocardial infarction and stroke) for rofecoxib. However, it took several years before regulatory decisions about the CV safety were made. In the meanwhile many patients were still taking rofecoxib, which led to many deaths. This rofecoxib scandal led to the voluntary withdrawal of the drug in 2004^{11, 90} but as well to closer monitoring of newly marketed drugs. The United States Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and the European Medicines Agency (EMA) reviewed the safety of selective COX-2 inhibitors and concluded that selective COX-2 inhibitors increased the risk of CV events, but the overall benefit-risk balance was still positive.⁹³ They recommended to avoid selective COX-2 inhibitors in patients with ischemic heart disease, stroke or peripheral arterial disease.^{89, 94, 95} However, subsequently signals regarding the increased arterial thrombosis risk for use of the traditional nonselective NSAIDs arose, particularly when they were used at high doses and for long-term.^{96, 97} The Committee for Medicinal Products for Human use concluded in 2006 that there was insufficient evidence to conclude on a thrombotic risk. Therefore EMA requested a review of the safety of traditional NSAIDs as well. This led to the initiation of the Safety Of Non-Steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs (SOS)-project which aimed to assess the gastrointestinal and cardiovascular safety of NSAIDs. Parts are described in this thesis.

GUIDELINE RECOMMENDATIONS

Physicians prescribing NSAIDs to patients are faced with mainly two issues: 1) identification of patients at high-risk of developing adverse events; and 2) the selection of appropriate strategies to prevent upper GI bleeding and its complications. The clinical decision making is complex as the physician should not only balance the analgesic and anti-inflammatory potency of NSAIDs against the gastrointestinal risk profile, but also weigh the cardiovascular risk of NSAIDs for the individual patient. Several clinical guidelines have been published which aim to indicate preferred approaches for medical problems.⁹⁸⁻¹⁰⁰

Risk factors for upper GI complications have been identified in a large variety of studies and with a considerable degree of consistency. Although most risk factors are common across each guideline, some guidelines include more risk factors than others. In general the following risk factors are considered as most important factors in all guidelines: 1) a history of an upper GI event; 2) older age, above 65 years of age; and concomitant use of 3) anticoagulants; 4) corticosteroids; or 5) antiplatelets (including low-dose aspirin). Based on

these factors an arbitrarily stratification of patients being at 'low', 'moderate' or 'high' risk can be made.⁹⁹ A patient is considered at 'low' risk if there are no risk factors present, at 'moderate' risk if there are 1 or 2 risk factors present and at 'high' risk if there are more than 2 risk factors present, or if the patient had experienced an upper GI complication before. Other factors that are occasionally mentioned in guidelines include concurrent use of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors, using high dosages of NSAIDs and having comorbid diseases as rheumatoid arthritis, heart failure and diabetes mellitus.¹⁰⁰

Strikingly, despite the fact that there is very little evidence on the risk when several of these risk factors are combined it is stated in guidelines that the risk factors act cumulatively with an increasing (additive) risk when multiple risk factors are present.¹⁰⁰ It is however unclear whether we can simply add the risks of the separate risk factors cumulatively; or whether we should be taking some multiplicative function of additional/excess risk into account.

Possible preventive strategies for upper GI events include a concurrent prescription of a proton pump inhibitor or histamine-2 receptor antagonist to a nonselective NSAID, or to prescribe a selective COX-2 inhibitor instead of a nonselective NSAID.

As can be understood from the cardiovascular risks of NSAIDs discussed above, the cardiovascular risk of patients should be considered in the recommendation of prevention of NSAID-related upper GI complications as well. In general, patients at risk of cardiovascular events, such as those with a history of a prior cardiovascular event, diabetes, hypertension, hyperlipidemia and obesity, often receive prophylactic low-dose aspirin.⁹⁹ When considering patients receiving low-dose aspirin as 'at risk of cardiovascular events' we can summarize the recommendations for prevention of NSAID-related upper GI complications as is shown in Table 2. The area of appropriate gastroprotection in patients at risk of upper GI events is still evolving and possibly we should prescribe a selective COX-2 inhibitor with a proton pump inhibitor to patients at risk.^{101, 102}

			Gastrointestina	l risk
		Low	Moderate	High
ovascular Risk	No low-dose aspirin use Low CV risk	NSAID alone	NSAID + PPI	Preferably no NSAID, otherwise COX-2 inhibitor + PPI
Cardi	Use of low-dose aspirin High CV risk	Naproxen + PPI	Naproxen + PPI	Preferably no nsNSAID or COX-2 inhibitor

 Table 2. Recommendations for prevention of NSAID-related upper GI complications according to gastrointestinal and cardiovascular risk.⁹⁹

CV, cardiovascular; NSAID, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug; PPI, proton pum inhibitor

AIMS AND OUTLINE OF THIS THESIS

This thesis aims to provide insight into several safety and beneficial aspects of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug (NSAID) use and proton pump inhibitor (PPI) use on different parts of the gastrointestinal system and the cardiovascular system. The thesis is divided in seven sections.

The first section provides a general introduction to the thesis and summarizes the use of NSAIDs, PPIs and the potential complications of use.

In Section 2 we focus on the use of PPIs. PPIs are frequently used drugs as it is recommended to co-prescribe PPIs with NSAIDs in order to mitigate the risk of NSAID-related upper gastrointestinal bleeding. The use of PPIs is however not without implications. The benefits and harms of PPI use in an elderly population are discussed in *Chapter 2.1*.

In Section 3 we elaborate on two diseases of the esophagus and their relation with the use of NSAIDs and PPIs. Barrett's esophagus (BE) is characterised by replacement of the squamous epithelium of the esophagus by metaplastic columnar epithelium and considered a consequence of prolonged gastro-esophageal reflux into the lower esophagus. BE is one of the most important risk factors for subsequent development of esophageal adenocarcinoma (EAC) via a stepwise pathway of low-grade and high-grade dysplasia. How often Barrett's esophagus occurs in the general population in the Netherlands and the United Kingdom is described in Chapter 3.1. In this chapter we also elaborate on the frequency of development of esophageal adenocarcinoma within patients with Barrett's esophagus. Recognizing that besides the decrease in death rates of most cancers in recent years in contrast to the increased mortality for esophageal cancer, and the 5-year survival rate of subjects with esophageal cancer is only between 13% to 17%, the need for effective prevention of esophageal cancer development is warranted. There was some promising information of cancer prevention via use of PPIs and NSAIDs in patients with BE, however, it remained unclear to which extent this could be applicable to a more general population of BE. In Chapter 3.2 we expand the knowledge by assessing whether NSAIDs and PPIs are effective in reducing the progression from Barrett's esophagus to esophageal adenocarcinoma.

The action of NSAIDs on the stomach is well-known. NSAIDs are ulcerogenic drugs and increase the risk of upper gastrointestinal bleeding, ulceration and complications. Section 4 is devoted to this topic. Upper GI bleeding has a major impact on patients' quality of life and public health care costs. Although great improvements in prevention and treatment of upper GI bleeding have been achieved in recent decades, upper GI bleeding-related morbidity and mortality remain substantial. In clinical trials the benefit of selective COX-2 inhibitors over traditional nonselective NSAIDs with respect to upper GI events was shown. After selective COX-2 inhibitors came on the market, it became clear that physicians preferentially prescribed these 'new' and 'safer' drugs to patients at higher risk of upper GI bleeding than patients who

received the traditional older nonselective NSAIDs. In observational studies using routinely prospectively collected data, it is difficult to take this channelling preference into account. In *Chapter 4.1* we assess whether we are able to address this confounding issue. When comparing two comparable groups with regard to their upper gastrointestinal risk profile, the question of whether we should prefer prescribing a traditional nsNSAID together with a gastroprotective agent or a selective COX-2 inhibitor solely is addressed in *Chapter 4.2*.

Not only NSAIDs are known to increase the risk of upper GI bleeding, use of low-dose aspirin, which is considered standard of care for cardiovascular prevention, increases the risk of upper GI bleeding up to 4-fold. Given the fact that around 30% of patients using low-dose aspirin will also use an NSAID, the risk of upper gastrointestinal bleeding may rise substantially. In clinical guidelines it is mentioned that combining certain drugs, for instance glucocorticoids and anticoagulants, with NSAIDs should be avoided. In *Chapter 4.3* we estimate the risk of upper GI bleeding when multiple drugs are used concomitantly with nsNSAIDs, selective COX-2 inhibitors or low-dose aspirin. Additionally we assess whether drugs have synergy with each other resulting in an excess risk that would not have been expected on the basis of the individual risks of upper GI bleeding.

The last organ of the gastrointestinal system that is studied in this thesis is the colon, also known as large bowel. One of the most important functions of the colon is the resorption of water from the wastes that pass through. Inflammation of the colon interferes with this process and results in decreased water resorption and ultimately diarrhea. Microscopic colitis (MC) is a condition characterized by chronic watery diarrhea, normal radiological and endoscopic appearance and microscopic inflammation of the colon. In recent years several studies reported on an increasing incidence of MC, however whether this holds for the Netherlands as well, is unknown. In Chapter 5.1 we investigate whether the substantial increase in colonoscopies in recent decades may be charged for that. The etiology of the disease is largely unknown, but NSAIDs and PPIs may be involved in the predisposition of MC development. In Chapter 5.2 we disentangle the effects of NSAIDs and PPIs on the colon and investigate whether the use of these drugs increases the risk of microscopic colitis, or whether they worsen symptoms of diarrhea. Continued chronic inflammation of the colon may result in conformational changes of cells in the colon. Patients with certain chronic inflammatory bowel diseases are more likely to develop colorectal neoplasia because of chronic inflammation. Whether this also holds for chronic inflammation in the context of microscopic colitis is investigated in Chapter 5.3.

After the increased thrombotic risk with rofecoxib, it became clear that there is more than only the gut to look for harmful effects of NSAIDs. To assess whether the thrombotic risk is also seen for other frequently used individual NSAIDs or this was specifically an effect of selective COX-2 inhibitors, in *Chapter 6.1* analysis of the risk of acute myocardial infarction for twenty-eight individual NSAID compounds is done. Summarizing the knowledge gathered from Chapters 4.1-4.3 and Chapter 6.1 you would like to assess for an individual patient given

his/her upper GI and cardiovascular risk profile which individual NSAID should be preferred over all others. Despite some guidance from the clinical guidelines, it remains difficult for a physician to tailor NSAID-therapy and to consider appropriate gastric protection for an individual patient. *Chapter 6.2* incorporates evidence on the gastrointestinal and cardiovascular risk of NSAIDs and provides an overall decision tool to assess on individual patient-level which individual NSAID is relatively the safest choice.

In the previous chapters we use and combine a variety of databases to address the research questions. In which way to consider combination of large-scale data and results is however, an area that does not have fully developed and validated methods. In the context of a common data model we compared two methods to combine results from several nested case-control studies in the SAFEGUARD project (Section 7, *Chapter 7.1*).

In the last section (Section 8), the main findings of this thesis are summarized and discussed.

Throughout this thesis a variety of data sources, study designs and exposures are being studied. In Table 3 an overview of these including the research question can be seen.

21.1 Dead Safety of poton pump Review NA PBs 31.1 indiktors among the eldery Cohont study PC, THIN NL, UK BE, EAC MA 31.1 indiktors among the eldery Cohont study PC, THIN NL, UK BE, EAC MA 32.1 patients Coffmenteertion of EAC among BE Cohont study PC, THIN NL, UK EAC NSAIDs, stating, PIN, SSNIS, IDA 4.1 Generating high-dimensional Matched PC1 NL Upper GI bleeding and NSAIDs 4.1 Generating high-dimensional Matched PC1 NL Upper GI bleeding NSAIDs 4.2 Selective COX3 inhibitors or Nested PC1 NL Upper GI bleeding and NSAIDs 4.3 Generating high-dimensional Selective COX3 inhibitors or NSAIDs Selective COX3 inhibitors, ID 4.3 Generating high-dimensional Nested PC1 NL Upper GI bleeding NSAIDs 5 Selective COX3 inhibitors or Selective COX3 inhibitors, ID NC, TN, U <td< th=""><th>Chapter</th><th>Research Topic</th><th>Design</th><th>Setting</th><th>Country</th><th>Outcome</th><th>Drugs</th></td<>	Chapter	Research Topic	Design	Setting	Country	Outcome	Drugs
intidence of B and EAC among BE Cohort study PCU, THIN NL, WC BE, EAC NA 3.1 Detemprevention of EAC among BE Cohort study PCU, THIN NL, WL BE, EAC NA 3.2 Chemoprevention of EAC among BE Cohort study PCU, THIN NL, WL BE, EAC NA 4.1 Generating IBy-finensional Matched PCU NL Upper GI bleeding NSAIDs 4.2 Selective COX2 Inhibitors on information from medical records Nested CPR0, HSD, IPC NL Upper GI bleeding NSAIDs 4.3 Selective COX2 Inhibitors on information from medical records Nested CPR0, HSD, IPC NL Upper GI bleeding NSAIDs 4.3 Selective COX2 Inhibitors on information from medical records Selective COX2 Inhibitors, ID NSAIDs 4.3 Contractured CPR0, HSB, IDA NL NL NL ND 4.4 Conort study PCI NL NL Upper GI bleeding NSAIDs 5 Conort study PCI NL NL Upper GI b	2.1	Use and safety of proton pump	Review	NA		NA	PPIS
3.1 inclearce of BE and EAC among BE. Cohort study PC, THIN NL, UK EAC NA 3.2 Chemoprevention of EAC among Nested PC, THIN NL, UK EAC NSADS, statins, PPS, S5Ns, LDA 3.2 Chemoprevention of EAC among Nested PC, THIN NL, UK EAC NSADS, statins, PPS, S5Ns, LDA 4.1 Generative Migh Themistonal Matched PCI NL, UK VL VEPPer GI bleeding NSADS 4.2 Stevet COX, Jimbitors or Nested PPD, HSD, PCI Tr, NL, UK Upper GI bleeding and NSADS 4.3 Stevet COX, Jimbitors or Nested PPD, HSD, PCI Tr, NL, UK Upper GI complication 4.3 Concommanue of drags with Self. Aanhus, ARS, HSD, DK, IT, NL, Upper GI complication NSADS 4.3 Concommanue of drags with Self. Aanhus, ARS, HSD, DK, IT, NL, Upper GI bleeding NSADS 4.3 Concommanue of drags with Self. Aanhus, ARS, HSD, DK, IT, NL, Upper GI bleeding NSADS 4.3 Concommanue of drags with Self. Aanhus, ARS, HSD, DK, IT, NL, Upper GI bleeding NSADS 5.1 Indormanue of drags with Self. Aanhus, ARS, HSD, DK, IT, NL, Upper GI bleeding NS		inhibitors among the elderly					
3.1 Detection patients with BE NL UK EAC NSAIDS, statims, PPIs, SSRIs, LDA 4.1 Generating high-dimensional Matched PCI NL Upper GI bleecling NSAIDS 4.1 Generating high-dimensional Matched PCI NL Upper GI bleecling NSAIDS 4.2 Selective COX-21 inhibitors or information from medical records Nested PCPRD, HSD, PIC Tr, NL, Upper GI bleecling and NSAIDS 4.3 Selective COX-21 inhibitors, O NSAIDS NSAIDS Selective COX-21 inhibitors, D 4.3 Selective COX-21 inhibitors, O NSAIDS NSAIDS Selective COX-21 inhibitors, D 4.3 Concommantus of drags with Selective COX-21 inhibitors, D NSAIDS Selective COX-21 inhibitors, D 4.3 Concommantus of drags with Selective COX-21 inhibitors, D NSAIDS Selective COX-21 inhibitors, D 4.4 Concommantus of drags with Selective COX-21 inhibitors, D NSAIDS Selective COX-21 inhibitors, D 4.1 NL Upper GI bleecling and NSAIDS Selective COX-21 inhibitors, D 4.1 <td< td=""><td>3.1</td><td>Incidence of BE and EAC among BE</td><td>Cohort study</td><td>IPCI, THIN</td><td>NL, UK</td><td>BE, EAC</td><td>NA</td></td<>	3.1	Incidence of BE and EAC among BE	Cohort study	IPCI, THIN	NL, UK	BE, EAC	NA
3.2 Chemopreention of EAC among Nested PCI, THIN NL EAC NSAIDs, statins, Phy, SSRIs, JDA 4.1 Generating high-dimensional Matched PCI NL Upper GI bleeding NSAIDs 4.1 Generating high-dimensional Matched PCI NL Upper GI bleeding NSAIDs 4.2 Selective COX2 inhibitors on nonselective NSAIDs plus CCRL study PCH Tr, NL, UK Upper GI bleeding NSAIDs 4.3 Selective COX2 inhibitors on nonselective NSAIDs plus CCRL study PARNO, UNIMB Diver GI bleeding NSAIDs, selective COX2 inhibitors, LD 4.3 Concomitant use of drugs with and concentive agents and risk of upper GI outcomes Selective COX2 inhibitors, LD Diver GI bleeding NSAIDs, selective COX2 inhibitors, LD 5.1 Concomitant use of drugs with and concentive agents and risk of upper Selective COX2 inhibitors, LD Diver GI bleeding NSAIDs, selective COX2 inhibitors, LD 6.1 Concomitant use of drugs with and concentive agents and risk of upper GI bleeding NSAIDs, selective COX2 inhibitors, LD 7.1 Indefence of microscopic colitis in and vocentive agents and risk of upper GI bleeding NA NA 6.1 RIsk of microscopic colitis in microscopic colitis in microscopic colitis NA NA NA 7.1 Indefence of microscopic co		patients					
j Detents with BE CTRL study 4.1 potents with BF CTRL study Matched Incl Viper GI bleeding NSAIDs 1.1 potents with Bip-dimensional Matched Constructured Constructured Show 1.2 Selective COX2 inhibitors or Nested CPD, HSD, HSD NSAIDs 1.3 Selective COX2 inhibitors or Nested CPD, HSD, HSD NSAIDs 2.3 Selective COX2 inhibitors or CCTRL study Anhus, ARS, HSD, UK Upper GI outcomes 3 Concommation of Commentance Concommation of CCTRL study Anhus, ARS, HSD, UK, IN, Upper GI bleeding and NSAIDs, selective COX2 inhibitors, ID 1.3 Concommation of Concommation of CCTRL study Self- Anhus, ARS, HSD, UN, NIMIN NSAIDs, selective COX2 inhibitors, ID 1.3 Concommation of Concommation of CCTRL study Self- Anhus, ARS, HSD, Selective COX2 inhibitors, ID 1.4 Concommation of Concommation of CCTRL study Self- Anhus, ARS, HSD, Selective COX2 inhibitors, ID 2.4 Concommation of Concommation of CCTRL study Self- Anhus, ARS, HSD, Selective COX2 inhibitors, ID	3.2	Chemoprevention of EAC among	Nested	IPCI, THIN	NL, UK	EAC	NSAIDs, statins, PPIs, SSRIs, LDA
4.1 Generating high-dimensional Matched PCI NL Upper GI bleeding NSADS 1 Selective COX-2 inhibitors or on structured cohort study Nexted CPR), HSD, IPCI IT, NL, UK Upper GI bleeding and NSADS 4.2 Selective COX-2 inhibitors CTRL study Selective COX-2 inhibitors NSADS NSADS 4.3 Selective COX-2 inhibitors CTRL study Pending and NSADS NSADS 4.3 Concontrant use of drugs with Self Anhus, ARS, HSD, UK Upper GI complication NSADS 4.3 Concontrant use of drugs with Self Anhus, ARS, HSD, UK, NL, UK Upper GI complication NSADS 4.3 Concontrant use of drugs with Self Anhus, ARS, HSD, UN, NL Upper GI complication NSADS 4.4 Concontrant use of drugs with Self Anhus, ARS, HSD, NL NL NC 5.1 Incidence of microscopic colifs in Concontrant use of drugs with NL NL NC 6.1 Incidence of microscopic colifs in NL NL NL NL NC 6.1 Incidence of microscopic colifs in <td></td> <td>patients with BE</td> <td>CCTRL study</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>		patients with BE	CCTRL study				
properisity score on unstructured colort study colort study nitromatication NSAIDS 12 Selective COS, Jinibitors or nonselective MSAIDS plus CCTRL study Vaper GI complication NSAIDS 13 Tonselective egents and risk of upper GI outcomes Self- Aarhus, ARS, HSD, DK, IT, NL, Upper GI complication NSAIDS, storportective agents and risk of upper GI outcomes NSAIDS, selective COX.2 inhibitors, LD 13 Concominant use of drugs with upper GI outcomes Self- Aarhus, ARS, HSD, DK, IT, NL, Upper GI bleeding InSAIDS, selective COX.2 inhibitors, LD 13 Concominant use of drugs with upper GI outcomes Self- Aarhus, ARS, HSD, DK, IT, NL, Upper GI bleeding InSAIDS, selective COX.2 inhibitors, LD 14 Concominant use of drugs with upder GI outcomes Self- Aarhus, ARS, HSD, DK, IT, NL, Upper GI bleeding InSAIDS, selective COX.2 inhibitors, LD 15.1 Indedine of microscopic colitis Controlled Pedianet, IPC, NL NL Microscopic colitis, antiplatelst, r 16.1 Indedine of microscopic colitis Controlled Pedianet, IPC, NL NL Microscopic colitis, antiplatelst, r <td>4.1</td> <td>Generating high-dimensional</td> <td>Matched</td> <td>IPCI</td> <td>NL</td> <td>Upper GI bleeding</td> <td>NSAIDs</td>	4.1	Generating high-dimensional	Matched	IPCI	NL	Upper GI bleeding	NSAIDs
4.2 information from medical records 4.2 Selective COX2 inhibitors or nonselective NSAIDs plus Nested CPRD, H5D, IPC IT, NL, UK Upper Gl omplication NSAIDs 9.3 Descrime COX2 inhibitors or gastroprotective agents and risk of upper Gl outcomes Self- Anhus, ARS, H5D, D DK, IT, NL, UK Upper Gl omper Gl complication NSAIDs 4.3 Conominatures of drugs with nod low-does asplin and risk of upper Self- Anhus, ARS, H5D, D DK, IT, NL, UP per Gl bleeding Indicate or microscoles Indicate or microscoles <td></td> <td>propensity score on unstructured</td> <td>cohort study</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>		propensity score on unstructured	cohort study				
4.2 Selective COX-2 inhibitors or nonselective NSAUS plus Nested CPRU, HSD, IPC IT, NL, UK Upper GI complication 9 anotelective NSAUS plus CTRL study Nonselective NSAUS plus NSAUS 9 anotelective NSAUS plus CTRL study Nonselective NSAUS plus NSAUS 9 anotelective NSAUS plus Concomitant use of drugs with Self- Aarhus, ARS, HSD, No Upper GI complication 13 Concomitant use of drugs with Self- Aarhus, ARS, HSD, No UK, IT, NL, Upper GI bleeding InsNSAIDs, selective COX-2 inhibitors, LD 14 Concomitant use of drugs with Self- Aarhus, ARS, HSD, No UK, IT, NL, Upper GI bleeding InsNSAIDs, selective COX-2 inhibitors, LD 15.1 Ibleeding rand low-dose aspirin and risk of upper colitis in Color study PCI NL Microscopic colitis Microscopic colitis Individual Rom 5.2 Risk of microscopic colitis in Color study PCI NL Microscopic colitis Microsc		information from medical records					
Inonselective NSAIDs plus CCTRL study Inonselective NSAIDs plus Inonselective NSAIDs, selective cox.2 inhibitors, LD agatroprotective agents and risk of upper Self- Aanhus, ARS, HSD, N, IT, NL, Upper GI bleeding InSAIDs, selective COX.2 inhibitors, LD 4.3 Concomitation set of drugg with Self- Aanhus, ARS, HSD, N, IT, NL, Upper GI bleeding InsNSAIDs, selective COX.2 inhibitors, LD 5.1 InsNSAIDs, selective COX.2 inhibitors, controlled Pedianet, IPCI, NL NL Diodecing Indioaterone antagonists, calcium channel and low-dose aspirin and risk of upper Controsteroids, SSRIs, gastroprotective adioaterone antagonists, calcium channel action for number of colonoscopies NL Microscopic colitis, antiplatelets, r 5.2 Risk of microscopic colitis in Controstup use of NL Microscopic colitis, antiplatelets, r NA 5.3 Risk of foronectal mobiles of nonoscopies NL Microscopic colitis NA 6.1 Risk of foronectal mobiles NL Convectal polyps, SSRIs, IDA, ACE-inhibitors, IDA, ACE-inhibitors, IDA 6.2 Indiduence of microscopic colitis in CCTRL study PCI NL Incroscopic colitis, anticoaguidants, anticoaguida	4.2	Selective COX-2 inhibitors or	Nested	CPRD, HSD, IPCI	IT, NL, UK	Upper GI bleeding and	NSAIDs
gastroprotective agents and risk of upper Gl outcomes RSAIDs, selective COX-3 inhibitors, LD 4.3 Concomitant use of drugs with Self- Aanhus, ARS, HSD, In SSAIDs, selective COX-3 inhibitors, LD 7.1 Concomitant use of drugs with Self- Aanhus, ARS, HSD, In SSAIDs, selective COX-3 inhibitors, SSRIS, gastroprotective and goodsterone and agonists, calcium channe and low-dose aspin and risk of upper Concomitant use of drugs with Self- Aanhus, ARS, HSD, In controcteroids, SSRIS, gastroprotective and goodsterone and grants, anticoagulants, antiplatelets, relation to number of colonoscopics of the model N 5.1 Incidence of microscopic colitis N N N 61 bleeding Risk of facure model N N N 5.3 Risk of facure modelais in Contractal Polypes, SSRIS, DA, AGE-inhibitors, ID N 6.1		nonselective NSAIDs plus	CCTRL study			upper GI complication	
upper Gl outcomes anhus, ARS, HSD, DK, IT, NL, Upper Gl bleeding insNSAIDS, selective COX-3 inhibitors, LDA 4.3 Concomitant use of drugs with Self: Aanhus, ARS, HSD, DK, IT, NL, Upper Gl bleeding insNSAIDS, selective COX-3 inhibitors, LDA an INSAIDS, selective COX-2 inhibitors controlled Pedianet, IPCI, UK corticosteroids, SRIs, gastroprotective aldosterone antagonists, calcium channe 5.1 Incidence of microscopic colitis in Cohort study PCI NL Microscopic colitis, antiplatelst, n 5.2 Risk of microscopic colitis un Cohort study PCI NL Microscopic colitis, antiplatelst, n 5.3 Risk of microscopic colitis un Cohort study PCI NL Microscopic colitis, antiplatelst, n 6.1 Risk of microscopic colitis and Cohort study Demark, PALGA NL Colorectral polyps, NA 6.2 Inkident and and and Microscopic colitis NA Microscopic colitis NA 7.3 Risk of acute myocardial infarction NL Colorectal polyps, NA Microscopic colitis NA 6.1 Risk of acute myocardial infarction NL Colorectal polyps, NA Microsc		gastroprotective agents and risk of					
4.3 Concomitant use of drugs with Self- Aarhus, ARS, HSD, DK, IT, NL, Upper GI bleeding InSASIDS, selective COX-2 inhibitors, LD and low-dose aspirin and risk of upper controlled Pedianet, IPCL, UK Corticosteroids, SSRIs, gastroprotective and adosteroine antagonits, calcium channe, low-dose aspirin and risk of upper controlled Pedianet, IPCL, UK corticosteroids, SSRIs, gastroprotective antagonits, calcium channe, low-dose aspirin and risk of upper controlled Pedianet, IPCL, UK corticosteroids, SSRIs, gastroprotective antagonits, calcium channe, low-dose aspirin and risk of upper controlled Pedianet, IPCL, UK corticosteroids, SSRIs, LDA, ACE-inhibitors, LD 5.1 Incidence of microscopic colitis in Cohort study IPCL NL Microscopic colitis, cultipatets, n 5.2 Risk of microscopic colitis during use of Nested Nested Nesters, anticoagulants, antiplatets, n 6.1 Risk of colorectal neoplasia in Context Lug NL Colorectal polyps, NA 6.1 Risk of colorectal neoplasia in Context Lug NL Colorectal polyps, NA 6.1 Risk of colorectal neoplasia in Context Lug NL Colorectal polyps, NA 6.1 Risk of colorectal neoplasia in C		upper Gl outcomes					
nsNSAIDs, selective COX-2 inhibitors controlled Pedianet, IPCI, UK UK corticosteroids, SSRIs, gastroprotective and agonists, calcium channe dio we dose aspirin and risk of upper case series PHARMO, UNIMIB biockers, anticoagulants, antiplatelets, n controscopic colitis in Controlled PLA biockers, anticoagulants, antiplatelets, n biockers, anticoagulants, antiplatelets, n biockers, anticoagulants, antiplatelets, n controscopic colitis in 5.1 Incidence of microscopic colitis in Cohort study PCI NL Microscopic colitis MA 5.2 Risk of microscopic colitis uning use of Nested PCI NL Microscopic colitis NA 5.3 Risk of colonectal neoplasia in Contrutud Polorectal polyps, NA NA Diockers Diockers <td>4.3</td> <td>Concomitant use of drugs with</td> <td>Self-</td> <td>Aarhus, ARS, HSD,</td> <td>DK, IT, NL,</td> <td>Upper GI bleeding</td> <td>nsNSAIDs, selective COX-2 inhibitors, LDA,</td>	4.3	Concomitant use of drugs with	Self-	Aarhus, ARS, HSD,	DK, IT, NL,	Upper GI bleeding	nsNSAIDs, selective COX-2 inhibitors, LDA,
and low-dose aspirin and risk of uppercase seriesPHARMO, UNIMIBaldosterone antagonists, calcium channe5.1Incidence of microscopic colitis inCohort studyPCINLMicroscopic colitis, anticoagulants, antiplatelets, n5.2Risk of microscopic colitis andCohort studyPCINLMicroscopic colitisNA5.2Risk of microscopic colitis during use ofNestedPCINLMicroscopic colitisNA5.3Risk of colonoscopiesNestedPCINLMicroscopic colitisNA5.3Risk of colonoscopiesNestedPCINLMicroscopic colitisNA5.3Risk of colonoscopiesNestedPCINLMicroscopic colitisNA5.3Risk of colonoscopiesNestedPCINLMicroscopic colitisNA6.1Risk of colonoscopiesNANANANA6.2Individual NSAIDsCTRL studyPARMO, SISR, THINUKMi IS, HF and upper GIIndividual NSAID compounds6.3Individualized NSAID prescribing basedDecisionPARMO, SISR, THINUKComplicationIndividual NSAID compounds7.1Pooling of data from multiple dataNestedBIFAP, CPRD, SISR, THINUK, UKMi IS, HF and upper GIIndividual NSAID compounds7.1Pooling of data from multiple dataNestedBIFAP, CPRD, SISR, THINUK, UKNUNested7.1Pooling of data from multiple dataNestedBIFAP, CPRD, SISRNLAUNu </td <td></td> <td>nsNSAIDs, selective COX-2 inhibitors</td> <td>controlled</td> <td>Pedianet, IPCI,</td> <td>UK</td> <td></td> <td>corticosteroids, SSRIs, gastroprotective agents,</td>		nsNSAIDs, selective COX-2 inhibitors	controlled	Pedianet, IPCI,	UK		corticosteroids, SSRIs, gastroprotective agents,
GI bleeding Blockers, anticoagulants, antiplatelets, n 5.1 Incidence of microscopic colitis in Cohort study PCI NL Microscopic colitis NA 5.2 Risk of microscopic colitis during use of Nested PCI NL Microscopic colitis NA 5.3 Risk of microscopic colitis during use of Nested PCI NL Microscopic colitis NA 5.3 Risk of colorectal neoplasia in Cohort study Denmark, PALGA DK, NL Colorectal polyps, NA 5.3 Risk of colorectal neoplasia in Cohort study Denmark, PALGA DK, NL Colorectal polyps, NA 6.1 Risk of acute myocardial infarction Nested GePaRD, IPCI, OSSIFF, GF, IT, NL, Acute myocardial Individual NSAID compounds 6.2 Individual NSAID prescribing based Decision GePaRD, IPCI, OSSIFF, GF, IT, NL, Adv. Infarction Individual NSAID compounds 7.1 Pooling of data from multiple data Nested BIFAP, CPR0, GF, SR, THIN VL MI, IS, HF and upper GI Individual NSAID compounds 7.1 Pooling of data from multiple data Nested BIFAP, CPR0, GF,		and low-dose aspirin and risk of upper	case series	PHARMO, UNIMIB			aldosterone antagonists, calcium channel
5.1 Incidence of microscopic colitis in Cohort study PCI NL Microscopic colitis NA 5.2 Risk of microscopic colitis during use of Nested PCI NL Microscopic colitis NA 5.3 Risk of microscopic colitis during use of Nested PCI NL Microscopic colitis NA 5.3 Risk of colorectal neoplasia in Cortex tudy Demark, PALGA DK, NL Colorectal polyps, NA 5.3 Risk of colorectal neoplasia in Cohort study Demark, PALGA DK, NL Colorectal polyps, NA 6.1 Risk of acute myocardial infarction Nested GePaRD, IPCI, OSSIFF, GF, IT, NL, Acute myocardial Individual NSAID compounds 6.1 Nicouscular and GI risk Model PARMO, SISR, THIN UK Adul. IS, HF and upper GI Individual NSAID compounds 7.1 Pooling of data from multiple data Nested BIFAP, CPRD, GFARD, GF, IT, NL, S AMI. IS, HF and upper GI Individual NSAID compounds 7.1 Pooling of data from multiple data Nested BIFAP, CPRD, GFARD, GF, IT, NL, S AMI. IS, HF and upper GI Individual NSAID compounds		GI bleeding					blockers, anticoagulants, antiplatelets, nitrates
5.2 Risk of microscopies NL Microscopic colitis NSAIDs, PPIs, SSRIs, IDA, ACE-inhibitors, 5.3 Risk of microscopic colitis during use of Nested PCI NL Microscopic colitis NSAIDs, PPIs, SSRIs, IDA, ACE-inhibitors, 5.3 Risk of colorectal neoplasia in CorRL study Demark, PALGA DK, NL Colorectal polyps, NA 5.3 Risk of colorectal neoplasia in Cohort study Demark, PALGA DK, NL Colorectal polyps, NA 6.1 Risk of acute myocardial infarction Nested GePaRD, IPCI, OSSIFF, GF, IT, NL, Acute myocardial Individual NSAID compounds 6.2 Individual NSAID prescribing based Decision GePARD, IPCI, OSSIFF, GF, IT, NL, AMI, IS, HF and upper GI Individual NSAID compounds 7.1 Pooling of data from multiple data Nested BIFAP, CPR0, GF, SR, THIN UK, US AMI, IS, HF and upper GI Individual NSAID compounds 7.1 Pooling of data from multiple data Nested BIFAP, CPR0, GF, SR, TH U, UK, US AMI, IS, HF and upper GI Individual NSAID compounds 7.1 Pooling of data from multiple data Nested BIFAP, CPR0, GF, TX, UL AMI, I	5.1	Incidence of microscopic colitis in	Cohort study	IPCI	NL	Microscopic colitis	NA
5.2 Risk of microscopic colitis during use of lead Nested PCI NL Microscopic colitis NSAIDs, PPIs, SSRIs, LDA, ACE-inhibitors, lookers 5.3 drugs CCTRL study Denmark, PALGA DK, NL Diockers Blockers 5.3 Risk of colorectal neoplasia in Cohort study Denmark, PALGA DK, NL Colorectal polyps, lookers NA 6.1 Risk of acute myocardial infarction Nested GePaRD, IPCI, OSSIFF, GF, IT, NL Adenomas and cancer Adenomas and cancer 6.1 Risk of acute myocardial infarction Nested GePaRD, IPCI, OSSIFF, GF, IT, NL Aduring use of individual NSAID secretibing based Decision GePaRD, IPCI, OSSIFF, GF, IT, NL Aduring use of individual NSAID compounds 6.2 Individualized NSAID prescribing based Decision GePaRD, IPCI, OSSIFF, GF, IT, NL AMI, IS, HF and upper GI Individual NSAID compounds 7.1 Pooling of data from multiple data Nested BIFAP, CPR0, GF, SR, THIN VL AMI, IS, HF and upper GI Individual NSAID compounds 7.1 Pooling of data from multiple data Nested BIFAP, CPR0, GF, SR, THIN VL, NL, US AMI, IS, HF and upper GI Individual NSAID compounds 7.1 <td></td> <td>relation to number of colonoscopies</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>		relation to number of colonoscopies					
drugs CCTRL study CCTRL study blockers 5.3 Risk of colorectal neoplasia in Cohort study Demark, PALGA DK, NL Colorectal polyps, NA 6.1 Risk of acute myocardial infarction Nested GePaRD, IPCI, OSSIFF, GF, IT, NL, Adenomas and cancer 6.1 Risk of acute myocardial infarction Nested GePaRD, IPCI, OSSIFF, GF, IT, NL, Acute myocardial Individual NSAID compounds 6.2 Individual NSAID CCTRL study PHARMO, SISR, THIN UK infarction Individual NSAID compounds 6.2 Individualized NSAID prescribing based Decision GePaRD, IPCI, OSSIFF, GF, IT, NL, AMI, IS, HF and upper GI Individual NSAID compounds 7.1 Pooling of data from multiple data Nested BIFAP, CPR0, GF, SF, IT, AMI, IS, HF and upper GI Individual NSAID compounds 7.1 Pooling of data from multiple data Nested BIFAP, CPR0, GF, SF, IT, AMI, UK, US sources CCTRL study HSD, IPCI, Medicare, NL, UK, US AMI	5.2	Risk of microscopic colitis during use of	Nested	IPCI	NL	Microscopic colitis	NSAIDs, PPIs, SSRIs, LDA, ACE-inhibitors, beta-
5.3 Risk of colorectal neoplasia in Cohort study Demark, PALGA DK, NL Colorectal polyps, NA 6.1 Risk of acute myocardial infarction Nested GePaRD, IPCI, OSSIFF, GE, IT, NL, adenomas and cancer 6.1 Risk of acute myocardial infarction Nested GePaRD, IPCI, OSSIFF, GE, IT, NL, Acute myocardial Individual NSAID compounds 6.2 Individual NSAID CCTRL study PHARMO, SISR, THIN UK infarction Individual NSAID compounds 6.2 Individualized NSAID prescribing based Decision GePaRD, IPCI, OSSIFF, GE, IT, NL, AMI, IS, HF and upper GI Individual NSAID compounds 7.1 Pooling of data from multiple data Nested BIFAP, CPRD, GF, SR, IT, AMI, IS, HF and upper GI Individual NSAID compounds 7.1 Pooling of data from multiple data Nested BIFAP, CPRD, GF, SR, IT, AMI, IS, HF and upper GI Individual NSAID compounds 7.1 Pooling of data from multiple data Nested BIFAP, CPRD, GF, SR, IT, AMI, IS, HF Metformin, glimepiride sources CCTRL study HSD, IPCI, Medicare, NL, UK, US AMI Metformin, glimepiride </td <td></td> <td>drugs</td> <td>CCTRL study</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>blockers</td>		drugs	CCTRL study				blockers
microscopic colitis adenomas and cancer 6.1 Risk of acute myocardial infarction Nested GePaRD, IPCI, OSSIFF, GF, IT, NL, Acute myocardial Individual NSAID compounds 6.1 Auring use of individual NSAIDs CCTRL study PHARMO, SISR, THIN UK infarction Individual NSAID compounds 6.2 Individualized NSAID prescribing based Decision GePaRD, IPCI, OSSIFF, GF, IT, NL, AMI, IS, HF and upper GI Individual NSAID compounds 7.1 Pooling of data from multiple data Nested BIFAP, CPRD, GFPARD, GF, SF, IT, AMI Metformin, glimepiride sources CCTRL study HSD, IPCI, Medicare, NL, UK, US NL, UK, US AMI Metformin, glimepiride	5.3	Risk of colorectal neoplasia in	Cohort study	Denmark, PALGA	DK, NL	Colorectal polyps,	NA
6.1 Risk of acute myocardial infarction Nested GePaRD, IPCI, OSSIFF, GE, IT, NL, Acute myocardial Individual NSAID compounds 6.1 during use of individual NSAIDs CCTRL study PHARMO, SISR, THIN UK infarction Individual NSAID compounds 6.2 Individualized NSAID prescribing based Decision GePARD, IPCI, OSSIFF, GE, IT, NL, AMI, IS, HF and upper GI Individual NSAID compounds 6.2 Individualized NSAID prescribing based Decision GePARD, IPCI, OSSIFF, GE, IT, NL, AMI, IS, HF and upper GI Individual NSAID compounds 6.1 Individualized NSAID prescribing based Decision GePARD, IPCI, OSSIFF, GE, IT, NL, AMI, IS, HF and upper GI Individual NSAID compounds 7.1 Pooling of data from multiple data Nested BIFAP, CPRD, GE, ES, IT, AMI Metformin, glimepiride sources OSSIFF, PHARMO, SISR		microscopic colitis				adenomas and cancer	
during use of individual NSAIDs CCTRL study PHARMO, SISR, THIN UK infarction 6.2 Individualized NSAID prescribing based Decision GePaRD, IPCI, OSSIFF, GE, IT, NL, AMI, IS, HF and upper GI Individual NSAID compounds 6.1 on cardiovascular and GI risks model PHARMO, SISR, THIN UK complication 7.1 Pooling of data from multiple data Nested BIFAP, CPRD, GE, ES, IT, AMI Metformin, glimepiride sources CCTRL study HSD, IPCI, Medicare, NL, UK, US NL, UK, US NL, UK, US	6.1	Risk of acute myocardial infarction	Nested	GePaRD, IPCI, OSSIFF,	GE, IT, NL,	Acute myocardial	Individual NSAID compounds
6.2 Individualized NSAID prescribing based Decision GePaRD, IPCI, OSSIFF, GE, IT, NL, AMI, IS, HF and upper GI Individual NSAID compounds 0 on cardiovascular and GI risks model PHARMO, SISR, THIN UK complication 7.1 Pooling of data from multiple data Nested BIFAP, CPRD, GEPARD, GE, ES, IT, AMI Metformin, glimepiride sources CCTRL study HSD, IPCI, Medicare, NL, UK, US OSIFF, PHARMO, SISR		during use of individual NSAIDs	CCTRL study	PHARMO, SISR, THIN	UK	infarction	
on cardiovascular and GI risks model PHARMO, SISR, THIN UK complication 7.1 Pooling of data from multiple data Nested BIFAP, CPRD, GE, ES, IT, AMI Metformin, glimepiride sources CCTRL study HSD, IPCI, Medicare, NL, UK, US NL, UK, US Sources OSSIFF, PHARMO, SISR OSSIFF, PHARMO, SISR OSSIFF, PHARMO, SISR	6.2	Individualized NSAID prescribing based	Decision	GePaRD, IPCI, OSSIFF,	GE, IT, NL,	AMI, IS, HF and upper GI	Individual NSAID compounds
7.1 Pooling of data from multiple data Nested BIFAP, CPRD, GEPARD, GE, ES, IT, AMI Metformin, glimepiride sources CCTRL study HSD, IPCI, Medicare, NL, UK, US sources OSSIFF, PHARMO, SISR		on cardiovascular and GI risks	model	PHARMO, SISR, THIN	UK	complication	
sources CCTRL study HSD, IPCI, Medicare, NL, UK, US OSSIFF, PHARMO, SISR	7.1	Pooling of data from multiple data	Nested	BIFAP, CPRD, GePaRD,	GE, ES, IT,	AMI	Metformin, glimepiride
OSSIFF, PHARMO, SISR		sources	CCTRL study	HSD, IPCI, Medicare,	NL, UK, US		
				OSSIFF, PHARMO, SISR			

Table 3. Overview of study principles of studies described in this thesis.

AMI, acute myocardial infarction; BE, Barrett's esophagus; CCTRL, case-control; EAC, esophageal adenocarcinoma; ES, Spain; GE, Germany; GI, gastrointestinal; HF, heart failure; IS, ischemic stroke; IT, Italy, LDA, Iow-dose aspirin; NA, not applicable; NL, the Netherlands; NSAID, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug; PPI, proton pump inhibitor; SSRI, selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor; UK, United Kingdom; US, United States.

SECTION 2

Use and effects of Proton Pump Inhibitors in the elderly



CHAPTER 2.1

A Benefit-Risk Assessment of the Use of Proton Pump Inhibitors in the Elderly

Gwen MC Masclee, Miriam CJM Sturkenboom, Ernst J Kuipers

Drugs & Aging. 2014 Apr;31(4):263-82.

ABSTRACT

Proton pump inhibitors (PPIs) are among the most commonly used drugs worldwide and their intake increases with age. Despite a relatively safe profile, a range of studies reported associations between use of PPIs and various adverse events. The most important adverse events, such as pneumonia, bone fractures, bacterial enteric infections, and diminished vitamin absorption are critically discussed in this review in the view of body of evidence, including underlying biological mechanisms, evidence of causality and consistency. Most of the reported risks are relatively small and sometimes based on inconsistent evidence. For an individual patient and particularly the elderly, it is relevant to question the indication of use and balance the benefit and potential harm of PPI therapy. This approach can minimize morbidity and reduce health care costs. In this review the use and safety of proton pump inhibitors among the elderly is described.

Use of Proton Pump Inhibitors

Proton pump inhibitors (PPIs) are one of the most commonly used drugs worldwide. After introduction on the market of omeprazole in 1988, PPI use rapidly rose. In later years, more PPIs became available (in particular lansoprazole, rabeprazole, pantoprazole and esomeprazole). The superiority of PPIs in the treatment of non-erosive reflux disease and erosive esophagitis as compared to treatment with histamine-2 receptor antagonists (H2RA) has been proven in various randomized clinical trials and is generally accepted.¹³

In the United States PPIs ranked ninth among the most frequently dispensed therapeutic classes in 2012. A similar rise in use of PPIs has been observed in European countries. In recent years, the total amount of units prescribed and number of persons using omeprazole is ranked within the top 5 of drugs in the Netherlands. This resulted in substantial expenditures, where PPIs accounted for \$10.0 billion in 2012 in the United States. Although some PPIs have become available over-the-counter (OTC) in some countries, most PPIs are used on prescription.

Among the elderly, utilization patterns of PPIs are less well studied. The overall frequency of drug use is much higher among elderly as compared to the general population.¹⁰⁴ An Italian study showed that drugs used by elderly were in particular for acid-related disorders.¹⁰⁴ Around 16% of elderly subjects recorded using drugs for acid-related disorders (H2RA, PPIs and antacids).¹⁰⁴

Depending on the indication, PPIs can be used both short and long-term. Short-term use of PPIs is not associated with severe, unexpected adverse effects. Obviously, safety of PPIs is more jeopardized during long-term treatment. Elderly in long-term need of PPIs form a population with frequent co-morbid disease and concomitant multi-drug use.¹⁰⁵ Both factors affect the risk of adverse events. A third factor that is important when assessing associations in pharmaco-epidemiology is the presence of a dose-relationship. Though causality can never be fully established in observational studies, according to Bradford-Hill criteria, the presence of a dose-relationship strongly supports a causal association; i.e. meaning that higher dosages should be associated with a greater risk than lower dosages.¹⁰⁶

In this review the use and safety of PPIs in the elderly is discussed. PPIs are generally considered as safe drugs. However, a range of studies reported associations between use of PPIs and various adverse events. Some of the most relevant potential adverse events, such as pneumonia, bone fractures, bacterial enteric infections, and diminished vitamin absorption are critically discussed in this review in the view of body of evidence, including underlying biological mechanisms, evidence of causality and consistency.

Indications of PPI use in the elderly

The widespread use of PPIs is partly due to the application of PPIs for various medical conditions (Table 1). An observational study reported in 2006 that the most common indications for incident PPI use (defined as new users who did not take a PPI within the

previous 12 months) were gastroesophageal reflux disease (GERD) and non-reflux dyspepsia, accounting respectively for 27% and 25% of new prescriptions. Long-term PPI use (defined as receiving at least 3 PPI prescriptions) occurred in around 60% of patients with esophagitis Los Angeles classification grade A/B, in 75% of grade C/D esophagitis and in 70% of subjects diagnosed with Barrett's esophagus.¹⁰⁷ However, PPIs were prescribed only once in the majority of patients and particular for symptom relief of simple reflux.¹⁰⁷ Only in 6% of PPI users the indication was defined as 'other'.¹⁰⁷ This contrasted to an Australian study, in which 21% of PPI use was for acute gastrointestinal bleeding, and 40% for 'other' indications.¹⁰⁸ Age of 65 years or older is an established risk factor for upper gastrointestinal (GI) bleeding in non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug (NSAID) users.⁹⁹ Among the elderly PPIs are therefore often co-prescribed to NSAIDs as gastroprotective measure.¹⁰⁹

 Table 1. Common indications for Proton Pump Inhibitor use in the elderly.

Clinical indication of Proton Pump Inhibitor use
Gastroesophageal Reflux Disease
Peptic Ulcer Disease
Non-ulcer dyspepsia
Prophylaxis for NSAID or low-dose aspirin use
Helicobacter pylori eradication
Zollinger-Ellison syndrome
Barrett's esophagus

NSAID, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug

Additionally, the use of low-dose aspirin (LDA; up to 325mg/day for cardiovascular prevention) is considered an indication for PPI use. It has been shown that use of LDA increases the risk of upper GI bleeding 2 to 4 fold.^{73, 110-113} Clinical guidelines recommend use of PPIs in patients receiving LDA to minimize upper GI bleeding risk when one of the following risk factors is present: 1) history of peptic ulcer disease or upper GI bleeding; 2) aged 60 years or older; 3) concomitant use of corticosteroids; 4) presence of dyspepsia or GERD.¹¹⁴ Following this definition, elderly using LDA should be prescribed a PPI for appropriate gastroprotection. Adherence to these recommendations however still deserves improvement.^{98, 115, 116}

There is scarce evidence on the risk of upper GI bleeding during use of corticosteroids or anticoagulants, as the underlying co morbid disease or concomitant use of NSAIDs or LDA may partially explain the risk of upper GI bleeding.^{72, 73, 117-119} Nevertheless, PPIs can also be considered as appropriate gastroprotective treatment in vulnerable elderly using corticosteroids or anticoagulants.

Eradication of *Helicobacter pylori* (*H. pylori*) is a common indication for short-term use of PPIs. It served as indication in 15% of PPI users.¹⁰⁷

Age related changes in the stomach of the elderly

In the elderly, prostaglandin-levels decrease due to diminished conversion of arachidonic acid to prostaglandin via the cyclo-oxygenase (COX)-1 enzyme. This may result in a stomach being more prone to irritants and an increase in the risk of upper GI bleeding. This partially accounts for the recommendation that gastroprotective measures should be employed in the elderly when using NSAIDs.⁹⁹ Supporting evidence comes from experimental studies, showing that older rats expressed lower levels of COX-enzyme mRNA than younger rats and had an impaired response of prostaglandin synthesis to irritants.¹²⁰ In addition, in elderly there is a higher basal acid output in the stomach¹²¹ resulting in lower prostaglandin concentrations in the stomach and duodenum.¹²² Therefore, the stomach of the elderly is more vulnerable to exposure and toxic stimuli, such as drugs (i.e. NSAIDs, LDA). Protective measures including co-prescription of a PPI are therefore recommended to the elderly.⁹⁹

Despite the fact that elderly patients may suffer from more pronounced esophageal mucosal injury and acid exposure than younger patients, the perception of symptom severity for heartburn is less.¹²³ The time to symptom perception and sensory intensity is reduced in the elderly. An age-related reduction in chemosensitivity to acid is a possible underlying mechanism. However, it has been suggested that the altered perception of esophageal pain in elderly people is the result of an ageing process rather than an acquired phenomenon resulting from disease.¹²⁴

Thirdly, atrophic gastritis is more prevalent among the elderly, in particular among *H. pylori*-positive subjects.¹²⁵ Gastric atrophy ultimately may occur in 40-50% of *H. pylori* infected individuals. The impact of acid suppression on *H. pylori* presence and its shift from gastric antrum to corpus has been extensively discussed previously. By decreasing gastric acidity in the gastric corpus, colonization of the corpus by *H. pylori* is enhanced.^{125, 126} Increased inflammation of the gastric corpus accelerates the progression to chronic atrophic gastritis.¹²⁶ Chronic atrophic gastritis increases the risk of gastric cancer. This explains the recommendation in international guidelines to consider a test-and-treat regimen for *H. pylori* infection in subjects who require long-term maintenance treatment with a PPI.¹²⁷

Harmful use of PPIs in the elderly

Apart from the susceptibility of adverse outcomes due to long-term PPI treatment in elderly, several factors interact with each other that may lead to negative outcomes; including poor nutritional status, co morbid diseases and polypharmacy. Concerns were raised about the association between PPI use and increased mortality in institutionalized older people¹²⁸ and in patients discharged from hospitals.¹²⁹ The risk of death in the year following hospitalization increased by 51% (HR 1.51; 95%CI: 1.03-2.77) for PPI users compared to PPI non-users.¹³⁰ In another study the risk increased by 36% (HR 1.36; 95%CI: 1.04-1.77) in elderly in long-term care hospitals and by 90% (HR 1.90; 95%CI: 1.23-2.94) among elderly in acute geriatric wards and nursing homes.¹²⁹ These rates are in line with estimates from another study.¹²⁸ The

association was even stronger for use of high-dose PPIs than for use of low-dose PPIs.¹³⁰ The groups of PPI users were too small to allow for stratification of the analysis to individual PPIs, apart from esomeprazole and lansoprazole, which both demonstrated a significant increased risk of mortality.¹³⁰ Thus elderly residents who reside in long-term care hospitals or in acute geriatric wards or nursing homes may be at increased risk of mortality when using PPIs compared to non-users of PPIs.¹²⁹ Although underlying mechanism of increased mortality may be by some of the adverse events that are discussed in the current review, a potential explanation that also should be considered is that PPIs users reflect a group of older patients with complex medication regimens for multiple chronic conditions.^{130, 131} This hypothesis is supported by the fact that there was no increase in mortality risk among elderly in assistedliving facilities, whereas an increase was seen for more care-dependent elderly.¹²⁹ Adherence to PPIs in the year following hospitalization was not addressed, nor nutritional status nor the causes of death.¹³⁰ In addition there is discrepancy between results from observational studies and clinical trials, which can be explained by residual confounding and confounding-byindication or channeling; as the more diseased subjects are the ones receiving PPIs. Although residual confounding cannot be fully accounted for in observational studies, these studies reflect daily clinical practice when using primary care data. In clinical trials often the frail elderly with greater burden of polypharmacy and multimorbidity are excluded.^{105, 132} As a consequence, observational studies are the only manner to study long-term safety of medication in the elderly in real-life practice. Observational studies utilizing electronic health care data from primary or secondary care are therefore particularly valuable when adverse events are unknown or considered rare.¹³³ Though findings of increased mortality should be replicated by others, current available studies stress the need for better attention to indications for long-term use of PPIs in the hospital setting.

Inappropriate use of PPIs in the elderly

Inappropriate use of PPIs is common, particularly among the elderly. Some studies for instance reported inappropriate PPI use in 50% to 80% of patients admitted to and discharged from geriatric and internal medicine wards.¹³⁴⁻¹³⁶ Inappropriate use both consists of lack of a proper indication, inappropriate duration of treatment or inappropriate dosing.¹³⁷ A study from the United Kingdom showed that PPIs at maximum therapeutic dosages for more than 8 weeks are among the most frequently inappropriate medications in elderly in residential care homes.¹³⁸ Inappropriate indications may be as high as 50% of elderly admitted to nursing homes¹³⁹ and 61% of elderly admitted to a hospital.¹⁴⁰ Similar rates of inappropriateness were observed in other studies.¹⁴¹⁻¹⁴³ Discontinuation of PPIs after *H. pylori* eradication remains an issue, as two studies report that 50% to 60% of subjects became chronic PPI users and subsequently contributed to 75% of PPI costs in the year after eradication.^{144, 145} Failure of discontinuation of PPI therapy is especially seen among the elderly (aged 65 years and over) after *H. pylori* eradication, or continue to use NSAIDs or aspirin.¹⁴⁵ As a consequence, PPI use for symptom relief may result in a substantial

proportion of subjects exposed for a long-term period. In an observational study using primary care data from the United Kingdom only 0.45% of subjects were classified as long-term users but they contributed to a large proportion of PPI-related expenditures.¹⁴⁶ On the other hand, step-down management of PPIs for indications such as heartburn or acid regurgitation is particularly successful among the elderly.^{123, 147}

Educating and supporting physicians about the importance of reviewing the indications and duration of PPI use in elderly is relevant to reduce PPI prescription costs and maintain patients' safety. Educational programs may successfully reduce inappropriate PPI prescriptions in elderly patients during their hospital stay.¹⁴⁰ A randomized study among adults discharged from a hospital studied the impact of additional information in the discharge letter stressing review of PPI use after discharge compared to standard care (discharge letter without such information). This additional information did not result in higher rate of evaluation of PPI use by general practitioners (GPs).¹⁴² Educating patients in a patient-centered programme may be an alternative, ¹⁴⁸ although this likely will be less successful in the elderly who often use various drugs and may not be completely accurate about the need and use of all drugs they use. A study assessing the potential strategies to reduce PPI prescription in the UK and the associated costs identified a number of strategies that were used by GPs: 1) not starting PPIs; 2) dose reduction; 3) therapeutic substitution from PPIs to other anti-acid agents; 4) therapeutic switching to a cheaper brand of PPI; 5) self-regulation by encouraging patients to experiment with lowering dosages of PPI, or taking it as necessary, or any combination of these strategies.¹⁴⁹ Although some patients may return to the initial PPI dose prescribed, almost 50% of patients reduced their PPI intake to a minimum and thus reduced health care costs and presumably improved patients' safety.¹⁴⁹ PPI dose reduction can be achieved in the elderly population, if the prescribing physician is encouraged to regularly, such as in every visit, review the medication list of the elderly. Adequate recommendations and clear documentation of the indication for PPI use in discharge letters may help clinicians in reducing inappropriate and prolonged PPI use and decrease polypharmacy among the elderly.¹⁴³ Thus there is considerable evidence to encourage both patients, but also doctors to regulate PPI indication and duration of use.

Adverse events with use of PPIs

PPIs are considered relatively safe drugs because side effects are infrequent and mostly of modest severity; mainly including headache, diarrhea, constipation, nausea and rash. These occur in a small proportion of users (1% to 5%). The prolonged and potentially non-judicious use of PPIs however is associated with risks. Several of the adverse effects of PPIs that have been documented are pertinent to older people. Because PPIs are among the most commonly used drugs, any small adverse effect of PPIs may have a considerable impact on health and morbidity in the elderly population. Some of the most important PPI-related adverse events in the elderly will be discussed in this review and are summarized in Table 2.

Adverse event	Background incidence	Biological mechanism	Strength of association	Consistency of evidence	Limitations of studies	Conclusions/ precautions
Drug interaction	Not applicable	Competitive inhibition of CYP 2C19	Low strength	Inconsistent	Association due to	For any small risk remaining, bypass
with clopidogrel	:	by PPIs impairing the conversion of	(risk		confounding by	competitive inhibition via different
0		clopidogrel to its active substance	estimates < 2)		indication and	timings of intake.
		and thereby affecting the platelet			residual	3
		inhibition function			confounding.	
Drug interaction	Not a pplicable	Decreased gastric acidity limits the	Low strength	Inconsistent	Conflicting evidence,	No profound evidence for an interaction
with low-dose		lipophylicity of LDA and thereby	(risk		association may be	between LDA and PPIs that allows
aspirin (LDA)		reduces the passive absorption of	estimates < 2)		due to confounding	changing guideline recommendations to
		LDA across the gastric mucosal				avoid concomitant use of these agents.
		membrane				
Drug interaction	Not applicable	Decreased absorption of thyroxine	Low strength	Inconsistent	Short term follow-up	Limited evidence for an interaction,
with levothyroxine		in the jejunum and ileum	(risk		(6 weeks)	however if present: preferentially long-
			estimates < 2)		/monitoring of TSH	term use of PPIs (\geq 6 months) predisposes.
					levels	Separate administration (4-6hours) is
						recommended.
Bone fractures	Cumulative 1-year	Several mechanisms:	Low strength	Inconsistent	- No dose- or	Fractures occur likely in elderly subjects
	incidence of hip	1. Decreased calcium absorption	(risk		duration-responses	that are already more prone to fractures
	fractures:	2. Blocking repair mechanism of	estimates < 2)		observed.	due to co morbid diseases.
	Women	micro fractures			- Association likely	Consider lowering the dose and shorter
	-70-74 years : 500 per	3. Hypergastrinemia leading to			influenced by	the duration of use and evaluating risk
	100,000 persons	parathyroid hyperplasia and			prevalence of	factors for osteoporosis.
	- 80-84 years: 1,000	increased parathyroid hormone			polypharmacy and co	
	per 100,000 persons	levels			morbid diseases	
	Men:				among the elderly	
	-70-74 years: 300 per					
	100,000 persons					
	-80-84 years: 500 per					
	100,000 persons					

Table 2. Potential adverse events during Proton Pump Inhibitor use, supporting evidence and precautions.

Adverse event	Background incidence	Biological mechanism	Strength of	Consistency	Limitations of	Conclusions/precautions
			association	or evidence	studies	
Pneumonia	Annual incidence:	By suppression of the gastric acid	Low to	Inconsistent	No duration	A very small effect of PPIs on pneumonia
	- 25-44 per 1,000	environment bacterial and viral	moderate		response observed.	may remain present but will have very
	persons for non-	colonization may occur	strength (risk		Confounding by	little impact on clinical practice.
	institutionalized		estimates < 2		indication and	
	elderly		- 4)		protopathic bias	
	-33-114 per 1,000				likely present	
	persons for elderly in					
	residential care					
Vitamin B12	Widely varying	Several mechanisms:	Low strength	Inconsistent	No data on effect of	H. pylori infection aggravates impaired
absorption	prevalences of vitamin	 Hypochlorhydria resulting in 	(risk		PPIs on other	vitamin B12 absorption.
	B12 deficiency	diminished release of protein-	estimates < 2)		sensitive measures of	Monitoring of vitamin B12 levels every 1
	reported (3-40%).	bound vitamin B12			vitamin B12	or 2 years during long-term PPI therapy is
	At least 5-15% of	2. Decreased secretion of intrinsic			deficiency (MMA or	not recommended, but may be
	elderly (over 65 years	factor			homocysteine)	considered in subjects at risk.
	of age) affected.	3. Gastric bacterial overgrowth due				
		to achlorhydria				
		4. Decreased bioavailability of				
		vitamin B12 via small bowel				
		bacterial overgrowth in blind loops				
		of duodenum and jejunum				
Iron absorption	Prevalence anemia	Diminished non-heme iron	Unknown	Inconsistent	Lack of clinical and	In the elderly with iron deficiency
	-women ≥65 years:	absorption			observational studies	demanding increased iron absorption or
	10.2%				providing evidence	iron supplementation, PPI therapy may
	- men ≥65 years 11%				on association of PPI-	retard replenishment of the iron storage.
	Prevalence iron				iron absorption	No data is available on routinely
	deficiency anemia:				among the elderly	monitoring of iron levels, but this may be
	-4% of elderly patients					considered every 1-2 years in subjects at
						risk.

Table 2. Potential adverse events during Proton Pump Inhibitor use, supporting evidence and precautions (continued).

Adverse event	Background incidence	Biological mechanism	Strength of association	Consistency of evidence	Limitations of studies	Conclusions/precautions
Clostridium difficile infection	Incidence: 22 researces ner 100 000	Several mechanisms: 1 Conversion of snore-forming	Moderate strangth (risk	Inconsistent	- Uncontrolled	Considering advancing age as independent rick factor with DDIs as
	persons in the general		estimates ≈2-		severity of illness or	potential risk factor, clinicians should be
	population.	to survive in the enteric lumen	3)		other co morbid	aware of CDI risk when prescribing PPIs to
	Age≥65 years	2. Promoting of small intestinal			diseases	the elderly. They should test for C. difficile
	increases the risk up	bacterial overgrowth affecting the			- PPIs may act as an	presence in the elderly when they present
	to 16-fold.	commensal intestinal microbiota			intermediate factor	with diarrhea using a low test threshold
					for antibiotic therapy	
					- Limited data on	
					dose- and duration	
					effects	
Other enteric	Incidence in the	Diminished gastric acid barrier	Moderate	Inconsistent	Limited evidence on	- No definite conclusions from the current
infections	elderly:	defense allowing survival of	strength (risk		clearly defined PPI	available data
(Salmonella spp.,	-Campylobacter	bacterial organisms	estimates ≈2-		exposure and	- Reconsider the indication of PPI use,
Campylobacter	infection: 15.3 cases		4)		duration	particularly among the elderly presenting
spp.)	per 100,000 persons					with diarrhea
	- Salmonella infection:					
	17.2 cases per 100,000					
	persons					
Hypomagnesemia	Prevalence:	Poorly understood	Unknown	Inconsistent	Limited data	Scarce data on the association of PPIs and
	-36% of elderly in					hypomagnesemia but this may be due to
	long-term care					absence of evidence
	facilities affected					
Acute interstitial	No background	- Idiosyncratic reaction	Unknown	Inconsistent	Limited data	Not sufficient evidence for causal relation,
nephritis (AIN)	incidence numbers	- Due to reduced peritubular blood				but a small association may remain
	known.	flow, longer exposure time of renal				present. Given the devastating effects and
	Estimated that AIN	interstitium to PPIs				poor prognosis of late diagnosis, clinical
	accounts for 6-8% of					awareness is required
	renal failure cases.					

Table 2. Potential adverse events during Proton Pump Inhibitor use, supporting evidence and precautions (continued).

Abbreviations: LDA, low-dose aspirin; CDI, Clostridium difficile infection; AIN, acute interstitial nephritis.

Search Strategy

An extensive literature search in PubMed was performed using defined keywords and synonyms (i.e., proton pump inhibitors, drug effects, drug prescriptions, polypharmacy, drug toxicity, adverse events, pneumonia, *Clostridium difficile*, gastrointestinal bacterial infections, fractures, vitamin B12 deficiency, iron deficiency) for each of the adverse events of interest. Original and review articles were considered eligible for this current review. Review articles were first and subsequently related original articles extracted to cover the current available literature for each outcome separately. No systematic approach was considered as for each adverse event separately systematic reviews have been published and the current review provides an expert opinion review.

Drug metabolism

There are differences across the various PPIs with respect to bioavailability, peak plasma levels, acid dissociation constant (pKa), excretion and route of metabolization. The latter may subsequently affect the clinical efficacy and interaction with other drugs in certain patient groups. Hepatic cytochrome P-450 (CYP) enzymes are responsible for metabolization of PPIs, with CYP2C19 being the most important enzyme. Omeprazole, rabeprazole, pantoprazole and esomeprazole are primarily metabolized by CYP2C19, whereas lansoprazole is mainly metabolized by CYP3A4. Gene polymorphisms affect the activity of CYP2C19. Genotypes with lower enzymatic activity of CYP2C19 are most prevalent in Asian populations. In contrast, this slow metabolizer phenotype is present in less than 5% of the Caucasian population.¹⁵⁰⁻¹⁵³ The vast majority of Caucasians are rapid metabolizers. Plasma levels of PPIs depend on the CYP metabolism, and as such, differences in metabolization result in different clinical efficacy with an inverse relation between metabolizer status and acid suppressive effect.¹⁵³⁻¹⁵⁶ It has been demonstrated in several studies that the efficacy of for instance omeprazole and rabeprazole differed across individuals according to CYP2C19 genotypes. Treatment for H. pylori infection was more successful in patients with a slow metabolizer phenotype.^{151, 152, 154} Similar different success rates across individual PPIs were seen for treatment of GERD.^{152, 157} The CYP2C19 dependent action of PPIs indicates that the majority of Caucausians may benefit from higher dosages of PPIs, which should lead to more successful treatments.¹⁵⁸ Nevertheless, if subjects are slow-metabolizers and take concomitant drugs which interfere with CYP2C19 metabolism, increasing dosages of PPIs increase the risk of adverse events and drug interaction.

Drug-drug interaction

All PPIs increase the gastric pH. This impairs the absorption of several drugs. These drugs include antimycotics for systemic use (i.e. ketoconazole, itraconazole, posoconazole),¹⁵⁹ digoxin, nifedipin, tyrosin kinase inhibitors (i.e erlotinib),¹⁶⁰ antiretroviral drugs,¹⁶¹

phenytoin,¹⁵⁹ diazepam,¹⁵⁹ didanosine, methadone and aspirin. After the absorption of PPIs into the systemic circulation, some inhibit various components of the CYP enzyme in the liver and intestine, in particular CYP2C19 and CYP3A4. As discussed above, CYP2C19 genetic polymorphisms affect PPI metabolism. The effect of these polymorphisms thus may also affect metabolization of other drugs by CYP2C19. Therefore, interaction between PPIs and other drugs differs across individuals. Given the fact that rabeprazole depends less on CYP2C19 metabolization, CYP2C19 genotypes have less effect on rabeprazole plasma levels and clearance. However, it remains controversial whether the risk of drug-drug interaction among PPIs is highest for omeprazole and lowest for rabeprazole and pantoprazole.^{153, 155, 156} Although drug-drug interactions may have deleterious effects, most of the interactions are uncommon and clinically irrelevant. Some of the drug-drug interactions with PPIs are discussed below.

Clopidogrel

Some years ago a possible interaction of clopidogrel with PPIs associated with an increased risk of cardiovascular (CV) events gained a lot of public attention and concern. In 2009 both the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and the European Medicines Agency (EMA) recommended to restrict concurrent use of PPIs and clopidogrel.¹⁶⁴ A detrimental interaction between these drugs was suggested by several clinical and observational studies.¹⁶⁵ Clopidogrel is an inactive prodrug that requires metabolization and activation to its active thiol metabolite. The latter targets and irreversibly inhibits the ADP P2Y12 receptor to achieve effective platelet inhibition.¹⁶⁶ In the liver, metabolization is achieved by several CYP isoenzymes, of which CYP2C19 is the main contributor. PPIs may influence this process. As PPIs can competitively bind to the catalytic site of this enzyme, they can impair the conversion of clopidogrel to its active substance and thereby affect the platelet inhibition function. A recent meta-analysis showed that there is no differential risk of CV events across individual PPIs, arguing against a suggested differential effect of omeprazole or pantoprazole on CYP2C19 inhibitions platelet function and pharmacokinetic data.¹⁶⁷

Nevertheless, the studies that showed an association between concurrent PPI and clopidogrel therapy and an increased risk of recurrent acute myocardial infarction (MI) were subject to considerable confounding by indication¹⁶⁸ (i.e. those subjects at increased risk of recurrent MI were more likely to receive clopidogrel instead of another platelet aggregation inhibitor compared to those subjects with a lower risk of recurrent acute MI). When the issue of confounding by indication was addressed (by comparing current use of clopidogrel plus current use of PPI not only to current clopidogrel without PPI use but also with current clopidogrel plus past use of PPIs) - current PPI use was compared with past PPI use - the association between PPI use and increase risk of recurrent MI during clopidogrel disappeared. This suggests that the observed association between current PPI use and recurrent acute MI, is likely the result of residual confounding¹⁶⁹ or bias.¹⁶⁵ If however, any small effect remains to be truly present, a solution would be to use both drugs on varying timings as the half-life of PPIs range from within 1 hour up to 2 hours and clopidogrel 6 hours. Even though the half-life of

drugs in elderly might be prolonged, competitive inhibition can be by-passed by different timings of drug intake.

Low-dose aspirin

It has been suggested that the bioavailability of low-dose aspirin (LDA) may be reduced by PPIs, resulting in reduced inhibition of platelet aggregation. There is debate whether the possible interaction has a significant clinical effect, i.e. leads to more CV events. An observational study among patients experiencing a first-time MI when using PPI concomitantly with LDA found an increase in risk of recurrent MI, stroke or death from cardiovascular causes in concomitant PPI users.¹⁷⁰ However, several other studies did not find evidence for such an effect,^{171, 172} nor demonstrated an increase in risk of non-fatal MI or coronary death events.¹⁷³ The conflicting results from observational studies may be explained by differences in study design such as differences in start of LDA (within 30 days after first-time MI vs. any time after CV event), exposure definition (daily assessment of concomitant use of PPIs and LDA vs. claimed PPI prescription). Nevertheless, the current available data thus do not provide evidence that guideline recommendations on concomitant PPI and LDA use in patients at high risk of CV and GI events should be changed.

Levothyroxine

Orally ingested thyroxine is absorbed for 60% to 80%, which occurs in the jejunum and ileum. The absorption is optimal when the stomach is empty. Patients with jejuno-ileal bypass surgery or bowel resection are in need of higher doses of levothyroxine after surgery.¹⁷⁴ It was shown that thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH) suppression decreased in patients with atrophic gastritis and *H. pylori* infection.¹⁷⁵ Both of these observations emphasize the importance of gastric acid in the absorption of thyroxine.¹⁷⁶ Previously it was demonstrated that calcium- and aluminium-containing antacids increase TSH and/or decrease thyroxine (T4) levels in patients previously stabilized on levothyroxine substitution.¹⁷⁷ It has therefore been recommended to administer levothyroxine and anti-acid agents at least 4 hours separately from each other. Whether this also holds for PPIs has been under debate in recent studies. In two studies initiation of PPI therapy (omeprazole and lansoprazole) resulted in an increase in TSH levels after 2 months, which required increasing doses of levothryoxine up to 37% in order to suppress TSH.^{175, 178} Others did not demonstrate such interaction between PPIs (esomeprazole and pantoprazole) and levothyroxine, likely due to the short period of followup (6 weeks),^{179, 180} in which changes of hormone levels may not be expected.¹⁸¹ Although gastric acidity is important for the absorption of levothyroxine, findings on the interference with proton pump inhibitors are inconsistent. The evidence is limited and indicates that longterm use of PPIs (\geq 6 months) may predispose to drug-interaction. Patients with hypothyroidism receiving levothyroxine may need additional thyroid function tests after start of PPI therapy, particularly if symptoms of hypothyroidism emerge. The precise underlying
pharmacokinetic mechanism remains unknown, however separate administration of levothyroxine and PPIs by 4 to 6 hours is currently recommended.

Effects on Bone Metabolism and Fractures

Fractures, in particular hip fractures, are common in the elderly and are a major cause of morbidity and mortality in the elderly worldwide.^{182, 183} The annual incidence of fractures among subjects aged 50 years and over is estimated at 0.38% for women, and 0.25% for men.¹⁸⁴ The incidence of hip fracture may be as high as 6.2% and 4.9% among female and male elderly nursing home residents, respectively. At the age of 80 years every one out of five women and at the age of 90 every one of two women has developed a hip fracture.¹⁸⁵ Age related modifications in bone density and bone strength affect the likelihood of a fracture in the elderly. There were concerns that PPI use may exacerbate the age related bone modifications and subsequently increase the risk of fractures.

A proposed mechanism of PPIs resulting in increased risk of fractures is the inhibition of bone resorption and calcium malabsorption. This was demonstrated both in vitro^{186, 187} and in vivo¹⁸⁸ and consequently resulted in decreased bone turnover. Calcium absorption decreases with advancing age (fractional calcium absorption decreases with 5.6% from women aged 69-74 years to women aged 85 years and over) and is dependent on several interacting factors, such as intake of calcium supplements and food.¹⁸⁹ PPIs have been suggested to significantly decrease calcium absorption, although this study was performed in elderly women taking omeprazole and under fasting conditions.¹⁹⁰

In addition, profound acid suppression by PPI therapy may indirectly cause hypergastrinemia (via suppression of somatostatin release).¹⁹¹ This in turn may stimulate the parathyroid glands leading to hyperplasia and hypertrophy of the parathyroid glands and increased parathyroid hormone (PTH) levels up to 28%.¹⁸⁸ Again, this will result in inappropriate rates of bone resorption and weakening of the bone.

If the calcium absorption is indeed impaired during long-term PPI use, it could contribute to the development of osteoporosis by bone mineral loss. However, this theory is disputed by a study from Targownik *et al.* which did not show an association between chronic PPI use and bone mineral density (BMD) loss.¹⁹² Four other studies also could not find any association between PPI therapy and BMD, as PPI users had very similar BMD to non-users of PPIs.¹⁹³⁻¹⁹⁶ One study among adult patients (18 to 56 years) with GERD demonstrated that PPI treatment was associated with a lower BMD.¹⁹⁷ A second study, among a small group of community dwelling older subjects (65 years or older) showed that PPI use was inversely associated with trabecular BMD, which is an early marker of osteoporosis.¹⁹⁸ A possible association between PPI use and fracture could therefore be related to factors of osteoporosis, at least in subjects that already are predisposed to osteoporosis.

An alternative mechanism of PPIs causing fractures would be an effect of PPIs on the central nervous system (such as dizziness, visual disturbances) which may result in falls and

possibly an increase in fracture incidence. However, this hypothesis was disputed by a nested case-control study on 20,000 subjects who had a fall recorded in their primary care record.¹⁹⁹

Studies on the risk of PPI-related fractures show conflicting results. Some demonstrated an association between chronic use of PPIs and risk of hip fracture^{17, 24} or fractures in general (including hip, wrist, vertebral).^{22, 23} Reported risks (relative risks or odds ratios) ranged from 1.18 (95% confidence interval (CI): 1.12-1.43) to 4.55 (95% CI: 1.68-12.29).^{17, 22-24} Yet, these studies included a mixture of fracture types. Other studies could not confirm these positive associations, and moreover, only some were able to demonstrate a dose-response effect²⁴ or a duration-effect.^{17, 21, 22} When exploring cause-effect associations, the presence of a dose- and duration-effect supports a causal-relation.¹⁹ In addition, if the mechanism of fractures is through the antisecretory effect, one might also expect to see an increased risk of fractures for other acid suppressant medications, such as H2RAs. However while some studies indeed showed that H2RAs increased the risk of fractures,^{22, 24} a case-control study in contrast reported that H2RAs protected against fractures.²³ An overall OR of 1.08 (95%CI: 1.00-1.18) for fractures overall was observed during H2RA use.¹⁸ When comparing PPIs with H2RA directly, the risk of fractures was increased during PPI use (hazard ratio 1.34; 95%CI: 1.14-1.38).^{18, 193}

Several methodological issues may have biased these studies. Firstly, many of the studies were not able to address confounding factors such as the use of calcium supplements, vitamin D or tobacco and alcohol intake. Secondly, the low magnitude of the observed associations, the lack of a dose- and duration-response and the inability to address and control for important confounding factors may have influenced any reported association between PPIs and bone fractures. Despite the conflicting results and methodological issues from studies, the FDA announced on May 25, 2010 to change the labeling information of PPIs and indicate a possible increased risk of fracture when using PPIs. After systematically reviewing the literature, the Canadian Association of Gastroenterology did not support the FDA statement and stated that in the light of uncertainty about the magnitude of risk, clinicians should consider whether a lower dose or shorter duration of PPI therapy would adequately treat the patient's condition.²⁰

Nevertheless, when summarizing the available data, a possible increased risk of fractures of hip, wrist and spine in patients using PPIs cannot be ruled out. The risk depends on duration and dose of use, though at which threshold of dose and duration is unknown and may differ across individuals. There remains uncertainty about the magnitude of risk, therefore, clinicians should consider in patients receiving PPI therapy to lower the dose and shorten the duration, while evaluating risk factors for osteoporosis before routinely prescribing PPIs.

Pneumonia

The gastric acid barrier is an important defense mechanism against pathogen invasion through the gastrointestinal tract. Suppression of gastric acid, may increase the susceptibility to microbial colonization. From studies in mechanically ventilated subjects,³¹ we know that use of

acid-suppressive drugs facilitates intestinal pathogen colonization from the stomach to the lower respiratory tract.³⁴ Aspiration of gastric contents, which occurs rather frequently among the elderly, may then promote respiratory tract infection.³²

Although several studies provided evidence to support an association between PPI use and the risk of community-acquired pneumonia,²⁷ the overall results were inconsistent. The observed odds ratios in observational studies for PPI use ranged from 0.63 to 1.80; and for H2RA use from 1.10 to 2.00.²⁷ In absolute terms these risks are considered modest given the fact that relative effects were estimated. When pooling the relative risk estimates from randomized clinical trials for PPI or H2RA use combined, the risks ranged from 0.12 up to 5.00.²⁷ However, the latter should be interpreted with caution, as risks of drug-related adverse events cannot be well studied using data from clinical trials because of selective patient inclusion in trials.¹³³ Careful monitoring of drug safety relies on monitoring of events in 'real life practice'. Observational studies utilizing electronic health care data from primary or secondary care are therefore particularly valuable when side effects are unknown or considered rare.¹³³

Furthermore, the studies performed suffer from important limitations. As the largest increase in risk was seen shortly after start of use of PPIs (within 2 weeks) without any duration-response relation - which supports the causality of the effect - , confounding and protopathic bias likely affected the results. Confounding by indication occurred as GERD symptoms were a predominant indication for PPI use, while GERD also acts as independent risk factor for pneumonia.²⁶ Protopathic bias occurred by misclassification of early signs of pneumonia (including non-specific chest symptoms and discomfort) as GERD. A way to mitigate against bias from unmeasured confounding is to restrict the study population to PPI users without GERD as indication for PPI use. This particular design has been used by Filion et al., including four databases from Canada with people aged 66 years and over.²⁸ Indeed they showed that the proposed hypothesis of an association between PPIs and hospitalization for community acquired pneumonia disappeared when applying a restricted study population.²⁸ In addition, there was no increase in the risk when comparing younger individuals with older individuals – in fact the opposite was observed.³⁰ Neither was the risk of PPI-related pneumonia different for subjects aged younger than 60 years of age compared to subjects aged 60 years and over.³³

In mechanically ventilated patients the risk of aspiration pneumonia is increased due to gastroesophageal reflux by the presence of nasogastric tubes. PPIs do not have any preventive effect on aspiration pneumonia, apart from the effect of PPIs on the gastric volume.³⁵

Although there is no evidence to support the risk of community-acquired pneumonia in the elderly, caution should be taken in elderly at increased risk for infection and for whom pneumonia may be an important cause of morbidity and mortality, or in those with asthma or chronic obstructive lung disease.²⁹ Due to decreased immune responses elderly patients often suffer from more severe infection. Despite the fact that a very modest effect of PPIs on

pneumonia may remain present, even considering the drawbacks of the studies, the impact in clinical practice is very limited.

Vitamin B12 absorption

Vitamin B12, a water-soluble vitamin, is ingested via food in a protein-bound state. Gastric acid is essential to release the vitamin from the proteins in the food. Vitamin B12 then binds to intrinsic factor and eventually is absorbed in the ileal part of the small intestine. Inhibition of gastric acid secretion by PPIs may therefore reduce the bioavailability of dietary vitamin B12. Deficiency of vitamin B12 may have devastating effects, ranging from anemia to neurological (peripheral neuropathy) or psychiatric diseases (dementia, sensory ataxia).²⁰¹

Four mechanisms may explain PPI-associated vitamin B12 malabsorption. Firstly, in hypochlorhydria state (when there is a deficit in acid- and pepsin-availability) the proteinbound vitamin B12 may not be adequately released. Secondly, long-term PPI use may result in a decrease of intrinsic factor secretion. Thirdly, achlorhydria may cause gastric bacterial overgrowth. This may accelerate vitamin B12 deficiency development by production of vitamin B12 analogs that compete with absorption and use of vitamin B12. Nevertheless, gastric bacterial overgrowth has not been associated with nutritional consequences. Fourthly, profound acid suppression may decrease the bioavailability of vitamin B12 via small bowel bacterial overgrowth in blind loops of the duodenum and jejunum.²⁰²

The decrease in absorption of protein bound vitamin B12 was first observed for H2RA treatment in a small group of patients.⁴⁵ This effect was also seen for PPI use. In particular, a clinical study showed that the vitamin B12 absorption-rate decreased from 3.2% to 0.9% in healthy male volunteers when using daily 20 mg omeprazole for 2 weeks.³⁹ This observation was confirmed by others.^{42, 43} When using a higher dose of omeprazole (40mg) vitamin B12 absorption decreased further.³⁹ Causality of the association was supported as a duration-effect was observed in another study.⁴⁶ It was shown that PPI use (with a mean duration of 4.5 years among the 111 omeprazole users) was inversely associated with vitamin B12 levels. Thus with longer PPI use serum levels of vitamin B12 were lower.⁴⁶

A case-control study among patients aged 65 years and over identified from a geriatric primary care setting, showed that the odds of vitamin B12 deficiency was 4.45 (95% Cl: 1.47-13.34) times higher for current long-term PPI users (using at least 12 months PPIs/H2RAs) compared to non-users.⁴⁷ A study on older subjects (aged 60 to 102 years) from an ambulatory geriatric clinic – including a total of 141 PPI users – showed that individuals having used PPIs for a longer period had a lower serum B12 level. This trend was particularly true for those subjects that did not use vitamin B12 supplementation (n=107).³⁷ The results of this study should be interpreted with care as no effect over time can be concluded from a cross-sectional study.

It is important to realize that elderly patients compared to younger patients already have a higher background vitamin B12 deficiency-risk. Elderly frequently have a borderline vitamin B12 status. One would therefore expect the effect of PPIs on vitamin B12 level to be more pronounced in the elderly, particularly given the fact that around 5% to 15% of the elderly suffer from decreased vitamin B12 levels.^{38, 40} While a normal diet usually contains substantially more vitamin B12 than is needed, in the elderly the functional reserve is diminished because vitamin B12 absorption is decreased. It is postulated that malabsorption is the most important factor in development of vitamin B12 deficiency in the elderly, rather than diminished secretion of intrinsic factor. This is probably related with the development of atrophic gastritis and hypochlorhydria with advancing age, again reducing the levels of acid and pepsin and subsequent release of protein-bound vitamin B12 to its unbound state. Other factors may interfere in this process, such as *H. pylori* infection.³⁶ In a Dutch study *H. pylori* positive GERD patients had a significant drop in vitamin B12 level during omeprazole treatment, whereas in *H. pylori* negative GERD patients no influence on vitamin B12 level was seen.⁴⁴

In a subgroup of patients use of PPIs may worsen the potential decrease in vitamin B12 level. This concerns patients with higher plasma levels of PPIs, as occurs in patients with a slow CYP2C19 metabolizer status. It was shown that CYP2C19 polymorphisms affected vitamin B12 levels during long-term (>1 year) treatment with omeprazole 20 mg daily, with lower vitamin B12 levels for subjects heterozygous for mutated *CYP2C19* alleles as compared to homozygous for wild type alleles.⁴¹ In clinical practice, genotyping of CYP2C19 is not standard of care.

There are however quite some gaps in the current knowledge. Vitamin B12 itself serves as a coenzyme in the conversion of methyl malonyl coenzyme A (MMA) to succinyl coenzyme A and of homocysteine to methionine. More sensitive measures to assess a vitamin B12 deficit therefore are elevated levels of either MMA or homocysteine.²⁰³ No studies so far have examined the effect of PPIs or H2RAs on these indicators. This may be relevant because alarming neuropsychiatric disorders may occur, even despite normal levels of serum vitamin B12. Such severe outcomes are however very rare. Yet, given the frequent occurrence of lower vitamin B12 levels and the reversible aspect of symptoms by early detection of vitamin B12 deficiency, regular testing and monitoring of vitamin B12 levels in elderly every 1 or 2 years – if PPI therapy is continued – may be considered, but is not considered routine practice.²⁰⁴ Particularly *H. pylori* positive patients or those with long-term higher PPI dose treatment may be assessed as the decrease in vitamin B12 levels may be more explicit.^{36, 41, 44} Once vitamin B12 deficiency is diagnosed in a patient, levels can be orally or parenterally supplemented. Furthermore, when the deficiency might be a complication from long-term use of PPIs, attention should be paid to the indication, dose and potential discontinuation of the PPI.

Iron absorption

Iron is present in food as heme or non-heme iron. Gastric acid is involved in the process of non-heme iron absorption as is known from studies where the addition of gastric acid improved the absorption in patients with achlorhydria.^{205, 206} First, it facilitates the dissociation of iron salts from food but also reduces ferric iron to ferrous iron, which is more soluble.

Secondly, it facilitates complex forming with sugars and amines for enhanced absorption in the duodenum.

Subsequently one may expect that reducing gastric acid by PPI use, particularly over a prolonged period, may result in reduced iron absorption. However, there is only little evidence on the occurrence of iron-deficiency anemia during PPI use. It has been shown that in Zollinger-Ellison patients, who are provided continuous long-term PPI treatment, omeprazole did not decrease body iron stores and did not result in iron deficiency.⁵³ However, the 'negative results' of this study may not be generalizable to or true for the general population or the elderly. In addition, in a small group of hereditary hemochromatosis patients (n=7) (which results in excessive accumulation of iron in parenchymal cells of e.g. the liver and pancreas), PPI use reduced non-heme iron absorption by 50%.⁵² Still, whether these effects are also present under non-hemochromatosis circumstances and to which extent they might accelerate iron deficiency among the elderly remains unknown. It is clear that the iron-binding capacity decreases with aging and is affected by factors such as malnutrition and chronic disease, which are more prevalent in the elderly.⁵⁰

Yet, in the elderly with iron deficiency demanding increased iron absorption or iron supplementation, PPI therapy may retard replenishment of the iron storage. Since iron deficiency is the second most common cause of anemia in the elderly, any effect of PPIs may have clinically significant impact by worsening angina and congestive heart failure, prolonged hospitalization, leading to falls and fractures.^{48, 49} There are no data available on the timing of testing and monitoring of iron levels in elderly using PPI therapy long-term, if monitoring is considered. Testing of iron levels every 1-2 years, during long-term PPI therapy may be considered in subjects at risk of iron-deficiency. It is however more important that the clinician is aware of the slight increased risk of iron deficiency during long-term PPI therapy.

Bacterial enteric infections

Many studies have examined the association between PPIs and bacterial enteric infections. The most commonly investigated organism is *Clostridium difficile* (*C. difficile*).

Clostridium difficile

C. difficile is a Gram-positive anaerobic spore-forming bacterium. Colonization of the intestinal tract occurs via the fecal-oral route and is facilitated by disruption of the commensal intestinal microbiota for instance due to antimicrobial therapy. The organism is capable of producing exotoxins responsible for symptomatic *C. difficile* infection (CDI): toxin A, a powerful enterotoxin; and toxin B, a potent cytotoxin (Figure 1). Both toxins bind to receptors on intestinal epithelial cells and can cause disruption of the actin cytoskeleton and impairment of tight junctions. Furthermore, they are cytotoxic and lead to the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines.^{51, 207} It is well known that the elderly represent a particular risk group prone for CDI. This is partly due to the high prevalence of risk factors for *C. difficile* among the

elderly; such as chronic comorbid diseases, residence in hospitals or nursing homes and the dominant risk factor: antibiotic therapy (particularly fluorquinolones, clindamycin, broad spectrum penicillins and cephalosporins).^{208, 209} A potential additional risk factor that should be added to the list is PPI use (Figure 2).



Figure 1. Endoscopic image of the colonic wall with irregular yellow pseudomembranes consistent with pseudomembranous colitis caused by *Clostridium difficile*.



Figure 2. Pathophysiology of Proton Pump Inhibitor - related Clostridium difficile infection.

PPIs may facilitate conversion of spore-formulation *C. difficile* to its more virulent vegetative form which survives in the enteric lumen. These *C. difficile* spores are easily spread between patients and in particular in hospitals or nursing homes. The vegetative *C. difficile* may be harmless but may also return to a toxin-producing strain causing *C. difficile* associated diarrhea. A normal enteric flora is the most important protective factor against CDI; it is therefore not surprising that antibiotic therapy, disrupting the commensal intestinal microbiota, increases the risk of CDI. PPIs may also interfere in this process, as it was suggested that PPIs promote small intestinal bacterial overgrowth, at least in subgroups of patients (such as *H. pylori* infected subjects or irritable bowel syndrome patients), including the elderly.²¹⁰ In fact, in 2012 the FDA issued a warning that PPIs may predispose to CDI.⁵⁴

Several reviews and meta-analyses on currently available studies have been conducted. One systematic review of the risk of enteric infection in patients taking acid suppression included 19 observational studies (case-control and cohort studies) and showed that the odds ratio of CDI when using acid suppression in general was estimated at 1.95 (95% CI: 1.48-2.58).⁵⁷ When looking at PPI use separately (n=126,999 patients) the odds ratio was 2.05 (1.47-2.85) and for H2RA use only 1.48 (95% CI: 1.06-2.06). Two recent meta-analyses confirmed this association.^{55, 56} In the review by Janarthanan *et al.* a summary risk estimate of 1.69 was observed (when considering case-control studies only (n=17) a risk estimate of 2.31 was observed, and for cohort studies only (n=6) a risk estimate of 1.48).⁵⁵ Kwok *et al.* included 42 studies (using broader inclusion criteria) and provided a pooled estimate of PPI use (OR 1.74; 95% CI 1.47-2.85) compared to non-use of PPI.⁵⁶ Interestingly, Kwok et al. also pooled the risk estimates of studies that evaluated PPI use in patients with recurrent CDI, resulting in a pooled OR of 2.51 (95%CI 1.16-5.44).⁵⁶ All three reviews however, are affected by substantial differences between the results of the included studies as the measure of heterogeneity (I2) was 92%,⁵⁵ 78%⁵⁷ and 85%⁵⁶ (0% representing no heterogeneity between studies, and a greater value representing substantial heterogeneity).

As mentioned before, antibiotic use is the dominant risk factor for CDI. Concomitant use of PPIs and antibiotics may confer an even greater risk than what may be expected based on the risks of each drug alone. This has been shown in a meta-analysis, where the excess risk of CDI during concomitant use of PPIs and antibiotics was estimated at 19%.⁵⁶ In other words, the risk of CDI was 19% higher than expected, and increases with 1.96 respectively 1.75 times for concomitant use of PPIs and antibiotics compared to use of PPIs or antibiotics alone. It is important to realize that statistically significant interaction does not directly imply biological drug synergism.²¹²

That acid suppression decreases the gastric defense barrier is supported by the fact that a higher odds ratio of *C. difficile* infection is observed with more pronounced acid suppression during PPI use than during H2RA therapy.⁵⁷ More importantly, there may be uncontrolled confounding in the studies, as they could not adjust for severity of illness or other co morbid diseases. This is particularly important as the co-morbid disease itself may increase the susceptibility of CDI and given the fact that PPIs may be preferentially prescribed to patients with more severe co-morbid disease.¹⁶⁸ Secondly, PPIs may be an intermediate

factor or a proxy for antibiotic therapy. Although the association of PPIs with pneumonia is definitely not certain, it can also not be ruled out. Therefore, if PPIs would act in such a way, the subsequent use of antibiotics for PPI-induced pneumonia may be the underlying explanation for the association of PPIs with CDI. Thirdly, there is limited data on a dose- and duration-relation of PPIs with CDI.

Adequately performed systematic reviews and meta-analyses generally are able to provide the strongest possible evidence when individual studies may have produced conflicting evidence. Though given the risk of bias within studies that are included in reviews and meta-analyses, the latter may produce spurious summary result estimates if many studies with a high risk of bias are included. This could be the case of the reviews discussed above. Nevertheless, considering that PPIs and advancing age both are independent risk factors for CDI, results from the studies should alert clinicians when prescribing PPIs to the elderly and lower the threshold for testing for *C. difficile* when elderly on PPI treatment suffer from diarrhea.

Other bacterial enteric infections

Decreased gastric acidity may also increase the risk of other bacterial enteric infections, such as Salmonella spp. and Campylobacter spp infection. Both bacteria are acid sensitive organisms that cannot survive at a low pH.²¹³ There are however limited data on these infections during PPI use, let alone among the elderly. Current available studies show that the odds ratios for Salmonella infections range widely from 2.6 to 11.2 for gastric acid-suppressive agents (PPIs and H2RAs combined), while for PPIs only the odds ratios were, depending on the strain of Salmonella species, between 4.2 and 8.3.²¹⁴ The same authors conclude in another study that the odds ratio of PPIs for Campylobacter infection was 4.5 (95% CI: 3.3-6.1) and for Salmonella infection 4.3 (95% CI: 2.9-6.5) when adjusting for age, sex, degree of urbanization and educational level.²¹⁵ The study is however biased as a definition on PPI exposure (such as determination of PPI use either by interview or prescription; or the division into current versus past use) was lacking. A case-control study using primary care data from the United Kingdom provided evidence to support the association of PPIs on bacterial infections. The outcome was gastroenteritis caused by several specific bacteria (Salmonella, Campylobacter, Shigella, Clostridium or other bacteria) that was proven by fecal culture. Current PPI exposure (defined as exposure to PPIs within one week before the date of bacterial gastroenteritis) regardless of PPI treatment duration, showed a risk estimate of 2.9 (95% CI: 2.5-3.5), which was higher than that of H2RA use (relative risk 1.1; 95% CI: 0.9-1.4). They also demonstrated a dose and duration effect.²¹⁶

In view of the limited evidence on the risk of bacterial infections during PPI use, and specifically among the elderly, no definite conclusion can be drawn. However, this should prompt clinicians in reconsidering the indication of PPI use among the elderly and particularly when the elderly present with diarrhea. Enteropathogenic bacterial stool testing is easy and can prevent substantial morbidity of bacterial gastroenteritis among the elderly. Thus when an

elderly person on long-term PPI treatment presents with diarrhea, the possibility of enteric bacterial infection, caused by *C. difficile, Salmonella spp.* or *Campylobacter spp.* should be considered.

Other adverse events

There are some more rare PPI-related adverse events mentioned in the literature. Two of these will be discussed in this section, namely hypomagnesemia and interstitial nefritis.

After publication of two cases of hypomagnesemic hypoparathyroidism associated with PPI use,⁵⁹ several case series have been reported on the association between PPI use and hypomagnesemia.^{58, 60-63} This concerned the FDA to publish a warning in 2011.⁶⁴ The underlying mechanism remains poorly understood and might act via hereditary predisposition such as mutations in ion channels for active magnesium transport. Theoretically, PPI-induced hypochlorhydria may reduce mineral absorption and cause mineral deficiency. However, there is no evidence that PPIs inhibit magnesium absorption.²¹⁷ Despite detrimental consequences of severe hypomagnesemia on neuromuscular and cardiovascular functions, no studies or reports have documented the clinical consequences of PPI related hypomagnesemia. Whether the effects of PPIs on magnesium levels are mainly applicable to the elderly is unclear, but hypomagnesemia during PPI use seems to be more common in co-users of diuretics, a combination of drugs which is more common in elderly.²¹⁸

The second rare adverse event is acute interstitial nephritis (AIN). AIN is characterized by renal injury due to inflammation and edema of the renal interstitium. This can eventually lead to acute renal failure. Drug use is the most common cause of AIN, accounting for around 60% of cases.⁶⁶ Most frequently reported drugs causing AIN are antibiotics, NSAIDs and diuretics. If drug-induced AIN is diagnosed in an early stage and the drug is withdrawn promptly, a poor prognosis (as severe as requiring renal transplantation) can be prevented. Many case reports in the context of PPI use have been published in the last decade.⁶⁷ However, the evidence to support an association between PPIs and AIN is very concise. PPI-induced AIN is an idiosyncratic drug reaction to the drug or its metabolite and has so far not been related to time of exposure or dose of the drug.⁶⁷ Besides, PPI-induced AIN is a rare disease, with a precautionary estimated incidence of 1 per 12,500 person-years.⁶⁸ Case reports and case series do not allow measuring or controlling for confounding or for drawing conclusions on causality of the association. This is particularly important, since other concomitantly used drugs may have been the cause of AIN. Nevertheless, given the reduced peritubular blood flow among the elderly, the renal interstitium is exposed for a longer time to PPIs. This may result in the elderly being more prone for PPI-related renal damage. Although 45% of the elderly have a poor metabolizer phenotype for omeprazole, neither CYP2C19 poor metabolizer phenotype or genotype is a risk factor for AIN.⁶⁵ So far, there is insufficient evidence to establish a causal relationship, but any small association may be present. Therefore, clinical suspicion and awareness of renal adverse effects among the elderly with a poor renal function and using PPIs is required.

Conclusions

Proton pump inhibitors are nowadays among the most widely drugs. The efficacy of PPIs for various medical conditions has led to its wide-scale use. In turn, due to its relative safety profile, the overuse of PPIs both in terms of prolonged use and use for inappropriate indications is substantial and particularly among the elderly residing in hospitals or nursing homes. There have been several risks associated with PPIs, such as fractures, bacterial enteric infections and vitamin deficiencies which may be especially relevant for the elderly. There is no profound evidence to support an interaction between PPIs and clopidogrel or low-dose aspirin. Long term use of PPIs may predispose to drug-interaction with levothyroxine and may be avoided by separate administration. Uncertainty remains about the magnitude of risk of fractures during PPI therapy, therefore, clinicians should consider in patients receiving PPI therapy to lower the dose and shorten the duration, while evaluating risk factors for osteoporosis before routinely prescribing PPIs. There is no conclusive evidence that PPIs increase the risk of community acquired pneumonia. Routine testing for Helicobacter pylori in subjects starting on long-term PPI therapy is not recommended, but should be considered in long-term users (>12 months). Severe outcomes due to vitamin B12 deficiency occur rarely. In H. pylori positive patients or those with long-term higher PPI dose treatment the decrease in vitamin B12 levels may be more explicit. PPIs may retard replenishment in the elderly resulting in iron deficiency in the elderly. Monitoring of vitamin B12 and iron levels is not recommended, but may be considered every 1-2 years in subjects at risk of vitamin B12- or iron-deficiency. Bacterial enteric infection by C. difficile, Salmonella spp., Campylobacter spp., should be considered when elderly subjects on long-term PPI therapy present with diarrhea. The risks reported in studies are modest and there are many limitations when interpreting the results. Considering the rarity of the outcomes even in absence of PPIs and the fact that the studies risks are relative to the underlying baseline risk, doubling a small risk remains a modest effect in absolute sense. The relevant question to ask nowadays is probably not so much how large the potential risk for an adverse event during or due to PPI use might be, but whether the elderly patient has the proper indication for continued use of the PPI. Properly balancing the indication, benefits and harms of PPI therapy on an individual level can substantially minimize avoidable risk, morbidity and reduce health care costs.

SECTION 3

NSAIDs and PPIs in the context of Barrett's esophagus and Esophageal Adenocarcinoma



CHAPTER 3.1

The incidence of Barrett's esophagus and esophageal adenocarcinoma in the United Kingdom and the Netherlands is levelling off

Gwen MC Masclee, Preciosa M Coloma, Marcel de Wilde, Ernst J Kuipers, Miriam CJM Sturkenboom

Alimentary Pharmacology and Therapeutics. 2014; 39(11):1321-30.

ABSTRACT

BACKGROUND

Barrett's esophagus (BE) is a risk factor for esophageal adenocarcinoma (EAC). Several studies report increasing incidences of BE with substantial variation.

AIM

Aim of this study was to determine age- and sex-stratified incidence rates (IR) of BE and EAC.

METHODS

Cohort study using two primary care databases in the United Kingdom (UK) and the Netherlands (NL) (2000- 2012). BE and EAC cases were identified using disease-specific READ codes (UK) and free-text search with manual validation (NL). Age-and sex-specific incidence rates (IRs) were calculated for both BE and EAC.

RESULTS

From the study population of 6,885,420 subjects in UK we identified 12,312 incident BE and 40 (0.3%) subsequent incident EAC cases. There were 1,383 incident BE, and subsequent 5 (0.4%) incident EAC cases among the 1,487,191 subjects in NL. The IR of BE increased linearly with age: 15.6/100,000 PYs (UK) and 23.7/100,000 PYs (NL) for patients aged 40-44 years, increasing to 85.6/100,000 PYs (UK) and 87.0/100,000 PYs (NL) for 70-74 years. In both UK and NL, IR of BE was 2 to 4 times higher in males than females across all age groups. With respect to calendar time, the IR of BE increased by 35% (UK) and 41% (NL) from 2000 to 2003, after which IRs remained stable until 2012.

CONCLUSION

Incidence rates of BE in the UK and NL increased until 2003, but levelled off thereafter. Around 0.3% of patients with BE developed EAC at least one year after BE diagnosis. These findings may help tailor endoscopic surveillance strategies among patients with BE.

INTRODUCTION

Barrett's esophagus (BE) is characterised by replacement of the squamous epithelium of the esophagus by metaplastic columnar epithelium and considered a consequence of prolonged gastro-esophageal reflux into the lower esophagus.^{219, 220} BE is an important risk factor for the development of EAC via a stepwise pathway of low-grade and high-grade dysplasia.^{219, 220} It is estimated that the risk of EAC is increased by approximately 30 to 125 fold in persons with BE.²²¹ Endoscopic surveillance for EAC among patients with BE is therefore recommended.²²²

Several studies reported increasing incidence rates (IRs) of BE,²²³⁻²²⁶ although these vary widely, from 23 to 62 cases per 100,000 person-years (PYs).^{223, 226} A single-center Dutch study observed an increase in the prevalence of BE from 2.6% to 4.7% between the 1990s and 2004.²²⁵ A study in Northern Ireland showed an 159% increase from 24 to 62 cases per 100,000 PYs between the periods of 1993-1997 and 2002-2005.²²³ The rise in incidence may partially be explained by a 'true' increase of BE and partially by better clinical awareness of physicians resulting in more gastroscopies.^{227, 228}

The increase in incidence of BE goes hand in hand with a similar marked increase in EAC incidence in the USA and Western Europe, at a more rapid rate than any other type of malignancy.²²⁹ Several studies report estimates of EAC IR among BE patients ranging between 1.2-6.5 EAC cases per 1,000 PYs²³⁰⁻²³² to 6.6 per 100 patient-years.²³³ In general, the increased incidence of EAC is observed mostly in males below 60 years of age.²²⁶ There is, however, significant heterogeneity across performed studies since study populations differed substantially.²³¹ Most studies are based on selected patients in hospitals or specialty clinics rather than being population-based.^{234, 235} The currently available population-based studies report data only until 2009.^{223, 226, 231, 232, 236}

The aim of our study was to determine the incidence of BE in the general population in the Netherlands and in the United Kingdom and to determine the risk of EAC among patients diagnosed with BE.

METHODS

Data sources

Two European population-based primary care registries served as data source: 1) The Health Improvement Network (THIN) database from the United Kingdom (UK)²³⁷ and 2) the Integrated Primary Care Information database (IPCI) from the Netherlands (NL).²³⁸ Both databases contain prospectively collected data as part of routine care representing real-life practice. In both countries, all citizens are registered with a primary care practitioner, who acts as a gatekeeper to secondary and tertiary medical care. THIN collects anonymised information on >3 million active patients from >400 participating practices, IPCI contains >1.5 million active patients from 340 practices. For each individual patient all relevant medical information from primary

and secondary care are documented in the electronic record. This information includes demographics, diagnoses and drug prescriptions.

THIN employs the READ clinical terminology system for coding medical diagnosis and symptoms,²³⁹ whereas IPCI employs the International Classification for Primary Care.²⁴⁰ Information on drug use is captured in THIN using the MULTILEX product dictionary and British National Formulary (BNF) codes, whereas in IPCI drugs are coded according to the World Health Organization's Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical (ATC) classification.²⁴²

Study Design and Population

A dynamic population-based retrospective cohort study was conducted, in which we included patients aged ≥18 years. At least one year of available healthcare data prior to study entry was required in order to assess patient's medical history and to discriminate between prevalent and incident BE cases. Follow up started on 1 January 2000; date of reaching 18 years of age; or the date that one year of valid data was accrued within the database, whichever came later.

Follow up ended on date of occurrence of study outcome (BE or EAC); date of transfer out of the general practitioner's (GP) practice; death; or 31st of December 2011 (THIN) or 2012 (IPCI), whichever was earliest.

Patients with esophageal or stomach cancer at any time before study entry were excluded. Patients with a diagnosis of stomach cancer within 6 months after BE diagnosis date were also excluded.

Outcome Definition

Barrett's esophagus

In THIN, incident BE cases were identified using corresponding READ codes (Supplementary Table 1).²³⁹ To explore outcome misclassification, we performed sensitivity analyses including additional evidence supporting the BE diagnosis. In the first sensitivity analysis we defined a case of BE as a subject with a BE record confirmed on at least two occasions, or when the clinical record contained additional evidence based on a prescription of a gastroprotective agent (GPA) (proton pump inhibitors, histamine 2 receptor antagonists or misoprostol). The prescription had to be recorded within 3 months prior to or after the date of BE diagnosis ('case definition 2'). In the second sensitivity analysis we included also procedure codes for diagnostic gastroscopy within 1 year prior, or up to 1 year after BE diagnosis ('case definition 3').

As the ICPC coding system does not contain a specific code for Barrett's esophagus (BE), case identification in IPCI was based on free-text search of clinical narratives (including synonyms for BE such as 'Barrett', 'intestinal metaplasia', 'columnar epithelium') in combination with relevant (but less specific) codes. An iterative search was performed using relevant key words in appropriate sections of the clinical narratives to distinguish between affirmative and negative mentions of items included in the criteria for BE. Automatic case

identification as such would yield a positive predictive value of only 44%; therefore, we validated all cases by manual review of the medical records to ensure that the cases analysed were all confirmed cases of BE and to confirm the date of diagnosis. Cases were included when: 1) a record of a BE diagnosis; and 2) additional evidence consisting of either a gastroscopy or histology report confirming BE diagnosis were present. We performed sensitivity analysis including only histologically confirmed BE cases.

BE cases were classified as incident if the date of BE diagnosis occurred after inclusion in the study cohort and classified as prevalent if the date of BE diagnosis occurred prior to study entry.

Esophageal Adenocarcinoma

In THIN, EAC cases were identified by two algorithms, one specific and one less specific algorithm (for detailed information see Supplementary Table 1). In IPCI, all patients with a record of ICPC codes D77.1 (malignant neoplasia of the esophagus) and D77.0 (malignant neoplasia of the digestive tract—not specified), or with a record by free text search including word combinations of 'esophagus', 'cancer', 'carcinoma', 'malignancy' or 'neoplasia' manually validated for confirmation of EAC diagnosis, date of diagnosis and the type of carcinoma (squamous cell-, adeno-, or other types of carcinoma). EAC cases were considered incident if the date of diagnosis occurred after inclusion into the BE cohort and was at least 12 months after BE diagnosis. Cases occurring within one year from BE diagnosis were considered to be already existent at BE diagnosis date and in relation to the BE diagnostic work-up.

Gastroscopies

Since endoscopic confirmation is necessary for the diagnosis of BE, changes in the rate of gastroscopies may change the incidence rate of BE as well. We therefore determined the IR of BE with the number of gastroscopies as denominator. We identified in THIN all gastroscopies using pertinent READ codes, whereas in IPCI an extended automated search using free text search in medical records was performed. Key words including 'gastroscopy', 'duodenoscopy' and synonyms were used and negations or referrals for gastroscopies were automatically excluded. Gastroscopies performed after the date of BE or EAC diagnosis were not considered, thereby excluding surveillance gastroscopies for either BE or EAC. In order to prevent overestimation of the number of gastroscopies during which BE could be detected (such as several gastroscopies performed during hospitalization for upper GI bleeding) gastroscopies performed within three months of the previous one were excluded. We compared the number of gastroscopies per capita from a national register recording all procedures from all hospitals in NL.²⁴⁴

Statistical analysis

IR of BE and of EAC with 95% confidence intervals (95% CI) were estimated by dividing the number of incident cases by the number of person-years (PYs) at-risk within the study

population. The IR of BE in relation to number of gastroscopies performed was calculated by dividing the number of BE cases by the number of gastroscopies performed in the study population. This analysis was done stratified on calendar year, sex and age group. Time trends of incidence of BE were evaluated from 2000 to 2012 by regression analysis (R²) using the method of least squares, where a value 1 indicates a perfect fit, and by joint point analysis. Using multivariate Poisson regression we calculated relative risks of developing BE while adjusting for age and sex. Survival analysis was performed to estimate the 1-year risk of EAC since incident BE diagnosis.

RESULTS

Study population

The source population comprised 8,372,611 persons (UK: 6,885,420; NL: 1,487,191) contributing to 48,918,172 person years (PYs) (UK: 44,505,240; NL: 4,412,932) of follow-up during the study period.

Figure 1 illustrates the composition of the study cohorts. We identified 12,312 (THIN) and 1,383 (IPCI) incident BE cases. In IPCI, after manual validation of the 4,978 potential BE patients (Figure 1) 2,171 (44%) were classified as definite cases (both prevalent and incident) of whom histological confirmation was seen in 1,338 (62%) cases. From the BE cases 1,383 were incident and histological confirmation was available for 701 cases.

Cases were more frequently male (UK: 63% and NL: 62%). Mean age at BE diagnosis was significantly lower in men than in women, both in UK: 63.3 years (SD 13.6) vs. 67.5 years (SD 13.7), and NL: 59.7 years (SD 13.3) vs. 63.8 years (SD 13.2).



Figure 1. Flowchart of study cohort in the United Kingdom and the Netherlands.

* Case definition 2: incident BE subjects included who had at least two times BE diagnosis mentioned or additional support from a prescription of a gastroprotective agent (GPA) (proton pump inhibitors, histamine 2 receptor antagonists or misoprostol) that had to be recorded within 3 months prior up to 3 months after the date of BE diagnosis.

Case definition 3: Additional to case definition 2 we also included procedure codes for diagnostic gastroscopy within 1 year prior or up to 1 year after BE diagnosis.

Incidence rate of Barrett's esophagus

The IR of BE in the UK was 27.7/100,000 PYs and in the Netherlands 31.4/100,000 PYs (Table 1). In the UK the IR of BE increased linearly with age: from 15.6/100,000 PYs for patients 40-44 years of age up to 85.6/100,000 PYs for patients aged 70-74 years (Figure 2, R^2 =0.993). The IR remained stable hereafter; the IR of BE in NL showed the same linear increase from 23.7/100,000 PYs for patients aged 40-44 years to 87.0/100,000 PYs for those aged 70-74 years (R^2 =0.939). IR remained stable thereafter for those aged 75 years or older. Across all age groups the IR of BE was higher for males than for females: 2 to 4 times in UK, and 2 to 3 times in NL.

			THIN (United	d Kingdom)	
	No of BE	No of Person-	No of	BE/100,000 PYs	BE/1,000
	cases	Years (PYs)*	gastroscopies	(95% CI)	gastroscopies (95% CI)
Overall	12,312	44,505,240	386,185	27.7 (27.2 - 28.2)	31.9 (31.3 - 32.4)
Age (years)					
< 40	546	21,347,680	62,826	2.6 (2.3 - 2.8)	8.7 (8.0 - 9.4)
40-60	3,751	12,873,488	130,862	29.1 (28.2 -30.1)	28.7 (27.8 - 29.6)
> 60	8,015	10,284,072	192,497	78.0 (76.2 - 79.7)	41.6 (40.8 - 42.5)
Calendar year					
2000	723	3,409,933	24,873	21.2 (19.7 - 22.8)	29.1 (27.0 - 31.2)
2001	834	3,446,739	28,059	24.2 (22.6 - 25.9)	29.7 (27.7 - 31.7)
2002	954	3,496,061	30,836	27.3 (25.6 - 29.1)	30.9 (29.0 - 32.9)
2003	1,019	3,555,199	31,788	28.7 (26.9 - 30.5)	32.1 (30.1 – 34.0)
2004	986	3,629,212	32,634	27.2 (25.5 - 28.9)	30.2 (28.4 - 32.1)
2005	958	3,679,156	31,549	26.0 (24.4 - 27.7)	30.4 (28.5 - 32.3)
2006	1,009	3,736,764	32,769	27.0 (25.4 - 28.7)	30.8 (28.9 - 32.7)
2007	992	3,784,897	33,010	26.2 (24.6 - 27.9)	30.1 (28.2 - 31.9)
2008	1,150	3,858,063	35,128	29.8 (28.1 - 31.6)	32.7 (30.9 - 34.6)
2009	1,190	3,919,243	35,881	30.4 (28.7 - 32.1)	33.2 (31.3 – 35.0)
2010	1,170	3,974,886	35,148	29.4 (27.8 - 31.2)	33.3 (31.4 - 35.2)
2011	1,327	4,015,087	34,510	33.1 (31.3 - 34.9)	38.5 (36.4 - 40.5)
2012					
Sex					
Male	7,811	22,142,206	173,735	35.3 (34.5 - 36.1)	40.6 (44.0 - 45.9)
Female	4,501	22,363,032	212,450	20.1 (19.5 - 20.7)	21.2 (20.6 - 21.8)

 Table 1. Incidence rates of BE in the United Kingdom and the Netherlands per 100,000 person-years and gastroscopies.

* Number of person-years by year may not add up to overall number due to truncation of decimals.

			IPCI (The Ne	etherlands)	
	No of BE	No of Person-	No of	BE/100,000 PYs	BE/1,000
	cases	Years (PYs)*	gastroscopies	(95% CI)	gastroscopies (95% CI)
Overall	1,383	4,409,995	87,635	31.4 (29.7 - 33.0)	15.8 (14.9 - 16.6)
Age (years)					
< 40	83	2,164,425	16,061	3.8 (3.1 - 4.7)	5.2 (4.2 - 6.4)
40-60	544	129,871	32,111	41.9 (38.5- 45.5)	16.9 (15.6 - 18.4)
> 60	756	946,799	39,463	79.8 (74.3 - 85.7)	19.2 (17.9 - 20.6)
Calendar year					
2000	23	87,187	960	26.4 (17.2 - 38.9)	24.0 (16.0 - 35.7)
2001	29	84,393	1,018	34.4 (23.5 - 48.7)	29.5 (20.7 - 41.8)
2002	28	82,542	956	33.9 (23.0 - 48.3)	30.3 (21.2 - 43.2)
2003	32	86,193	1,264	37.1 (25.9 - 51.7)	25.3 (18.0 - 35.5)
2004	24	88,701	1,464	27.1 (17.8 - 39.6)	16.4 (11.0 - 24.3)
2005	28	92,030	1,570	30.4 (20.7 - 43.3)	17.8 (12.4 - 25.7)
2006	14	67,970	1,222	20.6 (11.8 - 33.6)	12.3 (7.5 - 20.2)
2007	38	147,402	2,423	25.8 (18.5 – 35.0)	16.1 (11.8 - 21.9)
2008	113	361,775	6825	31.2 (25.9 - 37.4)	16.6 (13.8 - 19.9)
2009	176	592,740	11,941	29.7 (25.5 - 34.3)	14.9 (12.9 - 17.2)
2010	268	758,719	15,832	35.3 (31.3 - 39.7)	16.0 (14.2 - 18.1)
2011	289	925,060	18,908	31.2 (27.8 – 35.0)	13.6 (12.1 - 15.4)
2012	307	994,892	23,252	30.9 (27.5 - 34.5)	11.4 (10.1 - 12.8)
Sex					
Male	856	2,159,543	40,104	39.6 (37.0 - 42.4)	21.3 (20.0 - 22.8)
Female	527	2,250,452	47,531	23.4 (21.5 - 25.5)	11.1 (10.2 - 12.1)

 Table 1. Incidence rates of BE in the United Kingdom and the Netherlands per 100,000 person-years and gastroscopies (continued).

* Number of person-years by year may not add up to overall number due to truncation of decimals.

With respect to calendar time, in the UK IR of BE increased by 35% from 21.2/100,000 (95%CI: 19.7-22.8) PYs in 2000 to 28.7/100,000 (95%CI: 26.9-30.5) PYs in 2003. In the NL the IR increased by 41% from 26.4/100,000 (95%CI: 17.2-38.9) PYs in 2000 to 37.1/100,000 (95%CI: 25.9-51.7) PYs in 2003. In both UK and NL, the IR remained fairly stable after 2003 up to 2011 (Table 1). Joint point analysis showed that the average percentage change after 2002 in the UK was 1.08, which was significantly different from the period before 2003.

We then calculated the IR of BE per 1,000 gastroscopies. In the UK, IR of BE per 1,000 gastroscopies increased by 32% from 29.1 in 2000 up to 38.5 in 2011 (Figure 3 and Table 1). In NL IR of BE increased from 24.0/1,000 gastroscopies in 2000 to 30.3/1,000 in 2002 and decreased thereafter to 11.4 in 2012. The decrease in IR of BE per gastroscopies was slightly

more pronounced for subjects aged 60 years and over in NL but not in the UK. However, similar trends in the IR of BE across age groups in the UK and NL were observed (Figure 3). Multivariable Poisson regression showed that a male subject had a 2.8-fold increased risk of BE, compared to a female subject of the same age. The risk of BE diverged significantly between males and females from the age of 35-39 years (data not shown).



Figure 2. Incidence Rates of BE in the United Kingdom and the Netherlands by age group.



Figure 3. Incidence Rate of BE in the United Kingdom and the Netherlands per 1,000 gastroscopies over all ages and by age groups.

Esophageal adenocarcinoma

From the BE cases, we identified 40 (0.3%) incident EAC cases in the UK and 5 (0.4%) incident EAC cases in the NL. Forty-five patients in the UK (0.4%) and 2 patients in NL (0.1%) were diagnosed with EAC within one year of BE diagnosis and were considered prevalent EAC and therefore excluded in the analysis. Mean age of BE diagnosis in the incident EAC cases was 67.0 years (SD 10.3) and mean time from BE diagnosis until EAC diagnosis was 4.2 years (SD 2.5).

In NL, incident EAC cases were diagnosed with BE at a mean age of 63.5 years (SD 11.3) and mean time to EAC diagnosis was 3.5 years (SD 0.8). The overall IR of EAC was 22.6/100,000 PYs in UK and 80.1/100,000 PYs in NL. In 2000 the IR of EAC was 8.9/100,000 PYs and increased 4-fold up to 38.1/100,000 PYs in 2010. Time from BE until EAC diagnosis is shown in Figure 4. The one-year risk of EAC after BE diagnosis, excluding EAC cases within one year after BE diagnosis, was 0.086% (95% CI: 0.04 - 0.17) overall, 0.11% (95% CI: 0.05-0.23) for males and 0.06% (95% CI: 0.02-0.24) for females.



Figure 4. Survival curve from BE diagnosis until EAC diagnosis excluding the one year after BE diagnosis.

Sensitivity analyses

We employed different BE definitions in THIN as sensitivity analyses. No differences in the IRs was observed when the three case definitions were compared (Figure 1 & Figure 5). IR of BE was 26.0/100,000 PYs by applying *case definition 3* (cases with a BE record confirmed on at least two occasions; evidence derived from a GPA-prescription or gastroscopy letter). IR was 25.9/100,000 PYs by applying *case definition 2* (only GPA prescription as evidence).

As we might have overestimated the number of BE cases in NL, we performed a sensitivity analysis including only histologically confirmed cases. Among these, IR showed similar, although slightly lower, estimates with an overall incidence of 15.2/100,000 PYs. IR increased from 3.3/100,000 PYs among subjects aged 30-34 years to 48.3/100,000 PYs for those aged 70-74 years. Over time IR remained fairly stable from 13.8/100,000 PYs in 2000 and 12.6/100,000 PYs in 2012.



Figure 5. Incidence Rates of BE in United Kingdom with different case definitions.

Main analysis: all incident BE subjects included. Case definition 2: incident BE subjects included who had at least two times BE diagnosis mentioned or additional support from a prescription of a gastroprotective agent (GPA) (proton pump inhibitors, histamine 2 receptor antagonists or misoprostol) that had to be recorded within 3 months prior up to 3 months after the date of BE diagnosis. Case definition 3: Additional to case definition 2 we also included procedure codes for diagnostic gastroscopy within 1 year prior or up to 1 year after BE diagnosis.

DISCUSSION

This study showed that the incidence of Barrett's esophagus increased in the beginning of the millennium both in the United Kingdom and the Netherlands, but levelled off after 2003. In contrast, the IR of EAC continued to increase until now, although among BE patients, incident EAC occurred in only 0.3% of BE patients, demonstrating a one-year risk of 0.09%. This persistent increase may reflect the long lag time between BE and progression to high-grade dysplasia and EAC. In other words, the current increase in EAC incidence may reflect the increase in BE incidence that happened a decade ago.

Our data are consistent with a previous Dutch study that showed an increase in BE incidence between 1996 up to 2003, most pronounced in young males below 60 years of

age.²²⁶ This increase was not explained by a rise in gastroscopies performed.²²⁶ These findings were confirmed by another Dutch study using a nationwide registry of pathology records.²²⁴ A population-based study from Northern Ireland also observed that the increase in BE was not explained by a rise in gastroscopies and truly increased over the period of 1993 up to 2005.²²³ However, from 2003 onwards, we could not confirm such a linear rise in incidence of BE anymore. A levelling off of the BE incidence trend was already observed by Coleman *et al.*²²³ They found a decline in the increase between four time periods; from 1993-1997 to 1998-2001 the increase was 94%, but from 1998-2001 to 2002-2005 the increase was only 34%.²²³

In the late 1990s, dyspepsia guidelines alerted clinicians to suspect BE more readily in symptomatic subjects. Indeed, referrals for gastroscopy increased, although the proportion of symptomatic subjects remained more or less stable until mid-2000s.²²⁴ Additionally in 1996 the Dutch GP guidelines restricted referral indications for gastroscopy to subjects with alarm symptoms or recurrent dyspepsia.²⁴⁶ This restriction was included in the UK guidelines (NICE) eight years later, in 2004²⁶ after which a gradual decline in referrals has been noted.²⁴⁸ This explains the difference in BE incidence per gastroscopy over calendar time between the NL, which decreased from 2000 onwards, and the UK, which showed an increase.

One explanation why there is a levelling of the incidence of BE could be a birth cohort effect. Another is that better and earlier diagnosis and treatment of GERD and dyspepsia may have resulted in fewer patients developing BE. Increased awareness of clinicians may have resulted in an initial increase in incidence of BE, this effect was more pronounced in the late 1990s and early 2000s since guidelines at that time recommended gastroscopy for indications as dyspepsia and GERD. As was shown before, the incidence of BE increased tremendously and was already expected to level off at a certain point.²²³ As a large proportion of EAC occurs via the stepwise pathway of BE via dysplasia towards EAC, an effect of the incidence of BE is also expected to impact the incidence of EAC. As we observed that the levelling off occurred after 2003, we expect that the incidence of EAC will also level off, but due to the decade long lag time between BE and development of EAC, any effect of this is likely to appear in the next 10 to 15 years.

To study the risk of incident EAC after BE diagnosis, a relatively long follow-up time from the first Barrett's cell to the final carcinoma progression is needed. Although BE is a well acknowledged risk factor for development of EAC, the absolute risk remains fairly low. The most recent meta-analysis showed an annual risk of 0.6% of EAC among all BE subjects,²³¹ whereas another meta-analysis estimated an 0.33% annual risk for non-dysplastic BE subjects,²⁴⁹ very similar to an annual risk of 0.39% when including only high-quality studies.²³⁰ Though an Irish population-based study estimated the annual EAC risk at 0.13%,²³⁶ the tenyear risk of EAC is 5%.²⁵⁰ We found a one-year risk of 0.09%, lower than the ones reported in meta-analyses, because of differences in characteristics of the data sources; primary care databases may be limited by underreporting of carcinoma cases. Additionally we could not retrieve segment-length or dysplasia status at time of BE diagnosis. This may have resulted in classifying subjects as BE whereas histology may not support BE diagnosis. It is difficult to identify the 'true' IR of a disease that is present in symptomatic and asymptomatic subjects and diagnosed by gastroscopy and may be complicated by diagnostic work-up in symptomatic subjects only. Depending on the type of data used, each study faces challenges. Clinical endoscopic studies may suffer from biased retrieval of cases using symptom-based questionnaires leading to remarkably high IR of BE.^{235, 251} Population-based studies are challenged by the lack of detail from histology reports, which is particularly true for routinely collected GP data without free text in medical records,²²³ whereas studies using nation-wide registries lack clinical characteristics.²²⁴ Nevertheless, we believe the sensitivity analysis including only histologically confirmed BE cases is representative of the true incidence of BE. In only 12% of cases BE diagnosis was negated and when theoretically considering the subjects in which we had no information on histology (26%) also were negated, the sensitivity analysis would likely reflect the true incidence of BE. On the other hand, when considering this 26% as being histologically confirmed, the true IR of BE would be 12% lower than our main analysis.

Strengths of the current study include the scale and setting as we combined primary healthcare data from two European countries. Whereas previous studies may have suffered from selection of Barrett's patients in referral centers, we were able to estimate the IR of BE in the general population.

We acknowledge the following limitations. First of all, although both data sources provide a representative sample of the country specific population, under-recording of BE and EAC cases cannot be ruled out. However, GPs participating in both data sources are instructed to code all medical diagnoses and symptoms electronically. In IPCI we encountered different results depending on software systems, as some are richer in free text information than others. This is relevant considering that the ICPC coding system does not contain a specific code for Barrett's esophagus. Nevertheless, as for BE endoscopic surveillance is needed, it is very unlikely that a GP has not recorded a BE diagnosis in the patient's medical record. Misclassification of BE might have occurred, due to miscoding by GPs. We mitigated this by performing sensitivity analyses, including additional evidence (including histology) to support the diagnosis. We might have underestimated the number of gastroscopies. Therefore we used the national information system recording all procedures in all hospitals from the Netherlands to validate the number of gastroscopies per capita in the Netherlands.²⁴⁴ From 2007 till 2011 the national numbers confirmed the slight underreporting of gastroscopies in IPCI, though without large differences.

In conclusion, the incidence rate of Barrett's esophagus in the United Kingdom and the Netherlands has increased substantially in both males and females at the beginning of the millennium but has remained stable since then. The rise in incidence was not explained by an increase in gastroscopies. Around 0.3% of BE patients are diagnosed with esophageal adenocarcinoma at least one year after diagnosis of BE, demonstrating a one-year risk of 0.09%. The observed current increase in the EAC incidence among BE patients probably reflects the increase in the incidence of BE a decade ago.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

READ code	Description of code	READ	code	Description of code	Event
J101611	Barrett's oesophagus				BE
J102500	Barrett's ulcer of oesophagus				BE
J10y600	Barrett's oesophagus				BE
B102.00	Malignant neoplasm of abdominal oesophagus				Specific algorithm EAC
B105.00	Malignant neoplasm of lower third oesophagus				Specific algorithm EAC
	Malignant neoplasm, overlapping lesion of				Specific algorithm EAC
B106.00	oesophagus				
	Malignant neoplasm of other specified part of				Specific algorithm EAC
B10y.00	oesophagus				
B102.00	Malignant neoplasm of oesophagus NOS				Specific algorithm EAC
	Malignant neoplasm of gastro-oesophageal				Specific algorithm EAC
B110100	junction of stomach				
	Malignant neoplasm of gastro-oesophageal				Specific algorithm EAC
B110111	junction				
	Malignant neoplasm of oesophagus / C	Combined BBB2	00	Adenocarcinoma with	Unspecific algorithm EAC*
B1000/B10z.11	Oesophageal cancer	vith:		squamous metaplasia	
		BB57	00	Adenocarcinoma, intestinal	
				type	
		BB53	00	Adenocarcinoma,	
				metastatic, NOS	
		BB5	11	Adenocarcinomas	
		BB5z.	00	Adenoma or	
				adenocarcinoma NOS	

Supplementary Table 1. Corresponding Read codes for identification of Barrett's esophagus and esophageal adenocarcinoma in THIN database.

In THIN, we applied two algorithms to identify esophageal adenocarcinoma cases. In the first algorithm we used READ codes specific for EAC. In the second algorithm we identified cases with a record of esophageal cancer and an additional record of adenocarcinoma within one year of the diagnosis of esophageal cancer. This second search algorithm would identify EAC as we assumed BE, Barrett's esophagus; EAC, esophageal adenocarcinoma. * Recording of the combination of the two codes should have occurred within 1 year of each other. that a histological confirmation of the type of esophageal carcinoma will be recorded after the detection of the cancer in the first letter to the GP.

3

CHAPTER 3.2

NSAIDs, statins, low-dose aspirin and PPIs and the risk of esophageal adenocarcinoma among patients with Barrett's esophagus, a population-based case-control study

Gwen MC Masclee, Preciosa M Coloma, Manon CW Spaander, Ernst J Kuipers, Miriam CJM Sturkenboom

BMJ Open. 2015; 5(1):e006640

ABSTRACT

BACKGROUND

Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), proton pump inhibitors (PPIs), low-dose aspirin and statins may decrease the risk of esophageal adenocarcinoma (EAC) among patients with Barrett's esophagus (BE). However, previous studies did not adequately address bias and confounding.

AIM

Our objective was to estimate the risk of EAC among patients with BE exposed to NSAIDs, PPIs, low-dose aspirin and statins.

METHODS

We conducted a case–control study nested within a BE cohort. From two primary care databases (the United Kingdom (UK) and the Netherlands (NL)) we identified cases being adults ≥18 years of age with EAC or high-grade dysplasia (HGD) diagnosis ≥1 year after BE diagnosis. Controls were matched on age, sex, year of BE diagnosis and database. Drug use was assessed from BE diagnosis until matching date. Adjusted ORs with 95% CI were calculated by conditional logistic regression.

RESULTS

Within the BE cohort (n=15,134), 45 EAC (UK: 40, NL: 5) and 12 HGD cases (NL: 12) were identified. ORa for EAC during NSAID use was 1.2 (95% CI 0.6 to 2.5) and during statin use for >3 years 0.5 (95% CI 0.1 to 1.7). When including HGD cases (n=57), ORa for NSAID use was 0.9 (95% CI 0.5 to 1.8) and for statin use >3 years 0.5 (95% CI 0.1 to 1.7). Higher doses of statins showed lower estimates for EAC and HGD, though not statistically significant. Low-dose aspirin and PPIs did not significantly decrease the risk of EAC and HGD.

CONCLUSION

In this population-based nested case-control study, use of NSAIDs, PPIs, low-dose aspirin or statins did not reduce the risk of HGD and EAC among patients with BE. These findings indicate that for an unselected group of patients with BE chemoprevention by use of drugs to reduce progression to HGD and EAC should not be directly considered as routine care.

INTRODUCTION

Barrett's esophagus (BE) is a premalignant condition in which the squamous epithelium of the esophagus is replaced by metaplastic columnar epithelium.²⁵² BE is considered a consequence of prolonged gastro-esophageal reflux²²² and is the most important risk factor for development of esophageal adenocarcinoma (EAC) via a stepwise pathway of low-grade and high-grade dysplasia. It is estimated that the risk of EAC is increased by approximately 30 to 125-fold in persons with BE,²²¹ and occurs in a small proportion of patients with BE yearly.²⁵³ Endoscopic surveillance for BE is therefore recommended.²²²

In recent decades, the incidence of BE increased, accompanied by a marked increase in EAC incidence in the USA and Western Europe.^{249, 254} However, estimates of EAC incidence among patients with BE vary substantially.^{230, 231, 233, 255} Generally, gastrointestinal cancers account for 25% of all cancers and approximately 4.9% of all deaths worldwide.³⁵ Death rates of most cancers decreased in recent years in contrast to the 3% increase in death rates of all esophageal cancers (squamous cell carcinoma as well as adenocarcinoma) among males.³⁵ The age-standardised mortality rate for esophageal cancer overall is 5.1 per 100,000 persons.²⁵⁴ The need for effective prevention of esophageal cancer, in general, is therefore warranted, particularly given the low 5-year survival rate of 13% to 17%.³⁶

Several studies reported that use of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), low-dose aspirin, statins and proton pump inhibitors (PPIs) may decrease the risk of EAC among patients with BE.^{14, 163, 245, 258-263} However, these studies were based on small, selected samples of EAC cases. PPIs are considered standard care for symptom relief in patients with BE, thus it was suggested that PPIs may decrease the risk of progression to high-grade dysplasia (HGD) or EAC.²⁴⁵ In contrast, other studies showed an increase in risk of EAC with PPI use, probably because the underlying treatment indication may be a risk factor for EAC rather than that PPIs being harmful for EAC among patients with BE.^{259, 264} Nevertheless, one cannot directly assume that PPIs, which are efficacious for treatment of erosive esophagitis, will also be beneficial in the pathway from BE to EAC development. Two meta-analyses both including nine observational studies showed that the risk of esophageal cancer²⁵⁸ and HGD/EAC²⁶⁵ among those who frequently use NSAIDs or aspirin was significantly lower compared with never users.²⁵⁸ However, studies included in the earlier meta-analysis did not specifically include patients with BE. A pooled analysis on individual patient data confirmed the significant reduction in risk of EAC in BE patients with NSAID prescriptions.²⁶⁶ Two case-control studies observed an association between use of NSAIDs²⁵⁹ and statins,^{259, 267} and the risk of EAC among patients with BE. Generalisation and extrapolation of results from the latter studies to the general population is, however, difficult as both studies were performed in US veterans.^{259, 267} Additionally, there was no adjustment for important risk factors of EAC progression such as alcohol use and smoking.²⁵⁹ Nevertheless, a recent systematic review and meta-analysis showed a risk reduction in development of esophageal cancer in general and EAC among patients with BE who took statins.²⁶⁸

Causality of an apparent association is generally supported by a dose-duration relationship.¹⁶² However, studies to date neither reported a clear exposure definition free of recall bias ^{14, 260, 266} nor conducted dose-duration analyses. Finally, concerns have been raised about publication bias of these studies on chemoprevention of EAC in BE patients.²⁶²

Thus, to what extent NSAIDs, low-dose aspirin, statins and PPIs may reduce the risk of EAC among patients with BE in clinical practice remains unknown. Therefore, we conducted a matched case-control study to evaluate the risk of EAC among patients with BE associated with use of NSAIDs, low-dose aspirin, statins and PPIs.

METHODS

Data sources

Two European population-based general practice registries served as data sources: 1) The Health Improvement Network (THIN) from the UK (1996-2011)²³⁷ and the 2) Integrated Primary Care Information database (IPCI) from the Netherlands (NL, 1996–2012).²³⁸ Both databases contain prospectively collected data that represent real-life practice. In the UK and in NL, all citizens are registered with a general practitioner (GP), who acts as a gatekeeper to secondary and tertiary medical care. THIN collects anonymised data on more than 3 million active patients from over 400 participating general practices, IPCI contains over 1.5 million active patients from 340 practices. For each individual patient all relevant medical information, from primary and secondary care, as well as additional information, including demographics and drug prescriptions, is documented in the medical record. Both data sources comply with European Union guidelines on the use of medical data for research.

THIN employs the READ clinical terminology system for coding medical diagnosis and symptoms,²³⁹ whereas IPCI uses the International Classification for Primary Care (ICPC).²⁴⁰ Information on drug prescriptions is captured in THIN with the Multilex product dictionary and British National Formulary (BNF) codes, whereas in IPCI, information on drug prescriptions is coded according to the WHO's Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical (ATC) classification.²⁴² The Scientific and Ethical Advisory Boards of both databases approved the study. Identification of the source and study population has been described previously.²⁵⁵

Source population

The source population consisted of all patients aged ≥18 years who contributed data to the database between 1 January 1996 and 31 December 2011 (THIN) or March 2013 (IPCI). At least 1 year of available data prior to study entry were required to assess patient's medical history for exclusion criteria and risk factors. Follow-up started on 1 January 1996, or the date of reaching 18 years of age, or the date that 1 year of valid data were accrued within the database, whichever came later. Follow-up ended on the date of occurrence of study outcome

(EAC), date of transfer out of the GP's practice, death, or last data drawn, whichever was earliest.

Definition of Barrett's esophagus

Patients with BE were identified using diagnosis codes; in THIN using corresponding READ codes (see Supplementary Table 1 in Chapter 3.1).²³⁹ In IPCI, each potential BE case was manually validated to confirm the histological diagnosis of BE and the date of first diagnosis or mentioning of BE in the clinical record. Patients were excluded if they had a history of esophageal cancer any time before BE diagnosis and if they had a history of gastric cancer within 6 months after BE diagnosis. In IPCI, we could utilise free text from the medical record to assess the Barrett segment length and grade of dysplasia.

Definition of esophageal adenocarcinoma

In THIN, EAC cases were identified by READ codes (see Supplementary Table 1 in Chapter 3.1). In IPCI, all patients with a record of ICPC codes D77.1 (malignant neoplasia of the esophagus) and D77.0 (malignant neoplasia of the digestive tract—not specified), or with a record from free text search including word combinations of 'esophagus', 'cancer', 'carcinoma', 'malignancy' or 'neoplasia' were identified. Similar to BE, all potential cases were manually validated for confirmation of the EAC diagnosis, date of first diagnosis and the type of carcinoma (squamous cell-, adeno-, or other types of carcinoma). Early cancer (HGD) was identified in IPCI also, but could not be assessed in THIN.

We only considered incident HGD or EAC cases: that is, if the date of diagnosis occurred after inclusion into the BE cohort and was at least 12 months after BE diagnosis. Cases occurring within 1 year from BE diagnosis were considered to be already existent at BE diagnosis date and in relation to the BE diagnostic work-up.

Cases and controls selection

Two nested case–control studies were conducted assessing the risk of EAC for use of four drugs (NSAIDs, PPIs, statins and low-dose aspirin); one including only EAC cases and a second case–control study including HGD cases from IPCI as well.

Cases were adults diagnosed with EAC \geq 12 months after BE diagnosis, because cases occurring within 1 year of BE diagnosis were considered to be existent and related to BE diagnostic work-up (eg, missed EAC at BE diagnosis). Index date was defined as date of first reporting of EAC diagnosis during follow-up. Controls were members of the incident BE cohort who did not develop EAC up to matching date. Controls were matched by incidence density sampling on age (±5 years), sex, year of BE diagnosis (±1 year) and database. We matched on year of BE diagnosis in order to account for any influence of guideline changes in endoscopic surveillance over calendar time.
Drug exposure

Drug exposures of interest included four drug groups: NSAIDs, PPIs, statins and low-dose aspirin. They were assessed in terms of outpatient prescriptions for NSAIDs (including high-dose aspirin, ie, >325 mg/day), PPIs, statins and low-dose aspirin (up to 325 mg/day) from BE diagnosis until EAC diagnosis. In order to compare the OR of NSAIDs, PPIs and statins to other drugs, we considered another group of medications, which served as control. Antidepressants (selective serotonin re-uptake inhibitors (SSRIs)) are currently not known to be either positively or negatively associated with EAC.

Duration of prescriptions was calculated based on the prescribed quantity and dosing regimen. As the most likely preventive effect of drugs on cancer progression is through a cumulative mechanism, we calculated all duration and defined daily dose (DDD) values from date of BE diagnosis until index date. Duration was classified according to never use (reference category), cumulative use of less than 1 month, between 1 and 12 months, >12 months (or if applicable 1–2 years; 2–3 years and >3 years). Considering that PPIs are indicated as treatment for patients with BE, duration was classified as 0–6 months (reference category), 6-12 months, 1-2 years and >2 years. Dose of exposure was classified using the ratio of prescribed daily dose compared with DDD using quartiles into categories (<0.8, 0.8-1.2, ≥ 1.2 DDD per day). As there is no DDD for low-dose aspirin, dose analysis was not performed for use of low-dose aspirin.

Potential confounders

We considered as potential confounders: concurrent diagnosis of esophagitis or gastritis within 1 year before BE diagnosis; hiatal hernia; smoking habits (non-smoker, ex-smoker, current smoker) and alcohol abuse (never, current, past).

Statistical analyses

Baseline characteristics of cases and controls were described per database and compared using univariate conditional logistic regression. To estimate the risk of HGD and EAC among patients with BE, matched and adjusted odds ratios (ORa) with 95% confidence intervals (CIs) were calculated using conditional logistic regression for both databases separately and as a pooled analysis on patient-level pooled data.

Potential confounders were included in the adjusted analysis (ORa) if they resulted in a change of more than 10% of the initial estimate. Time since BE diagnosis was forced into the adjusted model.

Subsequent analyses included dose-duration analyses. The risk of EAC and HGD-EAC was also assessed for concomitant use of NSAIDs, low-dose aspirin, statins and/or PPIs. Use of PPIs only was considered as reference category considering that PPIs are standard therapy for BE. All analyses were performed using SAS V.9.2 (Cary, North Carolina, USA).

Power Calculation

Given an exposure prevalence of NSAIDs of 30%, statins of 22% or 36%, PPIs of 87% or 52% and low-dose aspirin of 25% among controls and a correlation of 0.5 between exposed and unexposed patients we have 80% power (with a type 1 error of 5%) to detect a true OR of EAC of 0.34 for NSAIDs, around 0.38–0.40 for statins, around 0.32–0.45 for PPIs and 0.29 for low-dose aspirin, which would be in concordance with previous studies.

RESULTS

Study population

From the source population of 7,570,765 subjects in the UK and 1,496,276 subjects in NL we identified 13,696 and 1,438 incident BE cases, respectively. Men accounted for 63% (UK) and 62% (NL) of patients with BE. Mean age at BE diagnosis was 64.8 (SD 13.8) years in the UK and 61.2 (SD 13.4) years in NL.

In the UK, we identified 40 incident EAC cases within the BE cohort (0.3%) to whom we could match 656 controls. Median number of controls per case was 17 (interquartile range (IQR): 9-23). In NL we identified five incident EAC cases among the BE cohort (0.3%). These were matched to 76 control subjects, with a median of 5 controls per case (IQR: 4-6). In addition, we identified 12 HGD cases, resulting in a second case-control set of 17 cases (5 EAC+12 HGD) matched to 753 controls (median 44 controls; IQR: 6-61). Figure 1 shows a flowchart of the study population.



Figure 1. Flowchart of Barrett's esophagus and Esophageal Adenocarcinoma cases in the United Kingdom and the Netherlands.

BE, Barrett's esophagus; EAC, esophageal adenocarcinoma; HGD, high-grade dysplasia; THIN, The Health Improvement Network; IPCI, Integrated Primary Care Information; PYs, person years.

Table 1 provides baseline characteristics of cases and controls. In the UK a larger proportion of cases had a body mass index (BMI) over 25 kg/m²; 68% of cases and 59% of controls. In NL, the BMI of only one case within 1 year of EAC diagnosis was available (21.3 kg/m²). Controls had a mean BMI of 28.7 kg/m² (SD 4.7) in NL. Presence of esophagitis or gastritis at time of BE diagnosis was more often seen in controls than in cases. In the UK, a hiatal hernia was more often present among cases, whereas the opposite was found in NL. In the UK, EAC cases were more likely to be current smokers than controls (OR 3.3; 95%CI: 1.4-8.0), as seen in NL though not significantly. Mean time from BE diagnosis until EAC diagnosis was 4.2 (SD 2.5) years in the UK and 3.5 (SD 0.8) years in NL.

Drug exposure

Table 2 provides characteristics of drug use from BE diagnosis until index date for cases and controls per database. Statins were used by 30% and 0% of EAC cases; and by 36% and 22% of controls in the UK and NL, respectively. PPIs were used by EAC cases for a mean of 4.1 years (UK) and 2.3 years (NL), and by controls for 2.9 years (UK) and 1.9 years (NL). SSRIs were used by 12.5% of EAC cases in UK for a mean duration of 1 year, and by 7.6% of controls for a mean duration of 1.7 years. Low-dose aspirin was used by 26% of BE subjects in the UK and 6% of patients with BE in NL.

Risk of Esophageal Adenocarcinoma

To estimate the risk of EAC with use of NSAIDs, PPIs, statins and low-dose aspirin, a nested case–control study was conducted. From the adjusted model, on patient-level pooled data, exposure to NSAIDs and PPIs did not provide a significant decrease in the risk of EAC (Table 3); for statins a non-significant effect was seen (ORa 0.7; 95% CI 0.4 to 1.5). This was seen in both databases separately as well (data not shown).

For NSAID use, ORs ranged between 1.1 and 1.4 for all duration categories; regarding dose-analysis, no difference in risk was found between higher and lower dosages (Table 4). Although not significant, a dose-duration-response was seen for statins, with lower OR for longer duration of use compared with non-use of statins. Statin use \geq 1.2 times higher compared to the recommended DDD resulted in an OR of 0.7 (95%CI: 0.2-2.3). For PPIs an increase in OR was seen with prolonged duration, in the matched and in the adjusted analyses. PPIs used at highest dose showed an OR for HGD-EAC of 0.9 (95% CI: 0.3-2.3). The ORs varied for duration categories of SSRIs. No dose-response was seen for SSRI use. Use of low-dose aspirin provided ORs below 1 for EAC for matched and adjusted analysis, when considering the exposure at any time between BE diagnosis and EAC diagnosis; however the 95% confidence limits still included the 1. When considering duration analysis, the adjusted model provided for the prolonged duration of use (> 1 year) an OR of 0.9 (95%CI 0.4-2.1).

Concomitant use of drugs of interest did not decrease the risk of EAC (Table 5) compared to use of PPIs only, probably due to the smaller number of cases.

			United Ki	nedom			The Netherlands		
		EAC Case	Control		-	HGD-EAC Case	HGD-EAC Control		-
		N (%)	N (%)	OR (95% CI)	P-value	N (%)	N (%)	OR (95% CI)	P-value
	Total	40 (100)	656 (100)			17 (100)	753 (100)		
	EAC					5 (29.4)			
	HGD					12 (70.6)			
Sex	male	33 (82.5)	597 (91)			11 (65)	524 (70)		
	female	7 (17.5)	59 (9)			6 (35)	229 (30)		
Mean age at index date (SD)		71.2 (10.4)	70.2 (9.0)			68.8 (8.2)	66.4 (8.8)		
Age group (years)	< 50	1 (2.5)	14 (2.1)			0 (0)	17 (2.3)		
	51-65	8 (20)	149 (23)			6 (35)	338 (45)		
	66-80	25 (62.5)	434 (66)			10 (59)	364 (48)		
	> 80	6 (15)	59 (9)			1 (5.9)	34 (4.5)		
Body Mass Index (kg/m2) mean (SD)		27.7 (4.1)	26.9 (4)	1.1 (1.0-1.1)	0.210	28.9 (6.8)	26.4 (7.4)	1.1 (0.9-1.3)	0.500
BMI categories	18-25	10 (25)	202 (31)			1 (5.9)	85 (11)		
	<18	0 (0)	7 (1.1)			0 (0)	22 (2.9)		
	>25-30	19 (47.5)	269 (41)	1.5 (0. 7-3.3)	0.329	2 (12)	156 (21)	1.3 (0.1-14.7)	0.995
	>30-35	7 (17.5)	89 (14)	1.8 (0.7-5.0)	0.246	0 (0)	73 (9.7)	·	
	>35	1 (2.5)	31 (4.7)	0.8 (0.1-7.0)	0.866	1 (5.9)	14 (1.9)	6.1 (0.3-112.1)	0.993
	missing	3 (7.5)	58 (8.8)	1.0 (0.3-3.8)	0.992	13 (76)	403 (54)	2.0 (0.3-16.5)	0.994
Esophagitis at BE diagnosis	ou	39 (97.5)	629 (95.9)			14 (82)	525 (70)		
	yes	1 (2.5)	27 (4.1)	0.6 (0.1-4.7)	0.633	3 (18)	228 (30)	0.5 (0.1-1.8)	0.299
Gastritis at BE diagnosis	ou	38 (95)	621 (94.7)			13 (76)	582 (77)		
	yes	2 (5)	35 (5.3)	1.2 (0.3-5.2)	0.808	4 (24)	171 (23)	1.5 (0.5-4.9)	0.516
Hiatal Hernia at BE diagnosis	ou	33 (82.5)	579 (88.3)			8 (47)	268 (36)		
	yes	7 (17.5)	77 (11.7)	1.7 (0.7-4.0)	0.259	9 (53)	485 (64)	0.7 (0.2-2.0)	0.487
Excessive alcohol use	never	17 (42.5)	370 (56)	Ref		17 (100)	713 (94.7)		
	current	22 (55)	276 (42)	2.0 (1.0-3.0)	0.048	(0)	40 (5.3)		
	past	1 (2.5)	10 (1.5)	2.8 (0.3-23.4)	0.345				
Smoking	never	14 (35)	322 (49)	Ref		9 (53)	380 (50.5)	Ref	
	current	9 (22.5)	70 (11)	3.3 (1.4-8.0)	0.00	8 (47)	373 (49.5)	1.5 (0.5-4.5)	0.443
	past	17 (42.5)	264 (40)	1.7 (0.8-3.7)	0.155				

Table 1. Baseline Characteristics of Esophageal Adenocarcinoma Cases and High-grade Dysplasia Cases in the United Kingdom and Netherlands.

3

			United Ki	mobgr			The Netherlands		
		EAC Case N (%)	Control N (%)	OR (95% CI)	P-value	HGD-EAC Case N (%)	HGD-EAC Control N (%)	OR (95% CI)	P-value
	Total	40 (100)	656 (100)			17 (100)	753 (100)		
Index year	1998	1 (2.5)	7 (1.1)			1 (5.9)	5 (0.7)		
	2000	1 (2.5)	12 (1.8)			1 (5.9)	4 (0.5)		
	2001	3 (7.5)	24 (3.7)			1 (5.9)	7 (0.9)		
	2002	2 (5)	10 (1.5)			2 (12)	9 (1.2)		
	2003	2 (5)	15 (2.3)			1 (5.9)	3 (0.4)		
	2004	4 (10)	94 (14)						
	2005	7 (17.5)	128 (20)						
	2006	1 (2.5)	20 (3)						
	2007	2 (5)	30 (4.6)			1 (5.9)	22 (2.9)		
	2008	6 (15)	107 (16)			1 (5.9)	66 (8.8)		
	2009	4 (10)	72 (11)			1 (5.9)	49 (6.5)		
	2010	4 (10)	85 (13)			2 (12)	163 (22)		
	2011	3 (7.5)	52 (7.9)			5 (29.4)	374 (50)		
	2012					1 (5.9)	51 (6.8)		
Helicobacter pylori infection	ou	40 (100)	603 (91.9)	ı	ı	17 (100)	714 (94.8)	ı	
	yes	0 (0)	53 (8.1)			0 (0)	39 (5.2)		

Table 1. Baseline Characteristics of Esophageal Adenocarcinoma Cases and High-grade Dysplasia Cases in the United Kingdom and Netherlands (continued).

		United K	ingdom	Nether	lands
		EAC Case	Control	HGD-EAC case	HGD-EAC control
		N = 40	N = 656	N = 17	N = 753
NSAIDs	Exposed - N	11	148	2	102
	Mean duration of use in days (SD)	205 (373)	218 (348)	18 (4)	49 (111)
	Mean cumulative DDD (SD)	223 (393)	232 (383)	9 (2)	31 (79)
	Median duration of use in days (IQR)	40 (20-178)	56 (28-203)	18 (15-20)	15 (10-60)
	Median cumulative DDD (IQR)	40 (30-223)	56 (28-208)	9 (7-10)	10 (5-30)
Statins	Exposed – N	12	236	m	123
	Mean duration of use in days (SD)	648 (569)	996 (913)	570 (289)	409 (300)
	Mean cumulative DDD (SD)	466 (353)	1,000 (1,258)	560 (191)	383 (331)
	Median duration of use in days (IQR)	616 (109-966)	728 (350-1,386)	450 (360-900)	330 (180-629)
	Median cumulative DDD (IQR)	504 (110-775)	625 (243-1,248)	450 (450-780)	270 (158-480)
PPIS	Exposed – N	36	570	10	389
	Mean duration of use in days (SD)	1,500 (1,134)	1,071 (978)	615 (462)	442 (372)
	Mean cumulative DDD (SD)	1,425 (1,247)	1,060 (1,123)	576 (402)	661 (1,636)
	Median duration of use in days (IQR)	1,481 (644-2,017)	766 (392-1,458)	471 (240-1,020)	315 (180-630)
	Median cumulative DDD (IQR)	1,223 (644-1,772)	700 (364-1,428)	471 (300-719)	360 (180-840)
SSRIs	Exposed - N	5	50	0	15
	Mean duration of use in days (SD)	369 (280)	613 (705)	ı	743 (669)
	Mean cumulative DDD (SD)	366 (283)	843 (1,430)	I	737 (670)
	Median duration of use in days (IQR)	252 (252-504)	381 (90-840)	ı	600 (180-1,740)
	Median cumulative DDD (IQR)	252 (252-504)	339 (90-896)	ı	596 (180-1,740)
Low-dose Aspirin	Exposed - N	10	173	1	47
	Mean duration of use in days (SD)	796 (606)	804 (733)	360	391 (301)
	Mean cumulative DDD (SD)*	,	ı		·
	Median duration of use in days (IQR)	672 (448-1,344)	600 (280-1,096)		270 (180-540)
	Median cumulative DDD (IQR)				
* Low-dose aspirin (≤325	i ma/day) has no DDD value.				

Table 2. Exposure characteristics of cases and controls in the United Kingdom and the Netherlands.

3

Low-use uspirit (2222 mg/ usp/ ms.mo DDD vaue. DDD, defined daily dose; SSRs, selective serotonin re-uptake inhibitors; NSAIDs, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs; PPIs, proton pump inhibitors; IQR, interquartile range; SD, standard deviation.

				EAC						-d9H	EAC		
Exposure	Duration	Case	Control	ORmatched	Ъ.	ORadjusted*	4	Case	Control	ORmatched	4	ORadjusted*	4
	category	N (%)	N (%)	(95% CI)	value	(95% CI)	value	N (%)	N (%)	(95% CI)	value	(95% CI)	value
Total N		45	732					57	1,409				
NSAID	None	32 (71)	566 (77)	Ref		Ref		44 (77)	1,159 (82)	Ref		Ref	
	Yes	13 (29)	166 (23)	1.3 (0.6-2.5)	0.492	1.2 (0.6-2.5)	0.532	13 (23)	250 (18)	1.0 (0.5-1.9)	1.000	0.9 (0.5-1.8)	0.876
	≤ 1 m	6 (11)	62 (9)	1.4 (0.6-3.6)	0.454	1.4 (0.6-3.5)	0.471	6 (11)	121 (9)	1.1 (0.4-2.6)	0.882	1.0 (0.4-2.5)	0.967
	>1 m-1 y	5 (9)	72 (10)	1.2 (0.4-3.1)	0.768	1.1 (0.4-3.0)	0.817	5 (9)	98 (7)	0.9 (0.3-2.4)	0.836	0.8 (0.3-2.3)	0.737
	>1 y	2 (4)	29 (4)	1.2 (0.3-5.3)	0.837	1.1 (0.3-5.2)	0.859	2 (4)	31 (2)	1.1 (0.2-4.7)	0.934	1.0 (0.2-4.6)	0.970
Statins	None	33 (73)	479 (65)	Ref		Ref		42 (74)	1050 (75)	Ref		Ref	
	Yes	12 (27)	253 (35)	0.8 (0.4-1.5)	0.432	0.7 (0.4-1.5)	0.412	15 (26)	359 (25)	0.9 (0.5-1.7)	0.720	0.9 (0.5-1.7)	0.673
	≤ 1 m	1 (2)	6 (1)	2.1 (0.2-20.4)	0.511	2.0 (0.2-20.1)	0.561	1 (2)	7 (0)	2.2 (0.2-20.6)	0.487	2.1 (0.2-20.5)	0.520
	>1 m-1 y	3 (7)	62 (8)	0.9 (0.3-3.2)	0.908	1.0 (0.3-3.4)	0.971	4 (7)	128 (9)	0.9 (0.3-2.8)	0.914	1.0 (0.3-2.8)	0.951
	> 1 y-2 y	4 (9)	(6) 99	0.9 (0.3-2.7)	0.848	0.9 (0.3-2.6)	0.824	5 (9)	(9) 06	1.1 (0.4-2.9)	0.868	1.1 (0.4-2.8)	0.907
	> 2 y-3 y	1 (2)	30 (4)	0.6 (0.1-4.9)	0.651	0.6 (0.1-4.7)	0.629	2 (4)	41 (3)	1.2 (0.3-5.3)	0.828	1.1 (0.2-4.9)	0.897
	> 3 y	3 (7)	89 (12)	0.5 (0.1-1.7)	0.259	0.5 (0.1-1.7)	0.239	3 (5)	93 (7)	0.5 (0.1-1.8)	0.276	0.5 (0.1-1.7)	0.253
PPIS	0 to ≤ 6 m	5 (11)	103 (14)	Ref		Ref		11 (19)	450 (32)	Ref		Ref	
	Yes	40 (89)	629 (86)	1.1 (0.4-3.0)	0.814	1.1 (0.4-2.8)	0.911	46 (81)	959 (68)	1.0 (0.5-2.2)	0.917	0.9 (0.4-2.0)	0.855
	7 - ≤ 12 m	6 (13)	169 (23)	1.9 (0.5-6.6)	0.502	2.0 (0.5-7.0)	0.299	7 (12)	158 (11)	1.7 (0.6-4.6)	0.293	1.7 (0.6-4.5)	0.312
	13-≤ 24 m	9 (20)	151 (21)	1.8 (0.6-5.4)	0.672	1.7 (0.6-5.3)	0.328	10 (18)	227 (16)	1.7 (0.7-4.2)	0.255	1.6 (0.6-3.9)	0.326
	> 24 m	5 (11)	162 (22)	2.1 (0.8-5.6)	0.476	1.9 (0.7-5.2)	0.207	27 (47)	377 (27)	1.7 (0.7-4.0)	0.204	1.5 (0.7-3.6)	0.327
SSRIs	None	40 (89)	679 (93)	Ref		Ref		52 (91)	1,344 (95)	Ref		Ref	
	Yes	5 (11)	53 (7)	1.7 (0.6-4.7)	0.281	1.7 (0.6-4.6)	0.310	5 (9)	65 (5)	1.6 (0.6-4.2)	0.356	1.5 (0.6-4.1)	0.390
	≤ 1 m	0 (0)	3 (0)		0.992	·	0.992	0 (0)	3 (0)	ı	0.988		0.988
	>1 m-1 y	3 (7)	23 (3)	2.6 (0.7-9.2)	0.142	2.5 (0.7-8.9)	0.155	3 (5)	28 (2)	2.4 (0.7-8.6)	0.165	2.4 (0.7-8.4)	0.175
	>1 y	2 (4)	27 (4)	1.2 (0.3-5.5)	0.778	1.2 (0.3-5.4)	0.815	2 (4)	34 (2)	1.1 (0.2-4.9)	0.888	1.1 (0.2-4.7)	0.931
Low-dose A	Aspirin												
	None	35 (78)	553 (76)	Ref		Ref		46 (81)	1,189 (84)	Ref		Ref	
	Yes	10 (22)	179 (24)	0.9 (0.4-1.8)	0.702	0.8 (0.4-1.8)	0.662	11 (19)	220 (16)	0.9 (0.4-1.9)	0.799	0.9 (0.4-1.8)	0.764
	≤ 6 m	2 (4)	33 (5)	1.0 (0.2-4.2)	0.954	1.0 (0.2-4.3)	0.970	2 (4)	49 (3)	0.9 (0.2-3.7)	0.840	0.9 (0.2-3.8)	0.847
	>6 m-1 y	0 (0)	26 (4)					1 (2)	36 (3)				
	>1 y	8 (18)	120 (16)	1.0 (0.4-2.2)	0.920	0.9 (0.4-2.1)	0.844	8 (14)	135 (10)	0.9 (0.4-2.1)	0.867	0.9 (0.4-2.1)	0.805
* Adjusted ; esophaaeal	for duration of f adenocarcinom	ollow-up sinc a: SSRIs_sele	ce BE diagnosi: sctive serotonii	s. BE, Barrett's esc o reuntatio inhihit	ophagus; H(5D, high-grade dy	splasia; NS	'AID, non-stu	eroidal anti-inf	lammatory drugs.	; PPIs, protc	n pump inhibitors	; EAC,

Risk of High-Grade Dysplasia or Esophageal Adenocarcinoma

In NL, we were able to retrieve HGD cases as well. When including these in the case definition, the effects were attenuated but in the same direction as the case-control study including EAC cases only. There was no significant decrease in the risk of HGD-EAC for exposure to NSAIDs, statins, PPIs and low-dose aspirin in the adjusted analysis (Table 3). For NSAIDs, the OR increased with use of higher dosages (Table 4). Again, for statins a duration-response relationship with the longest duration yielding the lowest ORa (0.5; 95% CI: 0.1-1.7) and an inverse association with increasing dose was observed, though none significant. For low-dose aspirin, PPI and SSRI use, no dose-response effects were shown.

The risk of HGD-EAC was 13% lower for concomitant use of NSAIDs+PPIs (ORa 0.9; 95%CI:0.3-2.2) (Table 5). None of the associations were statistically significant.

DISCUSSION

In this population-based case—control study nested within a cohort of patients with BE, statin use may decrease the risk of EAC and HGD by up to 50%. PPIs did not reduce the risk of HGD and EAC, however, only when used at highest dose (eg, at least 1.2 times the recommended daily dose) a non-significant reduction may be present. In this unselected group of patients with BE, use of low-dose aspirin or NSAIDs was not associated with a decrease in risk of EAC. This is the first population-based study that looked at the preventive effect of these four different drugs used individually and also concomitantly.

The mechanism of EAC prevention is possibly related to inhibition of cyclo-oxygenase (COX)-2 production. Elevated levels of COX-2 in esophageal epithelial cells have been observed in BE, and noted to increase with disease progression from BE to EAC.²⁰⁰ In experimental studies, COX-2 inhibitors inhibited the growth of BE cells, potentially through suppression of basic fibroblast growth factor.²⁶⁹ Another study confirmed that the end product of COX-2 conversion (prostaglandin E2) is reduced in patients with BE without HGD when using esomeprazole combined with higher doses (up to 325 mg/day) of cardiovascular aspirin.²⁷⁰

Statins exert antineoplastic properties in several ways. By inhibition of the 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutanyl coenzyme A (HMG-CoA) reductase enzyme, subsequent modulation of growth signal transduction, cellular proliferation and cell death is achieved, which affects different organs.⁴ In EAC cells particularly, statins inhibit cell proliferation and induce apoptosis²⁷¹ and limit the metastatic potential by reducing intracellular adhesion molecules.²⁷² However, statins also inhibit COX-2 expression in BE cells.²⁷³

			EA	C only			HGD	-EAC	
Drug exposure	Dose category	Case	Control	ORmatched	P-value	Case	Control	ORmatched	P-value
		N(%)	N(%)	(95% CI)		N(%)	N(%)	(95% CI)	
Total		45 (100)	732 (100)			57 (100)	1,409 (100)		
NSAID	None	32 (71)	566 (77)	Ref		44 (77)	1,159 (82)	Ref	
	<0.8 DDD/day	3 (7)	39 (5)	1.1 (0.3-3.7)	0.909	3 (5)	107 (8)	0.6 (0.2-2.2)	0.475
	≥0.8 - < 1.2 DDD/day	4 (9)	74 (10)	0.9 (0.3-2.5)	0.783	4 (7)	84 (6)	0.8 (0.3-2.3)	0.633
	≥1.2 DDD/day	6 (13)	53 (7)	2.2 (0.8-5.6)	0.111	6 (11)	59 (4)	1.9 (0.8-5.0)	0.160
Statin	None	33 (73)	479 (65)	Ref		42 (74)	1,050 (75)	Ref	ı
	<0.8 DDD/day	8 (18)	126 (17)	0.9 (0.4-2.2)	0.880	9 (16)	174 (12)	1.0 (0.5-2.1)	0.959
	≥0.8 - < 1.2 DDD/day	1 (2)	49 (7)	0.3 (0.05-2.6)	0.305	2 (4)	62 (4)	0.7 (0.2-3.1)	0.637
	≥1.2 DDD/day	3 (7)	78 (11)	0.7 (0.2-2.3)	0.519	4 (7)	123 (9)	0.8 (0.3-2.4)	0.731
PPI	None	5 (11)	103 (14)	Ref		11 (19)	450 (32)	Ref	ī
	<0.8 DDD/day	9 (20)	168 (23)	0.9 (0.3-3.0)	0.914	11 (19)	196 (14)	1.1 (0.4-2.8)	0.910
	≥0.8 - < 1.2 DDD/day	23 (51)	315 (43)	1.2 (0.4-3.4)	0.723	27 (47)	454 (32)	1.1 (0.5-2.6)	0.768
	≥1.2 DDD/day	8 (18)	146 (20)	1.1 (0.4-3.6)	0.822	8 (14)	309 (22)	0.9 (0.3-2.3)	0.813
SSRI	None	40 (89)	679 (93)	Ref		52 (91)	1,344 (95)	Ref	,
	<0.8 DDD/day	1 (2)	8 (1)	3.0 (0.4-25.4)	0.317	1 (2)	8 (1)	3.0 (0.3-25.1)	0.321
	≥0.8 - < 1.2 DDD/day	4 (9)	32 (4)	2.3 (0.7-7.1)	0.149	4 (7)	44 (3)	2.0 (0.7-6.0)	0.218
	≥1.2 DDD/day	0 (0)	13 (2)	,	0.987	0 (0)	13 (1)	·	0.987

DDD, defined daily dose; HGD, high-grade dysplasia; EAC, esophageal adenocarcinoma; NSAID, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs; PPIs, proton pump inhibitors; SSRIs, selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors.

Table 4. Risk of Esophageal Adenocarcinoma and High-grade Dysplasia-Esophageal Adenocarcinoma by drug class by daily dose on data pooled on patient-level.

			EAC o	nly		
	Case	Control	ORmatched	P-value	ORadj model*	P-value
Drug exposure#	N (%)	N (%)	(95% CI)		(95% CI)	
Total	45 (100)	732 (100)				
PPI only	19 (42)	284 (39)	Ref	-	Ref	-
No NSAID or LDA or						
statin or PPI	3 (7)	65 (9)	0.9 (0.2-3.2)	0.837	0.9 (0.3-3.4)	0.919
NSAID + PPI	6 (13)	72 (10)	1.2 (0.5-3.2)	0.700	1.1 (0.4-3.0)	0.773
Statin + PPI	5 (11)	85 (12)	1.0 (0.4-2.9)	0.963	1.0 (0.3-2.8)	0.988
LDA + PPI	3 (7)	30 (4)	1.4 (0.4-5.5)	0.597	1.3 (0.4-5.2)	0.655
LDA + PPI + Statin						
NSAID + LDA + Statin +						
PPI	4 (9)	41 (6)	1.2 (0.4-3.8)	0.744	1.2 (0.4-3.8)	0.760

 Table 5. Risk of Esophageal Adenocarcinoma and High-grade Dysplasia-Esophageal Adenocarcinoma for

 concomitant drug exposure of NSAIDs, low-dose aspirin, statins and PPIs.

			HGD-I	EAC		
	Case	Control	ORmatched	P-value	ORadj model*	P-value
Drug exposure#	N (%)	N (%)	(95% CI)		(95% CI)	
Total	57 (100)	1,409 (100)				
PPI only	22 (39)	441 (31)	Ref	-	Ref	-
No NSAID or LDA or						
statin or PPI	9 (16)	407 (29)	1.0 (0.4-2.4)	0.947	1.1 (0.4-2.8)	0.839
NSAID + PPI	6 (11)	124 (9)	0.9 (0.4-2.4)	0.898	0.9 (0.3-2.2)	0.774
Statin + PPI	7 (12)	143 (10)	1.2 (0.5-3.1)	0.630	1.2 (0.5-3.0)	0.674
LDA + PPI	3 (5)	42 (3)	1.3 (0.4-4.9)	0.691	1.2 (0.3-4.7)	0.742
LDA + PPI + Statin	2 (4)	104 (7)	0.4 (0.1-1.7)	0.202	0.4 (0.1-1.7)	0.198
NSAID + LDA + Statin						
+ PPI	4 (7)	43 (3)	1.2 (0.4-3.9)	0.727	1.2 (0.4-3.8)	0.745

Numbers do not add up due to drug exposure categories with only one exposed case, not shown in the Table. * Adjusted for duration of follow-up since BE diagnosis.

BE, Barrett's esophagus; HGD, high-grade dysplasia; EAC, esophageal adenocarcinoma; NSAID, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs; LDA, low-dose aspirin; PPI, proton pump inhibitor.

Contrasting to other studies, we did not observe a significant preventive effect of NSAIDs, lowdose aspirin and statins with respect to the risk of HGD-EAC.^{14, 258, 266, 274} Based on the biological mechanisms, combined use of statins and NSAIDs or statins with low-dose aspirin may be expected to result in a greater risk reduction compared to either drug alone. We did not observe NSAIDs or low-dose aspirin with statins combined resulting in a significant risk reduction of EAC. This may be due to several reasons. First, despite our large BE cohort, the number of identified cases was smaller. Although we may have not have identified all potential EAC cases from the database, in a case– control study this is not necessary to obtain unbiased estimates. However, it limited the power of the study and resulted in statistically non-significant results. For assessment of concomitant drug exposure, in particular, we did not reach statistical significance due to the lack of power, though this was not the primary aim of the study. Our nesting cohort included all incident BE patients from the general population, and by matching on duration since BE diagnosis and excluding patients with prevalent BE, we removed any effect of selective survival bias, disease severity²⁷⁵ or time window bias,²⁷⁶ as those patients with BE with a longer follow-up are more likely to develop HGD or EAC. By doing so, observing any spurious association was avoided. Second, we mitigated against immortal time bias²⁷⁷ by defining the exposure period from BE diagnosis up to matching date, thus avoiding an overestimation of the preventive effect. The estimates from our study are likely more generalisable to the daily clinical practice in the general population, also including patients with less severe BE, that is, those with a shorter BE segment. A potential preventive effect of NSAIDs might therefore be only observed within selected high-risk subgroups. Thirdly, the inability to show a significant decrease in HGD and EAC risk for drug use may be explained by the distinct exposure definition that we applied. Contrasting with others ^{14, 274}, we classified exposure cumulatively and performed dose-duration-analyses rather than assessing drug exposure at a single moment. This, however, also limited the analyses by creating multiple exposure categories. Drug exposure changes over time, especially in the long time taken to develop cancer. Assessment of exposure on a fixed moment will result in bias that exaggerates the effect downwards; showing a protective effect while actually it has no effect.²⁷⁶ A pooled analysis of observational studies demonstrated an inverse association between the risk of HGD-EAC and use of NSAIDs.²⁶⁶ A prospective cohort study also showed a decreased hazard ratio of HGD-EAC for use of NSAIDs and statins, however, the study results were influenced by immortal time bias.^{15, 261} In that study, the majority of cases included HGD cases. In line with the other Dutch study,²⁶¹ when we included HGD cases the risk of HGD-EAC was lower than including EAC cases only. The preventive effect is possibly achieved in premalignant stage of dysplasia-development rather than of adenocarcinoma. It is, however, difficult to disentangle drug exposure effects in three different risk periods: induction (dysplasia), latent (between dysplasia and cancer) and disease period (cancer). Ideally, this requires knowledge on exact timing of the first aberrant Barrett's cell and subsequent stages towards HGD and EAC develop. The fourth explanation for not observing a preventive effect may be the exposure prevalence. Regarding NSAID exposure prevalence, we could not capture over-the-counter use of NSAIDs. During the study period NSAIDs and PPIs were reimbursable in the Netherlands and United Kingdom, and thus we assume that over-the-counter use of NSAIDs and PPIs did not confound the results to a great extent. Prevalence of PPI (81%) and statin (26%) exposure in our study is, however, comparable to other studies and is therefore unlikely to have limited our power.^{261, 278}

A large prospective US cohort study showed a tremendous protective effect of NSAIDs on EAC risk.²⁷⁴ However, NSAID exposure was assessed in a personal interview and classified very broadly by NSAIDs used at least once a week for 6 months.²⁷⁴ If the preventive effect of NSAIDs would be as high as reported (up to 80%), a duration and dose response effect is to be expected. This study failed to demonstrate an inverse association between duration of NSAID use and the risk of EAC. In fact, the opposite was observed; the most protective effect was seen for the shortest duration,²⁷⁴ contradicting a causal association.^{162, 279}

A pooled analysis also could not demonstrate that prolonged duration of NSAID use was associated with a lower risk of EAC.²⁶⁶ Additionally, heterogeneity between studies was observed,²⁶⁶ which emphasizes the controversy around clinically effective chemoprevention with NSAIDs.

The preventive effect of stating is shown in several studies.^{14, 261} yielding a risk reduction of EAC up to 48% for statin use >1 year.²⁵⁹ However, in a meta-analysis, the risk reduction of EAC among patients with BE was only seen when studies were included that assessed drug exposure by patient interview, which may be prone to recall bias, whereas the risk reduction was not significant, including studies that assessed drug exposure by use of prescription/dispensing data in electronic medical records.²⁶⁸ Also, for statins, the most pronounced effect was seen when HGD was included.²⁶⁰ Results from the latter study should be interpreted with caution as drug exposure was classified by self-report as 'ever' instead of a duration classification. A recent case-control study, using a GP database from the UK, showed that statins may also decrease the risk of EAC and esophagogastric junctional adenocarcinoma in the general population.²⁸⁰ The chemopreventive action of statins was more pronounced when combined with low-dose aspirin in a previous study.¹⁴ It could be that the preventive effect of statins is explained by other risk factors common to statin users and patients with EAC, such as cardiovascular risk factors or lifestyle changes: smoking, exercise and weight.²⁸⁰ Also it may be that patients with BE died from vascular diseases rather than of cancer-related causes or before HGD or EAC developed.²⁸¹ In our study, statin users were less likely to be current smokers, were of older age and were more often men. However, whether lifestyle changes due to comorbid cardiovascular diseases and initiating statin therapy may have resulted in healthier behavior, and subsequent EAC risk reduction, is open to debate.

Strengths of the current study include the scale and setting by combining healthcare data from two European countries with comparable GP databases and applying a common study protocol and drug exposure definition. The nested case–control design in a well-defined population representing the general population minimised selection bias. While previous studies may have suffered from recall bias or the lack of detailed drug prescription data, we were able to estimate the risk of HGD and EAC within patients with BE during drug use in the general population. Although our analysis may be limited by the small number of cases in the dose–duration analyses, partly due to the fact that we only included incident cases (diagnosed ≥1 year after BE diagnosis), our study is unlikely to suffer from biases (immortal time bias, time window bias) and confounding (disease severity) by matching on important risk factors. Matched and adjusted analyses were in line with each other suggesting that there was little confounding.

A limitation of the study is the lack of detailed pathology information on the Barrett segment length and grade of dysplasia, as is current practice for risk stratification of patients with BE. This may have resulted in misclassification of BE and EAC. However, the 1-year risk of EAC after BE diagnosis, excluding EAC cases within 1 year after BE diagnosis, was 0.086% (95% CI: 0.04–0.17) in the current study,²⁵⁵ which is similar to other population-based studies.^{232, 236, 253} Because we could not verify the diagnosis of BE against a clinical prespecified standard and

did not review biopsy specimens, it is also possible that we inadvertently included patients at very low risk of developing EAC. In the Dutch database, we could search through the medical records and noted that 8% had a segment length <2 cm, 13.7% between 2 and 3 cm, 11.8% longer than 3 cm, whereas for 60% of BE controls the length was not mentioned. Regarding the grade of dysplasia at time of BE diagnosis, 45% of controls had no dysplasia; there was low-grade dysplasia in 6% of BE subjects, indefinite for dysplasia in 1.8%, whereas no information on dysplasia grade was available in 46% of controls. Of the cases that developed HGD or EAC, 24% had a prior histology report of low-grade dysplasia. In the Dutch database we could utilise all free text entered in the medical record, enabling us to look for more detailed information in clinical letters, resulting in higher proportion of risk factors, such as presence of esophagitis and a hiatal hernia at time of BE diagnosis as compared with the UK database, in which we relied on diagnosis codes. We tried to address confounding-by-indication and timewindow bias by matching on age, sex and year of BE diagnosis.²⁷⁶ This is seen by the fact that individual risk factors did not increase the risk of EAC and adjustment for these confounders did not change the estimate by $\geq 10\%$. The observation that PPIs appear to increase the risk of EAC is explained by the treatment indication being a risk factor for EAC, reverse causation and the phenomenon of 'channeling', where high-risk patients are being prescribed PPIs whereas low-risk patients with lower doses or not at all, ^{168, 259, 264, 280, 282} a phenomenon often seen with PPIs and upper gastrointestinal bleeding.²⁸³ It could also be that the effect of PPIs is apparent after minimally 2 years of use,^{245, 259} an observation that was not significant in our study.

In conclusion, in this population-based nested case-control study, use of NSAIDs, PPIs, low-dose aspirin or statins did not reduce the risk of HGD and EAC among patients with Barrett's esophagus. These findings indicate that for an unselected group of patients with BE, chemoprevention by use of drugs to reduce progression should not be considered directly as routine care.

3

SECTION 4

NSAIDs and the risk of Upper Gastrointestinal Bleeding



CHAPTER 4.1

Generating and evaluating a propensity model using textual features from electronic medical records

Zubair Afzal, Gwen MC Masclee, Miriam CJM Sturkenboom, Jan A Kors, Martijn J Schuemie

Submitted.

ABSTRACT

BACKGROUND

Propensity score (PS) methods are commonly used to control for confounding in comparative effectiveness studies. Electronic health records (EHRs) contain much unstructured data that could be used as proxies for potential confounding factors.

AIM

To assess whether the unstructured information can also be used to construct PS models that would allow to properly deal with confounding.

METHODS

In a cohort study of new users of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) from the Dutch Integrated Primary Care Information (IPCI) database, we identified all patients who experienced an upper gastrointestinal (GI) bleeding. We used a large-scale regularized regression to fit two PS models using all structured and unstructured information in the EHR. We calculated hazard ratios (HRs) to estimate the risk of upper GI bleeding among selective cyclo-oxygenase-2 (COX-2) inhibitor users compared to nonselective NSAID (nsNSAID) users.

RESULTS

The crude hazard ratio of upper GI bleeding for COX-2 inhibitors compared to nsNSAIDs was 0.50 (95% confidence interval 0.18-1.36). Matching only on age resulted in an HR of 0.36 (0.11-1.16), and of 0.35 (0.11-1.11) when further adjusted for sex. Matching on PS only, the first model yielded an HR of 0.42 (0.13-1.38), which reduced to 0.35 (0.96-1.25) when adjusted for age and sex. The second model resulted in an HR of 0.42 (0.13-1.39), which dropped to 0.31 (0.09-1.08) after adjustment for age and sex.

CONCLUSION

PS models can be created using unstructured information in EHRs. An incremental benefit was observed by matching on PS over traditional matching and adjustment for covariates.

INTRODUCTION

Electronic health records (EHRs) are primarily used for routine medical care, but secondary use of EHR data for observational research is becoming increasingly popular especially in studying of drug effects postmarketing.²⁸⁴ In this era data is used to generate information on drug safety and effectiveness in a cost-efficient way and by exploiting actual care patterns, which differ largely from experimental settings.²⁸⁵⁻²⁸⁸ In an experimental setting such as in randomized clinical trials, the choice for a treatment is randomized, which would take care of potential confounding by indication.²⁸⁹ In actual care the treatment decision is usually influenced by measurable patient characteristics such as medical history, concomitant drug intake but also by personal prescriber preferences, which cannot be measured easily. This phenomenon of preferential prescribing is also known as channeling and may lead to confounding by indication.^{290, 291} A well-known example of channeling is the preference of doctors to prescribe selective cyclo-oxygenase-2 inhibitors (COX-2 inhibitors) over nonselective (ns) non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) to patients at risk of developing upper gastrointestinal (GI) bleeding, as the COX-2 inhibitors were developed on purpose to mitigate the GI effects of NSAIDs.^{243, 292} Although clinical trials showed that selective COX-2 inhibitors are 'safer' than nsNSAIDs in relation to upper GI bleeding,²⁹³ observational studies showed no large differences between the rate of upper GI bleeding between COX-2 inhibitor and nsNSAIDs, possibly due to residual confounding by indications arising from channeling.²⁹⁴ In order to obtain unbiased estimates in observational studies this confounding must be dealt with. However, it is challenging to capture all relevant confounders in the EHR databases because information is not primarily recorded for research purposes. Moreover, often relevant information is recorded in EHRs in an unstructured way.^{295, 296}

Attempts to construct methods that deal with confounding have resulted in the propensity score method. The propensity score is an estimated conditional probability of receiving one particular treatment over another given a set of measured covariates.²⁹⁷ It can be regarded as a comprehensive way to look at channeling. Propensity score methods can be used to control for the unbalance between the treatment groups in order to estimate the comparative effectiveness of treatments.²⁹⁷ Four different methods of using the propensity to reduce confounding have been described²⁹⁸: (1) matching on propensity score; (2) stratification on the propensity score; (3) inverse probability of treatment weighting using the propensity score; (4) and covariate adjustment using the propensity score. Typically, all variables related to either the outcome and/or exposure are included in the propensity score model,^{299, 300} sometimes these variables are not the exact confounding factors but proxies thereof. ³⁰¹ Yet, identifying appropriate proxies in large EHRs is challenging. Schneeweiss et al.³⁰² proposed a high-dimensional propensity score (hd-PS) algorithm to empirically identify a large number of relevant covariates, with high prevalence, to control for confounding. In a case study on selective COX-2 inhibitors and nsNSAIDs using claims data in the USA, application of the hd-PS algorithm to control for confounding was found to produce an effect estimate for the risk of upper GI complications between selective COX-2 inhibitors and nsNSAIDs that was comparable to the one found in randomized trials.²⁹⁶ The hd-PS model is constructed by using many covariates of which some could serve as proxies for unobserved factors that otherwise may not be considered. Typically, only structured information such as diagnostic or procedure codes that is available in the claims databases, are included in the model. Electronic health records comprise much unstructured data and we propose that this information could also be used as proxies for potential confounding factors.

The aim of this study was therefore to assess whether unstructured text in EHRs can be used to construct a propensity score model that would allow to properly deal with confounding. We assessed the performance of propensity score models in addressing confounding by indication using as an example the association between selective COX-2 inhibitors and nonselective NSAIDs in relation to upper gastrointestinal bleeding.

METHODS

Data source

We used the Dutch Integrated Primary Care Information database (IPCI),²³⁸ a population-based general practice (GP) EHR database. This database contains prospectively collected routine care data representing real-life practice. In the Netherlands, all citizens are registered with a GP, who acts as a gatekeeper to secondary and tertiary medical care. IPCI contains over 1.8 million patients from 340 GP practices. For each individual person, all relevant medical information from primary and secondary care is documented in the medical record. Apart from patient demographics, the recorded information in the EHRs contains medical notes (including symptoms, physical examination, assessments and diagnoses), drug prescriptions, laboratory results, referrals for hospitalization or specialist care, and hospital discharge summaries. In the IPCI database, drug prescriptions are coded using the Z-index, but are recoded according to the Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical (ATC) classification for Primary Care (ICPC).²⁴⁰ Almost 60% of the medical record are clinical narratives, which do not contain coded information, but contain important information such as patient-reported symptoms and notes from the GP.

Selection of NSAID cohort

We created a cohort of all new adult (≥18 years) users of NSAIDs between 1996 and 2013. Patients had to be enrolled for at least one year in the database in order to be eligible for cohort entry. ATC codes used for NSAID exposure are presented in Supplementary Table 1. Within the NSAID cohort we selected all episodes of NSAID use. A new NSAID episode was created if the following criteria were met: (a) at least six months of data available before NSAID exposure, (b) no prescription of any nonselective NSAID or selective COX-2 inhibitor in the previous six months, and (c) no mentioning of drug names, in the free-text, corresponding

with NSAID-related ATC codes in the previous six months. An NSAID episode continued when consecutive NSAID prescriptions started before or within 30 days of the end of the duration of the previous prescription. The duration of a prescription was calculated by dividing the prescribed quantity by daily dose regimen. The end of the episode was defined as the end of the last NSAID prescription. The episode selection is illustrated in Figure 1. Episodes were classified as an nsNSAID or selective COX-2 inhibitor episode based on the first prescription in that episode being an nsNSAID or a selective COX-2 inhibitor, respectively. If a patient switched between exposure (from selective COX-2 inhibitor to nsNSAID or vice versa) the duration of the NSAID episode was ended at the switch of the exposure. A patient could have multiple NSAID episodes, but only if the above mentioned criteria were met.



- Time between two prescriptions > 30 days
- Patient episode

Figure 1. Episode selection.

Selection of Upper Gastrointestinal bleeding patients

Within the cohort of new NSAID users we identified all potential subjects who experienced an upper gastrointestinal (GI) bleeding via an automated search.³⁰³ Upper GI bleeding was defined as all forms of ulcer complications such as bleeding, perforation, or obstruction. The entire medical record of all potential upper GI bleeding patients was extensively reviewed to ensure the diagnosis and the date of onset. Any other cause of upper GI bleeding (such as

variceal bleeding or Mallory Weiss bleeding) was excluded. The date of upper GI bleeding was determined as the date of first mentioning of symptoms leading to the upper GI bleeding diagnosis or if this date was unknown, the date of diagnosis.

Propensity score model

A propensity model was fitted using all information (structured and unstructured) in the EHR. To reduce the number of potential variables we first converted all text to lowercase after which we removed special characters, words not starting with a letter or a digit, stop words (such as *de, het* – the article *the* in English), and punctuation. All unique words (also known as unigrams) in the 6 months prior to cohort entry were extracted and used as textual features (potential covariates). We tested two methods to limit the number of covariates that would be included in the regression. The first method generated models using covariates of which the frequency in the cohort was above a certain threshold, e.g., 1,000 without any further selection. In the second method, we generated a model using covariates that were associated with the outcome. The chi-square test was used to select covariates that were statistically significantly associated with the outcome (p-value less than 0.05).

The selected features were subsequently used in a large-scale regularized regression using a LaPlace prior³⁰⁴ with the hyperparameter of 0.01 to construct a propensity model for each method. The advantage of using a regularized regression is that it can handle high-dimensional data.³⁰⁵ A flowchart depicting the process of propensity score model generation (for methods 1 and 2) is presented in Figure 2.



Figure 2. Flowchart showing the process of generating a propensity score model from unstructured free text.

We used three-fold cross-validation³⁰⁶ to evaluate the predictive accuracy of the two models. The data set was randomly divided in three equally-sized subsets or folds. In three cross-validation runs, each time, the model was successively trained on two folds and tested on the third fold. For each cross-validation run, an area under the receiver operating characteristic curve (AUC) was calculated. The averaged AUC was used as the overall performance measure.

One-to-many propensity score matching

The propensity score was used to account for the preferential prescribing of selective COX-2 inhibitors to patients at high-risk of developing an upper GI bleeding²⁹⁴. In this study, we used the greedy one-to-many matching as described by Rassen *et al.*³⁰⁷:

- 1. For each selective COX-2 inhibitor user the difference in PS with all nsNSAID users was computed
- 2. Starting with the lowest difference, each selective COX-2 inhibitor user was matched with one nsNSAID user. Once an nsNSAID user was matched, he or she was precluded from further matching. A caliper of 0.01 was used, meaning no matches were made if the difference in PS was greater than 0.01.
- 3. After all selective COX-2 inhibitor users were matched with one nsNSAID user, the process was repeated until all new nsNSAID users were matched to new selective COX-2 inhibitor users or there was no match possible.

The algorithm ensured that all selective COX-2 inhibitor users were matched with at least one nsNSAID user if such a match was available within the caliper.

Statistical Analysis

To estimate the risk of upper GI bleeding among selective COX-2 inhibitor users compared to nsNSAID users we calculated hazard ratios with their corresponding 95% confidence intervals (CIs) using Cox proportional hazard regression. We conducted the analysis for four datasets: 1) a crude comparison (unmatched); 2) matched on age (± 2 years) and adjusted for sex and exposure to low-dose aspirin; 3) matched on PS with covariate frequency above 1,000 and then adjusted for age, sex, and exposure to low-dose aspirin; and 4) matched on PS with covariates having an association with the outcome and then adjustment for age, sex, and exposure to low-dose aspirin.

RESULTS

NSAID cohort

From the source population of more than 1.8 million patients we identified 518,768 new users of NSAIDs based on ATC codes. We then processed the unstructured free-text in the entries of the new users to identify mentioning of drug names corresponding with NSAID-related ATC codes. In total, 36,188 new users were removed because either an nsNSAID or selective COX-2 inhibitor drug was mentioned in the free-text in the six months preceding first NSAID exposure. This resulted in 482,580 new NSAID users in the study cohort. Out of these, 459,701 (95%) were nsNSAID users and 22,879 (5%) were selective COX-2 inhibitor users. Within the

NSAID cohort we retrieved 11,994 potential upper GI bleeding patients. After reviewing the medical records we retained 1,048 upper GI bleedings.

The average duration of episodes for initiators of selective COX-2 inhibitors was 94 days and 66 days for initiators of nsNSAIDs. Baseline characteristics of initiators of selective COX-2 inhibitors and nsNSAIDs are shown in Table 1. Most of the episodes of selective COX-2 inhibitors and nsNSAIDs were started after the year 2004.

Propensity model

In total, we extracted 2,762,326 covariates (i.e., unique words) from approximately 2.4 million entries in the 6 months prior to NSAID episodes from the medical records of 482,580 new NSAID users. Table 2 shows the performance of the propensity models built using different covariates selection methods. The first model used all covariates with a frequency of 100 or more in the cohort, which resulted in 95,078 unique covariates entered into the model. Increasing the frequency to 1,000 resulted in a reduction of the number of covariates to 27,619. The number of covariates further reduced when frequency was increased to 5,000. The performance of the propensity model that was built using 3,650 covariates that had an association with the outcome according to the chi-square test. This resulted in an AUC of 70.59. The performance of the propensity model that included only the established confounders resulted in an AUC of 66.27. The number of covariates in the models however were only 111.

Risk of upper gastrointestinal bleeding

The crude hazard ratio of upper GI bleeding for selective COX-2 inhibitors compared to nsNSAIDs was 0.50 (95% 0.18-1.36) (Table 3). When matched on age, the hazard ratio of selective COX-2 inhibitor use compared to nsNSAID use was 0.36 (95% CI: 0.11-1.16). Further adjusting for sex and exposure to low-dose aspirin resulted in HR of 0.35 and 0.36 respectively. Matching on PS only, using one-to-many matching with a covariate frequency above 1,000, yielded a hazard ratio of 0.42 (95% CI: 0.13 – 1.38). Subsequent adjustment for age resulted in a hazard ratio of 0.36 (95% CI: 0.10 – 1.22). Matching on PS with covariates associated with outcome gave a hazard ratio of 0.42 (95% CI: 0.13 – 1.39). Adjusting for age reduced the ratio to 0.32 (95%: 0.09 – 1.09). The top 25 covariates, in terms of their weights (beta values), from both propensity score models are presented in Supplementary Table 2-3.

Characteristics	%	
	Selective COX-2 initiators	nsNSAID initiators
	(n=22,879)	(n=459,701)
Age (mean)	57.7	47.9
Male	36.5	43.2
Female	63.5	56.8
Exposure to low-dose aspirin	2.8	1.1
Age (years)		
≤ 30	6.5	17.3
31-40	8.4	16.1
41-50	17.7	22.4
51-60	22.4	19.7
61 - 70	20.8	13.8
71 - 80	15.9	7.7
> 80	8.3	3.0
Calendar year of treatment initiation		
before 2003	0.1	10.8
2003	1.4	2.0
2004	3.1	1.9
2005	1.6	1.9
2006	1.5	1.3
2007	2.6	2.3
2008	7.3	6.7
2009	11.5	12.3
2010	15.6	16.4
2011	22.7	20.6
2012	30.7	22.7
2013	1.9	1.1
Upper GI risk factors		
Use of antiplatelets	6.3	3.2
Use of anticoagulants	3.2	1.3
Use of gastroprotective agents	23.4	11.8
Other comorbidities		
Dyspepsia	0.2	0.2
Smoking	0.5	0.5
Heart failure	0.4	0.2
Diabetes mellitus	0.5	0.3
Concomitant use of other medications		
Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors	4.4	3.3
Spironolactone	0.7	0.3
Calcium channel blockers	7.2	3.7

Table 1. Baseline characteristics of initiators of selective COX-2 inhibitors and nonselective NSAIDs.

 Table 2. Predictive performance of different hd-PS models built using covariates with different frequencies in the data set.

	PS Model	Number of covariates	AUC*
	Covariate frequency \geq 100	95,078	72.27
Method 1	Covariate frequency ≥ 1,000	27,619	72.32
	Covariate frequency ≥ 5,000	11,699	72.17
Method 2	Covariates selected using Chi-square test (independent of frequency)	3,650	70.59

* AUC, area under the Receiver Operating Characteristic curve.

Matching	Adjustment	Hazard ratio	95% CI
Unmatched	None	0.50	0.18 - 1.36
Age	None	0.36	0.11 - 1.16
	Sex	0.35	0.11 - 1.18
	Sex, Aspirin	0.36	0.11 - 1.18
	None	0.42	0.13 - 1.38
Broponsity Score	Age	0.36	0.10 - 1.22
covariate frequencies > 1,000	Sex	0.39	0.12 - 1.30
covariate irequencies > 1,000	Age, Sex	0.35	0.96 - 1.25
	Sex, Aspirin	0.39	0.12 - 1.32
	None	0.42	0.13-1.39
Broponsity Score	Age	0.32	0.09-1.09
covariates based on association test	Sex	0.43	0.13-1.42
covariates based on association test	Age, Sex	0.31	0.09 - 1.08
	Sex, Aspirin	0.43	0.13-1.42
	Age, Sex, Aspirin	0.31	0.09 - 1.10

Table 3. Hazard ratios with 95% confidence intervals (CI) comparing selective COX-2 inhibitors with nsNSAIDs.

For (a) Unmatched -crude, (b) Matched on age only and then adjusting for sex and similar exposure to low-dose aspirin (c) Matched on PS only and then adjusting on age, sex, and similar exposure to low-dose aspirin (d) Matched on PS built using covariates selected with chi-square test and then adjusting on age, sex, and similar exposure to low-dose aspirin.

DISCUSSION

In this study, we generated a propensity model using unstructured information from electronic healthcare records (EHR). We tested different methods to construct this and demonstrated the feasibility to do so as well as its performance. Since electronic health records are now widely available for secondary use, we need to develop methods and test performance of these methods for use in epidemiological evaluations such as drug effects.

Our method to generate a propensity score model is substantially different from the high-dimensional propensity score (hd-PS) approach proposed by Schneeweiss et al.³⁰² The hd-PS algorithm that was developed for claims data uses structured information such as diagnostic codes, in-patient procedure codes, and drugs dispensed. In each identified data dimension, the highest ranked codes are selected to enter in the hd-PS model. Our method is different since we used as the basis unstructured text to generate propensity models, using a large-scale regularized regression, without pre-identified data dimensions. Several methods other than logistic regression such as data-adaptive and classification trees have been proposed for fitting a propensity model.³⁰⁵ To reduce the number of 'meaningless' features, we needed various textual data cleaning steps. We subsequently extracted all unigrams from the cleaned free-text, which served as potential covariates. Here we applied different approaches, to look at the impact of our choices. In the first method, the most-frequent covariates in the cohort were selected to enter the propensity score model. Since the covariates were selected merely on the basis of their frequency in the cohort, this method is

prone to include covariates that may actually be instrumental variables. Instrumental variables have an association with the exposure but not with the outcome except through their effect on exposure. If covariates are included that are not true confounders, the variance increases and sometimes a small amount of bias may be introduced.^{103, 308-310} In order to mitigate the potential to include covariates that are instrumental variables we included covariates with a significant association with the outcome to the propensity score model in the second method we applied.³¹⁰

We used three-fold cross-validation to evaluate the predictive performance of each generated model. The propensity models generated using covariates with only high frequency in the cohort performed better. This may be due to the presence of some instrumental variables which can result in a decrease in performance (mean squared error) but increase in predictive performance.³¹¹ Increasing the frequency threshold for covariate selection reduced the number of covariates that entered into the propensity score model but the performance of the models was still comparable. This suggests that the performance of the models was mostly based on a few covariates with high occurrence in the text. Reducing the number of covariates reduced the computation time needed to fit the model. By selecting covariates with an association with the outcome we significantly reduced the total number of covariates without greatly affecting the performance. The propensity models generated using covariates with only high frequency in the cohort performed better than the one where association with the outcome was verified. This may be due to the presence of some instrumental variables which can result in an increase in predictive performance.³⁰⁵ We used another propensity model for the comparison purposes where only the established confounders age, sex, and exposure to low-dose aspirin were included. The predictive performance of this model was lower than the other two models which were generated from the free-text covariates. The second method, where covariate association with the outcome was verified, showed large decrease in the hazard ratios after further adjustments.

Whereas previous studies have constructed the hd-PS with structured information, such as ICD and READ codes across different data dimensions in different sources, ^{296, 301, 302, 312} large proportions of information may be unstructured. We showed that this unstructured freetext can be used to construct propensity models. A high number of removals (7%) from the cohort based on a drug mentioned in the free-text indicates the importance of processing unstructured free-text instead of only relying on the structured information such as prescription tables containing ATC codes.

Our study also has several limitations. First, by including covariates based on their frequencies we might have selected covariates that are not necessarily related to the outcome or the exposure, which could introduce bias.^{299, 313} Second, since we only used unigrams, covariates like *'congestive heart failure'* cannot be recognized as such. Instead it will be recognized as individual words *'congestive' 'heart'* and *'failure'* which might lead to over- and underestimation of some covariates. Like previous studies using hd-PS methods, we also used the known association between NSAIDs and upper GI bleeding as an example. It is unclear whether our findings regarding the PS generated from unstructured free-text apply to other

treatment-outcome pairs. Since the PS algorithm in general relies on the information present in the cohort, a similar approach using a different data set might have different results even when using the known example of NSAID-upper GI bleeding.

The majority of selective COX-2 inhibitor episodes started after the year 2004, the period after the withdrawal of rofecoxib from the market because of cardiovascular risks.¹¹ This may explain the strong protective effect of selective COX-2 inhibitors in the crude analysis which we would expect, but is different from previous observational studies that were done more closely to the introduction of selective COX-2 inhibitors.^{296, 301, 302, 312} Since most of our patients started after the contra-indications were introduced, channeling towards high risk patients was less of an issue.³¹⁴

In conclusion, our study showed that PS models can be created using unstructured information in electronic healthcare records. This is useful for database studies using a large amount of unstructured free-text as in EHRs. We observed a small incremental benefit by matching on PS over traditional matching and adjustment for covariates. Better methods for extracting meaningful covariates from the free-text may be required for effective proxy adjustment via propensity scores.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL



ATC code	Name	Type of NSAID
M01AA*	butylpyrazolidines	nonselective NSAID
M01AB*	Acetic acid derivatives	nonselective NSAID
M01AC*	Oxicams	nonselective NSAID
M01AE*	Propionic acid derivatives	nonselective NSAID
M01AG*	Fenamates	nonselective NSAID
M01AH01	Celecoxib	Selective COX-2 inhibitor
M01AH03	Valdecoxib	Selective COX-2 inhibitor
M01AH04	Parecoxib	Selective COX-2 inhibitor
M01AH05	Etoricoxib	Selective COX-2 inhibitor
M01AH06	Lumiracoxib	Selective COX-2 inhibitor

Supplementary Table 1. List of ATC codes used for NSAID exposure assessment.

*all drugs from this group are included.

Supplementary Table 2. Top 25 covariates by their weights selected by the regression model (covariates frequency > 1000).

Rank	Unigram	Translation	Beta value
1	dh*	Diakonesse huis (type of hospital)	0.565
		Blood pressure measurement in sitting	
2	rrzit	position	0.548
3	nabehandeling	Follow-up treatment	0.532
4	school	School	0.430
5	orthopaedisch	Orthopedic	0.376
6	specialistische	Specialist/Specialistic	0.360
7	bacteri	Bacteria	0.334
8	tonsillen	Tonsils	0.326
9	acne	Acne	0.319
10	rfe*	Reason for Encounter	0.312
11	tonsillitis	Tonsillitis	0.303
12	bloedafname	Blood sampling	0.287
13	nvgb*	Patient did not appear at appoint, no message	0.285
14	origineel	Original	0.282
15	menstruatie	Menstruation	0.279
16	arthroscopie	Arthroscopy	0.241
17	housenumber	"House number"	0.238
18	bloedbeeld	Complete blood test	0.236
19	waarneming	Observation	0.225
20	ref*	Reference/referral	0.225
21	abnormaal	Abnormal	0.223
22	n89	ICPC Code N89 (Migraine)	0.217
23	glu*	Glucose	0.203
24	assistent	Assistant	0.202
25	spastische	Spastic	0.201

* Abbreviations, might have other meanings as well depending on the context.

Rank	Unigram	Translation	Beta value
1	rrzit	Blood pressure measurement in sitting position	0.675
2	dh*	Diakonesse huis (type of hospital)	0.656
3	school	School	0.545
4	izh*	Hospital	0.413
5	rfe*	Reason for Encounter	0.376
6	tonsillen	Tonsils	0.369
7	acne	Acne	0.357
8	cvx*	Cervix	0.347
9	declareren	Declare	0.345
10	menstruatie	Menstruation	0.343
11	tonsillitis	Tonsillitis	0.309
12	ref*	Reference/referral	0.306
13	diak*	Diakonesse huis (type of hospital)	0.295
14	erythro	Erythrocyte	0.264
15	kindergeneeskunde	Pediatrics	0.263
16	bultje	Bump	0.254
17	exfoliatieve	exfoliation	0.248
18	intensieve	Intensive	0.247
19	arthroscopie	Arthroscopy	0.240
20	fp		0.236
21	asdrukpijn	Axial pressure pain	0.234
22	bevalling	Delivery	0.234
23	zwanger	Pregnant	0.230
24	regulair	Regular	0.224
25	zelfcontrole	Self-control	0.214

Supplementary Table 3. Top 25 covariates by their weights selected by the regression model (chi-square test).

* Abbreviations, might have other meanings as well depending on the context.

Generating a propensity score model | 105



CHAPTER 4.2

Cyclo-oxygenase-2 inhibitors or nonselective NSAIDs plus gastroprotective agents: what to prescribe in daily clinical practice?

Gwen MC Masclee, Vera E Valkhoff, Eva M van Soest, Giampiero Mazzaglia, Mariam Molokhia, René Schade, Gianluca Trifirò, Jay L Goldstein, Sonia Hernández-Díaz, Ernst J Kuipers, Miriam C J M Sturkenboom

Alimentary Pharmacology and Therapeutics. 2013 Jul;38(2):178-89
ABSTRACT

BACKGROUND

Two strategies for prevention of upper gastrointestinal (GI) events for nonselective (ns)NSAID users are replacement of the nsNSAID by a cyclo-oxygenase-2 (COX-2)-selective inhibitor or coprescription of a gastroprotective agent (GPA).

AIM

Aim was to identify whether and in whom either of these strategies should be preferred in daily practice.

METHODS

A nested case-control study was conducted using three European primary care databases. We selected a cohort including all naive nsNSAID+GPA (\geq 80% GPA adherence) and COX-2 inhibitor users (without GPA use) aged \geq 50 years. Cases with an upper GI event (i.e. symptomatic upper GI ulcer or bleeding (upper GI bleeding)) were matched to cohort members without an upper GI event on age, sex and number of individual upper GI risk factors (i.e. upper GI event history, age \geq 65 years, concomitant use of anticoagulants, antiplatelets, or glucocorticoids) and calendar time. Conditional logistic regression analysis was used to calculate odds ratios (ORs) with 95% confidence intervals (CI), while adjusting for potential confounders.

RESULTS

Within the NSAID cohort (n=617,220), 398 upper GI event cases were identified. The risk of upper GI events was equivalent for COX-2 inhibitor and nsNSAID+GPA (\geq 80% adherence) users (OR: 1.02; 95%CI:0.77-1.37). In concurrent glucocorticoid users, the risk of upper GI events was significantly elevated for nsNSAID+GPA (\geq 80% adherence) compared to COX-2 inhibitor users (OR: 9.01; 95%CI:1.61-50.50).

CONCLUSION

The risk of upper GI events was similar in nsNSAID+GPA (\geq 80% adherence) and COX-2 inhibitors users. In patients concurrently using glucocorticoids a significant increase in the risk of upper GI events for nsNSAID+GPA users was observed and COX-2 inhibitors should be preferred.

INTRODUCTION

Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) are frequently prescribed by both general practitioners and medical specialists, and serve as key pharmacological agents in the management of arthralgic and inflammatory conditions. Multiple epidemiologic studies and prospective clinical outcome trials have characterized the risk of NSAID-related gastrointestinal (GI) complications, which include upper gastrointestinal (GI) ulcers and bleeding. To mitigate the increased risk among long term NSAID users, guidelines have been developed and strategies are recommended ^{99, 100, 315, 316} including prescription of cyclo-oxygenase (COX)-2-selective inhibitors or concurrent use of gastroprotective agents (GPAs), such as proton pump inhibitors (PPIs). Although both preventive strategies aim to reduce the incidence of upper GI events, the risk of such complications is not eliminated; a considerable proportion of NSAID plus GPA users (6.3% to 8.5%) and COX-2 inhibitor users (3.7% to 8.9%) continues to experience upper GI events.

Defining which of the two preventive strategies is preferred in terms of upper GI safety has been the scope of recent studies. Most of the randomized clinical trials showed no superiority for one of the preventive strategies over the other. ^{76-78, 317} Only one large randomized clinical trial showed a beneficial effect in favor of celecoxib.⁸² In this 6 month trial patients randomized to celecoxib, as compared to the combination of diclofenac and omeprazole, had a reduced rate of clinically significant overall gastrointestinal events when a composite endpoint was considered (events from both the upper and lower GI tract). Looking at the upper gastrointestinal tract specifically, this head to head comparison demonstrated similar rates for upper gastrointestinal bleeding.⁸² Extrapolation of the previously described body of literature to guide clinicians in the care of the general population has several limitations. Many of the prospective randomized clinical studies have included patients using supra-therapeutic doses of COX-2 inhibitors or included a selected group of high-risk patients (i.e. those with a recent upper GI event).^{76-78, 82} Alternatively in some of the prospective trials, the presence of co-morbid diseases such as ischemic heart disease, peripheral arterial disease⁸², or congestive heart failure ⁷⁸ were considered as exclusion criterion, thereby preferentially selecting patients at lower risk of upper GI events. Additionally, the exclusion of patients with frequently used co-medication (e.g. low-dose aspirin ⁷⁸, anticoagulant agents ^{77, 78} and corticosteroids ⁷⁷) in some of the studies might be an important issue, considering that the use of low-dose aspirin clearly influences the efficacy of upper GI protection in COX-2 inhibitors. ^{73, 318} Finally, as a consequence of protocol driven inclusion of patients with recent or past upper GI bleeding and in some studies, the recruitment of patients from hospitalsetting ^{78, 82} or endoscopy centers ^{76, 77}, a substantial number of enrolled subjects may have had NSAID-associated complications and as such a higher risk.

Apart from the clinical studies, one population-based cohort study concluded that COX-2 inhibitors alone were not superior to nonselective (ns)NSAID combined with PPI in the prevention of hospitalization for a perforated or bleeding ulcer.³¹⁹ This observation was confirmed in an observational case-control study, using a population-based claims-database in

Canada, in which both gastroprotective strategies were similarly effective in the prevention of NSAID-related upper GI events, but it did not address the lack of adherence to PPIs.¹⁰¹ However, we and others have demonstrated that in real life, GPA adherence during nsNSAID use is an important factor to consider when evaluating and comparing the effectiveness of different gastroprotective strategies. If the NSAID and PPI are given as separate medications non- or low adherence to GPAs is often seen³²⁰ and associated with significantly increased risk of nsNSAID-related upper GI events.^{294, 321, 322}

Thus, whether COX-2 inhibitors and nsNSAIDs plus GPA are similarly effective in preventing incident NSAID-related upper GI events in daily clinical practice including patients both at high- and low-risk is still unknown. Therefore, we conducted a case-control study to compare the risk of upper GI events between COX-2 inhibitor users and nsNSAID users, who were highly GPA adherent (at least 80% adherence to GPAs), making use of population-based primary health care data from three European countries. As COX-2 inhibitors might be preferentially prescribed to specific patient groups, we restricted to nsNSAID users who were highly GPA adherent (at least 80% adherence to GPAs).

METHODS

Description of data sources

Three similar European population-based primary care registries served as data sources: 1) the General Practice Research Database (GPRD) from the United Kingdom (UK, 1998–2008), 2) the Integrated Primary Care Information database (IPCI) from the Netherlands (1996–2007), and 3) the Health Search/CSD Longitudinal Patient Database (HSD) from Italy (2000–2007). In these three countries, all citizens are registered with a primary care practice, which acts as a gatekeeper to secondary and tertiary medical care. For each individual patient all relevant medical information from primary and secondary care, as well as additional information, including demographics and drug prescriptions, is recorded in the health care medical record. All three registries comply with European Union guidelines on the use of medical data for research. The protocol of the present study was approved by the Medical Ethics Committee of each database. We have previously shown the validity to combine and to compare data from these databases.^{102, 294} For GPRD, the READ dictionary was used to identify medical diagnosis and symptoms, whereas the International Classification for Primary Care²⁴⁰ and the International Classification of Diseases, 9th Revision, Clinical Modification (ICD-9-CM)³²³ were used for that purpose in IPCI and HSD, respectively. In IPCI and HSD information on drug prescription was coded according to the Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical (ATC) classification.²⁴² In GPRD information on drugs is captured with MULTILEX product dictionary and British National Formulary (BNF) codes.

Determination of NSAID cohort

The identification of the source population and NSAID cohort has been described elsewhere.²⁹⁴ In brief, a source population was identified within each database by inclusion of patients from start of the study period, 50 years of age or the date that one year of valid data within the database was available, whichever was the most recent. The one-year period prior to inclusion in the source population was required for valid assessment of baseline characteristics and inclusion and exclusion criteria at the time of NSAID prescription. We identified a cohort of all new users (i.e. no NSAID prescriptions within 6 months prior to inclusion) of either COX-2 inhibitors or nsNSAIDs (excluding the fixed combination of diclofenac with misoprostol) was identified. Exclusion criteria were history of gastrointestinal tract cancer, alcohol abuse, chronic liver disease, inflammatory bowel disease, or coagulopathy. Within the cohort of new users, all episodes of NSAID use were determined and defined as consecutive NSAID prescriptions with intervening gaps not exceeding the duration of the previous NSAID prescription (Figure 1). The duration of an NSAID episode was calculated by dividing the prescribed quantity by daily dose regimen (GPRD/IPCI) or the indication-specific defined daily dose (HSD). The end of an NSAID episode was defined as the end of the duration of the last NSAID prescription within that episode or the end of follow-up, whichever was earliest. All episodes from a patient were eligible for inclusion if the previous NSAID-prescription ended at least 6 months before the start of the next episode. The density of NSAID use was calculated by the number of NSAID prescription days divided by episode length. Eligible gastroprotective agents (GPAs) were proton pump inhibitors (PPIs), double-dosed histamine₂ receptor antagonists (H₂RAs), and misoprostol.

For the present study, nonselective NSAID users were excluded if they did not use a GPA concomitantly, or if they were non-adherent to the concomitantly used GPA (i.e. coverage of less than 80% of the nsNSAID days). In total, 68.1% of NSAID plus GPA users were highly adherent.²⁹⁴ The exposure assessment and GPA adherence calculation are schematically depicted in Figure 1. The GPA adherence calculation has been described previously.³²² NSAID episodes during which patients switched between classes of NSAIDs (from nsNSAID to COX-2 inhibitor or vice versa) were excluded. Episodes during which COX-2 inhibitors were used concurrently with a GPA were also excluded. Overall, in 83.4% of COX-2 inhibitor episodes no GPA was used concomitantly.¹⁰² This resulted in a cohort including only nsNSAID plus GPA (\geq 80 % adherence) and COX-2 inhibitor (alone) users.



Figure 1. Schematic illustration of NSAID exposure and GPA adherence calculation.

GPA, gastroprotective agents; GI, gastrointestinal; nsNSAID, nonselective non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, N adh, non adherent; NA, not applicable, time period not included in adherence calculation.

Cases and controls selection

Outcomes of interest were a composite of upper GI events (including symptomatic ulceration, upper GI bleeding, perforation or obstruction) and upper GI bleeding alone. Identification of the outcomes has been described in more detail elsewhere. ²⁹⁴ The date of outcome (i.e. index date) was determined as date of start of symptoms leading to the diagnosis of the upper GI event, or if this date was unknown, date of diagnosis. Events occurring within 60 days after the end of an NSAID episode were attributed to the previous NSAID use.³²⁵

A nested case-control study was conducted. To each case experiencing an upper GI event during or within 60 days after the end of an NSAID episode, we matched all control persons from the cohort of the corresponding database. Controls had not experienced any upper GI event at the index date of the corresponding case and were at the index date alive, using an NSAID within 60 days prior, had equal number of upper GI risk factors (see below) as the case and had similar age (±3 years) and same gender.

Covariates

We considered as risk factors for upper GI events those that are commonly reported in literature: (i) age \geq 65 years; (ii) a history of upper GI events (bleeding/ulceration); (iii) concurrent use of anticoagulants; (iv) concomitant use of antiplatelets (including aspirin \leq 325 mg/day); and (v) concomitant use of glucocorticoids (equipotent dose of \geq 5 mg prednisone).

Presence of risk factors was determined by electronic searches in all available data prior to or noted at the index date. Additional potential confounding factors were assessed: dyspepsia in the year before the NSAID episode, (history of) smoking, presence of heart failure or diabetes mellitus, and concomitant use of drugs associated with increased risk of bleeding (selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRI), spironolactone or calcium antagonists) at the index date.

Statistical analyses

Baseline characteristics of cases and controls were described by database and compared using univariate conditional logistic regression analyses.

To estimate the risk for upper GI events and upper GI bleeding among nsNSAID + GPA users(\geq 80% adherence) in comparison to COX-2 inhibitor users, matched and adjusted odds ratios (OR) with 95% confidence intervals (CIs) were calculated using conditional logistic regression analyses for each database separately and as pooled analysis. The odds ratio can be interpreted as an estimate of the relative risk, as person-time is inherently accounted for in the analysis and the underlying source population is representative of the general population.³²⁶ The pooling of data across databases was performed by two methods: 1) on patient-level (respecting matched cases and controls from the original database); and 2) on study-level by estimating the risk of upper GI events for nsNSAID + GPA(\geq 80% adherence) use versus COX-2 inhibitor use per database and pooling the three obtained risk estimates using a meta-analytic approach, resulting in an overall risk estimate (inverse variance model) using a random-effects model. The latter method is only appropriate when there is no heterogeneity.

Identification of confounders was performed by entering each potential confounder into the model one by one and were kept in the final model if the risk estimate for the drug exposure changed by more than 10%. As the duration COX-2 inhibitor use might differ from use of nsNSAIDs+GPA (≥80% adherence), we adjusted also for duration of the episodes and density of NSAID use.

Subsequent analyses evaluated the risk of upper GI events and upper GI bleeding stratified by the presence of individual risk factors: age \geq 65 years, history of upper GI event, and use of concomitant medications (antiplatelets, anticoagulants and glucocorticoids). For glucocorticoids, we considered an equipotent dose of prednisone 5 to 10 mg/day as low-dosage; > 10 to 20 mg/day as moderate dosage and >20 mg/day as high-dosage. Multiplicative interaction was tested to identify effect modification by all of the individual upper GI risk factors.

All analyses were performed using SPSS 15.0 for Windows (SPSS Inc, Chicago, III). Statistical significance was defined as a two-sided p-value<0.05.

RESULTS

Patient characteristics

We identified 384,469 new NSAID users in the United Kingdom (UK), 307 of who experienced an upper GI event (194 with upper GI bleeding). In the Netherlands 17 cases with an upper GI event (14 with upper GI bleeding) were identified from 55,004 new users of NSAIDs and in Italy 74 cases with an upper GI event (17 with upper GI bleeding) were identified from 177,747 new NSAID users. Overall, 57,568 event-free controls were matched to these 398 upper GI event cases. Median number of controls was 120 per case (interquartile range: 43-201).

Baseline characteristics of the cases and matched controls are shown in Table 1. In the UK, the most commonly prescribed nsNSAID was ibuprofen (56%), while celecoxib and rofecoxib were the most commonly prescribed COX-2 inhibitors (48% and 40%, respectively). In NL, the most commonly prescribed COX-2 inhibitor and nsNSAID were rofecoxib (58%) and diclofenac (52%), respectively. Diclofenac and nimesulide accounted for the greater part of nsNSAIDs in Italy (22% and 25%, respectively), whereas celecoxib (51%) and rofecoxib (41%) were the most frequently prescribed COX-2 inhibitors. Proton pump inhibitors comprised the majority of co-prescribed GPAs in nsNSAID users across countries (UK: 99.6%, NL: 97.0%, IT: 95.8%).

In the UK, upper GI event cases reported more often a history of upper GI event (OR: 1.50; 95% CI: 1.04-2.16) and used concomitant anticoagulant therapy (OR: 1.85; 95% CI: 1.06-3.25) and SSRIs more frequently (OR: 1.92; 95% CI: 1.33-2.77). In the Netherlands and Italy, upper GI event cases were significantly more likely to receive concomitant antiplatelet therapy in comparison to controls (OR_{NL} : 6.91; 95% CI: 1.07-44.57, and OR_{IT} : 3.12; 95% CI: 1.36-7.17). Upper GI bleeding cases in UK were more likely to receive concomitant anticoagulants (OR: 2.56; 95% CI: 1.38-4.75), whereas no significant differences in anticoagulant use were observed between upper GI bleeding cases and controls in the Netherlands and Italy. From all upper GI event cases in the UK, the Netherlands and Italy, respectively 11.7%, 11.8% and 32.4% had no documented upper GI risk factors.

Across all three countries, most NSAID episodes were of short duration (i.e. less than 1 month), ranging from 53% in the UK to 85% in IT. The proportion of patients treated for 1-6 months ranged from 14% in IT to 29% in UK, while 0.9% to 19% of patients in the three countries were treated for more than 6 months. The median duration of COX-2 inhibitor episodes was 30 days (interquartile range: 20-91 days) and median duration of nsNSAID +GPA (≥80% adherence) episodes was 28 days (interquartile range: 14-79 days).

	D	Inited Kingdom		4	ie Netherlands			Italy	
	Cases	Controls	P-value	Cases	Controls	P-value	Cases	Controls	P-value
	N=307	N=48,860		N=17	N=374		N=74	N=8,334	
	u(%)	u(%)		u(%)	u(%)		u(%)	u(%)	
Age in yrs (mean±sd)*	74.0 (10.9)	71.2 (9.5)	NA	75.0 (9.6)	73.9 (9.7)	NA	69.9 (10.4)	68.5 (9.4)	NA
Age category:*			NA			NA			NA
50 – 64	60 (19.5)	12,222 (25.0)		2 (11.8)	63 (16.8)		26 (35,1)	3,385 (40.6)	
65 – 74	101 (32.9)	18,422 (37.7)		6 (35.3)	119 (31.8)		22 (29,7)	2,534 (30.4)	
≥ 75	146 (47.6)	18,216 (37.3)		9 (52.9)	192 (51.3)		26 (35,1)	2,415 (29.0)	
Gender (n(%) male)*	132 (43.0)	13,544 (27.7)	NA	5 (29.4)	71 (19.0)	NA	20 (27.0)	1,668 (20.0)	NA
Upper GI risk factors:									
Age ≥ 65 yrs	247 (80.5)	36,638 (75.0)	0.243	15 (88.2)	311 (83.2)	,	48 (64.9)	4,949 (59.4)	0.670
Prior upper Gl event	57 (18.6)	2,634 (5.4)	0.028	1 (5.9)	4 (1.1)	0.694	2 (2.7)	101 (1.2)	0.282
Use of antiplatelets	106 (34.5)	11,647 (23.8)	0.123	10 (58.8)	86 (23.0)	0.042	12 (16.2)	329 (3.9)	0.007
Use of anticoagulants	14 (4.6)	676 (1.4)	0.032	1 (5.9)	14 (3.7)	0.912	0 (0)	36 (0.4)	
Use of glucocorticoids	18 (5.9)	1,298 (2.7)	0.289	0 (0)	11 (2.9)	,	3 (4.1)	98 (1.2)	0.143
Number of upper GI risk factors:*			NA			NA			NA
0	36 (11.7)	10,578 (21.6)		2 (11.8)	61 (16.3)		24 (32.4)	3,300 (39.6)	
1	131 (42.7)	24,332 (49.8)		4 (23.5)	205 (54.8)		35 (47.3)	4,567 (54.8)	
2	112 (36.5)	13,310 (27.2)		10 (58.8)	103 (27.5)		15 (20.3)	455 (5.5)	
3	25 (8.1)	619 (1.3)		1 (5.9)	5 (1.3)		0 (0)	12 (0.1)	
4	3 (1.0)	21 (0)							
Other comorbidities:									
Dyspepsia	14 (4.6)	1,613 (3.3)	0.222	1 (5.9)	16 (4.3)	0.555	2 (2.7)	296 (3.6)	0.770
Smoking	252 (82.1)	39,153 (80.1)	0.272	4 (23.5)	54 (14.4)	0.599	3 (4.1)	278 (3.3)	0.714
Heart Failure	31 (10.1)	2,101 (4.3)	0.158	0 (0)	34 (9.1)	,	1 (1.4)	138 (1.7)	0.487
Diabetes mellitus	63 (20.5)	6,542 (13.4)	0.062	2 (11.8)	62 (16.6)	0.525	13 (17.6)	878 (10.5)	0.151

Table 1. Baseline characteristics of cases with symptomatic upper GI events (upper GI bleeding and symptomatic ulcer) and matched controls by database.

nsNSAIDs plus gastroprotection versus selective COX-2 inhibitors | 115

Cases Cont N=307 N=363 N=48, N=307 N=48, n(%) n(%) n(%) n(%) n(%) n(%) n(%) Concomitant use of: 34 (11.1) 3,071 391 (Spironolactone 5 (1.6) 391 (391 (Controls N=48,860						Italy	
N=307 N=48. n(%) n(%) n(%) Concomitant use of: 34 (11.1) 3,071 SSRIs 34 (11.1) 3,071 Spironolactone 5 (1.6) 391 (11.1)	N=48,860 51%)	P-value	Cases	Controls	P-value	Cases	Controls	P-value
n(%) n(%) n(%) Concomitant use of: 34 (11.1) 3,071 SSRIs 5 (1.6) 391 (10/1		N=17	N=374		N=74	N=8,334	
Concomitant use of: 34 (11.1) 3,071 SSRIs 5 (1.6) 391 (/o/ \		u(%)	u(%)		u(%)	u(%)	
SSRIs 34 (11.1) 3,071 Spironolactone 5 (1.6) 391 (
Spironolactone 5 (1.6) 391 (3,071 (6.3)	<0.001	0 (0)	14 (3.7)		1 (1.4)	29 (0.3)	0.341
	391 (0.8)	0.423	0 (0)	6 (1.6)	·	(0)	(0)	·
Calcium channel blockers 68 (22.1) 7,619 (7,619 (15.6)	0.097	0 (0)	45 (12.0)	ī	(0)	(0)	0.646
Duration of episode#:								
< 1 month 25,888	25,888 (53.0)	0.150	6 (35.3)	254 (67.9)	0.046	66 (89.2)	7,111 (85.3)	0.329
1-6 months 13,921	13,921 (28.5)	0.036	8 (47.1)	95 (25.4)	0.025	7 (9.5)	1,151 (13.8)	0.440
6-12 months 24 (7.8) 4,095	4,095 (8.4)	0.859	1 (5.9)	14 (3.7)	0.306	0 (0)	48 (0.6)	·
> 12 months 26 (8.5) 4,956 (4,956 (10.1)	0.842	2 (11.8)	11 (2.9)	0.025	1 (1.4)	24 (0.3)	0.098

* Matching variables: age, gender and number of individual upper GI risk factors.

SSRIs, selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors. NA, Not applicable; matching criteria.

The duration of an NSAID episode was calculated by dividing the prescribed quantity by daily dose regimen (United Kingdom/Netherlands) or the indication-specific defined daily dose (Italy). The end of an NSAID episode was defined as the end of the duration of the last NSAID prescription within that episode or the end of follow-up, whichever was earliest.

Table 1. Baseline characteristics of cases with symptomatic upper GI events (upper GI bleeding and symptomatic ulcer) and matched controls by database (continued).

Risk of upper GI events and upper GI bleeding

To compare the risk of upper GI events between use of COX-2 inhibitors alone versus highly adherent nsNSAID+GPA use, a nested case-control study was conducted. From the adjusted model, no statistically significant decreased or increased risk was observed for nsNSAID + GPA users (\geq 80% adherence) as compared to COX-2 inhibitor users (Table 2). This holds true for the three countries separately and as pooled estimates on patient level (Table 2). Regarding upper GI bleeding specifically, similar results were observed. For both outcomes, a trend towards a more protective effect for nsNSAID+GPA (\geq 80% adherence) as compared to COX-2 inhibitors was observed in the Netherlands and Italy, but the adjusted model did not show a significant benefit (Table 2).

Meta-analysis of studies conducted at individual database-level using a random effects model (no significant heterogeneity between databases was shown, I-squared values of 0%) did not report different results from pooling on patient-level (Supplementary Figure 1). Using this meta-analytic approach, adjusted ORs for upper GI events and upper GI bleeding following nsNSAID+GPA (≥80% adherence) compared to COX-2 inhibitor use were 1.00 (95% CI: 0.73-1.33) and 1.11 (95% CI: 0.76-1.63), respectively.

Subgroup analyses

Stratification according to the predefined individual upper GI risk factors was performed to identify a possible preference for either strategy in specific risk groups (Table 3). Since most cases of upper GI events occurred in subjects aged 75 years and older, we performed additional analyses taking a different cut-off age of 75 years, which did not demonstrate different estimates from the cut-off of 65 years (data not shown). In non-antiplatelet users a non-significant increased risk both for upper GI events and upper GI bleeding was observed for nsNSAID+GPA (\geq 80% adherence), whereas the opposite was found for antiplatelet users. This interaction term was significant.

When we compared COX-2 inhibitor use with highly adherent nsNSAID+GPA use in glucocorticoid users, the use of nsNSAID+GPA increased the risk for upper GI events considerably (OR: 7.03; 95% CI 1.35-36.45)(P=0.020). When adjusting for the dosage of glucocorticoids, the estimated risk increased even more (OR: 9.01; 95% CI: 1.61-50.50)(P=0.012). Higher dosage of glucocorticoids affected the risk of upper GI events more as a dose-response relationship was observed (data not shown). Regarding multiplicative interaction, the interaction term for use of glucocorticoids was not significant.

The withdrawal of rofecoxib from the market in 2004 influenced in general the prescription pattern of NSAIDs. After 2004 only celecoxib, etoricoxib, valdecoxib and parecoxib were available in Europe. Therefore, stratification according to time period was performed. A decrease in percentage of cases and controls using a COX-2 inhibitor was noticed after rofecoxib was not available on the market anymore. However, this did not impact on the risk of an upper GI event for nsNSAIDs+GPA versus COX-2 inhibitors (Table 3).

		Sym	ptomatic up	per Gl even symptomat	its (upper tic ulcer)	GI bleeding	and			Upper GI t	oleeding		
		Cases	Controls	OR	4	ORadj†	Ъ,	Cases	Controls	OR	Ρ.	ORadj†	Ρ.
		N (%)	N (%)	matched	value	(12%CI)	value	N (%)	N (%)	matched	value	(95%CI)	value
				(95%CI)						(12%26)			
United	COX-2 inhibitor	128 (41.7)	24,722 (50.6)	1.00		1.00		86 (44.3)	14,835 (51.1)	1.00		1.00	
Kingdom	nsNSAID+GPA#	179 (58.3)	24,138 (49.4)	1.02 (0.77- 1.36)	0.883	1.05 (0.77- 1.45)	0.742	108 (55.7)	14,222 (48.9)	0.90 (0.63- 1.29)	0.568	1.20 (0.80- 1.80)	0.375
The	COX-2 inhibitor	13 (76.5)	243 (65.0)	1.00		1.00		10 (71.4)	172 (60.4)	1.00		1.00	
Netherlands*	nsNSAID+GPA#	4 (23.5)	131 (35.0)	0.44 (0.13- 1.48)	0.183	0.54 (0.16- 1.84)	0.323	4 (28.6)	113 (39.6)	0.53 (0.15- 1.88)	0.326	0.63 (0.18- 2.24)	0.478
	COX-2 inhibitor	44 (59.5)	6,201 (74.4)	1.00		1.00		6 (35.3)	1,124 (64.6)	1.00		1.00	
וומוא	nsNSAID+GPA#	30 (40.5)	2,133 (25.6)	1.22 (0.69- 2.17)	0.500	0.79 (0.27- 2.35)	0.673	11 (64.7)	616 (35.4)	2.85 (0.92- 8.80)	0.069	0.59 (0.05- 6.55)	0.669
Pooled on	COX-2 inhibitor	185 (46.5)	31,166 (54.1)	1.00		1.00		102 (45.3)	16,131 (51.9)	1.00		1.00	
patient level	nsNSAID+GPA#	213 (53.5)	26,402 (45.9)	1.01 (0.79- 1.30)	0.918	1.02 (0.77- 1.37)	0.880	123 (54.7)	14,951 (48.1)	0.96 (0.69- 1.33)	0.800	1.14 (0.78- 1.65)	0.503

NSAID episode and density of NSAID use within episode. Only subjects included with known dosage of NSAID (UK 80.2%; NL 100%; IT 35.3%). # nsNSAID+GPA (280% adherence).

Table 2. The risk of symptomatic upper Gl events and upper Gl bleeding in users of nsNSAID+GPA (280% adherence) as compared to COX-2 inhibitor users.

118 | Chapter 4.2

DISCUSSION

In this case-control study we demonstrate that the risk of an upper GI event or upper GI bleeding is not different between users of nonselective (ns)NSAIDs in combination with adherent use of a gastroprotective agent (GPA) and COX-2 inhibitor users.

Lowering the risk of NSAID-related upper GI events can be achieved by concomitant use of GPAs. In particular increasing adherence to GPAs is important in reducing the risk nsNSAID-related upper GI events.^{294, 321, 322} As another preventive strategy, COX-2- selective inhibitors were developed to improve the gastrointestinal safety of NSAID therapy, especially in high-risk patients such as elderly (aged \geq 65 years) patients, those with a history of upper GI events or concomitantly using anticoagulants, antiplatelets or corticosteroids. After the introduction of COX-2 inhibitors, it was shown that they indeed were associated with less gastrointestinal toxicity as compared to the traditional nonselective NSAIDs alone.^{10, 11, 318, 327} Several studies on this topic have been published in recent years.³²⁸ Though the implementation of preventive strategies has increased in recent years, there is still room for considerable improvement with regard to use of preventive strategies during NSAID therapy.^{321, 329} In order to investigate which preventive strategy is superior with regard to upper GI safety, head-to-head comparisons between COX-2 inhibitors and NSAIDs combined with GPAs have been performed in randomized studies. These studies showed no preference of one strategy over the other.^{76-78, 82, 317}

However, most clinical studies do not allow generalization of their results to daily clinical practice in Western countries, as many studies included selected categories of patients (i.e. high-risk patients with endoscopically documented upper GI bleed/ulcer- or with specific disease, in particular rheumatoid arthritis), and were performed in non-Caucasian persons, and in persons at very high risk of an upper GI event.

Our results are in keeping with another observational study by Targownik *et al.* showing no superiority of nsNSAID combined with PPI use to COX-2 inhibitors in the prevention of NSAID-related upper GI events.¹⁰¹ Although the efficacy of both preventive strategies overall seems equivalent for the upper gastrointestinal tract in the CONDOR study, the COX-2 inhibitor-treated patients appeared to have a reduced risk of lower GI events as compared to nsNSAID plus PPI use.^{82, 330} However, results from other studies evaluating lower GI tract events as an outcome were conflicting.^{84, 86, 331, 332} A post hoc analysis of a prospective study showed a lower rate of serious lower GI events for rofecoxib compared to naproxen,³⁰ whereas this was not confirmed in a cross-sectional capsule enteroscopy study showing comparable small-bowel damage between long-term NSAID and COX-2 inhibitor users.³⁴ Mechanistically, whether the impact of NSAIDs on lower GI events reflect a reduction in risk by COX-2 inhibitor-use or an increase in risk by PPI-use due to altered intestinal bacteria and increased susceptibility to small intestinal bacterial overgrowth is still under debate.³³³

		Sympton	natic upper GI events (L	upper GI bleed	ing and		Upper GI blee	ding	
			symptomatic u	llcer)					
Individual upper GI risk		Cases	OR matched*	P-value	P-value	Cases	OR matched*	P-value	P-value
factors:		u (%)	(95% CI)		Interaction	u (%)	(95% CI)		Interaction
					terms				terms
Age < 65 yrs	COX-2 inhibitor	34 (38.6)	1.00			11 (31.4)	1.00		
	nsNSAID+GPA#	54 (61.4)	1.01 (0.79-1.30)	0.918	0.055	24 (68.6)	1.61 (0.67-3.87)	0.291	0.466
Age ≥ 65 yrs	COX-2 inhibitor	151 (48.7)	1.00			91 (47.9)	1.00		
	nsNSAID+GPA#	159 (51.3)	0.88 (0.67-1.17)	0.394		99 (52.1)	0.88 (0.62-1.26)	0.488	
No prior upper GI event	COX-2 inhibitor	171 (50.6)	1.00			93 (50.0)	1.00		
	nsNSAID+GPA#	167 (49.4)	0.98 (0.75-1.28)	0.877	0.152	93 (50.0)	0.86 (0.60-1.23)	0.397	0.417
Prior upper GI event	COX-2 inhibitor	14 (23.3)	1.00			9 (23.1)	1.00		
	nsNSAID+GPA#	46 (76.7)	1.73 (0.81-3.70)	0.159		30 (76.9)	1.90 (0.74-4.86)	0.182	
No use of antiplatelets	COX-2 inhibitor	120 (44.4)	1.00			59 (41.0)	1.00		
	nsNSAID+GPA#	150 (55.6)	1.23 (0.91-1.66)	0.181	<0.001	85 (59.0)	1.24 (0.83-1.87)	0.298	0.008
Use of antiplatelets	COX-2 inhibitor	65 (50.8)	1.00			43 (53.1)	1.00		
	nsNSAID+GPA#	63 (49.2)	0.69 (0.44-1.08)	0.108		38 (46.9)	0.62 (0.34-1.06)	0.079	
No use of anticoagulants	COX-2 inhibitor	182 (47.5)	1.00			99 (46.7)	1.00		
	nsNSAID+GPA#	201 (52.5)	0.99 (0.76-1.27)	0.904		113 (53.3)	0.91 (0.65-1.28)	0.603	
Use of anticoagulants	COX-2 inhibitor	3 (20.0)	,			3 (23.1)			
	nsNSAID+GPA#	12 (80.0)				10 (76.9)			
No use of glucocorticoids	COX-2 inhibitor	180 (47.7)	1.00			99 (46.5)	1.00		
	nsNSAID+GPA#	197 (52.3)	0.96 (0.74-1.24)	0.740	0.280	114 (53.5)	0.91 (0.65-1.27)	0.571	0.724
Use of glucocorticoids	COX-2 inhibitor	5 (23.8)	1.00			3 (25.0)	1.00		
	nsNSAID+GPA#	16 (76.2)	7.03 (1.35-36.45)	0.020		9 (75.0)	4.15 (0.72-24.01)	0.112	
Use of glucocorticoids##	nsNSAID+GPA#	16 (76.2)	9.01 (1.61-50.50)	0.012		9 (75.0)	4.81 (0.79-29.20)	0.088	
Before rofecoxib	COX-2 inhibitor	162 (62.5)	1.00			91 (64.1)	1.00		
withdrawal†	nsNSAID+GPA#	97 (37.5)	1.05 (0.79-1.40)	0.729	0.702	51 (35.9)	0.92 (0.62-1.34)	0.649	0.781
After rofecoxib	COX-2 inhibitor	23 (16.5)	1.00			11 (13.3)	1.00		
withdrawal‡	nsNSAID+GPA#	116 (83.5)	0.91 (0.57-1.47)	0.702		72 (86.7)	1.10 (0.56-2.15)	0.781	

* Matched on age, gender, database and number of individual upper GI risk factors. # nsNSAID+GPA (>20% adherence). ## Adjusted for equipotent dosage of prednisone (low dosage: 5 to 10 mg/day; moderate dosage: 10 to 20 mg/day; high-dosage: >20 mg/day). +Rofecoxib withdrawal in September 2004, analysis until 2005. ‡ Analysis from 2005 and subsequent years.

Table 3. Risk factors for symptomatic upper GI events (upper GI bleeding and symptomatic ulcer) and upper GI bleeding; stratified analyses on data pooled on patient

level.

Another area of potential benefit of COX-2 inhibitors over nsNSAID plus GPA use might be in selected high-risk groups. In this study, we found that in glucocorticoid users, adherent use of an nsNSAID plus GPA was associated with a nine times higher upper GI event risk compared to COX-2 inhibitors. This finding is supported by the dose-response relationship we observed where a higher dosage of glucocorticoids affected the risk of upper GI events more than a lower dosage. The interaction term was not significant, but this is due to limited power since the estimates differed largely. To our knowledge, no previous study studied the comparison of COX-2 inhibitor and nsNSAID plus GPA use in glucocorticoid users separately. Although data on glucocorticoids as an independent risk factor for upper GI events are scarce, prior studies have shown a two-fold increased risk of upper GI bleeding during glucocorticoid use alone. ^{118, 211, 311,}

³³⁴ When glucocorticoids are used in combination with NSAIDs, the risk of upper GI bleeding is estimated higher as compared to NSAID use alone or glucocorticoid use alone.^{118, 211, 311, 334} Up to now, the reason for the interaction between both drugs has not been elucidated. One might speculate that glucocorticoids and NSAIDs act synergistically; experimental studies have shown that glucocorticoids inhibit the healing of gastric mucosal damage ^{335, 336} as well as NSAIDs do, although the mechanism of inhibition differs. Alternatively, gastric bacterial overgrowth due to acid-suppression such as what occurs by PPI use ^{337, 338} might aggravate gastric mucosal damage by increased exposure time of gastric flora to the mucosal surface or by delayed gastric emptying caused by PPIs. ³³⁹ The combination of nsNSAIDs and PPIs therefore may have led to the observed increased risk in concurrent glucocorticoid users. As use of steroids is a risk factor that according to guidelines often will initiate GPA in NSAID-treated patients, this aspect is important to investigate in future studies.

Although not significant, we found a tendency towards an increased upper GI event risk in patients with a history of an upper GI event among nsNSAID plus adherent GPA users as compared to COX-2 inhibitor users. In this particular high-risk patient group, one might consider the addition of a GPA to a COX-2 inhibitor. This combination has been shown to reduce the risk of NSAID-related upper GI events to a higher degree than COX-2 inhibitors alone or nsNSAIDs plus PPIs.¹⁰¹

In line with previous studies, concomitant use of low-dose aspirin seems to eliminate the upper GI risk benefit of COX-2 inhibitors. ^{10, 73, 327, 340} Though not significant, we observed an increased upper GI risk among nsNSAID plus adherent GPA compared to COX-2 inhibitor users who did not concomitantly use aspirin, whereas the opposite was true for concomitant aspirin users. The interaction term was significant, pointing to an increase in risk of upper GI events for COX-2 inhibitors when aspirin is used concurrently. In patients concomitantly using antiplatelets (including low-dose aspirin), GPAs should be recommended not only to nsNSAIDs users, but perhaps also to COX-2 inhibitor users.

The strength of the current study is the scale and setting: primary health care data from three European countries were combined reflecting real-life prescription patterns. Due to the setting it was possible to study both low-risk as well as high-risk patients. Previous evidence from clinical trials focused generally on high risk patients only.⁷⁶⁻⁷⁸

The following limitations should be acknowledged. By performing observational studies, certain biases can be introduced of which confounding by indication is the most important one to discuss. The general practitioner's awareness of the upper GI risk profile of the patient might have influenced the prescription of preventive strategy and thereby possibly introducing confounding by indication. After the introduction of COX-2 inhibitors, high-risk patients were more likely to receive a COX-2 inhibitor instead of co-prescription of a GPA to NSAIDs. ³⁴¹ Nevertheless, the preference for preventive strategies changed after warnings for an increased cardiovascular risk related to COX-2 inhibitors were released by regulatory agencies.³⁴² Although the risk of upper GI complications with rofecoxib used to be higher than with celecoxib,³⁴³ in a stratified analysis the estimate of nsNSAIDs plus GPAs compared to COX-2 inhibitors without rofecoxib after 2004 (i.e. celecoxib, etoricoxib, valdecoxib and lumiracoxib only) did not differ from the estimate including rofecoxib (before withdrawal). It is therefore unlikely that data on the use of rofecoxib prior to its withdrawal would have skewed the GI safety data in favor of the nsNSAID. We feel that it is therefore unlikely that the channeling away from COX-2 inhibitors for patients with cardiovascular disease would have led to important confounding.

We tried to address confounding-by-indication by matching on the number of upper GI risk factors and by restricting the comparator group to nsNSAID users who were highly adherent to GPA (defined as at least 80% of nsNSAID days covered by a GPA prescription). Although crude incidence rates appeared to be equal between different levels of GPA adherence,²⁹⁴ from previous studies, we know that patients adherent to the prescribed GPA are at the highest risk of nsNSAID-related upper GI events.^{294, 322} Residual confounding due to exclusion of users with a lower GPA adherence level is therefore unlikely. In addition, we selected patient groups with a similar upper GI risk profile, by matching on number of upper GI risk factors, as well as gender and age. Comparison between COX-2 inhibitor and nsNSAID plus highly adherent GPA users showed no differences in number of upper GI risk factors. Confounding was also dealt with by adjusting for several co-morbid conditions. The indication of glucocorticoid use could only be identified in the Netherlands, of which 64% was for rheumatoid disorders. Nevertheless, residual confounding cannot be ruled out in observational studies.

In addition, over-the-counter use of nsNSAIDs and GPA is not recorded in the databases and could have led to a potential underestimation of its use. We used drug prescription data rather than precise information on the actual use. Furthermore, the method of GPA adherence calculation used in the present study determined adherence based on days of GPA and of nsNSAID use, rather than daily coverage. However, we selected a group of highly adherent nsNSAID plus GPA users based on a cut off of 80% of GPA adherence.

In conclusion, there is no difference in the risk of upper GI events between the use of COX-2 inhibitors and use of nsNSAIDs plus adherent GPA in daily clinical practice. Neither strategy was superior in the prevention of a first or a recurrent upper GI event or upper GI bleeding. A significant increase in the risk of upper GI events for COX-2 inhibitors was observed when aspirin is used concurrently, whereas during concomitant glucocorticoid use nsNSAID

plus GPA users are at increased risk of an upper GI event compared to COX-2 inhibitor users. Future studies on this topic are needed, as use of steroids is a risk factor that, according to guidelines, often will initiate GPA therapy in NSAID-treated patients.

4

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL



Test for heterogeneity χ 2=0.029, df=3, (P=0.540), I^2 0%



Test for heterogeneity $\chi 2{=}0.044$ df=3, (P=0.556), \mid 2 0%

Supplementary Figure 1. Forest plots of the adjusted analysis for Upper GI events and Upper GI bleeding.

4

CHAPTER 4.3

Risk of Upper Gastrointestinal Bleeding from Different Drug Combinations

Gwen MC Masclee, Vera E Valkhoff, Preciosa M Coloma, Maria de Ridder, Silvana Romio, Martijn J Schuemie, Ron Herings, Rosa Gini, Giampiero Mazzaglia, Gino Picelli, Lorenza Scotti, Lars Pedersen, Ernst J Kuipers, Johan van der Lei, Miriam CJM Sturkenboom

Gastroenterology. 2014;147(4):784-792.e9; quiz e13-4

Video abstract available at: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=fxoVu-l_HDE

ABSTRACT

BACKGROUND

Concomitant use of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) and low-dose aspirin increases the risk of upper gastrointestinal (GI) bleeding. Guidelines suggest avoiding certain drug combinations, yet little is known about the magnitude of their interactions.

AIM

We estimated the risk of upper GI bleeding during concomitant use of nonselective (ns)NSAIDs, cyclooxygenase -2 selective inhibitors (COX-2 inhibitors), and low-dose aspirin with other drugs.

METHODS

We performed a case series analysis of data from 114,835 patients with upper GI bleeding (930,888 person-years of follow-up) identified from 7 population-based health care databases (approximately 20 million subjects). Each patient served as his or her own control. Drug exposure was determined based on prescriptions of nsNSAIDs, COX-2 inhibitors, or low-dose aspirin, alone and in combination with other drugs that affect the risk of upper GI bleeding. We measured relative risk (incidence rate ratio [IRR] during drug exposure vs nonexposure) and excess risk due to concomitant drug exposure (relative excess risk due to interaction [RERI]).

RESULTS

Monotherapy with nsNSAIDs increased the risk of diagnosis of upper GI bleeding (IRR, 4.3) to a greater extent than monotherapy with COX-2 inhibitors (IRR, 2.9) or low-dose aspirin (IRR, 3.1). Combination therapy generally increased the risk of upper GI bleeding; concomitant nsNSAID and corticosteroid therapies increased the IRR to the greatest extent (12.8) and also produced the greatest excess risk (RERI, 5.5). Concomitant use of nsNSAIDs and aldosterone antagonists produced an IRR for upper GI bleeding of 11.0 (RERI, 4.5). Excess risk from concomitant use of nsNSAIDs with selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) was 1.6, whereas that from use of COX-2 inhibitors with SSRIs was 1.9 and that for use of low-dose aspirin with SSRIs was 0.5. Excess risk of concomitant use of nsNSAIDs with anticoagulants was 2.4, of COX-2 inhibitors with anticoagulants was 0.1, and of low-dose aspirin with anticoagulants was 1.9.

CONCLUSION

Based on a case series analysis, concomitant use of nsNSAIDs, COX-2 inhibitors, or low-dose aspirin with SSRIs significantly increases the risk of upper GI bleeding. Concomitant use of nsNSAIDs or low-dose aspirin, but not COX-2 inhibitors, with corticosteroids, aldosterone antagonists, or anticoagulants produces significant excess risk for upper GI bleeding.

INTRODUCTION

Upper gastrointestinal (GI) bleeding has a major impact on patients' quality of life and public health care costs.³⁴⁴ Although great improvements in prevention and treatment of upper GI bleeding have been achieved in recent decades, upper GI bleeding-related morbidity and mortality remain substantial.⁷⁰ Most previous studies have focused on risks associated with use of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), which is one of the most common causes of upper GI bleeding. Clinical guidelines therefore recommend preventive strategies for at-risk patients treated with NSAIDs, including coprescription of proton pump inhibitors. Another preventive strategy is use of cyclo-oxygenase-2 selective inhibitors (COX-2 inhibitors), developed as a safer alternative to nonselective (ns)NSAIDs, especially among high-risk patients.¹¹

Use of low-dose aspirin is considered the standard of care for cardiovascular prevention. However, low-dose aspirin is also known to increase the risk of upper GI bleeding.⁷³ The relative risk of upper GI bleeding associated with current use of low-dose aspirin compared with no use ranges from 1.6 to 4.0.^{73, 334, 345} Thus, coprescription of gastroprotective agents (GPAs) is also recommended for at-risk patients treated with low-dose aspirin as a key strategy to minimize upper gastrointestinal events.¹¹² Adherence to preventive strategies in patients treated with low-dose aspirin is especially important given that an estimated 20% of these patients will also use NSAIDs and approximately 35% of the elderly population regularly uses low-dose aspirin.¹¹²

Clinical guidelines suggest avoiding use of certain drugs in combination with nsNSAIDs as well as COX-2 inhibitors; these drugs include corticosteroids, anticoagulants, selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs), and antiplatelets.⁹⁹ However, the concurrent use of NSAIDs with these other drugs has not been widely studied, and it remains unknown if, and to what extent, combinations of nsNSAIDs, COX-2 inhibitors, or low-dose aspirin with specific other drug groups exert synergistic effects on the risk of upper GI bleeding.

Understanding drug synergism is important in developing strategies to minimize the risk of upper GI bleeding, particularly in elderly patients who are at high risk for upper GI bleeding and are likely to use multiple drugs.^{120, 122} Therefore, we aimed to estimate the magnitude of interaction between nsNSAIDs, COX-2 inhibitors, or low-dose aspirin and specific drug groups reported to affect the risk of diagnosed upper GI bleeding.

METHODS

Data sources

Data were obtained from a network of 7 electronic health record (EHR) databases from 3 countries. The EU-ADR Project (Exploring and Understanding Adverse Drug Reactions by integrative mining of clinical records and biomedical knowledge) has successfully established a

platform that integrates data from various repositories of European EHRs for evaluation of drug safety.³⁴⁶

We analyzed data from 3 primary care databases (Integrated Primary Care Information [IPCI, The Netherlands]; Health Search/CSD Longitudinal Patient Database [HSD, Italy]; and Pedianet [Italy]) and 4 administrative/claims databases (Aarhus University Hospital Database [Aarhus, Denmark], PHARMO Institute [PHARMO, The Netherlands], and the regional databases of Lombardy [UNIMIB, Italy] and Tuscany [ARS, Italy]). The characteristics and study periods of the databases are shown in Table 1. All of these databases have been extensively used in epidemiological studies.³⁴⁶⁻³⁴⁹

Subjects can enter and may also leave the database at any time for several reasons (eg, death, moving out of the region, leave of practice). The primary care databases capture all prescriptions from general practitioners and some from secondary care (eg, repeat prescriptions). The study protocol was approved by the review board for all databases.

Study Design

The study population included all people registered in the database network with at least 1 year of valid and continuous data. A self-controlled case series (SCCS) analysis was performed on all identified cases of upper GI bleeding. The SCCS is a case-only study (ie, control subjects are not included) in which the relative incidence of upper GI bleeding is estimated for exposed and nonexposed time in each case. ^{350, 351} Each case serves as its own control. The SCCS method assumes that all cases in the analysis should (1) have exposed and unexposed persontime, (2) experience an upper GI bleeding, and (3) contribute follow-up time before and after the upper GI bleeding. The primary advantage of the SCCS is that it automatically adjusts for confounding factors that are fixed within subjects (ie, genetic factors, sex, chronic disease, or other comorbidity).

Case definition

From the study population, we identified all subjects who experienced an upper GI bleeding during follow-up by using pertinent disease codes from the different coding systems in each database.³⁴⁶ Upper GI bleeding was assessed using hospital discharge codes (in claims databases) or general practitioner diagnosis/recordings (in primary care databases). We included all codes indicating gastroduodenal ulcers and hemorrhages, melena and hematemesis. Codes for variceal bleeding specifically were not included. We only included codes corresponding to an acute upper GI bleeding, because for the SCCS the outcome should be an acute event with a clear disease onset. Supplementary Table 1 shows the corresponding codes for each coding system. A free-text search of clinical narratives was performed in IPCI and HSD.

Relative contribution of Upper PPV of codes used to GI Bleeding cases to dataset identify Upper GI	pooled on patient-level (%) bleeding in database	8 10.4 (95% Cl: 69-83)	8 10.0 72% (95% Cl: 65-78)	6 60.4 72% (95% CI: 65-78) +	9 5.2 78% (95% Cl: 72-83)	7 0.08	1 8.7 21% (95% CI: 18-26)	
Study Period		1999-2008	2002-2008	2003-2006	2003-2009	2003-2007	1996-2011	
Drug coding	system	ATC	I ATC	I ATC	+ ATC	I ATC	e ATC	
e Disease coding	system	ICD-10	ICD-9-CM	ICD-9-CM	ICD-9-CM free text	ICD-9-CM	ICPC + free text	
f Type of database		Administrative /claims	Administrative /claims	Administrative /claims	Primary care	Primary care	Primary care	Hybrid
Total person time o follow-up	(person-years)	75,963	49,417	680,254	37,038	375	37,294	
Nr of Upper GI Bleeding	cases	11,923	11,519	69,384	5,963	88	9,951	
Database (Country)		Aarhus (Denmark)	ARS (Italy)	UNIMIB (Italy)	HSD (Italy)	Pedianet (Italy)	IPCI (Netherlands)	

Table 1. Database Characteristics and Number of Cases of Upper GI bleeding per database.

* Positive Predictive Values were calculated in a validation study³⁵² demonstrating the PPV values did not affect the magnitude of risk estimates from drug-associated upper GI Bleeding. +UNINIB database is similar in setting and clinical characteristics of ARS and PPV of ARS may be extrapolated to UNIMIB.



A validation study was conducted in 4 of the databases used in the current study³⁵² and showed a high concordance for International Classification of Diseases (ICD)-9 (positive predictive value [PPV] of 78% and 72%) and ICD-10 codes (PPV of 77%) that was not seen with the International Classification for Primary Care coding system (PPV of 21% for codes and free text only).

Exposure definition

We focused on concomitant use of nsNSAIDs, COX-2 inhibitors, and low-dose aspirin with other drugs reported to be associated with an increase or decrease in risk of upper GI bleeding. The drug groups of interest were as follows: (1) nsNSAIDs,⁷³ (2) COX-2 inhibitors,³⁵³ (3) low-dose aspirin,^{73, 349} (4) high-dose aspirin,³⁵⁴ (5) corticosteroids,^{72, 118, 211, 311, 334, 355} (6) SSRIs,³⁵⁶ (citalopram, fluoxetine and paroxetine were assessed individually) (7) GPAs,^{356, 357} (8) aldosterone antagonists, ^{348, 358} (9) calcium channel blockers, ^{359, 360} (10) anticoagulants, ^{73, 119} (11) antiplatelets,^{73, 119} and (12) nitrates.^{73, 357} Drugs of interest were categorized according to the World Health Organization's Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical (ATC) classification system.²⁴² Supplementary Table 2 shows the corresponding ATC codes. We created mutually exclusive exposure categories: no use of any drug of interest (reference group), use of only one drug of interest, or concurrent use of nsNSAIDs, COX-2 inhibitors, or low-dose aspirin with one other drug of interest (Supplementary Figure 1). All other combinations of drugs of interest and combinations of >2 drugs were combined in a separate category. Fixed drug combinations were included in the corresponding drug combination group. Duration of exposure was calculated by dividing the total number of prescribed/dispensed pills by the number of pills per day or defined daily dosages. We assumed that all dispensed drugs were consumed. All exposed and unexposed person-time was therefore included in the analysis. Drug dose and frequency were not taken into account because such information is not consistently recorded in all databases.

Main statistical analyses

To estimate the relative incidence of upper GI bleeding, incidence rate ratios (IRRs) with 95% confidence intervals (CIs) were obtained using conditional Poisson regression by comparing the incidence rate of upper GI bleeding during periods of drug exposure with the incidence rate during all other observed time periods. Age-adjusted IRRs were calculated within each database and by pooling all data together (IRRp). To account for heterogeneity between the databases, pooling of data was also performed by a random effects meta-analytic model on the database-specific risk estimates resulting in an overall IRR. To estimate the magnitude of drug interaction (excess risk), the following measures were calculated: the relative excess risk due to interaction (RERI), the proportion attributable to interaction (AP), and the synergy index (S).³⁶¹

Interaction on an additive scale meant that the observed effect of the drug combination was larger than the sum of the effects of the drugs separately but less than multiplicative. If the IRR of the combination was more than the sum of the 2 drugs separately, interaction (at least on an additive scale) was present. Corresponding 95% CIs were also calculated for the RERI using the Hosmer–Lemeshow delta method.³⁶² The estimated measure of the RERI, AP, or S itself does not provide any information on risk and cannot be interpreted in isolation. However, based on the relative risk, it can be concluded that an excess risk is present when the RERI is larger than 0 and the CIs around it do not cross 0. Additionally, it may be concluded that there is more excess risk with a RERI of 1 than with a RERI of 2 (see Supplementary Table 3 for more details).

Population attributable risk (PAR) was calculated to estimate the proportion of upper GI bleeding in the general population that is attributable to concomitant use of drugs using the following formula: PAR= (p* [IRR-1])]/(p*[IRR-1]+1).³⁴⁷ For this calculation drug utilization data from the participating databases (data not shown) were used to derive the prevalence of exposure (p) to which the IRR pertained.

Sensitivity analyses

Because increasing age confers additional risk of upper GI bleeding, analyses by stratifying on age (with a cut off of 60 and 70 years) and sex were conducted to investigate effect modification by age or sex. To explore the possibility of confounding by contraindication we performed a sensitivity analysis by truncating the drug exposure at time of event. A pooled analysis excluding the IPCI database was performed due to the low PPV in IPCI.

RESULTS

Risk of Upper GI bleeding with Drug Monotherapy

In total 114,835 patients with upper GI bleeding (cases) with corresponding follow-up of 930,888 person-years were included in the analysis (Table 1). For all drugs of interest, monotherapy showed a significant increased relative risk compared with no use of any of the drugs of interest. Monotherapy with nsNSAIDs was associated with an IRRp of 4.3 (95%CI, 4.1-4.4), which is higher than monotherapy with either COX-2 inhibitors (IRRp, 2.9; 95%CI, 2.7-3.2) or low-dose aspirin (IRRp, 3.1; 95%CI, 2.9-3.2) (Table 2). The risk of diagnosed upper GI bleeding for all other drugs ranged between 1.6 for calcium channel blockers to 4.1 for corticosteroids (Table 2). IRRs were also estimated for 3 individual SSRIs and yielded an IRRp of 2.0 (95%CI, 1.6-2.5) for fluoxetine, 2.3 (95% CI, 2.1-2.5) for citalopram and 1.9 (95%CI 1.7-2.2) for paroxetine, all similar to the IRRp for the overall SSRI class 2.1 (95% CI, 1.9-2.2).

With	
nation	
combir	
nd in C	
apy aı	
nother	
in Mo	
% CIs)	
ing 959	
spondi	
Corres	
(With	
iroups	
Drug G	
ecific [
e to Sp	
posure	
ing Exp	
յց Dur	
sleedir	
er Gl E	
dd N pa	
agnose	
k of Dia	
ve Rish	
Relativ	ugs.
ble 2.	her Dr
Ta	q

	Σ	onotherapy			S	ombinations with:		
Drug groups				nsNSAIDs	ĝ	(-2 inhibitors	Low	-dose aspirin
	4t	IRR (95%CI)	ţ,	IRR (95%CI)	z‡	IRR (95%CI)	t z	IRR (95%CI)
No drug*	69,664	1.00 (reference)		NA		NA		NA
nsNSAIDs	3,327	4.27 (4.11-4.44)		NA		NA	416	6.77 (6.09-7.53)
COX-2 inhibitors	635	2.90 (2.67-3.15)		NA		NA	131	7.49 (6.22-9.02)
Low-dose aspirin	4,733	3.05 (2.94-3.17)	416	6.77 (6.09-7.53)	131	7.49 (6.22-9.02)		NA
Corticosteroids	1,378	4.07 (3.83-4.32)	244	12.82 (11.17-14.72)	40	5.95 (4.25-8.33)	190	8.37 (7.14-9.81)
SSRIs	1,793	2.06 (1.94-2.18)	210	6.95 (5.97-8.08)	65	5.82 (4.45-7.62)	401	4.60 (4.09-5.17)
Gastroprotective agents	5,279	1.61 (1.56-1.66)	678	3.90 (3.59-4.24)	95	2.37 (1.92-2.93)	607	2.54 (2.32-2.78)
Aldosterone antagonists	1,211	3.27 (3.06-3.50)	76	11.00 (8.63-14.03)	10	4.02 (2.07-7.81)	131	5.01 (4.13-6.08)
Calcium channel blockers	3,546	1.57 (1.51-1.63)	363	4.45 (3.98-4.98)	77	3.11 (2.46-3.93)	1,123	3.07 (2.86-3.29)
Anticoagulants	1,760	3.01 (2.85-3.19)	143	8.69 (7.30-10.35)	21	5.01 (3.21-7.82)	168	6.94 (5.86-8.22)
Antiplatelets (excluding low-dose aspirin)	994	1.74 (1.61-1.87)	87	6.50 (5.19-8.15)	6	1.73 (0.87-3.44)	246	5.49 (4.71-6.41)
Nitrates	2,572	2.55 (2.43-2.68)	172	5.82 (4.97-6.82)	49	5.09 (3.79-6.82)	859	3.79 (3.51-4.10)

* Refers to no use of the predefined drugs of interest.

Abbreviations: Nonselective NSAIDs (nsNSAIDs); COX-2 selective inhibitors (COX-2 inhibitors); Oral corticosteroids (corticosteroids); Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs); Not applicable + Number of upper Gi bleeding events during exposure to specific drug group (total number do not sum up to 114,835 due to upper Gi bleeding diagnoses in 'other drug category'). (NA). Supplementary Table 4 shows the total duration of exposure to each drug and drug combination and Supplementary Table 5 shows the distribution of events across age groups and sex.

Risk of Upper GI bleeding with Drug Combinations

Generally, concomitant nsNSAID use with other drugs showed a higher risk for diagnosed upper GI bleeding compared with a combination with low-dose aspirin or COX-2 inhibitors (Table 2). To estimate the risk of diagnosed upper GI bleeding for drug combinations with nsNSAIDs, COX-2 inhibitors or low-dose aspirin, estimates of the separate drugs of interest were pooled. Combinations of any of the drugs of interest with nsNSAIDs yielded the highest IRR (6.9; 95%CI, 5.3-9.1), followed by combinations with low-dose aspirin (4.6; 95%CI, 3.6-6.0) and with COX-2 inhibitors (4.2; 95%CI, 3.0-5.9).

Looking at separate drug classes, the highest risk of diagnosed upper GI bleeding was observed for the combination of nsNSAIDs and corticosteroids (IRRp, 12.8; 95%CI, 11.2-14.7), which was higher than the risk with use of low-dose aspirin and corticosteroids (IRRp, 8.4; 95%CI, 7.1-9.8) or COX-2 inhibitors and corticosteroids (IRRp, 6.0; 95%CI, 4.3-8.3). Use of aldosterone antagonists with nsNSAIDs resulted in an IRRp of 11.0 (95%CI, 8.6-14.0), which was also higher than the combined use of aldosterone antagonists and low-dose aspirin (IRRp, 5.0; 95%CI, 4.1-6.1) or that with COX-2 inhibitors (IRRp, 4.0; 95%CI, 2.1-7.8).

The combination of anticoagulants with nsNSAIDs showed an IRRp of 8.7 (95%CI, 7.3-10.4), which was higher than the combination of anticoagulants with low-dose aspirin (IRRp, 6.9; 95%CI, 5.9-8.2) or that with COX-2 inhibitors (IRRp, 5.0; 95%CI, 3.2-7.8). Combinations with SSRIs were associated with a 5-, 6- and 7-fold increased risk for low-dose aspirin, COX-2 inhibitors and nsNSAIDs, respectively. When using a meta-analytic approach by applying a random-effects model, substantial heterogeneity across databases was observed for some drug combinations but generally resulted in minor attenuations of the effects (Supplementary Table 6).

Excess Risk

Excess risk due to concomitant drug use, measured by additive interaction of nsNSAIDs/COX-2 inhibitors/low-dose aspirin use with other drugs, is shown in Figure 1 and Supplementary Table 3. The highest excess risk was observed for the combination of nsNSAIDs and corticosteroids (RERI, 5.5; 95%CI, 3.7-7.3). Corticosteroids had significant interaction with low-dose aspirin as well, but not with COX-2 inhibitors. Aldosterone antagonists showed significant interaction with nsNSAIDs (RERI, 4.5; 95%CI, 1.8-7.1) but not with low-dose aspirin or COX-2 inhibitors. Anticoagulants showed significant interaction with nsNSAIDs and with low-dose aspirin but not with COX-2 inhibitors. Combinations of nsNSAIDs, COX-2 inhibitors or low-dose aspirin but not with COX-2 inhibitors. Solutions of nsNSAIDs, COX-2 inhibitors or low-dose aspirin with GPAs or nitrates did not show excess NSAID-associated upper GI bleeding risk.



Figure 1. Heat map of interaction of nonselective NSAIDs, COX-2 inhibitors and low-dose aspirin in combination with other drugs.

Color intensity of the heat map is based on the Relative Excess Risk due to Interaction (RERI). Green represents no interaction, from yellow towards red represents presence and increasing strength of interaction. Nonselective NSAIDs (nsNSAIDs); COX-2 selective inhibitors (COX-2 inhibitors); Not applicable (NA).

Population Attributable Risk

Based on an estimated 0.04% prevalence of nsNSAID use, the proportion of cases of upper GI bleeding in the general population attributable to nsNSAID monotherapy was 11.8 %. In other words, out of 100 people experiencing upper GI bleeding while exposed to nsNSAID monotherapy, 11.8% of these cases were attributable to nsNSAID monotherapy. The corresponding proportion attributable to corticosteroid monotherapy was 10.4% (estimated prevalence of corticosteroid use 0.04%), while the PAR for concurrent NSAID and corticosteroid use was 6.4%. The PAR for other drugs is shown in Supplementary Table 7.

Sensitivity analyses

Age stratification showed that subjects who were 60 years of age or older had higher IRRs of diagnosed upper GI bleeding than younger subjects (younger than 60 years) except for the combination of nsNSAIDs and anticoagulants and of COX-2 inhibitors with corticosteroids. No significant difference in risk between males and females subjects was observed.

Sensitivity analyses with truncation of follow-up at the time of upper GI bleeding (to avoid confounding by contraindication) showed that the exposure pattern of the drugs (and in particular the nsNSAIDs) did not change after upper GI bleeding (Supplementary Figure 2).

When adjusting for acute myocardial infarction and anaphylactic shock, the results were similar (Supplementary Figure 3). When excluding IPCI from the main analysis, the results were also similar (Supplementary Figure 4).

DISCUSSION

We determined the magnitude of increased risk of diagnosed upper GI bleeding when nsNSAIDs, COX-2 inhibitors, and low-dose aspirin were combined with specific drug classes that may be independently associated with diagnosed upper GI bleeding. Although it may seem reasonable to assume synergistic effects with concurrent use of drugs that independently increase risk, these effects have rarely been investigated. To study the risk of diagnosed upper GI bleeding during use of specific drug combinations, it is essential to have a large number of data and an efficient study design. For this study, we used data from a huge network of European electronic health care databases, representing more than 20 million subjects. In addition, the SCCS is a suitable and efficient method to address the question of excess risk of upper GI bleeding with drug combinations while at the same time controlling for time-fixed confounding factors as well as confounding by indication. We observed that, overall, the risk of upper GI bleeding during concomitant use of drugs was significantly higher compared with what would have been expected based on the sum of the risk of the individual drugs. The magnitude of statistical additive interaction, which may be seen as a surrogate measure for biological synergism, was highest for the combination of nsNSAIDs with corticosteroids and the combination of nsNSAIDs with aldosterone antagonists. In line with previous studies, we observed that the risk of nsNSAID monotherapy was higher than that of monotherapy with low-dose aspirin or COX-2 inhibitors.^{72, 73} The risk of upper GI bleeding was always higher for drug combinations with nsNSAIDs than that for low-dose aspirin or COX-2 inhibitors.

Given that nsNSAIDs, COX-2 inhibitors, and low-dose aspirin are commonly consumed by elderly, with a self-reported prevalence of 35%,¹¹² the observed risks in the current study emphasize the substantial risk of use of nsNSAIDs, COX-2 inhibitors, and low-dose aspirin in the general population. This is especially true considering that elderly are inherently at higher risk due to physiological ageing mechanisms.^{121, 122}

Corticosteroids

Interestingly, we observed that the risk of diagnosed upper GI bleeding with use of corticosteroid monotherapy was of the same magnitude as that with nsNSAID monotherapy. Previous studies have shown inconsistent results with respect to risk of upper GI bleeding with corticosteroids.^{118, 211, 355} Because nsNSAIDs are known to pose greater risk for inducing upper gastrointestinal ulcers compared with COX-2 inhibitors, interaction between corticosteroids and nsNSAIDs, but not with COX-2 inhibitors, was expected.¹¹⁷ The suggested pathophysiological mechanism behind this increased risk for corticosteroids is inhibition of

ulcer healing.¹²⁰ Previous studies estimated the magnitude of this risk to range from 9-fold to 12-fold, ^{72, 117, 118, 311, 355} although drug interaction between corticosteroids and nsNSAIDs was not consistently observed.³⁵⁵ Aside from the small numbers of concomitant users of nsNSAIDs and corticosteroids in previous studies,^{72, 118, 211, 311} there were also differences in outcome definitions and reference categories used (varying from no drug use in the past 7 davs³⁵⁵ to 180 days⁷²). According to guidelines, corticosteroids should be considered an independent risk factor for upper GI bleeding and gastroprotective measures should be prescribed to patients treated with corticosteroids.⁹⁹ To translate the observed risks to the general population, we estimated the population attributable risk (PAR) due to drug use. The PAR was 6.4% for concurrent use of nsNSAIDs and corticosteroids, 11.8% for nsNSAID monotherapy, and 10.4% for corticosteroid monotherapy. This implies that the proportion of upper GI bleeding in the general population attributable to the previously mentioned therapies was high, given the assumption that the association between drug use and occurrence of upper GI bleeding is causal. Although this can be reduced by correct use of gastroprotection, future studies should investigate the risk of a combination of corticosteroids and nsNSAIDs with gastroprotective agents compared with a combination of corticosteroids and COX-2 inhibitors.

Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors

Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) showed statistically significant interaction with nsNSAIDs and COX-2 inhibitors but not with low-dose aspirin. From a biological point of view, this interaction seems plausible because SSRIs decrease the serotonin level, resulting in impaired thrombocyte aggregation and an increased risk of bleeding in general, including upper GI bleeding. Based on this mechanism, NSAIDs, and low-dose aspirin to lesser extent, ^{363, 364} are suspected to produce synergism with SSRIs. Although previous studies report an increased risk between 2.6-fold and 16-fold for upper GI bleeding with use of SSRIs and NSAIDs when compared with drug monotherapy, ³⁶³⁻³⁶⁵ others could not show interaction. ^{356, 365} However, these were not performed primarily on NSAID users, ³⁶⁴ did not control for important confounders^{363, 364} and did not create mutually exclusive drug exposure groups. ³⁶³

Aldosterone antagonists

The risk of aldosterone antagonists concurrently used with nsNSAIDs was higher than when used with low-dose aspirin or COX-2 inhibitors. Earlier, case reports indicated a possible association between aldosterone antagonists and upper GI bleeding or upper GI ulcers.³²⁴ More recently, case-control studies confirmed this association.^{348, 358} The potential mechanism may be related to impaired healing of gastric and duodenal erosions due to inhibition of fibrous tissue formation.³⁴⁸

Anticoagulants and antiplatelets

Use of anticoagulants is an acknowledged risk factor for upper GI bleeding, with previous studies showing risks from 5.3-fold to 6.5-fold for concomitant use of anticoagulants with low-dose aspirin,^{119, 353} 4.6-fold with COX-2 inhibitors,³⁵³ and up to 19-fold with nsNSAIDs.⁷³ In the current study anticoagulants showed a higher risk when combined with low-dose aspirin than with nsNSAIDs or COX-2 inhibitors. The difference between these findings and previous studies may rely on less stringent control for confounders in previous studies than in the current study; furthermore, with the SCCS all within-person confounders that are fixed over time are immediately dealt with. In line with others, concomitant use of low-dose aspirin eliminates the presumed benefit of COX-2 inhibitors over nsNSAIDs on the risk of upper GI adverse events.^{10, 73, 327, 340}

Gastroprotective agents

The increased risk of diagnosed upper GI bleeding observed with the concomitant use of nsNSAIDs, COX-2 inhibitors, or low-dose aspirin with GPAs seems counterintuitive; however, no interaction was observed for any of these drug combinations. The increased risk is thus more likely explained by the phenomenon of "channeling", in which high-risk patients receive concurrent prescriptions for GPAs whereas low-risk patients do not. Another explanation is protopathic bias, because GPAs might be given as treatment for first symptoms of upper GI bleeding.³⁶⁶

Age-Related COX Enzyme selectivity

As expected, the risk of diagnosed upper GI bleeding with use of the drugs of interest (monotherapy), except antiplatelets, was lower for subjects younger than 60 years of age than for subjects older than 60 years of age. Surprisingly, the difference in risk between younger and older subjects was larger for drug combinations with COX-2 inhibitors than for combinations with nsNSAIDs. Application of a cutoff level of 70 years of age did not yield different results. However, using an age cutoff of 70 years showed excess risk for the combination of COX-2 inhibitors and corticosteroids, whereas this was not present with an age cutoff of 60 years. In elderly subjects, prostaglandin-levels decreased due to decreased conversion of arachidonic acid to prostaglandin, resulting in an increased risk of upper GI bleeding. This partially accounts for the recommendation to use gastroprotective measures in elderly patients.⁹⁹ We hypothesize that COX enzyme selectivity with aging might explain the difference in drug interaction between nsNSAIDs and COX-2 inhibitors. In animal studies, older rats expressed different COX enzyme mRNA than younger rats and an impaired response of prostaglandin synthesis to irritants with older age was shown.¹²⁰ In humans, higher basal acid output in the stomach among elderly patients¹²¹ results in lower mucosal prostaglandin concentrations in the stomach and duodenum.³⁶⁷ However, these observations were related to the COX-1 enzyme and do not explain our findings. As the SCCS, by definition, controls for confounders fixed within-person and the baseline risk, this also does not explain the difference between younger and older subjects for COX-2 inhibitor combinations in the current study. Future studies are needed to elucidate these findings.

Strengths and limitations

A major strength of the current study is that while previous studies reported data from single centers⁷³ or single databases, ^{118-120, 211, 311, 348, 353, 356, 363-365} we performed a multi-database study to increase the power for studying the risk of upper GI bleeding due to drug synergism of relatively uncommon drug combinations. Additionally, we specifically looked at drug combinations of low-dose aspirin, nsNSAIDs and COX-2 inhibitors separately.³⁴⁹

However, we acknowledge the following limitations. A key assumption of the SCCS is that the exposure distribution within the observation period and the observation period itself must be independent of the time of the event. This assumption could have been violated, because the standard of care considers use of an nsNSAID without gastroprotection as relatively contraindicated after occurrence of upper GI bleeding. However, sensitivity analyses involving truncation of follow-up at the time of the event showed that drug exposure of nsNSAIDs did not change after the event (ie, results obtained were similar to those from the original analysis), meaning that confounding by contraindication was unlikely to explain the findings (Supplementary Figure 2). The health condition of a subject may vary over time at all phases of follow-up. Nevertheless, many chronic conditions, such as type 2 diabetes mellitus, hypertension, and peripheral vascular disease, are relatively stable diseases and vary little over time. We have no reason to believe that this will influence the estimates. The sensitivity analysis adjusting for acute myocardial infarction and anaphylactic shock did not yield different estimates as compared with the main analysis (Supplementary Figure 3). In addition, the age of a subject increases during follow-up, and given that older subjects are at higher risk than when at a younger age, we also adjusted for age in the analysis. Residual confounding due to an underlying clinical condition that led to a drug prescription, although unlikely, cannot be ruled out.

Misclassification of exposure time of NSAIDs could have occurred, because NSAIDs are often used intermittently rather than continuously, although this is probably true more for over-the-counter use of NSAIDs. Over-the-counter use of NSAIDs is not captured in EHR databases and could have led to a potential underestimation of use. However, the proportion of NSAIDs used over-the-counter is limited given that prescribed NSAIDs are reimbursed whereas over-the-counter drugs are not. Although information on drug use differed between dispensing and prescribing data, patterns of use of NSAID classes varied among different countries but were similar among different databases in the same country.³⁴⁶ In addition, we defined nonexposure as no use of any of the drugs of interest instead of no use of any drug. We mitigated misclassification of nonexposure by restricting the analysis to drugs that have been reported to significantly increase or decrease the risk of upper Gl bleeding. We used a

rather broad definition of upper GI bleeding, including all gastroduodenal ulcers and hemorrhages, which may have led to less severe cases of upper GI bleeding in the primary care databases compared with administrative databases. A validation study was performed in 4 databases. For this purpose, a sample of upper GI bleeding cases was manually validated by medical chart review to characterize and document any outcome misclassification related to drug- associated upper GI bleeding. This showed that misclassification was uncommon and did not affect the magnitude of risk estimates.³⁵² Second, when excluding the data set with the lowest PPV for diagnosis of upper GI bleeding in the current study, the estimates were not different from the main analysis. In addition, incidence rates of upper GI bleeding in these databases did not differ substantially across European countries and are in accordance with literature.³⁴⁶ Variceal bleeding was not included as part of the definition of upper GI bleeding. However, we cannot rule out that variceal bleeding may have been wrongly coded as a code more specific for upper GI bleeding than variceal bleeding.

Nevertheless, non-differential misclassification cannot be ruled out and may have resulted in an underestimation of the true estimates. Finally, we did not take any carry-over effect or dose of drug exposure into account, which potentially limits the generalizability concerning causality of the associations.

The SCCS assumes that observation periods should be independent of event times, which may be violated if subjects die quickly after the event. By applying an alternative method³⁶⁸ in one database taking this assumption into account by weighting the post-event periods, the estimates remained within the 95% confidence limits of the original analysis.

When estimating the magnitude of interaction, the presence and direction depends on the scale that is used: either additive or multiplicative interaction. In the current study, multiplicative interaction was only observed for the combination of low-dose aspirin and antiplatelets. However, statistical interaction does not directly imply biological interaction.³⁶¹

In conclusion, concomitant use of nsNSAIDs, COX-2 inhibitors, or low-dose aspirin with SSRIs is associated with a significantly increased risk of diagnosed upper GI bleeding. Concomitant use of nsNSAIDs or low-dose aspirin, but not COX-2 inhibitors, with corticosteroids, aldosterone antagonists or anticoagulants were associated with an increased and excess risk of upper GI bleeding. These findings may help clinicians in tailoring therapy to minimize upper GI bleeding adverse events, and are especially valuable in the elderly who are likely to use multiple drugs concurrently.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

	ICD-9 CM		ICD-10		ICPC
(ARS, HSD	, Pedianet, PHARMO, UNIMIB)		(for Aarhus)		(for IPCI)
531.00/ 531.01	Gastric ulcer, Acute with hemorrhage	K25.0	Gastric ulcer, Acute with hemorrhage		
531.10	Gastric ulcer, Acute with perforation	K25.1	Gastric ulcer, Acute with perforation		
531.20/531.21	Gastric ulcer, Acute with hemorrhage and perforation	K25.2	Gastric ulcer, Acute with both hemorrhage and perforation		
532.00/532.01	Duodenal ulcer, Acute with hemorrhage	K26.0	Duodenal ulcer, Acute with hemorrhage	D85	Duodenal ulcer
532.10	Duodenal ulcer, Acute with perforation	K26.1	Duodenal ulcer, Acute with perforation		
532.20	Duodenal ulcer, Acute with hemorrhage and perforation	K26.2	Duodenal ulcer, Acute with both hemorrhage and perforation		
533.00	Peptic ulcer, site unspecified, Acute with hemorrhage	K27.0	Peptic ulcer, site unspecified, Acute with hemorrhage	D86	Peptic ulcer, other
533.10	Peptic ulcer, site unspecified, Acute with perforation	K27.1	Peptic ulcer, site unspecified, Acute with perforation		
533.20	Peptic ulcer, site unspecified, Acute with hemorrhage and perforation	K27.2	Peptic ulcer, site unspecified, Acute with both hemorrhage and perforation		
534.00/534.01	Gastrojejunal ulcer, Acute with hemorrhage	K28.0	Gastrojejunal ulcer, Acute with hemorrhage		
534.10	Gastrojejunal ulcer, Acute with perforation	K28.1	Gastrojejunal ulcer, Acute with perforation		
534.20/534.21	Gastrojejunal ulcer, Acute with hemorrhage and perforation	K28.2	Gastrojejunal ulcer, Acute with both hemorrhage and perforation		
535.01	Acute gastritis, with hemorrhage	К29.0	Acute hemorrhagic gastritis		
535.11	Atrophic gastritis, with hemorrhage				
535.41	Other specified gastritis, with hemorrhage				
535.51	Unspecified gastritis and gastroduodenitis, with hemorrhage				
578.0	Hematemesis, Vomiting of blood	К92.0	Hematemesis	D15	Hematemesis
578.1	Blood in stool, Melena	K92.1	Melena	D14	Melena
578.9	Hemorrhage of gastrointestinal tract, unspecified	K92.2	Gastrointestinal hemorrhage, unspecified		

Supplementary Table 1. Definition of codes of Upper GI Bleeding among different coding systems.

Abbreviations: International Classification of Diseases, 9th Revision, Clinical Modification (ICD-9-CM); International Classification of Diseases, 10th Revision (ICD-10); International Classification for Primary Care (ICPC).


Supplementary Table 2. Corresponding anatomical therapeutic chemical (ATC)-codes for drug groups of interest.⁹⁹

Drug group	ATC-codes*
nsNSAIDs	M01AB, M01AC, M01AE, M01AG, M01AX
COX-2 inhibitors	M01AH
Low-dose aspirin	B01AC06
High-dose aspirin	N02BA01, N02BA15
Corticosteroids	H02AB
Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors	N06AB
Gastroprotective agents	A02BC, A02BA, A02BB01
Aldosterone antagonists	C03DA01, C03DA02, C03DA03, C03DA04 C08CA, C08CX01, C08DA01, C08DA02, C08DB01, C08EA01,
Calcium channel blockers	C08EA02, C08EX01, C08EX02
Anticoagulantia	B01AA, B01AB
Antiplatelets	B01AC, excluding B01AC06 C01DA02, C01DA04, C01DA05, C01DA07, C01DA08,
Nitrates	C01DA09, C01DA13, C01DA14

* Including all ATC-codes belonging to this drug group.

Supplementary Table 3. Additive interaction measures for drug combinations of nsNSAIDs, low-dose aspirin and COX-2 inhibitors with other drugs.

	RERI (95% CI)	AP	Synergy index
nsNSAIDs + LDA	0.45 (-0.27 to 1.18)	0.07	1.09
nsNSAIDs + Corticosteroids	5.48 (3.71 to 7.26)	0.43	1.87
nsNSAIDs + SSRIs	1.62 (0.58 to 2.66)	0.23	1.38
nsNSAIDs + Gastroprotective agents	-0.98 (-1.33 to -0.62)	-0.25	0.75
nsNSAIDs + Aldosterone antagonists	4.46 (1.79 to 7.13)	0.41	1.81
nsNSAIDs + Calcium channel	-0.39 (-0.90 to 0.13)	-0.09	0.90
blockers			
nsNSAIDs + Anticoagulants	2.41 (0.89 to 3.94)	0.28	1.46
nsNSAIDs + Antiplatelets*	1.50 (0.03 to 2.97)	0.23	1.37
nsNSAIDs + Nitrates	0.00 (-0.93 to 0.93)	0.00	0.10
COX-2 inhibitors + LDA	2.54 (1.13 to 3.94)	0.34	1.64
COX-2 inhibitors + Corticosteroids	-0.02 (-2.03 to 1.99)	-0.00	0.10
COX-2 inhibitors + SSRIs	1.86 (0.28 to 3.44)	0.32	1.63
COX-2 inhibitors + Gastroprotective	-1.14 (-1.69 to -0.59)	-0.48	0.55
agents			
COX-2 inhibitors + Aldosterone	-1.15 (-3.84 to 1.53)	-0.29	0.72
antagonists			
COX-2 inhibitors + Calcium channel	-0.36 (-1.12 to 0.41)	-0.11	0.86
blockers			
COX-2 inhibitors + Anticoagulants	0.10 (-2.15 to 2.34)	0.02	1.03
COX-2 inhibitors + Antiplatelets	-1.91 (-3.13 to -0.69)	-1.10	0.28
COX-2 inhibitors + Nitrates	0.63 (-0.87 to 2.14)	0.12	1.18
LDA + Corticosteroids	2.25 (0.91 to 3.59)	0.26	1.44
LDA + SSRIs	0.49 (-0.05 to 1.03)	0.10	1.16
LDA + Gastroprotective agents	-1.12 (-1.37 to -0.88)	-0.44	0.58
LDA + Aldosterone antagonists	-0.31 (-1.30 to 0.67)	-0.06	0.93
LDA + Calcium channel blockers	-0.55 (-0.79 to -0.32)	-0.18	0.79
LDA + Anticoagulants	1.87 (0.70 to 3.05)	0.27	1.46
LDA + Antiplatelets*	1.70 (0.85 to 2.56)	0.31	1.61
LDA + Nitrates	-0.81 (-1.13 to -0.50)	-0.21	0.77

In **Bold** are drug-combinations where additive interaction is significant based on 95% CIs of RERI not crossing 0. Abbreviations: Relative Excess risk due to interaction (RERI); Proportion attributable to interaction (AP); Nonselective NSAIDs (nsNSAIDs); COX-2 selective inhibitors (COX-2 inhibitors); Low-dose aspirin (LDA); Oral steroids (steroids); Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs). *Antiplatelets excluding low-dose aspirin.

RERI = RR11 - RR10 - RR01 + 1 ; AP= RERI/RR11.

RERI or AP = 0: means no interaction. RERI or AP < 0 means negative interaction or less than additive interaction. RERI or AP > 0: means positive interaction or more than additive interaction. R01 and R10 represent relative risk of upper GI bleeding for each drug separately; RR11 represents relative risk of upper GI bleeding during combination therapy.

95% Cls of RERI is calculated based on the variance and covariance of the separate estimates and combined drug estimate. Synergy index = (RR11 - 1) / ((RR10 - 1) + (RR01 - 1))

Synergy index = 1: means no interaction. Synergy index < 1: means negative interaction or less than additive interaction. Synergy index > 1: means positive interaction or more than additive interaction.

of	
ns	
atio	
jinã	
mþ	
8	
bue	
∑ 0	
rap	
the	
Ou	
рш	
) S(
dnc	
gro	
gu.	
p	
ijĮ	
bec	
o sl	
s) ti	
ar	
۶.	
sor	
Jer	
. <u> </u>	
) e (
tim	
re	
nsc	
dx	
ofe	
alo	
tot	
p	
s al	
ent	
eve	
вu	
edi	
ble	
Ū	
er	
ddr	
σfΓ	
er	
dm	
Nui	
4	
le	
Tak	
≥	
nta	
ne	
ler	s).
ddr	'n.
S	d,

	Mo	notherapy			Combii	nations with:		
			c	sNSAIDs	COX-	.2 inhibitors	Low-	dose aspirin
Drug groups	N†	Person-Years#	N†	Person-Years#	N†	Person-Years#	N†	Person-Years#
No drug*	69,664	706,123		NA		NA		NA
nsNSAIDs	3,327	10,198		NA		NA	416	1,040
COX-2 inhibitors	635	2,825		NA		NA	131	295
Low-dose aspirin	4,733	22,219	416	1,040	131	295		NA
Corticosteroids	1,378	4,078	244	312	40	98	190	383
SSRIs	1,793	10,248	210	497	65	168	401	1,441
Gastroprotective agents	5,279	33,385	678	2,239	95	503	607	3,332
Aldosterone antagonists	1,211	4,479	76	104	10	36	131	427
Calcium channel blockers	3,546	28,260	363	1,251	77	369	1,123	5,754
Anticoagulants	1,760	7,244	143	241	21	62	168	422
Antiplatelets (excluding LDA)	994	6,718	87	204	6	72	246	820
Nitrates	2,572	15,665	172	503	49	161	859	3,959

* Refers to no use of the predefined drugs of interest.

t Number of upper GI bleeding events during exposure to specific drug group.

Total of exposure time in person years to specific drug group.

Abbreviations: Nonselective NSAIDs (nsNSAIDs); COX-2 selective inhibitors (COX-2 inhibitors); Oral steroids (steroids); Low-dose aspirin (LDA); Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs); Not applicable (NA).

	Number of upper GI bleeding	Number of upper GI
Age range (year)	cases	bleeding cases
	Female	Male
Total	51,440	63,395
0-4	813	1,085
5-9	329	408
10-14	237	327
15-19	410	425
20-24	593	705
25-29	687	893
30-34	781	1,339
35-39	1,037	1,835
40-44	1,288	2,392
45-49	1,512	2,830
50-54	1,892	3,876
55-59	2,349	4,755
60-64	3,042	5,978
65-69	4,071	7,366
70-74	5,551	8,380
75-79	7,723	8,556
80-84	8,267	6,643
≥85	10,858	5,602

Supplementary Table 5. Distribution of upper GI bleeding cases per gender across age categories.

e 6. Incidence rate ratios (IRRm) of diagnosed upper GI bleeding during exposure to specific drug groups (with corresponding 95% confidence	rapy and in combinations by applying a meta-analysis random-effects model.
ence rate ra	in combina
e 6. Incide	erapy and
ary Tabl	monoth€
Supplement	ntervals) in i

	Monoth	herapy					Combinatio	ns with:				
				nsNSA	IDs		COX-2 inh	ibitors		Low-dose	aspirin	
Drug groups	IRRm (95%Cl)	P-value Q statistic	r² %	IRRm (95%CI)	P-value Q statistic	r2 %	IRRm (95%CI)	P-value Q statistic	r2 %	IRRm (95%CI)	P-value Q statistic	r² %
No drug*	1.00 (ref)	NA	NA	NA			NA			NA		
nsNSAIDs	3.11 (2.15-4.51)	0.00	98.0	NA			NA			5.05 (2.86-8.90)	<0.001	94.9
COX-2 inhibitors	2.20 (1.58-3.05)	<0.001	86.3	NA			NA			7.34 (4.74-11.36)	<0.001	70.8
Low-dose aspirin	2.34 (1.87-2.92)	0.00	96.0	5.05 (2.86-8.90)	<0.001	94.9	7.34 (4.74-11.36)	<0.001	70.8	NA		
Corticosteroids	2.37 (1.33-4.22)	0.00	98.0	7.84 (4.61-13.36)	<0.001	89.4	6.40 (4.55-9.01)	0.90	0.00	6.97 (4.92-9.88)	0.01	67.0
SSRIs	1.59 (1.20-2.12)	0.00	94.9	4.58 (2.73-7.69)	<0.001	87.2	6.30 (4.63-8.58)	0.36	8.3	3.86 (2.75-5.42)	<0.001	82.7
Gastroprotective agents	1.31 (0.97-1.77)	0.00	98.2	2.95 (1.88-4.62)	<0.001	95.9	2.02 (1.34-3.05)	0.02	62.9	1.87 (1.30-2.69)	<0.001	93.1
Aldosterone antagonists	2.10 (1.31-3.38)	0.00	95.3	9.98 (6.29-15.82)	0.07	50.2	6.59 (3.17-13.69)	0.43	0.00	3.96 (2.60-6.05)	0.01	68.5
Calcium channel blockers	1.22 (0.95-1.57)	0.00	95.3	3.35 (2.01-5.59)	<0.001	91.8	3.16 (2.11-4.73)	0.16	37.1	2.37 (1.86-3.02)	<0.001	87.5
Anticoagulants	2.24 (1.60-3.13)	0.00	95.7	6.97 (4.50-10.82)	<0.001	76.6	5.52 (3.52-8.66)	0.75	0.00	6.03 (4.48-8.12)	0.04	57.2
Antiplatelets (excluding low-dose aspirin)	1.56 (1.27-1.91)	0.00	83.0	6.30 (3.58-11.07)	<0.001	79.2	1.79 (0.90-3.55)	0.94	0.00	4.43 (2.83-6.93)	<0.001	86.7
Nitrates	1.89 (1.34-2.66)	0.00	94.9	4.94 (3.19-7.63)	0.01	65.7	5.00 (2.37-10.52)	0.04	56.7	3.14 (2.53-3.90)	<0.001	75.5

* Refers to no use of the predefined drugs of interest.

Abbreviations: Nonselective NSAIDs (nsNSAIDs); COX-2 selective inhibitors (COX-2 inhibitors); Oral steroids (steroids); Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs); Not applicable (NA); Incidence Rate Ratio pooled on random effect meta-analytic model (IRRm). Supplementary Table 7. Population attributable risks of upper GI bleeding for monotherapy of drugs.

population to which the relative risk pertains. However, the PAR does not reflect the absolute risk for a specific individual but rather the proportion of upper GI bleeding in the general population due to drug use. As example we can take the PAR of nSNSAID monotherapy: out of 100 persons experiencing upper GI bleeding while exposed The PAR is an estimate that reflects the absolute risk in the general population. The PAR is calculated using the relative risk and the exposure prevalence in the general to nsNSAID monotherapy 11.8% of these upper GI bleedings are attributable to nsNSAID monotherapy.

deine one is and done O

				Nsn	SAIDs		COX-2 i	nhibitor	s	Low-d	ose aspir	.u
Drug groups	Exposure Prevalence †	IRR*	PAR	Exposure Prevalence [†]	IRR*	PAR	Exposure Prevalence [†]	IRR*	PAR	Exposure Prevalence [†]	IRR*	PAR
	(%)		(%)	(%)		(%)	(%)		(%)	(%)		(%)
nsNSAIDs	4.1	4.27	11.8							16.7	6.77	8.8
COX-2 inhibitors	1.7	2.90	2.0							3.5	7.49	2.2
Low-dose aspirin	6.5	3.05	11.7	16.7	6.77	8.8	3.5	7.49	2.2			
Corticosteroids	3.8	4.07	10.4	5.5	12.82	6.4	1.6	5.95	0.8	8.1	8.37	5.6
SSRIs	2.8	2.06	2.8	6.5	6.95	3.7	1.7	5.82	0.8	9.4	4.60	3.3
Gastroprotective agents	7.4	1.61	4.3	24.4	3.90	6.6	4.4	2.37	9.0	28.3	2.54	4.2
Aldosterone antagonists	1.3	3.27	2.9	1.7	11.00	1.7	0.4	4.02	0.1	5.2	5.01	2.0
Calcium channel blockers	4.0	1.57	2.2	11.8	4.45	3.9	3.0	3.11	9.0	19.5	3.07	3.9
Anticoagulants	4.2	3.01	7.8	7.3	8.69	5.3	1.3	5.01	0.5	9.8	6.94	5.5
Antiplatelets (excluding LDA)	2.4	1.74	1.8	3.5	6.50	1.9	0.7	1.73	0.1	13.6	5.49	5.8
Nitrates	3.0	2.55	4.4	6.5	5.82	3.0	1.6	5.09	0.7	20.8	3.79	5.5

+ Exposure prevalence of drugs in the general population.

* Incidence Rate Ratios, used as calculated in this study (see Table 2). Abbreviations: Monsedertive NSAIDS (nSNSAIDS): COX-3 selective inhibitors (COX-3 inhibitors).

Abbreviations: Nonselective NSAIDs (nsNSAIDs); COX-2 selective inhibitors (COX-2 inhibitors); Oral steroids (steroids); Low-dose aspirin (LDA); Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs); Not applicable (NA).





Supplementary Figure 1. Classification of drug prescriptions into the drug categories.

GI, gastrointestinal; nsNSAID, nonselective NSAID.



Drugs

Supplementary Figure 2. Explanation of Sensitivity analysis with observation time truncated at time of event. Observed Incidence rate ratios of drug monotherapy for the main analysis in SCCS and sensitivity analysis.

Key assumption of the SCCS is that the exposure distribution within the observation period and the observation period itself must be independent of prior event times. This could have been violated for some individuals, as use of an nsNSAID without gastroprotection is relatively contra-indicated after an upper GI bleeding. By truncating the follow-up at time of the upper GI bleeding, we observed that the IRRs changed in magnitude for some drugs. We used a change of 10% of the initial estimate as arbitrarily cut-off to quantify the magnitude of change. For monotherapy of steroids, SSRIs, GPAs, aldosterone antagonists, antiplatelets and nitrates the estimates were higher and for nsNSAIDs and low-dose aspirin lower in the analysis with truncation of follow-up time at the event. Only for COX-2 inhibitor-monotherapy the estimates did not change with more than 10% of the initial estimate. These analyses implicate that the exposure of for instance nsNSAIDs did not change significantly after the event, but do show the relative contra-indication of nsNSAIDs after an upper GI bleeding, as the IRR in initial analysis was higher than in sensitivity analyses (Supplementary Figure 1). These analyses however show that confounding-by-contraindication is unlikely.



anaphylactic shock.





SECTION 5

NSAIDs and PPIs and the risk of Microscopic Colitis



CHAPTER 5.1

Incidence of Microscopic Colitis in the Netherlands in relation to the number of colonoscopies over time

Letter to article by Tong et al. Incidence, Prevalence, and Temporal Trends of Microscopic Colitis: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis.³⁶⁹

Gwen MC Masclee, Preciosa M Coloma, Ernst J Kuipers, Miriam CJM Sturkenboom

American Journal of Gastroenterology.2015; 110(8):1246-7.

TO THE EDITOR:

We read with great interest the thorough review and meta-analysis by Tong et al.³⁶⁹ about microscopic colitis (MC). Their study summarizes evidence from epidemiological studies on MC incidence and drug-associations. They report incidence rates from different countries in different time periods. They conclude that the overall incidence of MC increases with age, is higher in females than males and is comparable to the incidence of inflammatory bowel disease. Differences in study settings, geography, source population and diagnosis verification likely contributed to heterogeneity of the results. Nevertheless, MC incidences appear to have increased over time and proton pump inhibitors as well as selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors were associated with an increased risk of MC. As the authors point out, clinical awareness, more liberal use of colonoscopy, and routine random biopsy sampling in normal colonoscopies may have distorted the estimation of the 'true' incidence of the disease. These types of detection and diagnostic biases³⁷⁰ are, however, difficult to account for in incidence studies. A possible solution to give insight in such detection bias is to calculate the incidence of the disease in relation to the number of diagnostic procedures. In a cohort study using data from a primary care database containing electronic medical records of 1.6 million subjects in the Netherlands, we identified 210 incident, histologically-verified, MC cases between 2003 and 2013. We calculated the rate of MC both over the number of person-years (PY) as most studies do, but also over the number of index colonoscopies, not considering follow-up colonoscopies. An increase in incidence per PY was seen that tapered off in 2011 (Figure 1). There was a substantial increase in total number of colonoscopies over this period (from 62 colonoscopies per 10,000 PY in 2003 to 283 in 2013). The rate of MC lowered when based on the number of colonoscopies from 5.6 per 1,000 colonoscopies in 2003 to 0.9 in 2013 (Figure 2).

Our findings thus suggest that the actual incidence of MC remained fairly stable during a 10-year period in the Netherlands, and that increases that may be seen on the population level are due to increasing rates of colonoscopies. These findings contrast with previous studies as summarized by Tong *et al.*³⁶⁹ This contrast can explained by the fact that the majority of previous studies did not correct for increases in the number of colonoscopy procedures, and therefore ability to detect MC, over time.



Figure 1. Incidence rate with 95% Confidence Intervals of Microscopic Colitis per 100,000 Person-Years.



Figure 2. Rate with 95% Confidence Intervals of Microscopic Colitis per 1,000 diagnostic colonoscopies.

CHAPTER 5.2

Increased risk of Microscopic Colitis with use of Proton Pump Inhibitors and Non-Steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs

Gwen MC Masclee, Preciosa M Coloma, Ernst J Kuipers, Miriam CJM Sturkenboom

American Journal of Gastroenterology. 2015; 110(5):749-59.

ABSTRACT

BACKGROUND

Microscopic colitis (MC) is characterized by chronic watery diarrhea. Recently several drugs were reported to increase the risk of MC. However, studies lacked a clear exposure definition, did not address duration-relationships and did not take important biases into account.

AIM

We estimated the risk of MC during drug use.

METHODS

Population-based nested case-control study using a Dutch primary care database (1999-2013). Incident microscopic colitis cases (aged \geq 18 years) were matched to: 1) community-based, and 2) colonoscopy-negative controls on age, sex and primary care practice. Drug use was assessed within 1 and 2 years prior to index date. Adjusted odds ratios (OR) were calculated by conditional logistic regression.

RESULTS

From the source population of 1,458,410 subjects; 218 cases were matched to 15,045 community controls and 475 colonoscopy negative controls. Current use (\leq 3 months) of proton pump inhibitors (PPIs), NSAIDs, selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors, low-dose aspirin, ACE-inhibitors and beta-blockers significantly increased the risk of microscopic colitis compared to never use in community controls. Adjusted ORs ranged from 2.5 (95%CI: 1.5-4.2) for ACE-inhibitors to 7.3 (95%CI: 4.5-12.1) for PPIs in the year prior to index date. After accounting for diagnostic delay, only use of NSAIDs, PPIs, low-dose aspirin and ACE-inhibitors increased risk of MC. Compared to colonoscopy controls, only use of PPIs (ORadjusted 10.6, 1.8-64.2) and NSAIDs (ORadjusted 5.6, 1.2-27.0) increased the risk of MC.

CONCLUSION

NSAIDs and PPIs are associated with an increased risk of MC. The association of MC with use of the other drugs is probably explained by worsening of diarrhea/symptoms rather than increasing the risk of MC itself.

INTRODUCTION

Microscopic colitis (MC) is a condition characterized by chronic watery diarrhea, normal radiological and endoscopic appearance and microscopic inflammation of the colon. It is a rare disease with an incidence around 5 to 8.6 cases per 100,000 person-years. ^{371, 372} MC includes two distinct entities, namely lymphocytic colitis and collagenous colitis. They differ in histopathological features: collagenous colitis is characterized by a subepithelial collagen band adjacent to the basal membrane, while lymphocytic colitis is characterized by the presence of an inflammatory infiltrate in the lamina propria. The etiology of MC is largely unknown, but risk factors include autoimmune diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis and celiac disease. 373-375 MC is more prevalent in elderly, particularly among females aged 60 years and over.^{372, 376} Parallel to this increase in incidence of MC is the increase in polypharmacy in elderly. Several drugs have been reported to be associated with the onset of MC. These drugs include selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs), ³⁷⁷ non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), ³⁷⁷ and proton pump inhibitors (PPIs). ³⁷⁸ One of the proposed mechanisms of drug-associated MC is triggering factors of colonic inflammation in a genetically predisposed individual. Both NSAIDs and PPIs have been reported to affect the bowel integrity and colonic permeability.^{9,} ⁸³⁻⁸⁸ Subsequently, luminal antigens can more easily enter the lamina propria and elicit an immune and inflammatory reaction.⁸³ Another mechanism by which PPIs could lead to MC is alteration of the colonic intestinal flora through acid inhibition and thereby promoting colonic microbial growth. 210, 379

On the other hand, drugs may also be implicated in the development or worsening of diarrhea in a patient with a pre-existing, undiagnosed, MC. In other words, the drug itself may not induce MC, but rather the underlying disease or indication to receive the drug. Previous studies assessing the association between drug intake and MC have not been able to take confounding-by-indication (i.e., the indication to receive the drug) into account. Additionally, such studies were limited by small sample size, lack of clear drug exposure definitions, and lack of duration analyses. ³⁷⁸ The aim of this study was to assess the risk of MC during use of various drugs in a population-based nested case-control study.

METHODS

Data sources

A population-based general practice electronic healthcare record database, the Integrated Primary Care Information database (IPCI) from the Netherlands (NL) was used as data source. This database contains prospectively collected routine care data representing real-life practice.²³⁸ In the Netherlands, all citizens are registered with a general practitioner (GP), who acts as a gatekeeper to secondary and tertiary medical care. IPCI contains >1.5 million active patients from 340 GP practices. For each individual patient all relevant medical information

from primary and secondary care is documented in the electronic record. This includes information on medical diagnoses, discharge summaries, demographics, GP notes and drug prescriptions. In IPCI the International Classification for Primary Care²⁴⁰ system is used for coding of medical diagnosis and symptoms. Information on drug use is coded according to the World Health Organization's Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical (ATC) classification . IPCI has been extensively used in pharmaco-epidemiological studies.^{117, 243} In previous studies, the characteristics and incidence/prevalence of diseases such as upper gastrointestinal bleeding, Barrett's esophagus were shown to be consistent with other literature.^{346, 380, 381} The study protocol was approved by the IPCI Scientific and Ethical Advisory Board.

Study Design and Population

A nested case-control study was conducted. The source population consisted of all subjects aged \geq 18 years who were registered with one of the general practitioners and contributed data between January 1st 1999 and March 31st 2012 and had at least 1 year of valid data in the database. This one year run-in period was used to distinguish between incident and prevalent cases of MC.

Cases and control selection

MC cases were identified via key word search within the free-text narratives in the electronic medical records and were included when: 1) a record of MC diagnosis; and 2) additional evidence consisting of histology report confirming MC diagnosis were present. Only incident MC cases (i.e. newly diagnosed cases) were considered for the study. The index date (date to which we make reference for exposure assessment) was defined as the first date of recorded symptoms leading to the diagnosis of MC. Subjects with a diagnosis of colorectal cancer were excluded. Due to the availability of the medical history of each patient, we could review on which date symptoms related to microscopic diagnosis started.

Two control groups were considered for the analysis; 1) community-based controls (i.e., from the source population); and 2) colonoscopy controls (i.e., those who had undergone a colonoscopy without signs or histology of MC). We matched by incidence density sampling on age (+/- 1 year), GP practice and sex. For the colonoscopy controls the date of colonoscopy was within 6 months of the date of the corresponding case in order to rule out any effect that could be time-related. We matched on GP practice, in order to take any referral bias or prescribing preference from GPs into account.

Drug Exposure

Drugs of interest were those that previously have been reported to be associated with (either increased or decreased) risk of MC: 1) NSAIDs (including high-dose aspirin; >325 mg of aspirin per day) ³⁷⁷, 2) PPIs ^{378, 382}, 3) statins ³⁷⁷, 4) SSRIs ³⁷⁷, 5) low-dose aspirin (up to 325 mg/day) ³⁸²,

6) angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE)-inhibitors ^{377, 378} and 7) beta-blockers.³⁸² Analyses with respect to individual types of NSAIDs and PPIs were conducted including assessment of heterogeneity between individual estimates.

We considered several risk periods of drug exposure because of the possibility of delay between disease onset to first time that symptoms are recorded. The different risk periods were as follows: within 1 year prior to the index date (A) and within 2 years prior to the index date (B) while excluding the last year before index date. In risk period B the first year prior to index date was not considered for exposure assessment in order to account for a potential lag-time in recorded symptoms (i.e. assuming there could be a difference of one year between actual start of the disease and first date of recorded symptoms). It would actually be the same as risk period A but moving back the index date to 1 year prior to the recorded symptom onset. For risk period B, at least 2 year of valid data should be available. Subsequently we divided exposure time into the following mutually exclusive groups: current use (\leq 3 months), past use (3-12 months prior to index date) and never use (no drug in 12 months prior to index date). In Figure 1 the considered exposure groups for the different risk periods are depicted.





Covariates

We considered as risk factors for MC those that have been reported previously in the literature: celiac disease ^{373, 375, 382}; inflammatory bowel disease ³⁷⁵; rheumatoid arthritis ³⁷⁴; hypothyroid disease ³⁷⁵; polyarthritis ^{375, 382}; and diabetes mellitus type 2.³⁷⁴ As a quality check

we analyzed the incidence of the covariables in the source population of the database and found that the incidence rates were similar to rates reported in the literature. For instance, we found an overall incidence of polymyalgia rheumatica of 54.3 per 100,000 person-years, which is in line with the reported incidence rates in Denmark (41.3 and 68.3/100,000 person years) and Sweden (50.0/100,000 person years).³⁸³

Statistical analysis

Incidence rates of MC were calculated by dividing the number of incident (i.e., newlydiagnosed) MC cases by the number of person-years at risk. The incidence rates (IR) of MC were also calculated in relation to the number of colonoscopies performed, in order to account for detection bias. Baseline characteristics of cases and controls were described and compared using univariable conditional logistic regression. To estimate the risk for MC for use of the drugs of interest, matched and adjusted odds ratios (OR) with 95% confidence intervals (CIs) were calculated using conditional logistic regression. Identification of confounders was performed by entering each potential confounder into the model one by one. Confounders were kept into the model if the risk estimate for the drug exposure changed more than 10%.³⁸⁴ Duration analyses in the different risk periods were conducted according to the above specified categories. Dose effects were analysed by the cumulative amount of prescribed drug during the exposure period and expressed as the total amount of recommended defined daily dose (DDD) . Categories of DDDs were divided in 0 DDD; 1-7 DDDs; 8-15 DDDs and >15 DDDs for NSAIDs and in 0 DDD; 1-29 DDDs; 30-90 DDDs and >90 DDDs for PPIs, statins, SSRIs, ACEinhibitors and beta-blockers.

Sensitivity analysis

As sensitivity analysis we excluded the unspecified types of MC, in order to rule out any misclassification of MC cases. Secondly, we performed subgroup analyses by type of MC (collagenous or lymphocytic colitis). Effect modification by sex and age group (\leq 45 years; >45 years) was explored by multiplicative interaction.

RESULTS

Study population

In the source population of 1,458,410 subjects we identified 218 incident MC cases (lymphocytic colitis 70, collagenous colitis 92, and unspecified 56). This yielded an IR of 5.1/100,000 PYs for MC overall; 2.1/100,000 PYS for collagenous colitis; 1.6/100,000 PYS for lymphocytic colitis and 1.3/100,000 PYs for unspecified MC. The incidence rate of MC was 3.3 per 1,000 colonoscopies. The 218 incident MC cases (who had at least 1 year of risk period assessment) were matched to 15,045 community controls. The median number of controls

was 54 per case (interquartile range: 32-93). When including only cases with at least 2 years of valid data before index date, 138 cases were retained who were matched to 9,160 community controls. For 148 cases we could match at least one colonoscopy control from the same GP practice (n=475) for a 1 year risk period assessment, and 95 cases to 296 colonoscopy controls for a 2 year risk period assessment. Characteristics of the cases on date of diagnosis and matched controls on index date are shown in Table 1. Among cases occurrence of celiac disease, inflammatory bowel disease or rheumatoid arthritis was more frequent than among controls.

Characteristics of drug exposure

Characteristics of drug exposure in the different risk periods are described for cases and community and colonoscopy controls in Table 2. Most frequently used drugs were NSAIDs and proton pump inhibitors (PPIs) in the 1 and 2 year risk periods, both among cases and community controls, with the exception of beta-blockers, which were more often used than NSAIDs by cases in the 1 year risk period. Similar exposure prevalences of the drugs were seen for colonoscopy controls as with community controls (Table 2).

Risk of microscopic colitis compared to community controls

To determine the risk of MC in association with use of drugs, a nested case-control study was conducted. When looking at the 1 year risk period (within 1 year prior to index date), current use (within 3 months of index date) of NSAIDs, PPIs, statins, SSRIs, low-dose aspirin, ACEinhibitors and beta-blockers all significantly increased the risk of MC compared to never use. When adjusting for important confounders, current use of NSAIDs, PPIs, SSRIs, low-dose aspirin, ACE-inhibitors and beta-blockers remained associated with an increased risk of MC, ranging between 2.5 for ACE-inhibitors and 7.3 for PPIs (Table 3A, Supplementary Figure 1A and B). When taking diagnostic delay into account (by taking out the year directly prior to index date and looking in the year 1 to 2 years prior to index date), all drugs substantially increased the risk of MC in the matched analysis (Table 3A). However, adjustment for confounders resulted in elevated risks only for current use of NSAIDs, PPIs, low-dose aspirin and ACE-inhibitors (Table 3A, Supplementary Figure 1A and B), ranging between 2.3- and 8.3fold for ACE-inhibitors and NSAIDs, respectively. Diclofenac was the most commonly used NSAID followed by ibuprofen. Omeprazole was the most frequently used PPI. Results regarding individual types of NSAIDs and PPIs are shown in Supplementary Figures 3 and Figures 4. No heterogeneity was seen between individual NSAIDs and PPIs. Analyses of dose effects are shown in Supplementary Table 1A.

 Table 1. Characteristics of cases and controls on index date.

		COMMUNIT	Y CONTROLS	
	1 year ris	k period*	2 year ris	k period#
	Case	Control	Case	Control
Characteristics	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)
Total	218 (100)	15,045 (100)	138 (100)	9,160 (100)
Median no. of controls (IQR)	53.5 (32-93)		53 (33-85)	
Type microscopic colitis				
Collagenous colitis	92 (42.2)		59 (42.8)	
Lymphocytic colitis	70 (32.1)		42 (30.4)	
Not specified	56 (25.7)		37 (26.8)	
Sex				
male	58 (26.6)	3,898 (25.9)	39 (28.3)	2,525 (27.6)
female	160 (73.4)	11,147 (74.1)	99 (71.7)	6,635 (72.4)
Mean age at index date (SD)	45.1 (2.1)	45.2 (2.0)	45.3 (2.1)	45.2 (2.1)
Median age at index date (IQR)	45.6 (44.4-46.6)	45.7 (44.4-46.7)	45.7 (44.6-46.7)	45.7 (44.5-46.7)
Age group (years)				
<40	12 (5.5)	715 (4.8)	9 (6.5)	606 (6.6)
40-45	68 (31.2)	4,788 (31.8)	37 (26.8)	2,666 (29.1)
>45	138 (63.3)	9,542 (63.4)	92 (66.7)	5,888 (64.3)
Celiac Disease yes	13 (6)	46 (0.3)	9 (6.5)	35 (0.4)
Inflammatory Bowel Disease yes	38 (17.4)	60 (0.4)	28 (20.3)	50 (0.5)
Hypothyroid Disease yes	13 (6)	388 (2.6)	1 (0.7)	2 (0)
Polyarthritis yes	2 (0.9)	21 (0.1)	1 (0.7)	24 (0.3)
Rheumatoid Arthritis yes	5 (2.3)	148 (1.0)	9 (6.5)	129 (1.4)
Diabetes Mellitus T2 yes	7 (3.2)	601 (4.0)	5 (3.6)	491 (5.4)
Index year				
1999	1 (0.5)	11 (0.1)	0 (0)	0 (0)
2000	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)
2001	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)
2002	1 (0.5)	49 (0.3)	1 (0.7)	49 (0.5)
2003	3 (1.4)	168 (1.1)	2 (1.4)	139 (1.5)
2004	6 (2.8)	457 (3)	5 (3.6)	388 (4.2)
2005	2 (0.9)	75 (0.5)	2 (1.4)	75 (0.8)
2006	1 (0.5)	27 (0.2)	0 (0)	0 (0)
2007	5 (2.3)	212 (1.4)	1 (0.7)	54 (0.6)
2008	14 (6.4)	1,247 (8.3)	4 (2.9)	485 (5.3)
2009	32 (14.7)	2,163 (14.4)	21 (15.2)	1,359 (14.8)
2010	47 (21.6)	2,835 (18.8)	31 (22.5)	1,716 (18.7)
2011	55 (25.2)	3,995 (26.6)	37 (26.8)	2,502 (27.3)
2012	50 (22.9)	3,762 (25.0)	33 (23.9)	2,349 (25.6)
2013	1 (0.5)	44 (0.3)	1 (0.7)	44 (0.5)

* 1 year risk period (A): assessment of characteristics for the cases and controls that are included in the analysis with a 1 year risk period assessment available. See Figure 1, risk period (A). # 2 year risk period (B): assessment of characteristics for the cases and controls that are included in the analysis with 2 year valid data available. See Figure 1, risk period (B).

IQR, interquartile range; SD, standard deviation. Matching factors: age, GP practice, sex, date of diagnosis (for cases). Values in bold represent non-significant different proportions between matched cases and controls.

		COLONOSCO	PY CONTROLS	
	1 year ris	k period*	2 year ris	k period#
	Case	Control	Case	Control
Characteristics	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)
Total	148 (100)	475 (100)	95 (100)	296 (100)
Median no. of controls (IQR)	2 (1-4)		2 (1-4)	
Type microscopic colitis				
Collagenous colitis	61 (41.2)		29 (30.5)	
Lymphocytic colitis	48 (32.4)		31 (32.6)	
Not specified	39 (26.4)		25 (26.3)	
Sex				
male	32 (21.6)	100 (21.1)	24 (25.3)	81 (27.4)
female	116 (78.4)	375 (78.9)	71 (74.7)	215 (72.6)
Mean age at index date (SD)	45.3 (2.0)	45.7 (1.7)	45.4 (1.9)	45.6 (1.8)
Median age at index date (IQR)	45.7 (44.6-46.6)	46.1 (45.0-46.8)	45.7 (44.6-46.6)	46.2 (45.0-46.7)
Age group (years)				
<40	5 (3.4)	12 (2.5)	4 (4.2)	11 (3.7)
40-45	47 (31.8)	126 (26.5)	29 (30.5)	79 (26.7)
>45	96 (64.9)	337 (70.9)	62 (65.3)	206 (69.6)
Celiac Disease yes	9 (6.1)	17 (3.6)	6 (6.3)	6 (2)
Inflammatory Bowel Disease yes	23 (15.5)	13 (2.7)	16 (16.8)	10 (3.4)
Hypothyroid Disease yes	12 (8.1)	31 (6.5)	1 (1.1)	0 (0)
Polyarthritis yes	2 (1.4)	0 (0)	1 (1.1)	1 (0.3)
Rheumatoid Arthritis yes	3 (2)	8 (1.7)	5 (5.3)	6 (2.0)
Diabetes Mellitus T2 yes	6 (4.1)	20 (4.2)	5 (5.3)	15 (5.1)
Index year				
1999	1 (0.7)	1 (0.2)	0 (0)	0 (0)
2000	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)
2001	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)
2002	1 (0.7)	1 (0.2)	1 (1.1)	1 (0.3)
2003	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)
2004	3 (2)	10 (2.1)	3 (3.2)	10 (3.4)
2005	1 (0.7)	1 (0.2)	1 (1.1)	1 (0.3)
2006	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)
2007	2 (1.4)	5 (1.1)	1 (1.1)	4 (1.4)
2008	8 (5.4)	17 (3.6)	3 (3.2)	8 (2.7)
2009	22 (14.9)	54 (11.4)	15 (15.8)	31 (10.5)
2010	36 (24.3)	102 (21.5)	21 (22.1)	68 (23.0)
2011	39 (26.4)	137 (28.8)	27 (28.4)	90 (30.4)
2012	34 (23.0)	144 (30.3)	22 (23.2)	80 (27.0)
2013	1 (0.7)	3 (0.6)	1 (1.1)	3 (1)

Table 1. Characteristics of cases and controls on index date (continued).

* 1 year risk period (A): assessment of characteristics for the cases and controls that are included in the analysis with a 1 year risk period assessment available. See Figure 1, risk period (A). # 2 year risk period (B): assessment of characteristics for the cases and controls that are included in the analysis with 2 year valid data available. See Figure 1, risk period (B). IQR, interquartile range; SD, standard deviation. Matching factors: age, GP practice, sex, date of diagnosis (for cases). Values in bold represent nonsignificant different proportions between matched cases and controls.

COMMUNITY CONTROLS Within 1 year before index date # Within 2 years before index date including 1 year lag-time‡ Control Case Control Case N (%) N (%) N (%) N (%) **Total Number** 218 (100) 15,045 (100) 138 (100) 9,160 (100) Use of NSAIDs: Never use (>12 mo) 175 (80) 14,597 (97) 103 (75) 8,889 (97) Past use (3-12 mo) 16 (7.3) 237 (1.6) 11 (8) 169 (1.8) Current use (<3 mo) 27 (12) 211 (1.4) 24 (17) 102 (1.1) Use of PPIs: Never use (>12 mo) 126 (58) 14,538 (97) 93 (67) 8,880 (97) Past use (3-12 mo) 26 (12) 139 (0.9) 9 (6.5) 93 (1.0) Current use (<3 mo) 66 (30) 368 (2.4) 36 (26) 187 (2.0) Use of Statins: Never use (>12 mo) 176 (81) 14,683 (98) 108 (78) 8,952 (98) Past use (3-12 mo) 3 (1.4) 31 (0.2) 8 (5.8) 40 (0.4) Current use (<3 mo) 39 (18) 331 (2.2) 22 (16) 168 (1.8) Use of SSRIs: Never use (>12 mo) 195 (89) 14,940 (99) 127 (92) 9,100 (99) Past use (3-12 mo) 3 (1.4) 15 (0.1) 3 (2.2) 13 (0.1) Current use (<3 mo) 20 (9.2) 90 (0.6) 8 (5.8) 47 (0.5) Use of Low-dose Aspirin: Never use (>12 mo) 183 (84) 14,936 (99) 118 (86) 9,101 (99) Past use (3-12 mo) 3 (1.4) 7 (0.05) 0 (0) 10 (0.1) Current use (<3 mo) 32 (15) 102 (0.7) 20 (14) 49 (0.5) Use of ACE-inhibitors: Never use (>12 mo) 187 (86) 14,821 (99) 118 (86) 9,030 (99) Past use (3-12 mo) 1 (0.5) 18 (0.1) 6 (4.3) 23 (0.3) Current use (<3 mo) 30 (14) 206 (1.4) 14 (10) 107 (1.2) Use of Beta-blockers: Never use (>12 mo) 14,672 (98) 8,933 (98) 169 (78) 108 (78) Past use (3-12 mo) 2 (0.9) 25 (0.2) 3 (2.2) 47 (0.5) Current use (<3 mo) 47 (22) 348 (2.3) 27 (20) 180 (2)

Table 2. Exposure characteristics of cases and controls.

* For 2 year exposure period: current use (< 3 months), recent use (3-12 months), past use (12-24 months), never use (> 24 months).

1 year risk period (A): assessment of exposure characteristics for the cases and controls that are included in the analysis with a 1 year risk period assessment available. See Figure 1, risk period (A).

‡ 2 year risk period (B) : assessment of exposure characteristics for the cases and controls that are included in the analysis with 2 year valid data available, but excluding the 1 year prior to index date, thus including a 1 year lag-time. See Figure 1, risk period (B).

		COLONOS	SCOPY CONTROLS	
	Within 1 year	before index date#	Within 2 yea	rs before index date
			excluding the 1 y	ear prior to index date‡
	Case	Control	Case	Control
	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)
Total Number	148 (100)	475 (100)	95 (100)	296 (100)
Use of NSAIDs:				
Never use (>12 mo)	121 (82)	455 (96)	69 (73)	282 (95)
Past use (3-12 mo)	11 (7.4)	6 (1.3)	11 (12)	10 (3.4)
Current use (<3 mo)	16 (11)	14 (2.9)	15 (16)	4 (1.4)
Use of PPIs:				
Never use (>12 mo)	83 (56)	441 (93)	62 (65)	289 (98)
Past use (3-12 mo)	23 (16)	4 (0.8)	7 (7.4)	4 (1.4)
Current use (<3 mo)	42 (28)	30 (6.3)	26 (27)	3 (1)
Use of Statins:				
Never use (>12 mo)	120 (81)	455 (96)	75 (79)	284 (96)
Past use (3-12 mo)	3 (2.0)	2 (0.4)	5 (5.3)	3 (1.0)
Current use (<3 mo)	25 (17)	18 (3.8)	15 (16)	9 (3)
Use of SSRIs:				
Never use (>12 mo)	131 (89)	475 (100)	87 (92)	296 (100)
Past use (3-12 mo)	2 (1.4)	0 (0)	3 (3.2)	0 (0)
Current use (<3 mo)	15 (10)	0 (0)	5 (5.3)	0 (0)
Use of Low-dose Aspiri	in:			
Never use (>12 mo)	125 (84)	472 (99)	83 (87)	295 (99.7)
Past use (3-12 mo)	3 (2)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)
Current use (<3 mo)	20 (14)	3 (0.6)	12 (13)	1 (0.3)
Use of ACE-inhibitors:				
Never use (>12 mo)	126 (85)	457 (96)	80 (84)	286 (97)
Past use (3-12 mo)	1 (0.7)	0 (0)	5 (5.3)	2 (0.7)
Current use (<3 mo)	21 (14)	18 (3.8)	10 (11)	8 (2.7)
Use of Beta-blockers:				
Never use (>12 mo)	117 (79)	467 (98)	74 (78)	291 (98)
Past use (3-12 mo)	0 (0)	0 (0)	1 (1.1)	2 (0.7)
Current use (<3 mo)	31 (21)	8 (1.7)	20 (21)	3 (1)

Table 2. Exposure characteristics of cases and controls (continued).

* For 2 year exposure period: current use (< 3 months), recent use (3-12 months), past use (12-24 months), never use (> 24 months).

1 year risk period (A): assessment of exposure characteristics for the cases and controls that are included in the analysis with a 1 year risk period assessment available. See Figure 1, risk period (A).

2 year risk period (B) : assessment of exposure characteristics for the cases and controls that are included in the analysis with 2 year valid data available, but excluding the 1 year prior to index date, thus including a 1 year lag-time. See Figure 1, risk period (B).

Higher cumulative doses of NSAIDs (>15 DDDs), SSRIs (30-90 DDDS; and >90 DDDs) and moderate to medium cumulative doses of beta-blockers (1-29 DDDs; 30-90 DDDs) were associated with an increased risk of MC in the 1 year risk period. In the 2 year risk period when only looking at the first year, all cumulative doses of NSAIDs were associated with an increased risk of MC, with the highest estimate for the highest cumulative dose (> 90 DDDs: ORa 10.8; 95% CI: 5.0-23.4). In this risk period all doses of ACE-inhibitors, between 30-90 DDDs of statins, the highest cumulative dose (>90 DDDs) of SSRIs and between 1-29 DDDs of beta-blockers were associated with MC. For PPIs all dose categories were associated with increase in risk of MC, although no dose-response effect with increasing risk estimates over higher dose categories was seen.

Risk of microscopic colitis compared to colonoscopy controls

By using a control group consisting of subjects who underwent a colonoscopy that was negative for MC or colorectal cancer, the potential impact of confounding-by-indication and diagnostic bias were taken into account. Looking at the 1 year risk period, adjusted odds ratios were only significantly increased for current use of PPIs (ORa 4.4; 95%CI: 1.6-12.1), low-dose aspirin (ORa 17.6; 95%CI: 1.9-165.9), and beta-blockers (ORa 5.8; 95%CI: 1.6-21.1) (Table 3B, Supplementary Figure 2A and B). No controls were exposed to SSRIs and thus no ORs for SSRI use could be calculated. When taking diagnostic delay (by looking at the period 1 to 2 years prior to index date and not in the 1 year prior to index date) into account, only current use of PPIs (ORa 10.6; 95%CI: 1.8-64.2) and NSAIDs (ORa 5.6; 95%CI: 1.2-27.0) remained to significantly increase the risk of MC. Results regarding individual types of NSAIDs and PPIs are shown in Supplementary Figures 3 and Figures 4. Heterogeneity for PPIs was seen for risk period B (p=0.022), but not for risk period A (p=0.0622). Analyses of dose effects for PPIs indicate that a higher cumulative dose was associated with a significant increased risk of MC in the 1 year risk period and was borderline significant for the 2 year risk period (Supplementary Table 1B). For NSAIDs, only the highest cumulative dose (>15 DDDs) was associated with MC in the 2 year risk period (ORa 5.7; 95%CI: 1.3-25.4).

Sensitivity analysis

When excluding the MC cases with unspecified type of MC, results were similar to the initial analyses (data not shown). Also, when stratifying the analyses by type of MC, results did not change substantially (data not shown). Odds ratios were higher for collagenous colitis than lymphocytic colitis during current use of PPIs. No significant effect modification by sex or age was observed on a multiplicative scale (data not shown).

Table 3A: Risk of Microscopi	c colitis, cases compare	d to commu	nity controls.					
	Withir	1 year befo	re index date †		Within 2 years before	e index date e	xcl the 1 year prior to	index date ‡
	ORmatched (95% Cl)	P-value	ORadj# (95% Cl)	P-value	ORmatched (95% Cl)	P-value	ORadj# (95% Cl)	P-value
Use of NSAIDs:								
Never use (>12 mo)	1 (ref)		1 (ref)		1 (ref)		1 (ref)	
Past use (3-12 mo)	6.1 (3.5-10.5)	<0.001	1.3 (0.6-2.7)	0.502	6.6 (3.3-12.9)	<0.001	2.3 (1.0-5.4)	0.056
Current use (<3 mo)	10.9 (7.0-17.1)	<0.001	2.7 (1.5-4.9)	0.001	24.3 (14.4-41.0)	<0.001	8.3 (4.1-17.0)	<0.001
Use of PPIs:								
Never use (>12 mo)	1 (ref)		1 (ref)		1 (ref)		1 (ref)	
Past use (3-12 mo)	28.2 (17.3-45.9)	<0.001	14.8 (8.1-27.3)	<0.001	11.2 (5.2-24)	<0.001	1.8 (0.6-5.2)	0.283
Current use (<3 mo)	23.4 (16.4-33.3)	<0.001	7.3 (4.5-12.1)	<0.001	21.3 (13.5-33.8)	<0.001	5.7 (3.0-10.8)	<0.001
Use of Statins:								
Never use (>12 mo)	1 (ref)		1 (ref)		1 (ref)		1 (ref)	
Past use (3-12 mo)	6.7 (2.0-22.6)	0.002	0.4 (0.1-2.5)	0.336	18.1 (7.85-42.2)	<0.001	3.4 (1.0-12.0)	0.053
Current use (<3 mo)	9.7 (6.5-14.5)	<0.001	1.2 (0.7-2.2)	0.497	11.5 (6.8-19.7)	<0.001	1.3 (0.6-3.0)	0.485
Use of SSRIs:								
Never use (>12 mo)	1 (ref)		1 (ref)		1 (ref)		1 (ref)	
Past use (3-12 mo)	15.1 (4.0-56.1)	<0.001	4.3 (0.8-24.3)	0.103	22.6 (6.0-85.8)	<0.001	15.9 (3.4-75.2)	<0.001
Current use (<3 mo)	17.4 (10.3-29.6)	<0.001	5.4 (2.8-10.4)	<0.001	12.77 (5.6-28.9)	<0.001	2.5 (0.9-7.3)	0.082
Use of Low-dose Aspirin:								
Never use (>12 mo)	1 (ref)		1 (ref)		1 (ref)		1 (ref)	
Past use (3-12 mo)	43.1 (10.1-184.4)	<0.001	5.4 (0.7-44.7)	0.118	NA		NA	
Current use (<3 mo)	23.0 (14.2-37.2)	<0.001	3.5 (1.8-6.8)	<0.001	31.4 (16.541-59.7)	<0.001	5.8 (2.2-15.0)	<0.001
Use of ACE-inhibitors:								
Never use (>12 mo)	1 (ref)		1 (ref)		1 (ref)		1 (ref)	
Past use (3-12 mo)	3.6 (0.5-28.0)	0.217	2.3 (0.5-12.1)	0.315	22.0 (8.2-58.8)	<0.001	8.6 (2.3-32.8)	0.002
Current use (<3 mo)	11.1 (7.2-17.1)	<0.001	2.5 (1.5-4.2)	0.001	11.0 (5.9-20.4)	<0.001	2.3 (1.0-5.4)	0.046
Use of Beta-blockers:								
Never use (>12 mo)	1 (ref)		1 (ref)		1 (ref)		1 (ref)	
Past use (3-12 mo)	5.6 (1.3-24.5)	0.022	0.13 (0.01-1.8)	0.128	6.1 (1.8-20.6)	0.004	0.3 (0.1-1.6)	0.167
Current use (<3 mo)	11.2 (7.7-16.3)	<0.001	2.7 (1.5-4.9)	0.001	13.1 (7.9-21.6)	<0.001	2.0 (1.0-4.1)	0.055

¹⁰⁰⁰

. .

Drugs and risk of microscopic colitis | 175

Table 3B. Risk of Microscopic	colitis, cases compare	ed to colonos	copy controls.					
	Withi	n 1 year befo	rre index date t		Within 2 years befor	re index date e	excl the 1 year prior to	o index date ‡
	ORmatched	P-value	ORadj#	P-value	ORmatched	P-value	ORadj#	P-value
	(95% CI)		(95% CI)		(95% CI)		(95% CI)	
Use of NSAIDs:								
Never use (>12 mo)	1 (ref)		1 (ref)		1 (ref)		1 (ref)	
Past use (3-12 mo)	6.7 (2.1-20.7)	0.001	12.4 (1.7-93.1)	0.014	4.0 (1.4-11.2)	0.00	1.7 (0.3-9.2)	0.552
Current use (<3 mo)	3.4 (1.4-7.9)	0.005	0.8 (0.2-2.7)	0.718	12.0 (3.7-38.6)	<0.001	5.6 (1.2-27.0)	0.031
Use of PPIs:								
Never use (>12 mo)	1 (ref)		1 (ref)		1 (ref)		1 (ref)	
Past use (3-12 mo)	19.7 (6.3-61.5)	<0.001	16.8 (4.2-66.7)	<0.001	4 (1.1-16.6)	0.036	0.6 (0.1-6.7)	0.645
Current use (<3 mo)	9.8 (4.7-20.3)	<0.001	4.4 (1.6-12.1)	0.005	41.1 (9.5-178.9)	<0.001	10.6 (1.8-64.2)	0.010
Use of Statins:								
Never use (>12 mo)	1 (ref)		1 (ref)		1 (ref)		1 (ref)	
Past use (3-12 mo)	NA		NA		10.6 (2.2-51.1)	0.003	3.2 (0.1-124.2)	0.530
Current use (<3 mo)	10.7 (4.3-26.4)	<0.001	1.1 (0.3-4.3)	0.934	12.6 (3.7-42.5)	<0.001	1.1 (0.1-8.5)	0.924
Use of Low-dose Aspirin:								
Never use (>12 mo)	1 (ref)		1 (ref)		1 (ref)		1 (ref)	
Past use (3-12 mo)	NA		NA		NA		NA	
Current use (<3 mo)	30.7 (6.8-137.6)	<0.001	17.6 (1.9-165.9)	<0.001	46.7 (5.8-375.3)	<0.001	NA	
Use of ACE-inhibitors:								
Never use (>12 mo)	1 (ref)		1 (ref)		1 (ref)		1 (ref)	
Past use (3-12 mo)	NA		NA		10.3 (1.7-61.8)	0.011	NA	
Current use (<3 mo)	6.7 (2.9-15.19)	<0.001	2.2 (0.6-7.7)	0.236	12.9 (3.3-50.8)	<0.001	2.4 (0.2-36.7)	0.518
Use of Beta-blockers:								
Never use (>12 mo)	1 (ref)		1 (ref)		1 (ref)		1 (ref)	
Past use (3-12 mo)	NA		NA		4.2 (0.3-58.7)	0.283	1.7 (0.1-52.7)	0.774
Current use (<3 mo)	16.5 (6.2-43.8)	<0.001	5.8 (1.6-21.1)	0.008	53.1 (6.9-405.7)	<0.001	7.8 (0.7-82.8)	0.087
# Adjusted for concomitant use of	^F NSAIDs, PPIs, statins, SSH	RIS, Iow-dose a:	spirin, ACE-inhibitors, b€	eta-blockers; c	eliac disease; inflammator)	y bowel disease;	hypothyroid disease; poly	/arthritis;
rheumatoid arthritis and type 2 d. period (B) : Odds ratios from the c	iabetes mellitus. † 1 year malysis with 2 year valid u	risk period (A): data available,	Odds ratios from the ar but excluding the 1 yea	nalysis with a 1 r prior to index	l year risk period assessme < date, thus including a 1 y	ent available. See ear lag-time. See	 Figure 1, risk period (A). Figure 1, risk period (B). 	‡ 2 year risk Mo, months;

SSRIs, selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors.

DISCUSSION

In this population-based nested case-control study use of NSAIDs, proton pump inhibitors, selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors, low-dose aspirin, ACE-inhibitors or beta-blockers were associated with an increased risk of MC. However, when taking confounding-by-indication, diagnostic delay and diagnostic bias into account (by comparing with subjects who have had a colonoscopy negative for colorectal cancer and MC), only PPIs and NSAIDs significantly increased the risk of MC. This finding was supported by dose analyses showing increasing estimates with higher cumulative doses used.

Different studies were done prior to this study with contradicting results. Regarding NSAIDs, an unmatched case control study compared the frequency of use of several drugs in patients with chronic watery diarrhea, but not MC, to that in patients attending an outpatient surgery unit.³⁷⁷ This study suggested that NSAIDs, SSRIs and statins were significantly associated with chronic watery diarrhea.³⁷⁷ Our results are well in line with this, as we showed that only PPIs, NSAIDs and low-dose aspirin increased the risk of MC when compared to colonoscopy controls. The apparent increased MC risk with use of ACE-inhibitors, betablockers, SSRIs and statins in that study is probably an artifact.³⁷⁷ In the current study, these drugs did not increase the risk of MC when compared to community controls. They increase the likelihood of undergoing a colonoscopy by, for instance, inducing abdominal symptoms, increasing stool frequency or worsening diarrhea. In addition, NSAIDs are indicated for treatment of arthralgias, which often accompany MC. Thus, subjects with arthralgia may be more likely to undergo colonoscopy and be diagnosed with MC. Our results are in line with a recent Danish case-control study.³⁸⁵ This study is however limited by the fact they classified having only 1 filled prescription in the year prior to MC diagnosis as being exposed to the drug, which may predispose to misclassification of exposure. No distinction was made between current users and past users, while filling more than only 1 prescription would provide a more robust investigation of the exposure.³⁸⁵ Although the association between NSAIDs and MC may be explained by the underlying co-morbid disease, current use of NSAIDs in our population remained associated with an increased risk of MC even when we adjusted for concomitant exposure, polyarthritis and rheumatoid arthritis. Thus, it is unlikely that the indication of NSAID could explain the association between NSAIDs and MC as observed in the current study. This observation is supported by previous reports.^{377, 378, 386} Also, in our study NSAIDs still increased the risk of MC up to 6-fold when taking diagnostic delay and diagnostic bias into consideration. Furthermore, the association was supported by the dose analysis providing increasing risk estimates with higher cumulative doses of NSAIDs used. To examine whether the risk of MC was different for individual types of NSAIDs we conducted analyses for individual NSAIDs. Diclofenac was the most commonly used NSAID and accounted for 52% to 67% of NSAIDs used by cases. Because fewer exposed cases could be matched to colonoscopynegative controls, the study had insufficient power to estimate a risk estimate for each individual NSAID. The results on individual NSAIDs should thus be interpreted with caution. Physiologically the association can be explained by loosening the colonic paracellular permeability,⁸⁵ inducing lower gastrointestinal (GI) bleeding^{9, 86} and affecting the bowel integrity.⁸⁴ Subsequently, luminal antigens can more easily enter the lamina propria and elicit an immune and inflammatory reaction. Therefore we suggest that NSAIDs should be avoided in patients at risk of developing MC. To the best of our knowledge, no clinical decision models are available to weigh the benefits and risks of NSAIDs including MC as adverse event. A balanced decision should be based on clinical knowledge and the preference of the patient.

Proton Pump Inhibitors

The recent Danish study also noted the association between PPIs and MC, regardless of having had colonic biopsies.³⁸⁵ Again, though they applied a second control group, the exposure definition was rather broad with only 1 filled prescription required to being classified as exposed to the drug.³⁸⁵ Also, they relied on the MC diagnosis date³⁸⁵ rather than the start of symptoms of MC as we could verify in the medical records. A previous case-control study from the Netherlands showed that use of PPIs was associated with an increased risk of MC.³⁷⁸ However, this study may have suffered from selection bias, as cases were retrieved from a secondary and tertiary hospital, while controls were selected from the general population.³⁷⁸ Another case-control study on 26 cases found contrasting results with no increased risk of MC with PPI use. This study may be limited by its sample size and by lack of adjustment for NSAIDs, which are often concomitantly used with PPIs.³⁸⁷ As is shown in our study, substantial confounding-by-indication is present as the risk of MC for current use of PPIs in the 1 year risk period decreased from 7.3-fold to 4.4-fold when using colonoscopy controls instead of community controls. Similar to NSAIDs, we investigated the risk of MC for different individual PPIs. Omeprazole was the predominant PPI used and accounted for 59% to 67% of PPIs used by cases. There have been several case-series published on PPI-induced MC^{388, 389} but the underlying pathophysiological mechanism remains poorly understood. Experimental studies have shown the influence of PPIs on intestinal permeability, inducing smooth muscle relaxation and inhibiting contractile activity.^{83, 87, 88} The effect on the contractile activity system may also affect the actinomyosin cytoskeleton, resulting in conformational changes in the cytoskeleton of epithelial cells and subsequent alterations in the function of tight junctions.^{83,} ^{87, 88} PPIs also affect the colonic intestinal flora, thereby increasing the risk of bacterial intestinal infections. Evidence on this topic until now, however, is scarce.^{210, 379}

Beta-blockers and ACE-inhibitors

Our observation that beta-blockers and ACE-inhibitors were associated with MC compared to community controls, but not compared to colonoscopy controls could be explained by two reasons. First, the association between beta-blockers and ACE-inhibitors is true, but could not be confirmed in the comparison with the colonoscopy controls due to smaller sample size. Second, the association is false and likely due to confounding-by-indication, for instance subjects on drugs may be more closely monitored. There is some evidence on a

pathophysiological mechanism by which beta-blockers augment small intestinal transit by increasing the propulsive force associated with small intestinal contractions.^{390, 391} To which extent these effects result in increased bowel frequency and stool consistency has not been studied.

Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors

We demonstrated that SSRIs increased the risk of MC when compared to community controls, but not when compared to colonoscopy controls. This could be explained by confounding-by-indication, in particular since diarrhea is a known side effect of SSRI use.³⁹²

Strengths and limitations

Strengths of the current study include the population-based setting based of the electronic medical records, which allowed to identify all potential MC cases while matching to community controls and colonoscopy-negative controls. By doing so, we mitigated against selection bias as the cases and controls were derived from the same source population. In this context, the odds ratio may be interpreted directly as the relative risk.^{393, 394} Second, by applying different risk periods, from 1 year up to 2 years prior to the index date, we corrected for any diagnostic delay of MC, which may take up to several months. This is demonstrated by the fact that exposure closer to index date (<3 months) yielded higher risks of MC than exposure longer before (>12 months). This could be due to an actual risk increase, but is more likely affected by lag-time bias. We also chose the date of first symptoms leading to the MC diagnosis as index date in order to avoid any misclassification of the exposure in the risk periods.

We acknowledge the following limitations. First, MC is a specialist confirmed diagnosis, meaning that in a GP database underreporting of MC could have occurred. We assumed that all relevant medical information on a microscopic diagnosis is recorded by the GP. However, this may not hold true entirely and we may have missed some MC cases. Nevertheless, we extensively reviewed the medical records of all MC cases included in the current study to ensure that the MC cases included in the study had histological confirmation of the diagnosis. Misclassification of MC is therefore unlikely, but if present it will be nondifferential and will have resulted in more conservative, but unbiased estimates. Additionally, by excluding the unspecified MC cases we performed sensitivity analyses which yielded similar results as the initial analyses. When stratifying by type of MC, we found similar results as for the main analysis. However, caution should be taken when interpreting the findings on the risk of collagenous and lymphocytic colitis separately by use of drugs, as the subgroup analyses were based on small numbers. We included two control groups, which both have their limitations. The colonoscopy group had a clinical indication to undergo this procedure, which you can see as a test-negative control group, however this is similarly so for the cases. Confounding for 'indication' is actually reduced in such a control group. Colonoscopies were
performed for the complete range of clinical indications, including colorectal cancer screening. However, results from analyses are consistent across the control groups, which strengthen the results and provide consistent evidence that NSAIDs and PPIs are associated with MC. Also, in the more recent years clinicians became more aware of MC. The majority of cases was diagnosed after 2006. This has an effect on the sample size, but was unlikely to provide spurious or biased associations since cases and controls were matched on calendar time. Second, information on other potential confounders such as smoking status and alcohol use is likely to be underreported in the database and was therefore not considered in the analysis. This may have resulted in residual confounding. Thirdly, the date of onset of disease could have been misclassified. Although we tried to mitigate against misspecification of the risk window by using the date of onset of symptoms as index date, we cannot account for patients delay between actual start of symptoms and recording of symptoms by the GP. Yet, in order to account for diagnostic delay, we applied two different risk periods in the current study. Fourth, we only observed that NSAIDs and PPIs were associated with MC. However, due to the smaller sample size, particularly in the risk period of 2 years while excluding the last year prior to index date, we cannot rule out that due to power issues we did not observe an association for the other drugs.

In conclusion, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and proton pump inhibitors significantly increased the risk of MC, even after taking diagnostic bias and diagnostic delay into account. Use of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors, low-dose aspirin, beta-blockers and ACE-inhibitors were associated with increased risk of MC when compared to community controls, but not compared to colonoscopy negative controls. We suggest that the association between SSRIs, low-dose aspirin, beta-blockers, ACE-inhibitors and MC in community controls could be due to worsening of diarrhea or symptoms in patients with underlying colonic disease requiring colonoscopy rather than increasing the risk of MC itself.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

5

Supplementary Tab	le 1A. Risk of	^e microscopic col	litis in relation with o	lose of drugs used, c	ases compared	I to community	controls.		
					COMMUNITY	CONTROLS			
			1 year ris	<pre>c period +</pre>			2 year ris	k period‡	
		Case	Control	ORadj (95% CI)	P-value	Case	Control	ORadj (95% CI)	P-value
		N (%)	N (%)			N (%)	N (%)		
	DDDs*	218 (100)	15,045 (100)			138 (100)	9,160 (100)		
NSAIDS	0	176 (81)	14,599 (97.0)	1 (ref)		102 (74)	8,877 (96.9)	1 (ref)	
	1-7	8 (3.7)	160 (1.1)	0.9 (0.4-2.2)	0.851	11 (8.0)	110 (1.2)	3.7 (1.5-9.0)	0.004
	8-15	10 (4.6)	124 (0.8)	0.8 (0.3-2.0)	0.674	7 (5.1)	80 (0.9)	3.7 (1.3-10.2)	0.013
	>15	24 (11)	162 (1.1)	3.1 (1.7-5.8)	<0.001	18 (13)	93 (1.0)	10.8 (5.0-23.4)	<0.001
PPIS	0	126 (58)	14,538 (96.6)	1 (ref)		86 (62)	8,853 (96.6)	1 (ref)	
	1-29	17 (7.8)	129 (0.9)	8.7 (4.2-18.1)	<0.001	12 (8.7)	68 (0.7)	4.0 (1.4-11.4)	0.010
	30-90	23 (11)	126 (0.8)	13.9 (7.2-26.9)	<0.001	13 (9.4)	67 (0.7)	12.3 (5.5-27.4)	<0.001
	06<	52 (24)	252 (1.7)	13.9 (8.2-23.6)	<0.001	27 (20)	172 (1.9)	5.9 (3.1-11.5)	<0.001
Statins	0	176 (81)	14,683 (97.6)	1 (ref)		105 (76)	8,925 (97.4)	1 (ref)	
	1-29	4 (1.8)	34 (0.2)	1.5 (0.4-6.8)	0.567	0 (0)	18 (0.2)	I	0.981
	30-90	6 (2.8)	35 (0.2)	2.4 (0.8-7.0)	0.104	8 (5.8)	28 (0.3)	4.0 (1.3-12.1)	0.014
	>90	32 (15)	293 (1.9)	1.0 (0.6-1.9)	0.899	25 (18)	189 (2.1)	1.7 (0.8-3.6)	0.148
SSRIs	0	195 (89)	14,940 (99.3)	1 (ref)		126 (91.3)	9,093 (99.3)	1 (ref)	
	1-29	1 (0.5)	11 (0.1)	4.6 (0.5-41.4)	0.173	1 (0.7)	7 (0.1)	7.0 (0.7-71.2)	0.101
	30-90	6 (2.8)	18 (0.1)	5.1 (1.4-18.0)	0.012	1 (0.7)	12 (0.1)	2.2 (0.3-18.9)	0.487
	>90	16 (7.3)	76 (0.5)	4.0 (2.0-8.0)	<0.001	10 (7.2)	48 (0.5)	5.3 (2.2-12.6)	<0.001
ACE-inhibitors	0	187 (86)	14,821 (98.5)	1 (ref)		114 (83)	9,012 (98.4)	1 (ref)	
	1-29	4 (1.8)	47 (0.3)	1.7 (0.5-6.0)	0.378	8 (5.8)	69 (0.8)	3.2 (1.3-8.1)	0.012
	30-90	7 (3.2)	31 (0.2)	3.9 (0.9-16.0)	0.060	3 (2.2)	16 (0.2)	6.1 (1.5-24.3)	0.010
	>90	20 (9.2)	146 (1.0)	1.7 (0.9-3.5)	0.121	13 (9.4)	63 (0.7)	2.7 (1.1-6.7)	0.038
Beta-blockers	0	169 (78)	14,671 (98)	1 (ref)		104 (75)	8,908 (97.2)	1 (ref)	
	1-29	13 (6)	57 (0.4)	8.3 (3.6-19.0)	<0.001	9 (6.5)	45 (0.5)	6.8 (2.6-18.1)	<0.001
	30-90	10 (4.6)	94 (0.6)	2.7 (1.2-6.2)	0.017	7 (5.1)	51 (0.6)	2.3 (0.8-6.9)	0.123
	06<	26 (12)	223 (1.5)	1.6 (0.8-3.0)	0.168	18 (13)	156 (1.7)	1.9 (0.9-4.2)	0.099

Supplementary Tab	le 1B. Risk of	microscopic colit	tis in relation with	dose of drugs used, c	ases compared	d to colonoscop	y controls.		
				0	COLONOSCOPI	/ CONTROLS			
			1 year ris	<pre>< period†</pre>			2 year ris	k period‡	
		Case	Control	ORadj (95% CI)	P-value	Case	Control	ORadj (95% CI)	P-value
		N (%)	N (%)			N (%)	N (%)		
	DDDs*	148 (100)	475 (100)			95 (100)	296 (100)		
NSAIDS	0	121 (82)	455 (95.8)	1 (ref)		68 (72)	282 (95.3)	1 (ref)	
	1-7	5 (3.4)	7 (1.5)	1.9 (0.4-9.6)	0.464	8 (8.4)	6 (2.0)	2.7 (0.5-13.4)	0.229
	8-15	6 (4.1)	8 (1.7)	0.6 (0.1-3.8)	0.578	6 (6.3)	2 (0.7)		0.989
	>15	16 (11)	5 (1.1)	3.6 (0.7-19.2)	0.131	13 (14)	6 (2.0)	5.7 (1.3-25.4)	0.024
ppIs	0	83 (56)	441 (92.8)	1 (ref)		57 (60)	285 (96.3)	1 (ref)	
	1-29	12 (8.1)	5 (1.1)	1.9 (0.4-9.3)	0.454	11 (12)	5 (1.7)	6.9 (1.1-42.9)	0.040
	30-90	20 (14)	11 (2.3)	10.9 (3.0-40.1)	<0.001	8 (8.4)	1 (0.3)		0.991
	-90	33 (22)	18 (3.8)	11.7 (3.4-41.1)	<0.001	19 (20)	5 (1.7)	4.3 (1.0-17.7)	0.045
Statins	0	120 (81)	455 (95.8)	1 (ref)		74 (78)	284 (95.9)	1 (ref)	
	1-29	4 (2.7)	0 (0)	ı	0.985	0 (0)	0 (0)	ı	
	30-90	3 (2)	4 (0.8)	2.1 (0.2-20.6)	0.511	3 (3.2)	0 (0)	ı	
	06<	21 (14)	16 (3.4)	0.5 (0.1-2.7)	0.396	18 (19)	12 (4.1)	1.4 (0.26-6.95)	0.722
ACE-inhibitors	0	126 (85)	457 (96.2)	1 (ref)		78 (82)	286 (96.6)	1 (ref)	
	1-29	4 (2.7)	14 (2.9)	,		4 (4.2)	1 (0.3)		
	30-90	7 (4.7)	0 (0)	,		2 (2.1)	0 (0)		
	06<	11 (7.4)	4 (0.8)	15.6 (1.8-132.7)	0.012	11 (12)	9 (3)	1.6 (0.2-12.9)	0.640
Beta-blockers	0	117 (79)	467 (98.3)	1 (ref)		72 (76)	290 (98.0)	1 (ref)	
	1-29	7 (4.7)	2 (0.4)	5.9 (0.7-51.9)	0.111	5 (5.3)	2 (0.7)	8.5 (0.9-84.1)	0.068
	30-90	7 (4.7)	3 (0.6)	5.9 (0.4-87.7)	0.198	5 (5.3)	3 (1)	0.5 (0.03-6.9)	0.565
	>90	17 (11)	3 (0.6)	1.8 (0.3-11.4)	0.531	13 (14)	1 (0.3)	4.3 (0.4-49.1)	0.243
*DDDs, defined daily d SSRIs. low-dose asnirin	oses. The DDD i ACF-inhibitors	is the assumed aver and heta-blockers.	rage maintenance do: + 1 vear risk period (se per day for a drug use A): Odds ratios from the	d for its main ind analysis with a	dication in adults. 1 vear risk period o	# Adjusted for conco	mitant use of NSAIDs, PH See Finure 1 risk perior	ls, statins, 1 (Δ). ≠ 2

5

year risk period (B): Odds ratios from the analysis with 2 year valid data available, but excluding the 1 year rior to index date, thus including a 1 year lag-time. See Figure 1, risk period (B).

Drugs and risk of microscopic colitis | 183



Supplementary Figure 1A and 1B. Risk of microscopic colitis compared to community and colonoscopy controls in risk period 1 year prior to index date (risk period A).

Adjusted for concomitant use of NSAIDs, PPIs, statins, SSRIs, low-dose aspirin, ACE-inhibitors, beta-blockers; celiac disease; inflammatory bowel disease; hypothyroid disease; polyarthritis; rheumatoid arthritis and type 2 diabetes mellitus. Risk period (A): Odds ratios from the analysis 1 year prior to index date. See Figure 1, risk period (A). Mo, months; SSRIs, selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors.



Supplementary Figure 2A and 2B. Risk of microscopic colitis compared to community and colonoscopy controls in risk period within 2 years before index date, while excluding the 1 year prior to index date (risk period B).

Adjusted for concomitant use of NSAIDs, PPIs, statins, SSRIs, low-dose aspirin, ACE-inhibitors, beta-blockers; celiac disease; inflammatory bowel disease; hypothyroid disease; polyarthritis; rheumatoid arthritis and type 2 diabetes mellitus. Risk period (B): Odds ratios from the analysis within 2 years before index date while excluding the year prior to index date. See Figure 1, risk period (B).

Mo, months; SSRIs, selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors.

Α



В





Supplementary Figure 3A and 3B. Risk of Microscopic colitis for individual types of NSAIDs, cases compared to community and colonoscopy controls.



Supplementary Figure 4A and 4B. Risk of Microscopic colitis for individual types of PPIs, cases compared to community and colonoscopy controls.

CHAPTER 5.3

Risk of Colorectal Neoplasia in patients

with Microscopic Colitis

Gwen MC Masclee, Lars Pedersen, Preciosa M Coloma, Rune Erichsen, Henrik Toft Sørensen, Folkert J van Kemenade, Bas PM Verhaegh, Marieke J Pierik, Ernst J Kuipers, Miriam CJM Sturkenboom

ABSTRACT

BACKGROUND

Microscopic colitis (MC) is a disease characterized by chronic watery diarrhea. Affected tissue has a normal endoscopic appearance but microscopic inflammation. It is unknown whether this increases the risk for colorectal neoplasia.

AIM

We assessed the incidence of non-adenomatous polyps, adenomas and colorectal cancer (CRC) in patients with MC.

METHODS

Cohort study using nationwide population-based databases in Denmark and the Netherlands. We identified all adults (aged ≥18 years) newly diagnosed with MC and followed them until first occurrence of a polyp, adenoma, or CRC, or death during the study period (1991-2014). Standardized incidence ratios (SIRs) were used to compare the incidence of these occurrences in MC patients and in the general population. Absolute risks of the outcomes after MC diagnosis were calculated using Kaplan-Meier analysis.

RESULTS

We identified 13,061 incident MC cases in Denmark and 7,770 cases in the Netherlands. In the Danish cohort, 1,976 (15.1%) patients developed a non-adenomatous polyp, 1,039 (8.0%) developed an adenoma, and 111 (0.8%) were diagnosed with CRC. In the Dutch cohort 1,005 (12.9%) patients developed a polyp, 687 (8.8%) developed an adenoma, and 91 (1.2%) were diagnosed with CRC. The SIR for CRC was 0.90 (95% CI: 0.74-1.09) in Denmark and 0.83 (95% CI: 0.75-0.89) in the Netherlands. Within the first year after MC diagnosis, the SIR was 2.23 (95% CI: 1.68-2.91) in Denmark and 2.74 (95% CI: 1.89-4.43) in the Netherlands, and then decreased in both countries. The absolute 10-year risk of CRC was 1.3%-1.4%.

CONCLUSION

The risk of developing CRC 10 years after incident MC diagnosis is small. The high rate of nonadenomatous polyps and adenomas in the first year following MC diagnosis is probably due to heightened diagnostic efforts, with associated removal of polyps and treatment leading to a lower rate of CRC in subsequent years.

INTRODUCTION

Microscopic colitis (MC) is disease characterized by chronic watery diarrhea. Affected colonic mucosa has a normal endoscopic appearance but microscopic inflammation.^{371, 372, 395} MC includes two distinct entities: lymphocytic colitis (LC) and collagenous colitis (CC). The causes of the disease are largely unknown. Risk factors include autoimmune diseases.³⁷³⁻³⁷⁵ Use of certain drugs such as non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) and proton pump inhibitors (PPIs) also has been associated with MC risk.³⁹⁶

MC is recognized as a form of chronic inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), which includes Crohn's disease (CD) and ulcerative colitis (UC). IBD has been associated with increased risk of colorectal cancer (CRC) due to chronic inflammation.³⁹⁷ However, it remains unknown whether the risk of gastrointestinal (GI) cancer, and more specifically CRC, is similarly elevated in MC patients. Currently there are no guidelines for routine colonoscopy surveillance in MC patients. If they are at significantly increased risk of CRC, appropriate surveillance strategies should be considered, as recommended for other forms of IBD.^{398, 399}

To date, no prospective study has investigated cancer risk after a new diagnosis of MC. One US case-control study reported a decreased risk of CRC and colorectal adenomas among 647 MC cases compared to age and gender-matched patients without MC that underwent colonoscopy for colorectal screening or surveillance.⁴⁰⁰ However, these results should be interpreted with caution, as CRC was diagnosed before or concurrently with MC. The study could not discern whether the MC patients were at higher risk due to chronic colonic inflammation.⁴⁰⁰ Two other retrospective studies detected no increased CRC risk after a CC diagnosis.^{401, 402} A Canadian cohort study including 164 incident MC cases reported only on CRC occurrence before an MC diagnosis.⁴⁰³

This study assessed the risk of non-adenomatous polyps, adenomas, and CRC in patients diagnosed with MC, using data from large populations, with long follow-up.

METHODS

We conducted a nationwide historical cohort study in Denmark and the Netherlands to compare the observed number of non-adenomatous polyps, adenomas and CRC diagnosed in MC patients with the number expected in the general population.

Data sources

In Denmark, the Danish Civil Registration System (DCRS) assigns a personal identifier to each Danish resident at birth or upon immigration, and also monitors mortality and emigration. The civil registration number can be used to link numerous Danish administrative and health registries on an individual level.⁴⁰⁴ Since its establishment in January 1977, the Danish National Patient Registry (DNPR) has maintained records on all discharges from non-psychiatric

hospitals.^{405 406} In 1995, hospital outpatient clinic visits were added to its database, accounting for essentially all specialist gastroenterology and cancer care in Denmark. DNPR data elements include patients' civil registration number, dates of hospital admission and discharge, surgical procedures, and up to 20 discharge diagnoses for each hospitalization. All inpatient stays and outpatient hospital visits are assigned diagnoses coded according to the International Classification of Diseases, Eighth Revision (ICD-8) until the end of 1993 and Tenth Revision (ICD-10) thereafter.³²³ We obtained information on CRC diagnoses from the DNPR. The Danish Pathology Registry (DPR), established in 1990, provided results of pathological examinations of MC, non-adenomatous polyps and adenomas. Since 1997 all pathology departments in Denmark have been required to submit their pathology reports to the DPR. Diagnoses are coded according to a Danish version of the Systematized Nomenclature of Medicine (SNOMED).²⁵⁷ Previous studies of gastrointestinal diseases have documented the accuracy of these data sources.⁴⁰⁷

In the Netherlands all histopathology and cytopathology reports are collected in the PALGA database, which encompasses all 55 pathology laboratories in the country.⁴⁰⁸ Since 1991, PALGA has had nationwide coverage and currently includes >42 million reports from nearly 10 million patients. Each report contains encrypted patient information, a portion of the original pathology report, and diagnostic codes similar to the SNOMED codes issued by the College of American Pathologists.⁴⁰⁹ A limitation is that the number and location of biopsies and the indication for performing an endoscopic procedure are not uniformly recorded. However, each pathology report can be traced to an individual patient with a unique identifier, allowing follow-up of subsequent histology.⁴¹⁰ In the current study, information on cases of MC, non-adenomatous polyps, adenomas, CRC, and celiac disease was extracted from the PALGA database.

Study population

In both countries, we identified a cohort of adults (aged ≥18 years) with an incident diagnosis of microscopic colitis recorded during the study period (January 1, 1990 - December 31, 2014). MC patients were excluded from the cohort if they had been diagnosed with CRC or another gastrointestinal cancer before their MC diagnosis. A previous Danish study has documented the validity of SNOMED codes for identifying MC.⁴¹¹ In the Netherlands MC diagnoses were verified through review of pathology reports, as previously described.⁴¹² MC was classified as lymphocytic, collagenous, or 'unspecified' when no further information on subtype was available.

For each patient in the MC cohorts, follow-up started on the date of first MC diagnosis and ended upon the diagnosis of non-adenomatous polyps, adenomas, or CRC, death, emigration, or end of the study period, whichever came first. Since only pathology reports were available in PALGA, the date of death was not known for each subject. In order to censor person-time and to avoid overestimating the denominator, we assumed a life expectancy similar to that of the general Dutch population.

Outcomes

Three outcomes were evaluated in the study: non-adenomatous polyps, adenomas, and CRC. We considered non-adenomatous polyps and adenomas as separate outcomes because of their different malignant potential. In case of multiple lesions, only the most advanced lesion was recorded.

Statistical Analysis

We described the characteristics of the MC cohorts in the two countries. To compare the risk of non-adenomatous polyps, adenomas, and cancer in the MC cohorts with that in the general population, we calculated standardized incidence ratios (SIRs) by dividing the observed number of cases by the expected number of cases.⁴¹³ In Denmark the number of expected cases was based on calculated reference incidence rates from a nationwide database. In The Netherlands, it was derived from Globocan.⁴¹⁴ Confidence intervals (95% CI) were computed based on the assumption that the observed number of cases followed a Poisson distribution. Numerators and denominators were stratified by sex, time from first recorded MC diagnosis (≤ 1 or > 1 year), age at MC diagnosis, and calendar year of MC diagnosis. We used Kaplan-Meier analysis to calculate the absolute (cumulative) risk of non-adenomatous polyps, adenomas, and CRC occurring within 10 years following diagnosis of MC. Kaplan-Meier analysis was stratified by sex, type of MC and age.

As only a subset of the general population undergoes colonoscopy, comparison of the study cohorts with the general population may be biased. We therefore performed sensitivity analyses in which we classified MC patients on their histology reports on the date of MC diagnosis. This means that we classified MC patients at time of MC diagnosis as (1) being free of non-adenomatous polyps or adenomas, (2) having a non-adenomatous polyp, and (3) having an adenoma. We then calculated the progression to and incidence rates (IRs) of outcomes in these three groups during follow-up and compared them with rates in populations undergoing colorectal screening (Supplementary Table 2).⁴¹⁵⁻⁴²¹

All statistical analyses were performed using SAS version 9.2. The study protocol was approved by the Danish Protection Agency (2011-41-5913) and by the PALGA Review Board.

RESULTS

We identified 13,275 subjects with incident MC in Denmark. After exclusion of patients with CRC (n=193, 1.5%) or other GI cancers (n=21, 0.2%) before or at the time of MC diagnosis, 13,061 subjects with incident MC remained and were followed for a median duration of 3.6 years (Table 1). The majority of subjects was female (71%) and median age at MC diagnosis was 66.3 years (interquartile range (IQR): 56.4-75.5 years). In the Netherlands, we identified 10,826 potential MC cases, of whom 7,896 were classified as incident MC cases and the remaining 2,930 patients did not have microscopic colitis. We excluded 126 patients with a

history of cancer before cohort entry (n=104, 1.3%; of these, CRC: n=22; 0.3%; other GI cancer), resulting in 7,770 incident MC patients who were followed for a median duration of 7.2 years. The median age was 61 years (IQR: 49-71) and the majority (73%) was female.

Among patients with incident MC in Denmark, we observed 937 patients with nonadenomatous polyps, of whom 154 were diagnosed at time of MC diagnosis; 1,039 with adenomas, of whom 24 at time of MC diagnosis; and 111 with CRC (Table 2). In the Netherlands, we observed 318 patients with non-adenomatous polyps, of whom 196 at time of MC diagnosis; 687 with adenomas of whom 388 at time of MC diagnosis; and 91 with CRC.

		Denmark	the Netherlands
		N (%)	N (%)
MC all	Total MC	13,061 (100)	7,770 (100)
	Non-adenomatous polyps	937 (7.2)	318 (4.1)
	Adenomas	1,039 (8.0)	687 (8.8)
	Colorectal cancer	111 (0.8)	91 (1.2)
Collagenous	Total Collagenous	7,257 (100)	4,320 (100)
	Non-adenomatous polyps	449 (6.2)	167 (3.9)
	Adenomas	512 (7.1)	329 (7.6)
	Colorectal cancer	70 (1.0)	51 (1.2)
Lymphocytic	Total Lymphocytic	5,335 (100)	2,629 (100)
	Non-adenomatous polyps	455 (8.5)	130 (4.9)
	Adenomas	494 (9.3)	283 (10.8)
	Colorectal cancer	39 (0.7)	28 (1.1)
Unspecified	Total Unspecified	469 (100)	821 (100)
	Non-adenomatous polyps	33 (7.0)	21 (2.6)
	Adenomas	33 (7.0)	75 (9.1)
	Colorectal cancer	3 (0.6)	12 (1.5)

Table 2. Number of incident outcomes in microscopic colitis patients in Denmark and the Netherlands.

MC, microscopic colitis

In Denmark, rates of non-adenomatous polyps and adenomas in the general population were available as reference, allowing estimation of standardized incidence ratios (SIRs) for these outcomes. SIRs for non-adenomatous polyps and adenomas were significantly increased (Supplementary Table 1).

		Denn	nark			The Net!	nerlands	
	MC all	Collagenous	Lymphocytic	Unspecified	MC all	Collagenous	Lymphocytic	Unspecified
	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)
Total	13,061 (100)	7,257 (100)	5,335 (100)	469 (100)	7,770 (100)	4,320 (100)	2,629 (100)	821 (100)
Sex								
Female	9,259 (70.9)	5,472 (75.4)	3,454 (64.7)	333 (71)	5,656 (72.8)	3,264 (75.6)	1,854 (70.5)	538 (65.5)
Male	3,802 (29.1)	1,785 (24.6)	1,881 (35.3)	136 (29)	2,114 (27.2)	1,056 (24.4)	775 (29.5)	283 (34.5)
Age								
Median (IQR)	66.3 (56.4-75.5)	67.4 (58.1-76.6)	64.5 (53.7-74.0	67.2 (58.8-75.5)	61 (49-71)	60.5 (50-71)	61 (50-71)	60 (47-72)
Mean (SD)	64.9 (14.6)	66.4 (13.8)	62.7 (15.5)	66.5 (13.1)	59.4 (15.4)	59.7 (15)	59.6 (15.5)	58.0 (17.1)
Celiac Disease								
No	12,887 (98.7)	7,184 (99)	5,243 (98.3)	460 (98.1)	7,514 (96.7)	4,223 (97.8)	2,490 (94.7)	801 (97.6)
Yes	174 (1.3)	73 (1.0)	92 (1.7)	9 (1.9)	256 (3.3)	97 (2.2)	139 (5.3)	20 (2.4)
Year of MC Diagnosis								
1990					18 (0.2)	16 (0.4)	1 (0)	1 (0.1)
1991					88 (1.1)	80 (1.9)	5 (0.2)	3 (0.4)
1992					86 (1.1)	83 (1.9)	2 (0.1)	1 (0.1)
1993					79 (1.0)	72 (1.7)	4 (0.2)	3 (0.4)
1994					84 (1.1)	78 (1.8)	3 (0.1)	3 (0.4)
1995	68 (0.5)	54 (0.7)	13 (0.2)	1 (0.2)	105 (1.4)	92 (2.1)	6 (0.2)	7 (0.9)
1996	118 (0.9)	77 (1.1)	32 (0.6)	9 (1.9)	120 (1.5)	99 (2.3)	14 (0.5)	7 (0.9)
1997	136 (1.0)	84 (1.2)	46 (0.9)	6 (1.3)	213 (2.7)	161 (3.7)	29 (1.1)	23 (2.8)
1998	166 (1.3)	101 (1.4)	56 (1.0)	9 (1.9)	180 (2.3)	125 (2.9)	36 (1.4)	19 (2.3)
1999	222 (1.7)	132 (1.8)	74 (1.4)	16 (3.4)	217 (2.8)	135 (3.1)	51 (1.9)	31 (3.8)
2000	252 (1.9)	144 (2.0)	98 (1.8)	10 (2.1)	250 (3.2)	165 (3.8)	57 (2.2)	28 (3.4)
2001	305 (2.3)	195 (2.7)	96 (1.8)	14 (3.0)	259 (3.3)	140 (3.2)	70 (2.7)	49 (6)
2002	483 (3.7)	288 (4.0)	176 (3.3)	19 (4.1)	320 (4.1)	167 (3.9)	91 (3.5)	62 (7.6)
2003	615 (4.7)	376 (5.2)	223 (4.2)	16 (3.4)	340 (4.4)	173 (4.0)	116 (4.4)	51 (6.2)
2004	676 (5.2)	408 (5.6)	242 (4.5)	26 (5.5)	382 (4.9)	203 (4.7)	129 (4.9)	50 (6.1)
2005	845 (6.5)	451 (6.2)	365 (6.8)	29 (6.2)	462 (5.9)	254 (5.9)	140 (5.3)	68 (8.3)
2006	946 (7.2)	510 (7.0)	407 (7.6)	29 (6.2)	420 (5.4)	231 (5.3)	150 (5.7)	39 (4.8)
2007	1,125 (8.6)	544 (7.5)	537 (10.1)	44 (9.4)	504 (6.5)	258 (6.0)	185 (7.0)	61 (7.4)

Table 1. Demographic characteristics of subjects with microscopic colitis (MC) by type in Denmark and The Netherlands.

5

(continued).
he Netherlands
Denmark and T
(MC) by type in
nicroscopic colitis
s with r
subject
1. Demographic characteristics of
Table

		Denn	nark			The Net!	herlands	
	MC all	Collagenous	Lymphocytic	Unspecified	MC all	Collagenous	Lymphocytic	Unspecified
	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)
2008	1,057 (8.1)	581 (8.0)	439 (8.2)	37 (7.9)	473 (6.1)	250 (5.8)	185 (7).0	38 (4.6)
2009	1,430 (10.9)	779 (10.7)	593 (11.1)	58 (12.4)	545 (7.0)	281 (6.5)	203 (7.7)	61 (7.4)
2010	1,465 (11.2)	855 (11.8)	546 (10.2)	64 (13.6)	550 (7.1)	275 (6.4)	229 (8.7)	46 (5.6)
2011	1,580 (12.1)	874 (12.0)	668 (12.5)	38 (8.1)	621 (8)	305 (7.1)	257 (9.8)	59 (7.2)
2012	1,572 (12)	804 (11.1)	724 (13.6)	44 (9.4)	703 (9)	320 (7.4)	337 (12.8)	46 (5.6)
2013					747 (9.6)	353 (8.2)	329 (12.5)	65 (7.9)
2014					4 (0.1)	4 (0.1)	0 (0)	0 (0)
Age at MC Diagnosis								
18-19	26 (0.2)	6 (0.1)	20 (0.4)	0 (0)	29 (0.4)	10 (0.2)	13 (0.5)	6 (0.7)
20-24	118 (0.9)	31 (0.4)	87 (1.6)	0 (0)	129 (1.7)	53 (1.2)	51 (1.9)	25 (3)
25-29	156 (1.2)	55 (0.8)	99 (1.9)	2 (0.4)	133 (1.7)	62 (1.4)	51 (1.9)	20 (2.4)
30-34	222 (1.7)	95 (1.3)	121 (2.3)	6 (1.3)	280 (3.6)	142 (3.3)	93 (3.5)	45 (5.5)
35-39	323 (2.5)	128 (1.8)	184 (3.4)	11 (2.3)	317 (4.1)	174 (4)	102 (3.9)	41 (5)
40-44	484 (3.7)	229 (3.2)	245 (4.6)	10 (2.1)	436 (5.6)	248 (5.7)	140 (5.3)	48 (5.8)
45-49	630 (4.8)	337 (4.6)	275 (5.2)	18 (3.8)	628 (8.1)	385 (8.9)	188 (7.2)	55 (6.7)
50-54	977 (7.5)	512 (7.1)	435 (8.2)	30 (6.4)	811 (10.4)	482 (11.2)	249 (9.5)	80 (9.7)
55-59	1,358 (10.4)	735 (10.1)	557 (10.4)	66 (14.1)	881 (11.3)	504 (11.7)	290 (11)	87 (10.6)
60-64	1,777 (13.6)	993 (13.7)	718 (13.5)	66 (14.1)	973 (12.5)	537 (12.4)	349 (13.3)	87 (10.6)
65-69	1,854 (14.2)	1,058 (14.6)	720 (13.5)	76 (16.2)	951 (12.2)	516 (11.9)	340 (12.9)	95 (11.6)
70-74	1,715 (13.1)	973 (13.4)	683 (12.8)	59 (12.6)	816 (10.5)	441 (10.2)	295 (11.2)	80 (9.7)
75+	3,421 (26.2)	2,105 (29.0)	1191 (22.3)	125 (26.7)	1386 (17.8)	766 (9.9)	468 (6)	152 (2)
Follow-up Time								
<= 7 years	10,224 (78.3)	5,583 (76.9)	4287 (80.4)	354 (75.5)	3,780 (48.6)	1,874 (43.4)	1,571 (59.8)	335 (40.8)
> 7 years	2,837 (21.7)	1,674 (23.1)	1048 (19.6)	115 (24.5)	3,990 (51.4)	2,446 (56.6)	1,058 (40.2)	486 (59.2)

MC, microscopic colitis; SD, standard deviation.

The incidence rate (IR) of CRC among patients with incident MC was 190.1 per 100,000 personyears in Denmark and 145.0 per 100,000 person-years in the Netherlands (Table 3). Comparison of the observed number of CRC cases with the country-specific incidence rate of CRC in the general population yielded SIRs of 0.90 (95% CI: 0.74-1.09) in Denmark and 0.83 (95% CI: 0.75-0.89) in the Netherlands. The IR of CRC was particularly high during the first year after MC diagnosis, resulting in increased SIRs in both Denmark and the Netherlands. Following the first year, the incidence of CRC was lower and the SIR was decreased. The SIR was higher when MC was diagnosed at a younger age. No consistent pattern was observed over calendar time.

		De	nmark		
	Observed N	Expected N	Crude IR*	SIR	95% CI
Total	111	122.9	190.1	0.90	(0.74-1.09)
Sex					
Male	42	41.8	262.3	1.00	(0.72-1.36)
Female	69	81.1	162.8	0.85	(0.66-1.08)
Follow-up time					
<= 1 year	55	24.6	460.2	2.23	(1.68-2.91)
>1 year	56	98.3	120.6	0.57	(0.43-0.74)
Age at MC Dx					
18-39	1	0.4	20.7	2.61	(0.07-14.52)
40-59	21	16.4	110.7	1.28	(0.79-1.95)
60-74	46	61.2	195.4	0.75	(0.55-1.00)
75+	43	44.9	388.6	0.96	(0.69-1.29)
Age at CRC Dx					
18-39	1	0.1	31.1	8.51	(0.22-47.38)
40-59	13	7.6	89.0	1.70	(0.91-2.91)
60-74	46	51.5	186.5	0.89	(0.65-1.19)
75+	51	63.7	320.7	0.80	(0.60-1.05)
Year of CRC Dx					
1990-1999#	9	2.1	665.3	4.21	(1.93-7.99)
2000-2009	55	61.4	179.9	0.90	(0.68-1.17)
2010-2014	47	59.5	177.6	0.79	(0.58-1.05)
Type of MC					
Collagenous	70	72.6	210.5	0.96	(0.75-1.22)
Lymphocytic	38	45.3	166.5	0.84	(0.59-1.15)

 Table 3. Risk of colorectal cancer among MC patients in Denmark and the Netherlands compared to the Danish and Dutch general populations.

IR, incidence rate; PYs, person-years; SIR, standardized incidence ratio; 95%*Cl*, 95% Confidence Intervals; Dx, diagnosis. # in Denmark the period was 1995-1999.* Crude IR per 100,000 Person-Years.

		The	Netherlands		
	Observed N	Expected N	Crude IR*	SIR	95% CI
Total	91	109.9	145.0	0.83	(0.75-0.89)
Sex					
Male	27	35.9	157.3	0.75	(0.59-0.86)
Female	64	66.3	140.3	0.96	(0.89-0.99)
Follow-up time					
<= 1 year	35	12.8	499.0	2.74	(1.89-4.43)
>1 year	56	90.9	116.0	0.62	(0.51-0.71)
Age at MC Dx					
18-39	1	0.4	17.8	2.40	(1.08-25.92)
40-59	24	9.7	117.6	2.47	(1.66-4.24)
60-74	46	49.8	205.7	0.92	(0.82-0.97)
75+	20	58.1	139.1	0.34	(0.24-0.47)
Age at CRC Dx					
18-39	1	0.4	17.8	2.40	(1.08-25.92)
40-59	19	9.7	93.1	1.95	(1.40-3.28)
60-74	34	49.8	152.0	0.68	(0.54-0.80)
75+	37	58.1	257.4	0.64	(0.51-0.75)
Year of CRC Dx					
1990-1999#	29	30.6	168.8	0.95	(0.81-0.99)
2000-2009	45	58.7	146.6	0.77	(0.64-0.86)
2010-2014	17	13.7	258.4	1.24	(1.08-1.76)
Type of MC					
Collagenous	51	68.6	131.6	0.74	(0.63-0.83)
Lymphocytic	28	30.2	163.9	0.93	(0.78-0.98)

Table 3. Risk of colorectal cancer among MC patients in Denmark and the Netherlands compared to the Danish and Dutch general populations (*continued*).

IR, incidence rate; PYs, person-years; SIR, standardized incidence ratio; 95%Cl, 95% Confidence Intervals; Dx, diagnosis. # in Denmark the period was 1995-1999.* Crude IR per 100,000 Person-Years.

The cumulative risk of CRC 1 year after MC diagnosis was 0.4% (95% CI: 0.3%-0.6%) in Denmark and 0.5% (95% CI: 0.3%-0.6%) in the Netherlands (Table 4) and was higher in patients diagnosed with MC after age 60 years compared to patients diagnosed before age 60 years (*p* log-rank <0.0001 in both Denmark and the Netherlands). Absolute risks did not differ by sex, type of MC, or history of celiac disease.

		Denmark MC all		the Netherlan MC all	nds
		Cumulative risk (%)	95% CI	Cumulative risk (%)	95% CI
Non-adenomatous polyps	1 year	5.4	5.0-5.8	2.8	2.5-3.2
	5 years	7.2	6.8-7.7	3.5	3.1-4.0
	10 years	8.9	8.3-9.6	4.4	3.9-4.9
Adenomas	1 year	6.4	6.0-6.8	5.5	5.0-6.0
	5 years	8.0	7.5-8.5	7.1	6.6-7.7
	10 years	9.6	8.9-10.2	9.5	8.8-10.2
Colorectal	1 year	0.5	0.4-0.6	0.5	0.3-0.6
Cancer	5 years	0.8	0.7-1.0	0.9	0.7-1.1
	10 years	1.4	1.1-1.7	1.4	1.1-1.8

Table 4. Cumulative risks of colorectal neoplasia in Microscopic Colitis patients Denmark and the Netherlands.

95% CI, 95% confidence interval

In the Kaplan-Meier analyses for non-adenomatous polyps, the cumulative risk differed by type of MC (log-rank p=0.0009), with higher risk for lymphocytic colitis than for collagenous or unspecified colitis. The risk did not differ by sex or age. For adenomas, the cumulative risk was 6.4% in Denmark and 5.5% in the Netherlands during the first year after MC diagnosis. Five years after diagnosis, it was 8.0% in Denmark and 7.1% in the Netherlands. These risks differed by sex, type of MC, and age (all log-rank p<0.0001), with higher risks for males, presence of lymphocytic colitis, and age 60 years or older.

In sensitivity analyses we classified the MC groups based on their index histology at cohort entry [presence/absence of non-adenomatous polyp(s) and adenoma(s)]. In Denmark 12,883 subjects and in the Netherlands 7,186 subjects had no polyps or adenomas at baseline. Among these subjects, 1,005 (7.8%) in Denmark and 292 (4.1%) in the Netherlands developed an adenoma, and 107 (0.8%) in Denmark and 88 (1.2%) in the Netherlands developed CRC after median follow-up of 3.6 and 2.2 years, respectively. This yielded an incidence rate of CRC of 1.9 (95%CI: 1.5-2.2) per 1,000 person-years in Denmark and 1.5 (95%CI: 1.2-1.8) per 1,000 person-years in the Netherlands. In Denmark, 154 MC subjects had a non-adenomatous polyp and 24 MC subjects had an adenoma at baseline. Three (2%) of the subjects with a nonadenomatous polyp and 1 (4.2%) with an adenoma developed CRC during follow-up. In the Netherlands, among subjects with a non-adenomatous polyp or adenoma at baseline 2 (1.4%) and 1 (0.3%) were diagnosed with CRCs after median follow-up of 2.9 and 0.2 years, respectively (Table 5). Our sensitivity analysis showed that incidence of CRC was higher in MC subjects with a non-adenomatous polyp or adenoma to MC subjects without these baseline findings.

DISCUSSION

This population-based nationwide study in Denmark and the Netherlands found a high incidence of non-adenomatous polyps and adenomas during the first year after diagnosis of MC, both in in terms of cumulative risk and compared with the general population. CRC risk was approximately 0.4% in the first year after MC diagnosis, with a much higher incidence than in the general population. However, CRC incidence was lower among MC patients than among the general population starting one year after MC diagnosis. This suggests that a MC diagnosis may lead to better follow-up and treatment for non-adenomatous polyps and adenomas during the year after diagnosis, subsequently resulting in a lower rate of CRC.

This is the first study to assess the risk of CRC after a MC diagnosis. Because previous studies focused on CRC detection before or at the same time as a MC diagnosis, 400-403, 422 they were unable to establish a potential causal effect of MC-associated inflammation on colorectal carcinogenesis. A recent case-control study concluded that chronic inflammatory conditions of the colon, including MC, were associated with a decreased prevalence of non-adenomatous polyps and adenomas.³⁴² While these findings seem contradictory to our results, the study addressed a different question. It compared the prevalence of non-adenomatous polyps and adenomas detected during colonoscopy among patients concurrently diagnosed with MC and among patients not concurrently diagnosed with MC.⁴⁰⁹ In contrast, we examined the occurrence of non-adenomatous polyps, adenomas, and CRC in patients with MC after MC diagnosis. In the current study, the frequency of non-adenomatous polyps and adenomas detected at time of the colonoscopy that led to a MC diagnosis in The Netherlands was 7.5%, while the proportion of MC subjects diagnosed with a non-adenomatous polyp or adenoma in the case-control study was comparable at 8.5%.³⁴² We found that patients diagnosed with MC are more likely to be diagnosed subsequently with non-adenomatous polyps and adenomas than persons in the general population. This finding may be explained in part by enhanced diagnostic surveillance and an associated increased chance for diagnosis, a phenomenon also seen with other diseases.^{407, 423, 424} Our study subjects underwent a colonoscopy for MC complaints, and by having a colonoscopy they were more likely to be diagnosed with nonadenomatous polyps, adenomas, or CRC than persons without MC symptoms particularly in the event of follow-up colonoscopies.⁴²⁵

In our sensitivity analysis we did not observe more adenomas or CRC in the MC cohort than in other screening populations (Supplementary Table 2). In accordance with studies assessing outcomes at first colonoscopy screening ^{415, 416, 419, 426} and at surveillance colonoscopy following a previous colorectal adenoma,^{420, 421} we found that 1.3% of MC subjects in the Netherlands and 1.5% of subjects in Denmark had a concurrent diagnosis of CRC at baseline; we subsequently excluded these patients to identify incident CRC cases. In our study population the incidence rate of CRC in Denmark and in the Netherlands was in line with the incidence rate reported in other studies, ranging between 0.6 to 1.5 per 1,000 person-years.^{415, 421, 426, 427} We found that patients who developed CRC during follow-up were generally older at time of their MC diagnosis than patients who did not develop CRC.

				Denmark			
	No polyps	and no adenomas a	at baseline	Non-aden	omatous polyp at	baseline	Adenoma at baseline
Development of:	Total N=12.883	Males N=3.729	Females N=9.154	Total N=154	Males N=58	Females N=96	Total N=24
Non-adenomatous polyp							
Number of subjects (%)	860 (6.68)	563 (15.1)	297 (3.24)	NA	NA	NA	NA
Time to polyp, median (IQR)	3.3 (1.4-6.2)	3.1 (1.2-5.8)	3.4 (1.5-6.4)				
Age at MC diagnosis, median	64.6	65.0	64.4				
(IQR)*	(57.0-72.2)	(57.2-71.9)	(56.8-72.3)				
Incidence per 1,000 person-years	15.82	38.39	7.48				
Adenoma							
Number of subjects (%)	1,005 (7.8)	434 (11.64)	571 (6.24)	24 (15.58)	13 (22.41)	11 (11.46)	
Time to adenoma, median (IQR)	3.3 (1.3-6.2)	2.9 (1.0-5.8)	3.5 (1.5-6.4)	4.3 (1.3-6.3)	4.6 (2.0-6.8)	3.9 (0.5-6.0)	
Age at MC diagnosis, median	68.5	68.4	68.5	65.4	68.4	68.5	
(IQR)*	(60.8-75.6)	(60.2-74.9)	(61.1-76.2)	(61.1-72.8)	(60.2-74.9)	(61.1-76.2)	
Incidence per 1,000 person-years	18.54	30.31	14.32	34.99	53.74	24.77	
CRC							
Number of subjects (%)	107 (0.83)	40 (1.07)	67 (0.73)	3 (1.95)	1 (1.72)	2 (2.08)	1 (4.17)
Time to CRC, median (IQR)	3.6 (1.6-6.4)	3.3 (1.5-6.1)	3.7 (1.7-6.6)	4.7 (2.5-7.2)	4.5 (2.1-7.1)	4.8 (2.5-7.4)	2.9 (2.0-6.2)
Age at MC diagnosis, median	70.9	68.8	72.0	70.0		65.8	
(IQR)*	(60.8-81.4)	(57.2-80.7)	(65.7-81.4)	(61.7-73.5)	73.5	(61.7-70.0)	61.4
Incidence per 1.000 person-vears	1 86	2 55	1 60	3 94	3 53	1 10	0 05

Table 5. Presence of non-adenomatous polyps, adenomas, and colorectal cancers at cohort entry by subsequent diagnosis of these outcomes in the Danish and Dutch cohorte

5

cohorts (continued).							
				The Netherlar	spu		
	No polyps a	ind no adenomas	at baseline	Non-ader	nomatous polyp at	: baseline	Adenoma at baseline
	Total	Males	Females	Total	Males	Females	Total
Development of:	N=7,186	N=1,918	N=5,268	N=196	N=57	N=139	N=388
Non-adenomatous polyp							
Number of subjects (%)	111 (1.54)	26 (1.36)	85 (1.61)	NA	NA	NA	NA
Time to polyp, median (IQR)	4.0 (1.8-7.2)	4.6 (2.9-8.0)	3.8 (1.6-6.7)				
Age at MC diagnosis, median (IQR)*	58 (49-66)	56.5 (52-65)	58 (49-67)				
Incidence per 1,000 person-years	1.87	1.62	1.97				
Adenoma							
Number of subjects (%)	292 (4.06)	102 (5.32)	190 (3.61)	7 (3.57)	2 (3.51)	5 (3.6)	NA
Time to adenoma, median (IQR)	5.2 (2.4-9.1)	5.2 (1.9-9.0)	5.2 (2.4-9.4)	2.8 (0.4-6.4)	4.6 (2.8-6.4)	2.8 (0.4-4.8)	
Age at MC diagnosis, median (IQR)*	60 (52-68)	61.5 (50-68)	60 (52-68)	62 (49-66)	54.5 (47-62)	65 (59-66)	
Incidence per 1,000 person-years	4.98	6.50	4.43	6.58	6.65	6.55	
CRC							
Number of subjects (%)	88 (1.22)	27 (1.41)	61 (1.16)	2 (1.02)	0 (0)	2 (1.44)	1 (0.26)
Time to CRC, median (IQR)	2.2 (0.1-6.2)	1.6 (0.1-7.6)	2.4 (0.3-5.6)	2.9 (1.8-4.1)		2.9 (1.8-4.1)	0.19
Age at MC diagnosis, median (IQR)*	67 (59-73.5)	66 (58-73)	68 (59-74)	70 (65-75)		70 (65-75)	59
Incidence per 1,000 person-years	1.48	1.63	1.41	1.85		2.58	0.42

* Age for those that develop the outcome; NA, not applicable.

202 | Chapter 5.3

Table 5. Presence of non-adenomatous polyps, adenomas, and colorectal cancers at cohort entry by subsequent diagnosis of these outcomes in the Danish and Dutch

As well, the time to CRC for patients with MC was relatively short after cohort entry (median 3.6 years in Denmark and 2.2 years in the Netherlands). This suggests that a neoplastic lesion could have been missed or incompletely removed at initial scopy that resulted in the MC diagnosis. This may be evidence that other factors, such as age, diagnostic bias, and clinical awareness contributed to the peak in CRC incidence during the first year following MC diagnosis.

Importantly, we observed that MC patients were more likely to be diagnosed with non-adenomatous polyps and adenomas more than a year following a MC diagnosis. This supports the hypothesis that inflammation associated with MC produces structural cell changes leading to precancerous lesions. The length of time between progression of neoplastic polyps to CRC and the relatively short follow-up period in our study (median of 3.6 and 7.2 years in the Danish and Dutch cohorts, respectively) limited our ability to identify any association with increased CRC risk in the long-term. Our findings are in accordance with reports in the literature showing a higher risk of CRC among males and older persons.⁴²⁸ This provides reassurance about the validity of our data and results.

Notably, we observed a decreased risk of CRC more than 1 year after MC diagnosis. This could be explained by several factors. Now, and especially in the early years, a substantial group of MC patients are treated with 5-aminosalicylic acid (5-ASA) compounds, sometimes for many years. Though still controversial, it has been suggested that 5-ASA may affect tumour growth and survival and thus may protect against development of CRC.^{429, 430} Another explanation could be that colonoscopies conducted for symptoms of MC lead to the detection of CRC precursor lesions, subsequent surveillance colonoscopies in time and thus prevents subsequent CRC development.²⁷⁵

Apart from the increased and prolonged duration of colonic inflammation in MC patients, observed associations may be explained by shared or common risk factors for MC, non-adenomatous polyps, adenomas, and CRC. Prior studies have suggested that some lymphoproliferative diseases and malignancies are more frequent in patients with celiac disease, including malignant lymphoma and intestinal cancers.^{241, 431, 432} As about 10% of MC patients have celiac disease and 33% of celiac disease patients have histological characteristics consistent with MC,³⁷³ there may be a differential risk of non-adenomatous polyps, adenomas, and CRC in MC patients with versus without celiac disease. We did not observe a significantly different CRC risk in the presence/absence of celiac disease, though our analysis may have been limited by the small number of patients in these strata.

Strengths of the study are its large scale and use of nationwide population-based data sources to identify microscopic colitis patients, mitigating selection bias. Through followup of patients using population-based registries, we were able to calculate the risk of nonadenomatous polyps, adenomas, and CRC after MC diagnosis.

Our study has several limitations. First, using the general population as the reference population could lead to Berkson's bias. We tried to mitigate such bias by also comparing the proportion and rates of the outcomes in our study population with those in screening populations that underwent colonoscopy. Second, diagnoses of MC and colorectal outcomes could have been subject to misclassification. However, the pathology codes used to identify the cancers are registered prospectively for pathologically confirmed diseases assuming that patients underwent colonoscopy with biopsies at that moment. The positive predictive value for CRC in the DNRP and DCR has been found to be 88.9%.⁴³³ In the Dutch database we reviewed the pathology reports of all patients in order to verify the diagnoses of MC and outcomes. A third concern is that left censoring of MC diagnosis could have occurred, resulting in the classification of patients as incident cases when they were actually prevalent cases. This could lead to overestimation of cancer risk. However, since cancer is rare and takes decades to progress to overt disease, overestimation is unlikely. Fourth, we lacked information on CRC stage. This may have confounded our results, as detection bias could have led to earlier diagnosis and earlier CRC stage in MC patients compared to the reference populations.

In conclusion, patients newly diagnosed with microscopic colitis were not at increased risk of CRC one or more years after their diagnosis, compared to the general population in Denmark and the Netherlands. The high observed incidence of non-adenomatous polyps, adenomas, and CRC, particularly in the first year following MC diagnosis, was probably due to surveillance bias, with better screening and treatment for precursor lesions leading to a lower rate of CRC.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

5

		Colorectal	Polyps			Colorectal /	Adenoma	s
	Observed	Expected	SIR	95%CI	Observed	Expected	SIR	95%CI
Total	939	156.2	6.01	5.63-6.41	1040	209.2	4.97	4.67-5.28
Sex								
Male	330	49.2	6.71	6.00-7.47	455	72.8	6.25	5.69-6.85
Female	609	107.0	5.69	5.25-6.16	585	136.4	4.29	3.95-4.65
Time in follow-up								
<= 1 year	698	31.7	22.05	20.45-23.75	833	41.2	20.22	18.87-21.64
>1 year	241	124.6	1.93	1.70-2.20	207	168.0	1.23	1.07-1.41
Age at MC diagnosis								
18-39	25	2.6	23.37	15.12-34.49	14	0.6	21.68	11.84-36.38
40-59	255	41.8	10.01	8.82-11.32	199	24.7	8.05	6.97-9.25
60-74	466	80.8	5.71	5.20-6.25	521	105.5	4.94	4.53-5.38
75+	193	31.0	4.02	3.47-4.62	306	78.4	3.90	3.48-4.37
Type of MC*								
Collagenous	449	91.1	4.93	4.48-5.41	512	122.1	4.19	3.84-4.57
Lymphocytic	457	58.8	7.78	7.08-8.52	495	78.7	6.29	5.75-6.87
Year of CRC Diagnosis								
1995-1999	34	1.9	17.59	12.18-24.58	27	1.9	14.35	9.45-20.87
2000-2009	522	79.7	6.55	6.00-7.14	555	100.4	5.53	5.08-6.01
2010-2012	383	74.6	5.14	4.63-5.68	458	107.0	4.28	3.90-4.69

Supplementary Table 1. Standardized incidence ratio of non-adenomatous polyps and adenomas among microscopic colitis patients in Denmark compared to the Danish general population.

* Numbers do not add up to Total Number of events as MC types were classified into Collagenous, Lymphocytic and Unspecified. Abbreviations: SIR, standardized incidence ratio; 95%CI, 95% Confidence Intervals.

Study	Population	Non	advanced ade	noma	Advanced n advanc	eoplasia (com ed adenoma+(posite of CRC)	Advanc	ed adeno	ma*		CRC	
		Total N (%)	M (%) N	F N (%)	Total N (%)	M (%) N (%)	F N (%)	Total N (%)	M (%) N	F N (%)	Total N (%)	W (%) N	F N (%)
No adenoma/polyp at baseline													
Brenner 2015 ⁴¹⁵	55 years older men and women in GE 55 vears older men		22.3%	14.9%					9% 6.7-	5.2%			
Brenner 2014 ⁴¹⁶	and women in GE N=4,322,085 50-75 vear old men								10.6 %	3.6- 7.0%	0.6- 2.7%	0.3- 1.7%	
Stegeman ⁴¹⁹	and women in NL N=1,236				110 (8.9)			103 (8.3)			7 (0.6)		
Stoop ⁴¹⁸	and women in NL N=1.276				111 (9)			104 (8.2)			7 (0.5)		
Current Study Denmark	All MC subjects N=12,883				1,112 (8.6)						107 (0.8)	40 (1.1)	67 (0.7)
	55 year old MC subjects										72	22	50
Current Study - NL	N=4,554 All MC subjects				280 (6.1)						(1.6) 88	(1.8) 27	(1.5) 61
Current Study NL	N=7,186				380 (5.3)						(1.2)	(1.4)	(1.2)
	Pooled analysis				1082			1074			с С		
Elena-Martinez ⁴¹⁷	N=9,167				(11.8)			(11.2)			(0.6)		
Current Study Denmark	All INC subjects N=154				27 (17.5)						3 (2)	т (1.7)	2 (2.1)
Current Study - NL	55 year old MC subjects N=141				7 (5)						2 (1.4)	0	2 (2)
Current Study NL	All MC subjects N=196				9 (4.6)						2 (1)	0	2 (1.4)

5

Colorectal neoplasia in microscopic colitis | 207

Study	Population	Non-	idvanced adei	ioma	Advanced n advanc	eoplasia (com ed adenoma+	nposite of CRC)	Advanc	ed adenor	na*		CRC	
		Total N (%)	M (%) N	F N (%)	Total N (%)	M N (%)	В (%)	Total N (%)	M (%) N	F N (%)	Total N (%)	M (%) N	F N (%)
Previous colorectal													
auciona											1.5		
	Model on national										per		
	polyp study in NL										1,000		
Loeve ⁴²¹	N=1,418										ΡΥS		
	PALGA in NL												
	All surveillance												
	colonoscopies							165			38		
Van Heijningen ⁴²⁰	N=2,990	954 (32)			203 (7)			(2.2)			(1.3)		
	PALGA in NL												
	At first surveillance												
	colonoscopy	655											
	N=2,990	(21.9)			171 (5.7)								
	All MC subjects										1		
Current Study Denmark	N=24										(4.2)		
	55 year old MC												
	subjects										1		
Current Study - NL	N=312										(0.3)		
	All MC subjects										1		
Current Study NL	N=388										(0.3)		

M, males; F. Jemales; NL, the Netherlands. * Definition of advanced adenoma differs per study, in general advanced adenomas are defined as at least 1 adenoma × 1 cm or at least 1 adenoma with villous components or high-grade dysplasia

Supplementary Table 2. Proportions of patients with polyps or adenomas at baseline and progression to colorectal neoplasia in screening populations described in the

5

SECTION 6

NSAIDs and the risk of Cardiovascular Events



CHAPTER 6.1

Risk of Acute Myocardial Infarction during use of individual NSAIDs: a nested case-control study in the SOS project

Gwen MC Masclee, Huub Straatman, Ron Herings, Edeltraut Garbe, Bianca Kollhorst, Tania Schink, Andrea Arfè, Silvia Lucchi, Marco Villa, Jordi Castellsague, Susana Perez-Gutthann, Cristina Varas-Lorenzo, René Schade, Silvana Romio, Martijn J Schuemie, Vera E Valkhoff, and Miriam CJM Sturkenboom

Submitted.

ABSTRACT

BACKGROUND

Use of selective COX-2 non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) has been associated with an increase in the risk of acute myocardial infarction (AMI), but the magnitude of risk is unknown for individual nonselective NSAIDs.

METHODS

A case-control study was performed nested in a cohort of new NSAID users ≥18 years (1999-2011) matching cases to a maximum of 100 controls on database, sex, age, and AMI diagnosis date. Data were retrieved from six healthcare databases using the same protocol and data transformations: IPCI, PHARMO (Netherlands); SISR, OSSIFF (Italy); GePaRD (Germany) and THIN (United Kingdom). Adjusted odds ratios (ORs) were estimated per database comparing current use of NSAIDs to past use. Pooling was done by a random effects model (ORmeta) and unweighted pooling (ORpooled).

RESULTS

In a cohort of 8.5 million new NSAID users 79,553 AMI cases were identified. The risk was significantly elevated for current use of ketorolac (ORmeta 2.06; 95%CI: 1.83-2.32, ORpooled 1.80; 95%CI: 1.49-2.18) followed in descending order by indometacin, etoricoxib, rofecoxib, diclofenac, fixed combination of diclofenac with misoprostol, piroxicam, ibuprofen, naproxen, celecoxib, meloxicam, nimesulide and ketoprofen (ORmeta 1.12; 95%CI: 1.03-1.22, ORpooled 1.00; 95%CI: 0.86-1.16). For other NSAIDs there was no significantly increased risk, amongst those dexketoprofen (ORpooled 1.01; 95%CI: 0.50-2.04), sulindac (ORpooled 1.01; 95%CI: 0.48-2.15) proglumetacin (ORpooled 1.00; 95%CI: 0.41-2.47) and tiaprofenic acid (ORpooled 1.01; 95%CI: 0.49-2.10) had upper 95% limits that exceeded 2. Higher doses showed higher risk estimates than lower doses.

CONCLUSION

The risk of AMI differed between 28 individual NSAIDs. The risk was highest for ketorolac, but was increased also for several other selective COX-2 and nonselective NSAIDs and was higher when using higher daily doses. The increased risk of AMI should not be considered an effect of some selective COX-2 inhibitors only.

INTRODUCTION

Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) are widely used to reduce inflammation and provide pain relief. They act via reversible, competitive inhibition of cyclo-oxygenase (COX) enzymes. As inhibition of the COX-1 enzyme decreases the production of prostaglandins, gastrointestinal adverse events including ulcerations and bleeding occur often during NSAID use. This led to development of selective COX-2 inhibitors, which were marketed as coxibs. However, after successful market introduction of selective COX-2 inhibitors ^{10, 75} concerns were raised about their cardiovascular (CV) safety resulting in the voluntary withdrawal of rofecoxib in 2004.¹¹ Reviews by the United States Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and the European Medicines Agency (EMA) concluded that coxibs increase the risk of CV events.⁹³ It was recommended in 2005 to avoid the use of selective COX-2 inhibitors in patients with ischemic heart disease, stroke or peripheral arterial disease.^{89, 94, 95} At that point in time little information was available about the CV risk of NSAIDs, but further studies showed signals of increased arterial thrombosis risk for the nonselective (ns) NSAIDs, particularly when used in high doses and for long-term.^{96, 97} Based on the uncertainty, EMA requested a review of the CV safety of nsNSAIDs as well. The Safety of Non-Steroidal Anti-inflammatory Drugs (SOS) project was developed as a research and development project funded by the Directorate General of Research and Innovation of the European Commission under the Seventh Framework Programme to support EMA in their regulatory decision making.⁴³⁴ This SOS study aimed to assess and summarize the risk of AMI associated with the use of individual NSAIDs in Europe.

METHODS

Study design and data sources

A nested case-control study was conducted within a cohort of new NSAID users during the study period.

Data for this study was obtained from six different longitudinal population-based health care databases from four European countries [GePaRD from Germany (GE), OSSIFF and SISR from Italy (IT), IPCI and PHARMO from the Netherlands (NL) and THIN from the United Kingdom (UK)] covering a source population of around 32 million subjects. All databases have been used for pharmacoepidemiological research (Supplementary Table 1)^{237, 238, 435, 436} and are described more detailed elsewhere.⁴³⁷

In short, the German Pharmacoepidemiological Research Database (GePaRD) is a database comprising data from five statutory health insurances throughout Germany that is created and maintained by BIPS. It currently covers around 14 million insurants and represents approximately 20% of the German population.⁴³⁶ The Health Improvement Network (THIN) database is a general practice database in the UK and currently captures medical records of 11.1 million patients.^{237, 266} The Integrated Primary Care Information (IPCI) database is also a
general practice database but from the Netherlands and currently covers over 1.5 million people,²³⁸ PHARMO database is a medical record linkage system of 2.2 million communitydwelling inhabitants in the Netherlands.⁴³⁵ OSSIFF (Osservatorio Interaziendale per la Farmacoepidemiologia e la Farmacoeconomia) is a database capturing national health service data and clinical registries from several local health agencies in Lombardy) for a population of about 2.9 million people. The second Italian database SISR (Sistema Informativo Sanitario Regionale) obtains national health service data from the Lombardy region, with about nine million inhabitants (approximately 16% of the national population). OSSIFF was included in addition to the Lombardy SISR as it allows for validation of outcomes, overlapping patients were excluded from the Lombardy SISR.

All general practice and claims databases contain information on demographics of the population, diagnoses (in- and/or outpatient), and drug prescriptions/dispensings. The diagnoses captured by the databases are coded with four different disease coding systems including the International Classification of Diseases (ICD) 9th or 10th revision,³²³ International Classification for Primary Care (ICPC),²⁴⁰ or READ.⁴³⁸ Mapping of concepts and codes was performed using the Unified Medical Language System (UMLS), a biomedical terminology integration system handling more than 150 medical dictionaries, according to a previously described workflow.^{439, 440} All drugs were mapped to the World Health Organization's (WHO) classification of Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical (ATC).²⁴² A distributed approach was used for collaboration: all database custodians extracted data locally; original data were transformed into a simple common data model (Jerboa© input files); mapping of codes for outcome and covariates was verified using an extensive harmonization strategy; and a common standardized script (Jerboa©, Java based)³⁴⁶ was supplied to create the aggregated tables that were subsequently encrypted and shared on a central data warehouse for further analysis and pooling. Details have been described previously.^{346, 437}

Study cohort

In each database, we identified a cohort of patients aged \geq 18 years who received at least one new NSAID prescription (Supplementary Table 2) during the database-specific study period within the general study period which started 1 January 1999 and ended December 31st 2011 (Supplementary Table 1). Before inclusion in the cohort subjects were deemed to have at least one year of continuous data enrollment in the database.

The date of first NSAID prescription/dispensation during the study period was defined as cohort entry date. Patients were excluded if they received any NSAID prescription in the year before in order to construct a new user cohort and avoid prevalent user bias.¹⁶⁸ Patients needed to have at least one year of continuous database history, to allow uniform assessment of potential confounding factors and exclusion criteria. All subjects with a cancer diagnosis (except non-melanoma skin cancer) during the one year preceding cohort entry were excluded from the cohort. All NSAID cohort members were followed from the date of cohort

entry until the date of acute myocardial infarction diagnosis, cancer, death, last data supply, transferring out of the database, or end of the study period, whichever was earliest.

Cases and controls

The outcome was a first hospitalization with a discharge diagnosis code of acute myocardial infarction (AMI) (GePaRD, PHARMO, OSSIFF, and SISR) or a first diagnosis of an AMI (THIN and IPCI) during follow-up (Supplementary Table 3 for ICD-9, ICD-10, READ and ICPC codes included). The date of recorded diagnosis or admission date of AMI was used as index date. Controls were members of the incident NSAID cohort who did not develop AMI during follow-up until the cases' index date. Within each database, up to 100 controls were matched to each case by risk set sampling on age (± 1 year), sex and cohort entry (± 28 days). Controls were assigned the same index date as the case.

NSAID-exposure

Exposure to individual NSAIDs was obtained from either prescriptions (THIN and IPCI) or from outpatient drug dispensings claims (GePaRD, PHARMO, OSSIFF, and SISR). Duration of a single NSAID dispensing/prescription was obtained by dividing the total units by the daily number of units prescribed (THIN, IPCI, and PHARMO: prescribed duration), for other databases standard durations were used based on the country specific defined daily dose (DDD) values.²⁴²

Classification of the recency of exposure to individual NSAIDs was based on the interval between index date and the end of the most recent NSAID use before the index date. If the exposure period 1) overlapped or ended within 14 days before index date NSAID use was classified as 'current' use; 2) ended between 15 and 183 days before the index date as 'recent' use and; 3) ended 184 days or more before the index date as 'past' use. Exposure periods were considered mutually exclusive. Duration of current use was then classified into very short (1-6 days), short (7-29), medium (30-89) and long (\geq 90). If multiple NSAIDs were used in the current period, NSAID use was distributed to current use of all NSAIDs. Current use of an NSAID always overruled past use of other NSAIDs if patients switched between NSAIDs. Past use of any NSAID was considered as common reference group in order to compare across NSAIDs.

In IPCI, THIN and PHARMO the daily dose of NSAID was estimated from the prescribing regimen and strength. Dose of current exposure to each individual NSAID was classified using the ratio of prescribed daily dose (PDD) compared to DDD in order to allow for aggregation and comparison across NSAIDs. For categorical analysis dose categories were defined as low dose (<0.8 PDD/DDD), normal dose (0.8-1.2 PDD/DDD) and high dose (\geq 1.3 PDD/DDD) (see Supplementary Table 4 for DDD value for each individual NSAID evaluated).

Covariates

Covariates were classified into based on recorded diagnoses or conditions (history of ischemic heart disease (excluding AMI); history of stroke; heart failure; diabetes mellitus type 2; hyperlipidemia; smoking) or their proxies based on used of medications for these diseases or conditions (use of ACE inhibitors, antithrombotic agents, low-dose aspirin, beta blockers, calcium channel blockers, diuretics, glucocorticoids, nitrates, oral contraceptives, platelet aggregation inhibitors, lipid lowering drugs and postmenopausal hormone therapy). They were measured during the 12 months prior to cohort entry (for all co-variates that could be intermediates between treatment and AMI, or in 30 or 90 days before index date (if not potential intermediates). In case there was no or missing information on the variable in the specific time window, the variable was considered as absence of the condition.

Statistical analyses

Baseline characteristics of cases and controls are described by database. To estimate the risk for AMI among current use of an individual NSAID in comparison to past use of any NSAID, matched odds ratios (ORmatched) and matched adjusted odds ratios (ORadj) with 95% Confidence Intervals (CIs) were calculated using conditional logistic regression analyses for each database separately if five or more exposed cases per database were available. Pooled NSAID-specific ORs (ORmeta) were calculated both using the inverse variance weighting method (fixed effect pooled estimates) and DerSimonian and Laird method to account for heterogeneity across databases (random effect pooled estimates).⁴⁴¹ The degree of statistical heterogeneity across databases was measured by I².⁴⁴² Confidence limits of random effects estimates were calculated accounting for the uncertainty of tau, e.g. the value representing the variation in the true effect estimates across the databases.⁴⁴³

Additionally, pooling of data across databases was performed by combining the matched case control sets without weighting and using a conditional logistic regression adjusted for covariates. This approach has most power and provides one overall risk measure (ORpooled) for all NSAIDs with at least five exposed cases across DBs.

A stepwise approach was used for confounder selection in both approaches: 1) apriori selected confounders were always included; 2) univariate analyses for each potential confounder with a prevalence of 5% in controls, which were added to the model if Wald pvalue was <0.05; 3) backward selection of potential confounders (p-value>0.05).

Categorical duration analyses were performed within current users of each individual NSAID, using short duration (7-29 days) as reference group. Dose analyses were done by categories comparing dose levels to past use of any NSAID and by continuous analyses through restricted cubic splines (3 knots) and through fractional polynomial regression (maximum of 2 terms) which provides greater flexibility to dose-response curves.⁴⁴⁴ Since potency of NSAIDs is based on normal therapeutic doses, the relationship between COX-2 potency and the relative risk of AMI was plotted using normal daily doses (PDD/DDD between 0.8 and 1.2) and

therefore could only be done in the databases that provided prescribed daily dose regimens. In line with the study by Garcia-Rodriguez,⁹⁷ naproxen was removed from this plot, since it was used at very high doses. Correlation was estimated using the R^2 .

Subsequent analyses evaluated the risk of AMI stratified by sex, age (≤ 60 or > 60 years), prior ischemic heart disease, and use of aspirin or lipid lowering drugs. Current use of any NSAID was also analyzed by stratifying factors to increase the power to detect effect modification. Multiplicative interaction was tested to identify effect modification by stratifying factors.

For each database, the population attributable risk (PAR) was calculated to estimate the proportion of AMI in the target population that may be attributable to use of each NSAIDs using the following formula: PAR = (p*[OR-1])/(p*[OR-1]+1).³⁴⁷ where OR is the adjusted odds ratio from the nested case-control analysis and p is the exposure prevalence.⁴⁴⁵ For this calculation, we estimated p by the percentage of exposed cases.

All analyses were performed using SAS (Cary, NC version 9.2).

RESULTS

The study cohort comprised 8,535,952 new NSAID users (Supplementary Figure 1), of whom 101,227 patients developed an AMI after cohort entry. Of these, 79,553 (78.6%) cases could be matched to at least one control using the five matching criteria. Baseline characteristics of cases and matched controls are shown in Table 1. Cases had more often risk factors for AMI such as a prior history of ischemic heart disease, other cardiovascular diseases or use of cardiovascular drugs.

The distribution of NSAID exposure in cases and controls is reported in Table 2. Whereas in the UK, NL and Germany similar NSAIDS were often used, Italy uses quite a different range of NSAIDs, for 11 individual NSAIDs data were not available from other countries but Italy (Supplementary Table 5).

Meta-analytic estimates of the adjusted ORs across databases could be calculated for 21 NSAIDs. The adjusted OR for current use ranged between 0.93 for oxaprozin to 2.06 for ketorolac (Figure 1, Table 2), but the width of the confidence intervals vary. Ten NSAIDs were associated with a significantly increased risk, for none of the 11 NSAIDs with non-significant associations in meta-analytic pooling the upper 95% limit was above 2. For most NSAIDs (except for celecoxib, diclofenac, ibuprofen and naproxen) no heterogeneity was seen according to the estimated I² across databases (Table 2).

In order to estimate the risk of AMI associated with infrequently used NSAIDs we also combined all matched case-control pairs across datasets without weighting (Figure 1, Table 2), this yielded estimates for 28 individual NSAIDs. For most NSAIDs, which had both estimates, the meta-analytic and pooled estimate were quite similar. The results of this combined analysis showed that the risk of AMI is significantly elevated for 12 NSAIDs. Compared to past use of any NSAID the odds ratio was highest for ketorolac, followed by indometacin, etoricoxib and rofecoxib (Figure 1), though the 95% confidence limits overlap between these NSAIDs.

	United Ki	ngdom		The Neth	erlands	
-	THI	<u>v</u>		CI	PHA	RMO
	Cases	Controls	Cases	Controls	Cases	Controls
Total Number	13,511	1,232,506	1,070	38,688	9,974	896,907
	%	%	%	%	%	%
Mean age (SD)*	64.3 (13.3)	63.1 (12.5)	63.3 (13.6)	58.7 (11.3)	61.0 (13.7)	59.3 (12.9)
Sex*						
Male	62.7	62.8	63.4	63.7	65.4	65.4
Female	37.3	37.2	36.6	36.3	34.6	34.6
A-priori confounders						
Diseases**						
Diabetes mellitus type 2	9.1	4.9	7.7	3.8	10.4	5.8
Heart Failure	1.5	0.5	3.4	1.5	0.7	0.4
Hyperlipidemia	18.5	12.3	12.6	8.9	17	11.7
Ischemic Heart Disease	5.1	2.3	4.6	2.2	1.8	0.9
Smoking	11.2	7.2	17.5	18.6	NA	NA
Stroke	0.5	0.3	2.4	1.8	0.1	0.1
Use of Drugs***						
ACE inh/AT II	19.2	13.4	11 5	6.8	14.6	10.4
Antagonists	19.2	15.4	11.5	0.0	14.0	10.4
Low-dose Aspirin	33.4	20.4	15.7	5.6	28	16.7
Beta Blockers	19.5	13.6	14.7	7.4	20.4	13.7
Calcium Channel	18.8	12 1	10 3	35	12.6	74
Blockers	1010		1010	0.0	1210	
Diuretics	24.7	18.4	10.0	5.4	14.2	10.2
Glucocorticoids	7.1	4.1	3.9	1.6	6.4	3.7
Lipid lowering agents	32.9	22.5	14.2	8.8	24.3	18.0
Nitrates	20.3	5.5	6.1	1.0	15.6	4.4
Oral Contraceptives#	0.4	0.6	1.3	1.2	1.2	0.8
Hypertensive Drugs	1.2	0.9	2.5	2.7	4.2	3.5
Antiplatelets	6.8	2.4	2.9	0.7	4.9	2.3
Hormone Therapy#	6.5	6.7	2.8	1.9	5.8	8.0
Potential Confounders						
Diseases**						
Alcohol Abuse	8.5	8.3	7.0	7.3	0.2	0.1
AF and AFI	0.6	0.4	4.8	1.2	0.4	0.3
Chronic Liver Disease	0.1	0.1	2.1	1.6	0.1	0.1
Kidney Failure	0.2	0.1	1.1	0.4	0.04	0.01
Obesity	8.6	6.8	1.6	1.3	0.3	0.2
Osteoarthritis	12.7	10.6	2.6	3.1	1.2	1.1
Other CV Disease	1.9	1.2	6.8	3.7	1.2	1.1
PAD	0.02	0.01	1.3	0.8	0.3	0.1
RA and Infl Polyarthritis	8.7	6.7	11.1	9.4	1.2	0.9
Use of Drugs***						
Anticoagulants	3.0	2.4	2.5	1.3	6.1	4.6
Cardiac Glycosides			1.0	0.3	1.9	1.4
CYP2C9 Inducer drugs ⁺	0.01	0.02			0.01	0.01
CYP2C9 Inhibitor drugs‡	1.1	0.6	0.9	0.2	8.7	6.7

Table 1. Characteristics of AMI cases and matched controls by database.

^{*}Age and sex are matching criteria. # Percentage only in females. † Includes Carbamazepine, Norethisterone (and estrogen combination) and Prednisone. ‡ Includes Cimetidine, Omeprazole, Pantoprazole, Lansoprazole, Rabeprazole, Ticlopidine, Indometacin, Probenecid, Oxcarbazepine, Felbamate, Topiramate, Fluoxetine, Fluoxamine, Modafinil and Ketoconazole. ** Assessed at 12 months prior to cohort entry. *** Assessed at 30 or 90 days before indexdate. AF and AFI, atrial fibrillation and flutter; RA and Infl Polyarthritis, rheumatoid arthritis and inflammatory polyarthritis; PAD, peripheral arterial disease.

	Gerr	many		Ita	ly	
	GeP	aRD	SI	SR	OS	SIFF
	Cases	Controls	Cases	Controls	Cases	Controls
Total Number	9,930	957,016	25,719	2,523,118	19,349	1,840,368
	%	%	%	%	%	%
Mean age (SD)*	62.4 (12.4)	62.0 (11.8)	69.8 (12.2)	69.5 (12.1)	67.7 (12.2)	67.0 (11.8)
Sex*						
Male	77.5	78.1	54.7	54.6	56.5	56.3
Female	22.5	21.9	45.3	45.4	43.5	43.7
A-priori confounders						
Diseases**						
Diabetes mellitus type 2	16.2	8.5	21.3	10.4	15.1	6.8
Heart Failure	12.5	7.2	5.9	3.1	4.3	2.1
Hyperlipidemia	26.1	17.7	22.7	16	14.6	9.4
Ischemic Heart Disease	29.0	15.9	5.5	1.9	4.6	1.6
Smoking	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
Stroke	6.9	4.0	1.0	0.5	1.1	0.6
Use of Drugs***						
ACE Inh/AT II	30.2	22.2	33.8	26.1	25.2	18 /
Antagonists	50.2	22.2	55.0	20.1	23.2	10.4
Low-dose Aspirin	11.5	5.4	29.1	19.2	24.1	15.2
Beta Blockers	33.6	23.7	20.1	13.0	14.2	8.7
Calcium Channel	19.0	12.2	22.4	21.0	26.0	17.2
Blockers	18.0	12.5	52.4	21.9	20.9	17.2
Diuretics	17.8	11.7	22.9	16.7	15.5	10.7
Glucocorticoids	5.9	4.1	5.7	3.7	5.0	3.3
Lipid lowering agents	24.3	17.1	21.2	14.5	19.3	12.6
Nitrates	10.6	3.0	21.4	7.8	20.7	7.0
Oral Contraceptives#	0.1	0.0	0.2	0.2	2.6	1.8
Hypertensive Drugs	21.0	16.6	22.5	20.4	16.7	14.8
Antiplatelets	5.6	1.9	9.8	4.7	7.6	3.5
Hormone Therapy#	10.1	13.6	1.3	1.7	1.9	1.9
Potential Confounders						
Diseases**						
Alcohol Abuse	2.1	1.4	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.2
AF and AFI	5.7	4.6	1.6	1.1	1.3	0.9
Chronic Liver Disease	11.3	10.6	0.7	0.5	0.5	0.5
Kidney Failure	6.9	3.5	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.04
Obesity	14.5	10.8	0.6	0.3	0.2	0.1
Osteoarthritis	22.1	21.8	1.3	1.2	1.3	1.1
Other CV Disease	20.0	16.2	6.3	4.8	4.8	3.5
PAD	8.9	4.9	1.6	0.5	1.4	0.5
RA and Infl Polyarthritis	7.2	5.9	0.6	0.3	0.7	0.5
Use of Drugs***						
Anticoagulants	5.9	5.1	7.0	5.2	7.0	5.1
Cardiac Glycosides	4.0	2.4	5.2	3.9	4.6	3.3
CYP2C9 Inducer drugs ⁺	0.02	0.01				
CYP2C9 Inhibitor drugs‡	1.1	0.8	2.5	1.7	0.7	0.4

Table 1. Characteristics of AMI cases and matched controls by database (continued).

^{*}Age and sex are matching criteria. # Percentage only in females. † Includes Carbamazepine, Norethisterone (and estrogen combination) and Prednisone. ‡ Includes Cimetidine, Omeprazole, Pantoprazole, Lansoprazole, Rabeprazole, Ticlopidine, Indometacin, Probenecid, Oxcarbazepine, Felbamate, Topiramate, Fluoxetine, Fluoxamine, Modafinil and Ketoconazole. ** Assessed at 12 months prior to cohort entry. *** Assessed at 30 or 90 days before indexdate. AF and AFI, atrial fibrillation and flutter; RA and Infl Polyarthritis, rheumatoid arthritis and inflammatory polyarthritis; PAD, peripheral arterial disease.

			Meta-a	nalysis approach		Fixed effects	Pooled dataset
			(ran	dom effects)			
	Cases	Controls	Number	ORmeta	l ² *	ORfixed	ORpooled
	N	Ν	of DBs	(95% CI)	(%)	(95% CI)	(95% CI)
Past Use	55,657	5,307,077	6	1 (ref)		1 (ref)	1 (ref)
Recent Use#	23,896	2,181,526	6	1.08 (1.04-1.11)	65	1.08 (1.06-1.09)	1.08 (1.06-1.11)
Current use of:							
Aceclofenac	214	20,370	4	1.04 (0.90-1.19)	0	1.04 (0.9-1.19)	1.08 (0.85-1.36)
Acemetacin	14	1,178	1				1.00 (0.58-1.71)
Celecoxib	886	76,132	5	1.15 (1.00-1.32)	67	1.12 (1.05-1.20)	1.15 (1.05-1.25)
Dexibuprofen	41	2,651	2	1.15 (0.79-1.68)	0	1.15 (0.79-1.68)	1.06 (0.61-1.82)
Dexketoprofen	9	723	1				1.01 (0.50-2.04)
Diclofenac	3,064	230,213	6	1.31 (1.23-1.40)	60	1.32 (1.27-1.37)	1.28 (1.22-1.34)
Diclofenac comb	399	27,923	6	1.27 (1.12-1.43)	19	1.27 (1.15-1.40)	1.30 (1.17-1.45)
Etodolac	37	2,761	1	1.17 (0.85-1.63)			1.07 (0.76-1.50)
Etoricoxib	497	37,478	6	1.28 (1.16-1.42)	12	1.27 (1.16-1.39)	1.39 (1.24-1.57)
Flurbiprofen	27	1,972	2	1.05 (0.66-1.67)	0	1.05 (0.66-1.67)	1.00 (0.56-1.78)
Ibuprofen	1,564	119,219	6	1.24 (1.13-1.37)	61	1.25 (1.19-1.32)	1.25 (1.18-1.33)
Indometacin	196	11,789	5	1.47 (1.27-1.70)	0	1.47 (1.27-1.70)	1.51 (1.28-1.80)
Ketoprofen	559	47,969	3	1.12 (1.03-1.22)	0	1.12 (1.03-1.22)	1.00 (0.86-1.16)
Ketorolac	272	11,732	2	2.06 (1.83-2.32)	0	2.06 (1.83-2.32)	1.80 (1.49-2.18)
Lornoxicam	40	3,095	2	1.08 (0.77-1.52)	0	1.08 (0.77-1.51)	1.08 (0.62-1.87)
Mefenamic acid	12	981	1				1.02 (0.55-1.90)
Meloxicam	492	38,806	6	1.18 (1.08-1.29)	0	1.18 (1.08-1.29)	1.13 (1.02-1.27)
Nabumetone	46	3,795	4	1.03 (0.76-1.40)	0	1.03 (0.76-1.40)	1.03 (0.72-1.47)
Naproxen	486	38,659	6	1.19 (1.04-1.37)	47	1.18 (1.08-1.29)	1.22 (1.10-1.35)
Nimesulide	1,652	133,462	2	1.16 (1.10-1.22)	0	1.16 (1.10-1.22)	1.12 (1.03-1.22)
Oxaprozin	22	2,709	2	0.93 (0.63-1.38)	0	0.93 (0.63-1.38)	0.97 (0.52-1.79)
Piroxicam	636	51,898	5	1.17 (1.03-1.33)	34	1.20 (1.10-1.30)	1.27 (1.13-1.42)
Proglumetacin	11	930	1				1.00 (0.41-2.47)
Rofecoxib	690	51,674	4	1.26 (1.17-1.37)	0	1.26 (1.17-1.36)	1.30 (1.19-1.43)
Sulindac	11	494	1				1.01 (0.48-2.15)
Tenoxicam	32	3,104	2	1.02 (0.72-1.46)	0	1.02 (0.71-1.46)	0.99 (0.56-1.74)
Tiaprofenic acid	8	710					1.01 (0.49-2.10)
Valdecoxib	25	2,159	3	1.00 (0.66-1.52)	0	1.00 (0.66-1.52)	1.07 (0.58-1.99)

Table 2. Association between current use of individual NSAIDs and AMI by meta-analysis (random and fixed effects) and by unweighted (matched set) pooled dataset.

* A high level of heterogeneity is present with an I² value above 75%.

For 16 NSAIDs the association with AMI was not significantly elevated, but there might be a risk present. However only for four of these 95%CI limits were wide with an upper limit above 2, due to small numbers. When plotting the relative risk of AMI associated to current use of normal dose as 0.8 to 1.2 defined daily doses of the most frequently used NSAIDs (obtained from databases where we could investigate daily dose relationships) with the potency of inhibition of COX-2 there appears to be a small correlation (R2=0.45) (Supplementary Figure 2).



6

Figure 1. Adjusted risk estimates of AMI for current use of individual NSAIDs versus past use of any NSAID in the pooled dataset ranked on magnitude of risk in the analyses 1) meta-analytic pooling by random effects model and 2) on individual datasets.

In the THIN, IPCI and PHARMO databases NSAID dose and duration analyses could be conducted as prescription regimens were available. Categorical dose response analyses versus past use of any NSAID in this subset showed that higher doses of celecoxib, the fixed combination of diclofenac and misoprostol, etoricoxib and naproxen increased the risk of AMI (Figure 2). Continuous dose-response curves with cubic splines showed a significant dose response for diclofenac only (Supplementary Figure 3). For duration, no clear patterns were seen (Supplementary Figure 4). The risk of AMI seemed highest with shortest duration for diclofenac, which was also seen for ibuprofen and rofecoxib although confidence limits between categories overlapped.

NSAID	Dose	Odds Ratio	(95% Confidence Interval)	Number of exposed cases
	Past use of any NSAID -		Reference	
	Low (<0.8 DDD) -			15
Celecoxib	Normal (0.8 - 1.2 DDD) -			153
	High (> 1.2 DDD) -		_	41
	Low (<0.8 DDD) -			72
Diclofenac	Normal (0.8 - 1.2 DDD) -		- e	243
	High (> 1.2 DDD) -			603
	Low (<0.8 DDD) -			9
Diclofenac combinations	Normal (0.8 - 1.2 DDD) -	-	-	96
	High (> 1.2 DDD) -		_	131
	Low (<0.8 DDD) -			4
Etoricoxib	Normal (0.8 - 1.2 DDD) -			41
	High (> 1.2 DDD) -		e	49
	Low (<0.8 DDD) -			96
Ibuprofen	Normal (0.8 - 1.2 DDD) -			297
	High (> 1.2 DDD) -		— •—	103
	Low (<0.8 DDD) -			87
Meloxicam	Normal (0.8 - 1.2 DDD) -	-	-	105
	High (> 1.2 DDD) -			2
	Low (<0.8 DDD) -		•	13
Naproxen	Normal (0.8 - 1.2 DDD) -			38
	High (> 1.2 DDD) -			204
	Low (<0.8 DDD) -	_		51
Rofecoxib	Normal (0.8 - 1.2 DDD) -			145
	High (> 1.2 DDD) -	•	· · · ·	5
	C	1	1 2 Odda Partia (05% Cla)	3

Figure 2. Adjusted risk estimates for AMI in current users for dose of use of individual NSAIDs in three databases pooled (THIN, IPCI, PHARMO) using past use of any NSAID as common reference group.

DDD, defined daily dose. Number of exposed cases do not add up to all current users of that particular NSAID in all three databases pooled as dose information could have been missing.

Stratification by AMI risk factors did not reveal clear consistent patterns for potential effect modifiers across individual NSAIDs (Supplementary Table 6). Current use of any NSAID (grouping all individual NSAIDs together) showed significant effect modification for concurrent use of aspirin, lipid lowering drugs and by age, pointing to higher risk in non-users of aspirin and lipid lowering drugs and younger age.

The population attributable risk (PAR) percentages varied between 0% and 2% for different NSAIDs and were slightly higher when the upper limit of the confidence interval was considered (Supplementary Table 7). In most of the databases the PAR was highest for diclofenac and ibuprofen, except in Italy where ibuprofen use is low and the PAR was highest for nimesulide and diclofenac.

DISCUSSION

In this multinational case-control study nested in a new user NSAID cohort of more than 8.5 million persons, we assessed the association with acute myocardial infarction for 28 individual NSAIDs. The study is unique in its kind. It capitalizes on the heterogeneity of prescribing patterns across countries, which allowed for analyses on more drugs than otherwise would be possible in a single database, while using a common data model, protocol, definitions, data transformation and analysis, which is a clear improvement from meta-analyses of heterogeneous observational studies, which has been practice for many years.

Principal findings

The highest point estimate for the risk of AMI was observed for current use of ketorolac in Italian databases. Various other widely used nonselective NSAIDs, such as indometacin, diclofenac, piroxicam, ibuprofen, naproxen, meloxicam and nimesulide; and selective COX-2 inhibitors, as etoricoxib, rofecoxib and celecoxib, were associated with a small increase in risk of AMI. The percentage of AMI cases that can be avoided by taking away the exposure (PAR) was between 0% and 2% and highest for the most frequently used NSAIDS across all databases: ibuprofen and diclofenac in UK, NL and Germany and nimesulide and diclofenac in Italy.

Following the withdrawal of rofecoxib and subsequent referral procedures for nonselective NSAIDs, many single studies have been conducted using different protocols and definitions.^{96, 97, 446-448} Meta-analyses of these observational studies identified large variability between studies and several methodological issues (e.g. including prevalent users, immortal time and recall bias) plus gaps in knowledge about dose effects, and effect estimates on individual NSAIDs, particularly for less commonly studied NSAID.^{434, 449} With this SOS study we tried to address most of these gaps and limitations.

Comparison with other studies

Our risk estimates are slightly lower (except for naproxen and etoricoxib) than the estimates from meta-analyses of clinical trials²⁹³ for the six NSAIDs (celecoxib, diclofenac, etoricoxib, ibuprofen, naproxen, rofecoxib) that have been studied in RCT meta-analyses (Table 3). Explanation might be that some of the large efficacy trials were done for comparison of gastro-intestinal effects and used higher dosages than what is used in the majority of everyday practice.⁴⁵⁰ For the nine NSAIDs for which we have evidence from meta-analyses of published observational studies the SOS estimates were within the width of the confidence intervals (except for naproxen and etodolac). This consistency for the nine NSAIDs where we had external benchmarks gives us reassurance to the interpretation of results of the nineteen additional NSAIDs that were studied.^{293, 434}

	SOS study	Meta-analysis	Composite Endpoint
	(pooled dataset)	published	from meta-analysis of
		observational studies	randomized clinical
			trials#
	Adjusted	Relative Risk	Adjusted
	ORpooled (95% CI)	(random effects)	Rate Ratio
Reference group	Past Use of any NSAID	No / remote NSAID use	Placebo
Current use of:			
Aceclofenac	1.08 (0.85-1.36)		
Acemetacin	1.00 (0.58-1.71)		
Celecoxib	1.15 (1.05-1.25)	1.23 (1.00-1.52)*	1.36 (0.91–2.02)
Dexibuprofen	1.06 (0.61-1.82)		
Dexketoprofen	1.01 (0.50-2.04)		
Diclofenac	1.28 (1.22-1.34)	1.41 (1.08-1.86)*	1.41 (1.12-1.78)
Diclofenac, comb	1.30 (1.17-1.45)		
Etodolac	1.07 (0.76-1.50)	1.55 (1.16-2.06)	
Etoricoxib	1.39 (1.24-1.57)	1.97 (1.35-2.89)	0.83 (0.18-3.77)
Flurbiprofen	1.00 (0.56-1.78)		
Ibuprofen	1.25 (1.18-1.33)	1.20 (0.97-1.48)*	1.44 (0.89-2.33)
Indometacin	1.51 (1.28-1.80)	1.40 (1.21-1.62)	
Ketoprofen	1.00 (0.86-1.16)		
Ketorolac	1.80 (1.49-2.18)		
Lornoxicam	1.08 (0.62-1.87)		
Mefenamic acid	1.02 (0.55-1.90)		
Meloxicam	1.13 (1.02-1.27)	1.25 (1.04-1.49)	
Nabumetone	1.03 (0.72-1.47)		
Naproxen	1.22 (1.10-1.35)	0.85 (0.73-1.00)*	0.93 (0.69-1.27)
Nimesulide	1.12 (1.03-1.22)		
Oxaprozin	0.97 (0.52-1.79)		
Piroxicam	1.27 (1.13-1.42)		
Proglumetacin	1.00 (0.41-2.47)		
Rofecoxib	1.30 (1.19-1.43)	1.43 (1.21-1.66)*	1.38 (0.99-1.94)
Sulindac	1.01 (0.48-2.15)		
Tenoxicam	0.99 (0.56-1.74)		
Tiaprofenic acid	1.01 (0.49-2.10)		
Valdecoxib	1.07 (0.58-1.99)		

Table 3. Risk estimates of AMI for individual NSAIDs from current SOS study, meta-analysis from observational studies⁴³⁴ and randomized clinical trials, ²⁹³ using major vascular events as outcome.

* in new users exposed to NSAIDs.

The outcome major vascular events included non-fatal MI, coronary death, MI or CHD death, non-fatal stroke, stroke death, any stroke and other vascular death). Daily dose studied in Clinical Trials: Diclofenac (150 mg); Ibuprofen (2400 mg); Naproxen (1000 mg); Celecoxib (100-800 mg, typical doses contributing the majority of information on major vascular events 400 mg); Rofecoxib (12.5-125 mg; typical dose 25 mg); Lumiracoxib (100-800 mg; typical dose 200 mg); Etoricoxib (5-120 mg; typical dose 60/90 mg); Valdecoxib (1-80 mg; typical dose 20 mg). What are the key findings for individual nsNSAIDs in this study? The first is that diclofenac (median dose 150 mg, 1.5 DDD), a very frequently used NSAID in Europe, is associated with an increased risk of AMI of a similar magnitude as rofecoxib (median dose 25 mg, 1 DDD). Some recent meta-analyses have shown this as well.^{293, 434} With support of SOS data, regulatory action was therefore taken by EMA in 2013 to restrict the use of diclofenac.⁴⁵¹ The second key finding is that there was one nonselective NSAID that was even more strongly associated with AMI than diclofenac: ketorolac, a finding supporting the negative overall safety profile of ketorolac in Italy, which among other NSAIDs also has showed the highest risk of acute liver failure needing transplantation.⁴⁵² The third finding is that we observed a 22% increase in risk of AMI with naproxen use, which is in contrast with some previous studies^{96, 293, 434, 446, 453, 454} but in line with others.^{96, 453, 455-457} In previous observational studies, naproxen increased the risk of AMI between 14% ⁴⁵⁶ and 19% ⁴⁵⁷ as compared to remote NSAID use, a similar comparator group we have chosen. Although trials provide higher level evidence for the specific study population, our finding on naproxen is in fact in line with the ones observed in clinical trials. In the TARGET trial, which was specifically designed to assess the gastrointestinal and cardiovascular safety of lumiracoxib, naproxen and ibuprofen, it appeared that there were no significant differences between the three drugs and the incidence of AMI, regardless of low-dose aspirin use.⁴⁵⁸ Our findings may as well be explained by different prescribing patterns in Germany since the increased risk was largely driven by the estimate from the German database which did not provide information on prescribed dose. In the dose response analyses that included UK and Dutch databases only, the OR was only significantly increased for the highest dose of naproxen as compared to past use of any NSAID and the median dose for naproxen was 2 times the daily recommended dose (1000 mg). However, in the Dutch PHARMO databases the risk for naproxen was increased, whereas in the other Dutch database (IPCI) and the Italian and UK databases, the confidence levels of the estimate of naproxen included 1 and thus did not provide a significant increased risk. In the stratified analyses presence of ischemic heart disease yielded an higher risk for naproxen (ORadj 1.95) than in subjects without prior ischemic heart disease (ORadj 1.18) whereas for celecoxib, etoricoxib and rofecoxib the opposite effects were seen, suggesting that selective prescribing may have occurred. Other potential explanations could be potential protopathic bias, which was reported before.459

The key findings related to selective COX-2 inhibitors are that the risk of AMI for etoricoxib compared to past use of any NSAID was higher than for diclofenac compared to past use of any NSAID and almost equal to that for rofecoxib, though the confidence limits of these risks were overlapping. An increased risk for etoricoxib was also found in the meta-analysis of observational studies.⁴³⁴ Although etoricoxib has not been studied extensively in placebo-controlled trials, effects of etoricoxib, rofecoxib and celecoxib seemed similar in trials comparing COX-2 selective inhibitors to diclofenac.²⁹³ However, in the MEDAL trial the rate of thrombotic cardiovascular events (including a range of endpoints) was similar in the diclofenac and the etoricoxib treated group (hazard ratio 0.95; 95%CI: 0.81-1.11).⁴⁶⁰ This is very similar to our results if we would compare to observed association of diclofenac indirectly with the odds

ratio of etoricoxib. Our results regarding celecoxib are consistent with the meta-analysis of observational studies and show only a small (15%) increase in risk.⁴³⁴

Dose response analyses showed that AMI risk varied by dose, which means that the overall estimates are largely driven by the dose that will be used in a country or given setting. Lower doses in general, but not for all drugs, have a lower risk in the databases we could use to study this. When comparing the potency of individual NSAIDs in the degree of COX-2 inhibition by normal therapeutic doses, our results show a small correlation in line with a previous study but we could only look at 6 different NSAIDs whereas Garcia Rodriguez studied.⁹⁷ This supports the previously suggested hypothesis that the extent of inhibition of COX-2–dependent prostacyclin may represent an independent determinant of the increased risk of AMI among NSAIDs with nonfunctional suppression of platelet COX-1, a property shared by most NSAIDs.^{461, 462}

Upon stratification for concurrent use of aspirin, lipid lowering drugs, presence of ischemic heart disease, sex, and age several significant interactions were observed, however some were incidental findings for single NSAIDs. E.g. the risk for AMI associated with diclofenac was higher in females than males. The risk was significantly higher in younger persons (<60 years) than older for naproxen, but when current use of all NSAIDs was aggregated, this effect modification was significant for the class. The risk of AMI was higher in non-users of aspirin than in users of aspirin during current use of any NSAID, however not all the databases had adequate information on low dose aspirin. The NSAID associated AMI risk was higher in non-users of lipid lowering drugs than in users, in particular for diclofenac.⁴³⁴ We did not observe a consistent pattern for the interaction between current use of any NSAID and risk of AMI was higher in patients with a history of ischemic heart disease. These findings are consistent with previous findings that show that the relative risk of AMI in current users of NSAIDs is higher in low-CV risk patients due to higher background rates.^{96, 453 293}

Strengths and limitations of study

We acknowledge the following limitations. Since NSAID use was assessed through computerized prescriptions/dispensing, we could not capture over-the-counter NSAID use, this may lead to non-differential misclassification. Channeling of COX-2 inhibitors to high GI-risk patients in the initial marketing phase and the cardiovascular contra-indications after 2004 may have led to time-varying confounding by indication. However, firstly, we matched on calendar time both for the index date as well as cohort entry. Secondly past use of any NSAID was used as comparator (so past users had an indication to receive an NSAID), third we matched on database. In addition we adjusted for a large range of known risk factors for AMI. The matched and adjusted estimates were very similar, indicating that most of the potential confounding variables were time, sex and age-related and taken care of by the matching. Some residual confounding may remain due to inability to measure these confounders

accurately (e.g. smoking), however because of the matching on database this is not likely to differ for cases and controls. However, any residual confounding should be really strong to explain the observed associations.^{442, 463} Our primary aim was to compare the risk of AMI across individual NSAIDs, taking the different doses across NSAIDs into account and therefore used 'past' use of any NSAID as common reference group. Though past users may differ from current users, using a different reference group, such as a single NSAID as comparator, is less appropriate as that particular NSAID may be used in different doses than the compared drugs and prescribing differences across countries could result in biased and less stable estimates. On the other hand, the use of a common reference group across all countries and DBs does allow interpretation of risks across different NSAIDs. Finally, although we applied a random effects model thereby providing conservative estimates, we observed heterogeneity for some NSAIDs when pooling results across databases. Multiple factors can explain the differences in risk estimates for the same individual NSAID across databases, such as regional susceptibility to AMI, also in relation to local eating behavior or lifestyle; differential drug utilization and differences in health care systems. We used a stepwise approach for inclusion of confounders in the model in order to derive a model with robust estimates. Although a model with inclusion of all confounders may have been an option, given that some conditions were very rare and not including these in the model will only lead to confounding when associations are large. Furthermore most confounders were forced into the model based on a priori knowledge.

Conclusion and policy implications

In conclusion, this study provides risk estimates for the association between the use of 28 different NSAIDs and the risk of AMI. This allows for evaluating the variability of AMI risk across these NSAIDs in real life practice circumstances. The risk of AMI seems to correlate with COX-2 inhibition potency. The extent of the inhibition of COX-2–dependent prostacyclin among NSAIDs with nonfunctional suppression of platelet COX-1 is a property shared by most NSAIDs. Because the relative risks for AMI are only slightly elevated for most of the individual NSAIDs, the population attributable risks percentages are highest for the products with the highest prevalence of use across all the studied populations, which are diclofenac and ibuprofen in Germany, the Netherlands and the United Kingdom and nimesulide and diclofenac in Italy.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

Database	GePaRD	IPCI	PHARMO	SISR	OSSIFF	THIN
Country	Germany	Netherlands	Netherlands	Italy	Italy	United Kingdom
Type of Database	Claims database	General practice database	Record linkage system	National Health Services registry (claims)	National Health Services registry (claims)	General practice database
Study period	2005 - 2009	1999 – 2011	1999 – 2008	2000 – 2009	2002 – 2009	1999 – 2008
coaing system for diagnoses	ICD-10-GM	ICPC and free text	ICD-9-CM	ICD-9-CM	ICD-9-CM	READ
Outpatient hospital diagnoses	Available	Available, as free text or codes	Available	Available	Available	Available
Hospital discharge diagnoses	Available	Available, as free text or codes	Available	Available	Available	Available
Diagnostic procedures	Available	Not available	Available	Available	Available	Available
Laboratory tests	Available ordering of the test	Available	Available, for a subset	Available	Available	Available
Coding system for drugs	АТС	ATC	ATC	ATC	ATC	BNF/ Multilex
prescription/dispensing	Available	Available	Available	Available	Available	Available
Dosing regimen	Not available	Available	Available	Not available	Not available	Available
Drug quantity	Available	Available	Available	Available	Available	Available

Supplementary Table 1. Characteristics of participating databases.

ICD-10-GM: International Classification of Diseases, 10th Revision German Modified; ICD-9-CM: International Classification of Diseases, 9th Revision Clinically Modified; ICPC: International Classification for Primary Care; ATC: Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical classification; BNF: British National Formulary.

6

NSAIDs and risk of AMI | 231

	ATC	Substance	GePaRD	IPCI	PHARMO	SISR	OSSIFF	THIN
M01AA		Butylpyrazolidines						
	M01AA01	Phenylbutazone	39.9	2.8	3.0			0.04
	M01AA02	Mofebutazone	1.5					
	M01AA03	Oxyphenbutazone						
	M01AA05	Clofezone						
	M01AA06	Kebuzone						
M01AB		Acetic acid derivatives and	related sub	stances				
	M01AB01	Indometacin	218.5	97.2	154.2	134.6	215.0	138.3
	M01AB02	Sulindac		9.1	23.4	1.0	1.3	3.5
	M01AB03	Tolmetin		0.2	1.3			
	M01AB04	Zomepirac						
	M01AB05	Diclofenac	8,092.4	5,482.9	4,373.6	1,666.9	2,342.2	3,379.8
	M01AB06	Alclofenac						
	M01AB07	Bumadizone						
	M01AB08	Etodolac						87.0
	M01AB09	Lonazolac	4.9					
	M01AB10	Fentiazac				0.3	0.6	
	M01AB11	Acemetacin	177.9			0.1	0.5	5.4
	M01AB12	Difenpiramide						
	M01AB13	Oxametacin						
	M01AB14	Proglumetacin	26.4			5.8	11.0	
	M01AB15	Ketorolac				430.9	887.7	0.6
	M01AB16	Aceclofenac	77.7	17.5	43.1	411.9	411.9	12.2
	M01AB17	Bufexamac						
	M01AB51	Indometacin, combinations					8.9	
	M01AB55	Diclofenac, combinations	194.5	1,085.1	1,094.7	72.3	126.9	359.6
M01AC		Oxicams						
	M01AC01	Piroxicam	300.9	142.8	201.9	853.2	1535.2	78.0
	M01AC02	Tenoxicam		0.5	1.1	54.3	82.6	3.3
	M01AC04	Droxicam						
	M01AC05	Lornoxicam	28.3			76.7	84.8	0.004
	M01AC06	Meloxicam	215.3	411.4	570.3	272.2	450.6	285.9
M01AE		Propionic acid derivatives						
	M01AE01	Ibuprofen	8,478.5	1,889.1	3,692.5	555.3	575.1	2,957.7
	M01AE02	Naproxen	192.4	1,649.9	2,384.1	184.8	298.5	692.3
	M01AE03	Ketoprofen	42.1	23.9	45.5	1,193.1	1,519.7	23.9
	M01AE04	Fenoprofen						0.9
	M01AE05	Fenbufen						4.4
	M01AE06	Benoxaprofen						
	M01AE07	Suprofen						
	M01AE08	Pirprofen						
	M01AE09	Flurbiprofen	0.042	3.2	7.9	33.9	62.8	22.8
	M01AE10	Indoprofen						
	M01AE11	Tiaprofenic acid	12.9	58.1	34.7	2.2	7.1	7.1
	M01AE12	Oxaprozin	0.7			62.7	91.5	
	M01AE13	Ibuproxam						
	M01AE14	Dexibuprofen	93.5	7.6	29.6	71.1	74.4	4.9
	M01AE15	Flunoxaprofen						
	M01AE16	Alminoprofen						
	M01AE17	Dexketoprofen	269.8	0.9	2.7	0.019	0.028	14.2
	M01AE18	Naproxcinod						
	M01AE51	Ibuprofen, combinations					0.009	10.2

Supplementary Table 2. NSAIDs included in the SOS project with prevalence of use per 100,000 person-years.

	ATC	Substance	GePaRD	IPCI	PHARMO	SISR	OSSIFF	THIN
	M01AE52	Naproxen and esomeprazole	5	0.1				
	M01AE53	Ketoprofen, combinations				0.005	0.009	
M01AG		Fenamates						
	M01AG01	Mefenamic acid	0.003			1.2	1.0	397.0
	M01AG02	Tolfenamic acid		1.2	1.1			7.0
	M01AG03	Flufenamic acid						
	M01AG04	Meclofenamic acid				0.005		
M01AH		Selective COX-2 inhibitors						
	M01AH01	Celecoxib	241.6	217.8	303.1	501.2	897.4	386.4
	M01AH02	Rofecoxib	0.3	186.0	576.5	311.3	738.3	301.1
	M01AH03	Valdecoxib	83.5	2.8	11.7	27.1	30.1	17.8
	M01AH04	Parecoxib	7.1					0.039
	M01AH05	Etoricoxib	412.9	406.1	284.5	382.6	434.8	155.6
	M01AH06	Lumiracoxib	14.6					3.2
M01AX		Other anti-inflammatory an	d antirheun	natic agents	s, non-steroids			
	M01AX01	Nabumetone	7.1	51.4	148.7	22.8	42.8	31.0
	M01AX02	Niflumic acid				0.01	5.4	
	M01AX04	Azapropazone		10.5	15.8			7.6
	M01AX07	Benzydamine						
	M01AX13	Proquazone						
	M01AX17	Nimesulide				1,540.3	2,042.7	
	M01AX18	Feprazone						
	M01AX22	Morniflumate				0.1	2.5	
	M01AX23	Tenidap						
	M01AX68	Feprazone, combinations						

Supplementary Table 2. NSAIDs included in the SOS project with prevalence of use per 100,000 person-years (*continued*).

	READ	(for THIN)	Acute myocardial infarction		Acute anterolateral	infarction	Acute papillary muscle infarction	Acute anteroseptal	infarction		Acute atrial infarction	Other acute myocardial	Active anternamical	Acute anteroapical infarction	Acute septal infarction	Acute inferoposterior	infarction	Acute inferolateral	infarction	Postoperative	transmural myocardial infarction anterior wall
			G3000		G300.00		G30y100	G301100			G30y000	G30yz00	0001065	DODTOCD	G30y200	G303.00		G302.00		G380.00	
	ICPC	(for IPCI)	Acute myocardial infarction																		
			r K75																		
	ICD 10	(for GePaRD)	Acute myocardial infarction	Acute subendocardial mvocardial infarction	Acute transmural	myocardial infarction of anterior wall				Acute transmural myocardial infarction of inferior wall											
			121	121.4	121.0					121.1											
	CD 9	J, OSSIFF, SISR)	Acute myocardial infarction	Acute subendocardial myocardial infarction	Acute myocardial infarction of	anterolateral wall	Acute infarction of papillary muscle	Acute anteroseptal myocardial	infarction	Acute myocardial infarction of inferior wall	Acute myocardial infarction of atrium				Acute myocardial infarction of sentum	Acute myocardial infarction of	inferoposterior wall	Acute myocardial infarction of	inferolateral wall	Acute myocardial infarction of	anterior wall (disorder)
system.	2	(for PHARMC	410/ 410.9/ 410.90	410.7	410/410.01/410.02		410.08	410.01		410.04	410.08				410.08	410.03/ 410.3/ 410.31/ 410.32		410.02/ 410.2/ 410.21/ 410.22		410.01	

234 | Chapter 6.1

Supplementary Table 3. List of diagnostic codes (plus related label) for acute myocardial infarction case identification in electronic medical records stratified by coding

system (continued).						
	ICD 9		ICD 10	ICPC		READ
(for Pi	HARMO, OSSIFF, SISR)	(fc	or GePaRD)	(for IPCI)		(for THIN)
410.01/410.1/410.11/	Acute myocardial infarction, of other					
410.12	anterior wall					
410.04/410.4/410.41	Acute myocardial infarction, of other				G308.00	Inferior myocardial
410.42	inferior wall					infarction NOS
					G381.00	Postoperative
						transmural myocardial
						infarction inferior wall
410.05/ 410.5/ 410.51/	Acute myocardial infarction, of other				G305.00	Lateral myocardial
410.52	lateral wall					infarction NOS
410.07/ 410.71/ 410.72	Acute myocardial infarction,				G307.00	Acute subendocardial
	subendocardial infarction					infarction
410.08/ 410.8/ 410.81/	Acute myocardial infarction, of other				G30z.00	Acute Myocardial
410.82	specified sites					infarction NOS
410.06/ 410.6/ 410.61/	True posterior myocardial infarction				G306.00	True posterior
410.62						myocardial infarction
					G304.00	Posterior myocardial
						infarction NOS
	121	.2/ 121.3 /	Acute transmural myocardial		Gyu34	Acute transmural
		121.9	infarction of other sites/			myocardial infarction
			Acute transmural myocardial infarction of unspecified site / Acute Myocardial infarction, unspecified			of unspecified site
410.91	Acute myocardial infarction, unspecified site, initial episode of care					
410.92	Acute myocardial infarction, unspecified site. subsequent episode of care					
410	ST elevation (STEMI) and non-ST				G309.00	Acute Q-wave infarct
	elevation (NSTEMI) myocardial infarction					
					G307000	Acute non-Q-wave infarction

Supplementary Table 3. List of diagnostic codes (plus related label) for acute myocardial infarction case identification in electronic medical records stratified by coding

Supplementary Table 4. Doses considered in the current study in the three databases that captured prescribed doses (THIN, IPCI, PHARMO).

	DDD value		PDD/DD	D*	
Current use of:		Cases		Controls	
		Median (Q1-Q3)	Mean (SD)	Median (Q1-Q3)	Mean (SD)
Diclofenac Fixed Combination of	100 mg	1.5 (1.0-1.5)	1.3 (0.4)	1.5 (1.0-1.5)	1.3 (0.5)
Diclofenac with misoprostol	100 mg	1.5 (1.0-1.5)	1.3 (0.3)	1.2 (1.0-1.5)	1.2 (0.3)
Ibuprofen	1200 mg	1.0 (1.0-1.0)	1.0 (0.4)	1.0 (1.0-1.0)	1.0 (0.3)
Naproxen	500 mg	2.0 (1.5-2.0)	1.7 (0.5)	2.0 (1.5-2.0)	1.7 (0.6)
Meloxicam	15 mg	1.0 (0.5-1.0)	0.8 (0.3)	1.0 (0.5-1.0)	0.8 (0.3)
Celecoxib	200 mg	1.0 (1.0-1.0)	1.1 (0.5)	1.0 (1.0-1.0)	1.1 (0.4)
Rofecoxib	25 mg	1.0 (0.5-1.0)	0.9 (0.3)	1.0 (0.5-1.0)	0.9 (0.3)
Etoricoxib	60 mg	1.5 (1.0-1.5)	1.3 (0.5)	1.5 (1.0-1.5)	1.3 (0.5)

PDD, prescribed daily dose; DDD, defined daily dose.

* PDD/DDD: the ratio of the prescribed daily dose with the defined daily dose as defined by the WHO.

		Ge	PaRD				IPCI	
	Cases	Controls	ORmatched	ORadj	Cases	Controls	ORmatched	ORadj
	N = 9,930	N = 957,016	(95% CI)	(95% CI)	N = 1,070	N = 38,688	(95% CI)	(95% CI)
Past Use of any NSAID	5,339 (53.8)	542,672 (56.7)	1 (ref)	1 (ref)	597 (55.8)	19,025 (49.2)	1 (ref)	1 (ref)
Recent Use of any NSAID	3,138 (31.60)	301,266 (31.48)	1.02 (0.97-1.07)	1.04 (0.98-1.09)	341 (31.87)	14,962 (38.67)	1.01 (0.85-1.2)	1.02 (0.85-1.22)
Current Use of:								
Aceclofenac	6 (0.06)	336 (0.04)	1.64 (0.73-3.68)	1.16 (0.46-2.94)	0 (0)	1 (0.00)		
Acemetacin	11 (0.11)	1,028 (0.11)	1.03 (0.57-1.87)	0.95 (0.52-1.72)				
Celecoxib	13 (0.13)	1,446 (0.15)	0.86 (0.50-1.49)	0.79 (0.46-1.37)	3 (0.28)	94 (0.24)		
Dexibuprofen	2 (0.02)	279 (0.03)			0 (0)	3 (0.01)		
Dexketoprofen	8 (0.08)	604 (0.06)	1.32 (0.65-2.65)	1.12 (0.54-2.33)				
Diclofenac	771 (7.76)	64,062 (6.69)	1.19 (1.10-1.29)	1.22 (1.13-1.33)	58 (5.42)	2,454 (6.34)	1.07 (0.80-1.44)	1.08 (0.79-1.47)
Diclofenac, combinations	19 (0.19)	1,068 (0.11)	1.63 (1.03-2.57)	1.68 (1.06-2.65)	13 (1.21)	554 (1.43)	0.80 (0.45-1.43)	0.75 (0.41-1.36)
Etodolac								
Etoricoxib	47 (0.47)	3,401 (0.36)	1.31 (0.98-1.75)	1.29 (0.96-1.72)	5 (0.47)	250 (0.65)	0.88 (0.36-2.18)	0.94 (0.38-2.33)
Flurbiprofen					0 (0)	2 (0.01)		
Ibuprofen	504 (5.08)	35,593 (3.72)	1.39 (1.26-1.53)	1.36 (1.23-1.50)	18 (1.68)	556 (1.44)	1.28 (0.78-2.10)	1.23 (0.74-2.06)
Indometacin	24 (0.24)	1,277 (0.13)	1.79 (1.19-2.70)	1.71 (1.13-2.56)	1 (0.09)	30 (0.08)		
Ketoprofen	0 (0)	238 (0.02)			1 (0.09)	7 (0.02)		
Ketorolac								
Lornoxicam	1 (0.01)	98 (0.01)						
Mefenamic acid								
Meloxicam	19 (0.19)	1,459 (0.15)	1.24 (0.79-1.96)	1.22 (0.78-1.93)	8 (0.75)	206 (0.53)	1.33 (0.63-2.78)	1.40 (0.65-3.02)
Nabumetone	1 (0.01)	66 (0.01)			1 (0.09)	13 (0.03)		
Naproxen	21 (0.21)	1,009 (0.11)	1.97 (1.28-3.05)	1.87 (1.20-2.89)	16 (1.50)	463 (1.20)	1.29 (0.76-2.20)	1.27 (0.74-2.17)
Nimesulide								
Oxaprozin								
Piroxicam	14 (0.14)	1,639 (0.17)	0.82 (0.48-1.38)	0.84 (0.50-1.43)	4 (0.37)	25 (0.06)		
Proglumetacin	1 (0.01)	137 (0.01)						
Rofecoxib					4 (0.37)	43 (0.11)		
Sulindac					0 (0)	6 (0.02)		
Tenoxicam								
Tia profenic acid	0 (0)	68 (0.01)			2 (0.19)	22 (0.06)		
Valdecoxib	0 (0)	79 (0.01)						

Supplementary Table 5. Association between current use of individual NSAID and risk of AMI compared with past use of any NSAID by database.

ORmatched, matching criteria age, sex, indexdate (\pm 1 year), cohort entry (\pm 28 days) and database. ORadj, ORadjusted for backward selected confounders (for each database these may differ); 95% Cl, 95 % Confidence Intervals. Values in bold represent statistically significant estimates.

supplementary rable 5.4					מובח אונוו אמצר מצב ס	n yu uiken yiib i		.ln
	Cases	Controls	ORmatched	ORadj	Cases	Controls	ORmatched	ORadj
	N = 9,974	N = 896,907	(95% CI)	(95% CI)	N = 13,511	N = 1,232,506	(95% CI)	(95% CI)
Past Use of any NSAID	6,444 (64.6)	618,802 (69.0)	1 (ref)	1 (ref)	8377 (62.0)	799,331 (64.9)	1 (ref)	1 (ref)
Recent Use of any NSAID	2316 (23.22)	200,396 (22.34)	1.09 (1.03-1.15)	1.11 (1.05-1.17)	3034 (22.46)	62,979 (21.34)	1.11 (1.06-1.17)	1.14 (1.10-1.19)
Current Use of:								
Aceclofenac	5 (0.05)	272 (0.03)	1.68 (0.69-4.06)	1.52 (0.57-4.03)	4 (0.03)	350 (0.03)		
Acemetacin					2 (0.01)	127 (0.01)		
Celecoxib	54 (0.54)	2,553 (0.28)	1.71 (1.30-2.25)	1.73 (1.32-2.27)	183 (1.35)	14,771 (1.20)	1.1 (0.95-1.28)	1.11 (0.95-1.28)
Dexibuprofen	4 (0.04)	95 (0.01)			0 (0)	46 (0.00)		
Dexketoprofen	0 (0)	14 (0.00)			1 (0.01)	105 (0.01)		
Diclofenac	420 (4.21)	26,381 (2.94)	1.41 (1.27-1.56)	1.44 (1.30-1.59)	649 (4.80)	54,019 (4.38)	1.15 (1.06-1.25)	1.24 (1.14-1.34)
Diclofenac, combinations	122 (1.22)	7,748 (0.86)	1.29 (1.08-1.55)	1.36 (1.13-1.63)	147 (1.09)	11,210 (0.91)	1.19 (1.01-1.40)	1.22 (1.04-1.44)
Etodolac					37 (0.27)	2,761 (0.22)	1.22 (0.88-1.69)	1.17 (0.85-1.63)
Etoricoxib	48 (0.48)	2,413 (0.27)	1.65 (1.24-2.20)	1.67 (1.25-2.23)	53 (0.39)	3,635 (0.29)	1.31 (1.00-1.72)	1.28 (0.97-1.68)
Flurbiprofen	2 (0.02)	92 (0.01)			4 (0.03)	260 (0.02)		
Ibuprofen	207 (2.08)	14,065 (1.57)	1.33 (1.16-1.54)	1.43 (1.24-1.65)	472 (3.49)	40,291 (3.27)	1.05 (0.96-1.16)	1.15 (1.04-1.26)
Indometacin	23 (0.23)	1,293 (0.14)	1.60 (1.06-2.43)	1.61 (1.06-2.44)	47 (0.35)	3,363 (0.27)	1.31 (0.98-1.74)	1.36 (1.02-1.82)
Ketoprofen	1 (0.01)	437 (0.05)			6 (0.04)	701 (0.06)	0.80 (0.36-1.78)	0.94 (0.45-1.98)
Ketorolac					0 (0)	5 (0.00)		
Lornoxicam								
Mefenamic acid					12 (0.09)	910 (0.07)	1.26 (0.71-2.23)	1.18 (0.66-2.09)
Meloxicam	82 (0.82)	5,396 (0.60)	1.27 (1.02-1.58)	1.25 (1.00-1.55)	128 (0.95)	10,205 (0.83)	1.12 (0.94-1.34)	1.10 (0.92-1.31)
Nabumetone	10 (0.10)	903 (0.10)	0.99 (0.53-1.86)	1.03 (0.55-1.92)	8 (0.06)	839 (0.07)	0.94 (0.48-1.83)	0.94 (0.48-1.83)
Naproxen	144 (1.44)	9,838 (1.10)	1.31 (1.10-1.55)	1.34 (1.13-1.59)	156 (1.15)	13,389 (1.09)	1.09 (0.93-1.28)	1.12 (0.96-1.32)
Nimesulide								
Oxaprozin								
Piroxicam	60.0) 6	1,199 (0.13)	0.67 (0.35-1.30)	0.65 (0.33-1.29)	21 (0.16)	1,654 (0.13)	1.19 (0.77-1.82)	1.16 (0.75-1.78)
Proglumetacin								
Rofecoxib	83 (0.83)	4,974 (0.55)	1.46 (1.17-1.83)	1.46 (1.17-1.83)	164 (1.21)	11,225 (0.91)	1.32 (1.12-1.54)	1.28 (1.09-1.5)
Sulindac	7 (0.07)	300 (0.03)	1.87 (0.88-3.96)	1.41 (0.65-3.09)	0 (0)	94 (0.01)		
Tenoxicam	0 (0)	11 (0.00)			1 (0.01)	110 (0.01)		
Tiaprofenic acid	1 (0.01)	231 (0.03)			3 (0.02)	182 (0.01)		
Valdecoxib	0 (0)	39 (0.00)			6 (0.04)	287 (0.02)	1.87 (0.83-4.21)	1.13 (0.39-3.29)
ORmatched, matching criteric 95% Cl, 95 % Confidence Inter	i age, sex, indexdi vals. Values in bo	ate (± 1 year), cohort Id represent statistic	t entry (± 28 days) aı ally significant estin	nd database. ORadj, ORadji lates.	isted for backward sele	cted confounders ((for each database th	iese may differ);

				-	-		-	
		S	ISR			OS	SIFF	
	Cases	Controls	ORmatched	ORadj	Cases	Controls	ORmatched	ORadj
	N = 25,719	N = 2,523,118	(95% CI)	(95% CI)	N = 19,349	N = 1,840,368	(95% CI)	(95% CI)
Past Use of any NSAID	12,265 (47.7)	1,311,705 (52.0)	1 (ref)	1 (ref)	10,732 (55.5)	1,093,813 (59.4)	1 (ref)	1 (ref)
Recent Use of any NSAID	9,128 (35.49)	63,409 (34.22)	1.08 (1.05-1.11)	1.05 (1.02-1.08)	5,939 (30.69)	38,476 (29.26)	1.10 (1.06-1.14)	1.07 (1.03-1.10)
Current Use of:								
Aceclofenac	141 (0.55)	14,200 (0.56)	0.97 (0.82-1.15)	1.01 (0.85-1.19)	58 (0.30)	5,211 (0.28)	1.05 (0.81-1.36)	1.06 (0.81-1.37)
Acemetacin	1 (0.00)	4 (0.00)			0 (0)	19 (0.00)		
Celecoxib	366 (1.42)	34,595 (1.37)	1.05 (0.94-1.16)	1.08 (0.97-1.20)	267 (1.38)	22,673 (1.23)	1.13 (1.00-1.28)	1.11 (0.98-1.26)
Dexibuprofen	24 (0.09)	1,539 (0.06)	1.54 (1.03-2.30)	1.17 (0.75-1.84)	11 (0.06)	689 (0.04)	1.52 (0.84-2.75)	1.12 (0.57-2.22)
Dexketoprofen								
Diclofenac	720 (2.80)	52,244 (2.07)	1.38 (1.28-1.49)	1.39 (1.29-1.50)	446 (2.31)	31,053 (1.69)	1.39 (1.26-1.53)	1.36 (1.24-1.50)
Diclofenac, combinations	64 (0.25)	4,398 (0.17)	1.44 (1.12-1.84)	1.35 (1.05-1.74)	34 (0.18)	2,945 (0.16)	1.10 (0.79-1.55)	1.09 (0.77-1.53)
Etodolac								
Etoricoxib	229 (0.89)	19,631 (0.78)	1.15 (1.01-1.31)	1.17 (1.02-1.33)	115 (0.59)	8,148 (0.44)	1.33 (1.10-1.60)	1.34 (1.11-1.61)
Flurbiprofen	15 (0.06)	834 (0.03)	1.78 (1.06-2.96)	1.14 (0.62-2.11)	6 (0.03)	784 (0.04)	0.73 (0.33-1.63)	0.93 (0.45-1.91)
Ibuprofen	272 (1.06)	20,588 (0.82)	1.30 (1.15-1.47)	1.23 (1.09-1.39)	91 (0.47)	8,126 (0.44)	1.04 (0.85-1.29)	1.02 (0.83-1.25)
Indometacin	58 (0.23)	3,722 (0.15)	1.54 (1.18-1.99)	1.33 (1.02-1.75)	43 (0.22)	2,104 (0.11)	1.94 (1.43-2.63)	1.59 (1.16-2.20)
Ketoprofen	376 (1.46)	30,916 (1.23)	1.20 (1.09-1.34)	1.16 (1.05-1.29)	175 (0.90)	15,670 (0.85)	1.07 (0.92-1.24)	1.04 (0.89-1.21)
Ketorolac	148 (0.58)	6,567 (0.26)	2.24 (1.90-2.64)	2.00 (1.70-2.35)	124 (0.64)	5,160 (0.28)	2.31 (1.93-2.77)	2.14 (1.79-2.55)
Lornoxicam	22 (0.09)	2,036 (0.08)	1.05 (0.69-1.61)	1.01 (0.66-1.55)	17 (0.09)	961 (0.05)	1.67 (1.02-2.68)	1.21 (0.70-2.08)
Mefenamic acid	0 (0)	60 (0.00)			0 (0)	11 (0.00)		
Meloxicam	171 (0.66)	13,501 (0.54)	1.25 (1.07-1.45)	1.28 (1.10-1.49)	84 (0.43)	8,039 (0.44)	0.99 (0.80-1.23)	1.01 (0.82-1.26)
Nabumetone	14 (0.05)	1,209 (0.05)	1.15 (0.68-1.94)	1.03 (0.60-1.79)	12 (0.06)	765 (0.04)	1.52 (0.86-2.69)	1.13 (0.59-2.16)
Naproxen	87 (0.34)	8,332 (0.33)	1.03 (0.83-1.27)	1.01 (0.81-1.24)	62 (0.32)	5,628 (0.31)	1.06 (0.83-1.37)	1.07 (0.83-1.38)
Nimesulide	1,069 (4.16)	85,349 (3.38)	1.26 (1.18-1.34)	1.18 (1.11-1.26)	583 (3.01)	48,113 (2.61)	1.18 (1.08-1.28)	1.12 (1.04-1.23)
Oxaprozin	14 (0.05)	1,740 (0.07)	0.80 (0.47-1.35)	0.93 (0.57-1.54)	8 (0.04)	969 (0.05)	0.80 (0.40-1.60)	0.92 (0.49-1.73)
Piroxicam	324 (1.26)	27,361 (1.08)	1.17 (1.05-1.31)	1.17 (1.04-1.31)	264 (1.36)	20,020 (1.09)	1.27 (1.12-1.44)	1.28 (1.13-1.45)
Proglumetacin	6 (0.02)	489 (0.02)	1.19 (0.53-2.67)	1.03 (0.42-2.49)	4 (0.02)	304 (0.02)		
Rofecoxib	180 (0.70)	16,002 (0.63)	1.13 (0.97-1.31)	1.16 (1.00-1.35)	259 (1.34)	19,430 (1.06)	1.31 (1.15-1.48)	1.27 (1.12-1.44)
Sulindac	3 (0.01)	(00.0) 69			1 (0.01)	25 (0.00)		
Tenoxicam	21 (0.08)	1,877 (0.07)	1.10 (0.71-1.69)	1.05 (0.67-1.63)	10 (0.05)	1,106 (0.06)	0.86 (0.46-1.61)	0.97 (0.53-1.78)
Tiaprofenic acid	1 (0.00)	124 (0.00)			1 (0.01)	83 (0.00)		
Valdecoxib	10 (0.04)	1,299 (0.05)	0.75 (0.40-1.41)	0.91 (0.53-1.59)	9 (0.05)	455 (0.02)	1.86 (0.96-3.61)	1.14 (0.51-2.55)

Supplementary Table 5. Association between current use of individual NSAID and risk of AMI compared with past use of any NSAID by database (continued).

			-	//		-				
			Sex	~				Ag	e	
NSAID		Females		Males		ľ	<= 60 Years	λ	> 60 Years	
	Cases	ORadj	Cases	ORadj	P-value	Cases	ORadj	Cases	ORadj	P-value
Current use of:	z	(95% CI)	z	(95% CI)	interaction	Z	(95% CI)	z	(95% CI)	interaction
Aceclofenac	123	1.01 (0.73-1.41)	91	1.22 (0.87-1.69)	0.447	38	2.26 (1.41-3.60)	176	0.99 (0.76-1.29)	0.016
Acemetacin	ŝ	0.92 (0.35-2.46)	11	1.08 (0.57-2.04)	0.238	5	1.24 (0.48-3.21)	6	0.96 (0.50-1.82)	0.306
Celecoxib	529	1.13 (1.00-1.27)	357	1.17 (1.03-1.34)	0.833	112	1.36 (1.08-1.71)	774	1.12 (1.02-1.23)	0.124
Dexibuprofen	20	0.95 (0.43-2.12)	21	1.28 (0.63-2.62)	0.083	4	0.93 (0.25-3.41)	37	1.13 (0.63-2.03)	0.375
Dexketoprofen	0	NA	6	1.14 (0.53-2.47)		с	0.99 (0.32-3.14)	9	1.03 (0.42-2.50)	0.844
Diclofenac	1,201	1.38 (1.28-1.49)	1,863	1.25 (1.18-1.32)	0.008	879	1.39 (1.28-1.50)	2,185	1.25 (1.19-1.32)	0.069
Diclofenac combinations	186	1.27 (1.08-1.50)	213	1.28 (1.11-1.48)	0.745	79	1.34 (1.06-1.69)	320	1.22 (1.08-1.38)	0.549
Etodolac	17	1.10 (0.66-1.83)	20	1.09 (0.69-1.72)	0.823	6	1.24 (0.63-2.44)	28	1.07 (0.73-1.58)	0.644
Etoricoxib	261	1.24 (1.03-1.48)	236	1.46 (1.23-1.72)	0.133	74	1.41 (1.09-1.84)	423	1.31 (1.14-1.50)	0.524
Flurbiprofen	14	1.05 (0.49-2.27)	13	0.94 (0.39-2.22)	0.362	3	1.06 (0.24-4.75)	24	1.00 (0.53-1.85)	0.825
Ibuprofen	660	1.30 (1.19-1.43)	904	1.24 (1.15-1.34)	0.369	403	1.31 (1.17-1.46)	1,161	1.22 (1.14-1.31)	0.277
Indometacin	99	1.48 (1.06-2.08)	130	1.56 (1.28-1.90)	0.471	36	1.19 (0.82-1.72)	160	1.74 (1.44-2.10)	0.076
Ketoprofen	291	1.01 (0.82-1.24)	268	1.00 (0.81-1.23)	0.800	78	0.72 (0.46-1.12)	481	1.04 (0.89-1.22)	0.143
Ketorolac	138	1.94 (1.49-2.52)	134	2.16 (1.69-2.77)	0.924	33	1.55 (0.93-2.58)	239	2.19 (1.81-2.66)	0.153
Lornoxicam	24	1.07 (0.51-2.20)	16	1.19 (0.53-2.68)	0.488	4	0.93 (0.17-5.16)	36	1.17 (0.67-2.07)	0.388
Mefenamic acid	8	1.05 (0.49-2.25)	4	1.01 (0.36-2.83)	0.815	9	1.12 (0.48-2.58)	9	1.02 (0.43-2.44)	0.996
Meloxicam	267	1.08 (0.92-1.26)	225	1.17 (1.00-1.36)	0.498	69	1.09 (0.83-1.42)	423	1.11 (0.98-1.25)	0.930
Nabumetone	29	1.10 (0.68-1.79)	17	0.96 (0.56-1.65)	0.419	3	0.57 (0.18-1.83)	43	1.15 (0.79-1.67)	0.063
Naproxen	190	1.19 (1.01-1.40)	296	1.24 (1.09-1.40)	0.689	165	1.44 (1.22-1.70)	321	1.09 (0.96-1.24)	0.013
Nimesulide	837	1.10 (0.98-1.24)	815	1.17 (1.04-1.32)	0.772	226	1.32 (1.05-1.65)	1,426	1.11 (1.01-1.21)	0.273
Oxaprozin	12	0.96 (0.40-2.30)	10	0.95 (0.39-2.30)	0.980	2	0.95 (0.16-5.52)	20	0.95 (0.48-1.86)	0.951
Piroxicam	342	1.31 (1.12-1.54)	294	1.18 (1.00-1.39)	0.396	86	1.19 (0.90-1.57)	550	1.22 (1.08-1.39)	0.730
Proglumetacin	7	0.99 (0.27-3.63)	4	1.03 (0.29-3.65)	0.699	1	1.03 (0.12-8.81)	10	1.00 (0.37-2.71)	0.849
Rofecoxib	378	1.24 (1.09-1.40)	312	1.40 (1.23-1.60)	0.256	80	1.34 (1.04-1.72)	610	1.30 (1.18-1.43)	0.790
Sulindac	9	1.04 (0.38-2.78)	5	0.99 (0.32-3.07)	0.589	2	1.02 (0.13-8.15)	6	1.03 (0.46-2.29)	0.991
Tenoxicam	17	0.95 (0.43-2.08)	15	1.03 (0.44-2.37)	0.494	ŝ	0.91 (0.17-4.76)	29	0.99 (0.53-1.82)	0.651
Tiaprofenic acid	S	1.06 (0.36-3.15)	ŝ	0.95 (0.35-2.57)	0.260	1	0.88 (0.18-4.18)	7	1.04 (0.45-2.38)	0.418
Valdecoxib	15	1.13 (0.50-2.51)	10	1.08 (0.43-2.76)	0.728	33	1.12 (0.22-5.70)	22	1.13 (0.59-2.16)	0.846
Recent use of any NSAID	10,378	1.07 (1.03-1.11)	13,518	1.09 (1.06-1.12)	0.609	5,663	1.17 (1.12-1.21)	18,233	1.05 (1.03-1.08)	<0.001
Current use of any NSAID		1.25 (1.2-1.31)		1.27 (1.22-1.31)	0.894		1.35 (1.28-1.43)		1.23 (1.19-1.26)	0.001

ORadj, ORadjusted for backward selected confounders. Bold numbers indicate significant interaction-terms.

Supplementary Table 6. Effect modification by important (proxy) risk factors for AMI on the matched pooled dataset.

		Co mort	bid ischemic I	heart disease			Current	use of low-	dose aspirin	
NSAID		Yes		No			Yes		No	
	Cases	ORadj	Cases	ORadj	P-value	Cases	ORadj	Cases	ORadj	P-value
Current use of:	z	(95% CI)	z	(95% CI)	interaction	z	(95% CI)	z	(95% CI)	interaction
Aceclofenac	6	1.39 (0.34-5.79)	205	1.12 (0.88-1.43)	0.727	65	1.14 (0.72-1.80)	149	1.08 (0.81-1.42)	0.591
Acemetacin	ŝ	0.79 (0.27-2.30)	11	1.04 (0.53-2.02)	0.405	4	NA	10	0.97 (0.53-1.78)	,
Celecoxib	57	0.89 (0.57-1.38)	829	1.16 (1.06-1.28)	0.305	227	1.00 (0.84-1.19)	629	1.20 (1.08-1.33)	0.070
Dexibuprofen	1	NA	40	1.15 (0.65-2.00)	,	13	1.13 (0.38-3.40)	28	1.07 (0.57-2.01)	0.821
Dexketoprofen	4	NA	5	1.01 (0.40-2.57)		ŝ	1.13 (0.19-6.65)	9	1.00 (0.45-2.22)	0.368
Diclofenac	360	1.13 (0.98-1.30)	2,704	1.32 (1.26-1.38)	0.952	759	1.19 (1.08-1.31)	2,305	1.32 (1.25-1.39)	0.708
Diclofenac combinations	24	1.11 (0.62-2.02)	375	1.26 (1.13-1.41)	0.560	125	1.19 (0.97-1.46)	274	1.27 (1.12-1.45)	0.918
Etodolac	0	NA	37	1.16 (0.82-1.63)		14	1.19 (0.67-2.12)	23	1.08 (0.70-1.66)	0.847
Etoricoxib	24	0.57 (0.31-1.05)	473	1.39 (1.23-1.58)	0.013	133	1.35 (1.05-1.74)	364	1.34 (1.17-1.55)	0.792
Flurbiprofen	0	NA	27	1.02 (0.57-1.82)	,	10	1.02 (0.36-2.94)	17	1.00 (0.50-2.02)	0.813
Ibuprofen	256	1.32 (1.13-1.55)	1,308	1.23 (1.16-1.31)	0.001	414	1.18(1.04 - 1.33)	1150	1.27 (1.19-1.36)	0.602
Indometacin	25	1.97 (1.16-3.34)	171	1.53 (1.28-1.83)	0.217	53	1.64 (1.17-2.32)	143	1.59 (1.31-1.94)	0.976
Ketoprofen	42	1.35 (0.62-2.96)	517	0.99 (0.85-1.16)	0.504	175	1.01 (0.76-1.35)	384	0.98 (0.82-1.16)	0.523
Ketorolac	29	1.42 (0.52-3.91)	243	2.03 (1.68-2.45)	0.670	87	2.80 (1.97-3.98)	185	1.75 (1.40-2.19)	0.074
Lornoxicam	4	NA	36	1.17 (0.67-2.03)		14	0.98 (0.31-3.06)	26	1.17 (0.62-2.21)	0.261
Mefenamic acid	0	NA	12	1.07 (0.56-2.01)		e	NA	6	1.05 (0.50-2.23)	
Meloxicam	36	0.87 (0.49-1.56)	456	1.11 (0.99-1.25)	0.839	141	0.94 (0.76-1.16)	351	1.20 (1.05-1.37)	0.051
Nabumetone	2	NA	44	1.07 (0.74-1.54)	,	16	1.25 (0.69-2.26)	30	0.96 (0.61-1.52)	0.119
Naproxen	30	1.95 (1.17-3.23)	456	1.18 (1.06-1.31)	0.222	146	1.21 (1.00-1.47)	340	1.18 (1.05-1.34)	0.614
Nimesulide	108	1.03 (0.58-1.82)	1,544	1.15(1.06-1.26)	0.336	523	0.99 (0.82-1.18)	1,129	1.19 (1.08-1.31)	0.085
Oxaprozin	2	NA	20	0.96 (0.50-1.84)	,	9	0.95 (0.27-3.35)	16	0.96 (0.46-2.00)	0.770
Piroxicam	41	0.86 (0.49-1.51)	595	1.22 (1.08-1.37)	0.616	163	0.92 (0.71-1.20)	473	1.31 (1.15-1.48)	0.078
Proglumetacin	1	NA	10	1.00 (0.38-2.63)	,	1	1.02 (0.09-11.22)	10	1.00 (0.37-2.75)	0.746
Rofecoxib	53	1.20 (0.73-1.96)	637	1.32 (1.21-1.45)	0.408	198	1.20 (1.01-1.42)	492	1.37 (1.23-1.53)	0.291
Sulindac	1	NA	10	1.02 (0.49-2.16)	,	4	NA	7	1.01 (0.36-2.81)	·
Tenoxicam	4	NA	28	0.92 (0.50-1.69)	,	4	NA	28	1.02 (0.53-1.95)	,
Tiaprofenic acid	1	NA	7	1.01 (0.46-2.21)	,	2	NA	9	0.98 (0.43-2.25)	,
Valdecoxib	0	NA	25	1.15 (0.62-2.13)	,	2	NA	23	1.20 (0.61-2.36)	ı
Recent use of any NSAID	2,119	1.05 (0.96-1.14)	21,177	1.09 (1.06-1.11)	0.257	6,444	1.07 (1.02-1.12)	17,452	1.09 (1.06-1.11)	0.132
Current use of any NSAID		1.14 (1.02-1.27)		1.27 (1.24-1.31)	0.337		1.16 (1.10-1.23)		1.28 (1.24-1.33)	0.041

Supplementary Table 6. Effect modification by important (proxy) risk factors for AMI on the matched pooled dataset (continued).

NSAIDs and risk of AMI | 241

6

ORadj, ORadjusted for backward selected confounders. Bold numbers indicate significant interaction-terms.

5
õ
n
Ц.
٦t
0
0
÷
j.
ЗS
Ę
a N
p
<u>_</u>
8
R
-
0
Ĕ
5
ъ
Ĕ
-
e
÷
Ċ
ō
_
Σ
Ā
Ľ.
ō
4
rs
0
ರ
a,
t
Š
. <u>с</u>
Ś
_
~
- X
rox)
(prox)
it (prox)
int (prox)
tant (prox)
ortant (prox)
oortant (prox)
nportant (prox)
important (prox)
y important (prox)
by important (prox)
n by important (prox)
on by important (prox)
ition by important (prox)
cation by important (prox)
fication by important (prox)
dification by important (prox)
odification by important (prox)
nodification by important (prox)
: modification by important (prox)
ct modification by important (prox)
ect modification by important (prox)
ffect modification by important (prox)
. Effect modification by important (prox)
6. Effect modification by important (prox)
e 6. Effect modification by important (prox)
ile 6. Effect modification by important (prox)
able 6. Effect modification by important (prox)
Table 6. Effect modification by important (prox)
v Table 6. Effect modification by important (prox)
ry Table 6. Effect modification by important (prox)
tary Table 6. Effect modification by important (prox)
ntary Table 6. Effect modification by important (prox)
entary Table 6. Effect modification by important (prox)
mentary Table 6. Effect modification by important (prox)
ementary Table 6. Effect modification by important (prox)
olementary Table 6. Effect modification by important (prox)
pplementary Table 6. Effect modification by important (prox)
upplementary Table 6. Effect modification by important (prox)

			Use of lipid lowering	g drugs	
NSAID		Yes		No	
Current Use of:	Cases N	ORadj (95% Cl)	Cases N	ORadj (95% CI)	P-value interaction
Aceclofenac	38	1.31 (0.78-2.20)	176	1.07 (0.82-1.41)	0.395
Acemetacin	4	NA	10	0.99 (0.52-1.89)	
Celecoxib	187	1.08 (0.89-1.31)	669	1.15 (1.04-1.28)	0.879
Dexibuprofen	12	1.14 (0.39-3.35)	29	1.06 (0.56-1.99)	0.721
Dexketoprofen	ĉ	NA	9	1.01 (0.43-2.39)	ı
Diclofenac	680	1.10 (1.00-1.21)	2,384	1.35 (1.29-1.42)	0.002
Diclofenac, combinations	66	1.19 (0.95-1.49)	300	1.30 (1.15-1.48)	0.301
Etodolac	16	1.28 (0.75-2.17)	21	1.03 (0.66-1.60)	0.654
Etoricoxib	113	1.44(1.13-1.84)	384	1.35 (1.17-1.55)	0.886
Flurbiprofen	9	0.88 (0.23-3.36)	21	1.02 (0.53-1.96)	0.641
Ibuprofen	376	1.16 (1.02-1.31)	1,188	1.30 (1.22-1.39)	0.115
Indo metacin	40	1.49 (1.04-2.15)	156	1.64 (1.36-1.99)	0.412
Ketoprofen	108	0.65 (0.44-0.97)	451	1.06 (0.90-1.24)	0.287
Ketorolac	61	2.02 (1.28-3.20)	211	1.91 (1.56-2.35)	0.117
Lornoxicam	6	1.33 (0.40-4.49)	31	1.07 (0.56-2.01)	0.369
Mefenamic acid	1	NA	11	1.08 (0.53-2.18)	I
Meloxicam	113	1.00 (0.79-1.26)	379	1.19 (1.05-1.36)	0.101
Nabumetone	7	0.79 (0.36-1.75)	39	1.10 (0.74-1.65)	0.271
Naproxen	134	1.17 (0.96-1.43)	352	1.20 (1.07-1.35)	0.846
Nimesulide	361	1.13 (0.92-1.39)	1,291	1.14 (1.03-1.25)	0.314
Oxaprozin	9	0.92 (0.20-4.23)	16	0.97 (0.48-1.95)	0.563
Prioxicam	119	1.22 (0.92-1.62)	517	1.26 (1.11-1.43)	0.933
Proglumetacin	з	NA	∞	0.98 (0.36-2.68)	I
Rofecoxib	146	1.21 (0.98-1.49)	544	1.36 (1.22-1.50)	0.632
Sulindac	4	NA	7	1.02 (0.39-2.66)	I
Tenoxicam	с	NA	29	0.99 (0.53-1.83)	I
Tiaprofenic acid	1	NA	7	1.03 (0.45-2.34)	I
Valdecoxib	5	1.05 (0.28-3.94)	20	1.12 (0.55-2.26)	0.645
Recent use of any NSAID	5,380	1.04 (1.00-1.09)	18,516	1.09 (1.06-1.12)	0.471
Current use of any NSAID		1.13 (1.07-1.20)		1.30 (1.26-1.34)	0.002

ORa, ORadjusted for backward selected confounders. Bold numbers indicate significant interaction-terms.

The PAR is an estimate tha based on the point estima the OR could not be estim:	at reflects the te of the adjus ated for that d	percentage (sted OR in th latabase due	of cases tha e database to lack of (it can be avo and the oth exposure or	bided in the ta ner is based or because the (irget populati 1 the upper li 0R was below	on if the exposu mit of the confic ^1.	ire is removed fr dence interval of	om the pop the adjuste	ulation. Two esi ed OR in that dat	timates are tabase. Emp	provided. One is ty cells mean that
Substance PAR	GePaRD In %	GePaRD Using upper limit of	IPCI In %	IPCI Using upper limit of	PHARMO In %	PHARMO Using upper limit of	LOMBARDY In %	LOMBARDY Using upper limit	OSSIFF In %	OSSIFF Using upper limit	THIN In %	THIN Using upper limit of ORadj
		ORadj		ORadj		ORadj		france in		[mmiD 10		
Aceclofenac							0.01	0.10	0.02	0.11		
Acemetacin		0.08										
Celecoxib		0.05			0.39	0.68	0.11	0.28	0.15	0.36	0.15	0.38
Dexibuprofen							0.02	0.08	0.01	0.07		
Dexketoprofen	0.01	0.11	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00		
Diclofenac	1.68	2.50	0.43	2.48	1.82	2.42	1.08	1.38	0.82	1.14	1.14	1.61
Diclofenac												
combinations	0.13	0.31		0.43	0.44	0.76	0.09	0.18	0.02	0.10	0.24	0.48
Etodolac											0.05	0.17
Etoricoxib	0.14	0.34			0.32	0.59	0.15	0.29	0.20	0.36	0.11	0.26
Flurbiprofen							0.01	0.07				
Ibuprofen	1.80	2.48	0.38	1.75	0.89	1.33	0.24	0.41	0.01	0.12	0.52	06.0
Indometacin	0.17	0.37			0.14	0.33	0.08	0.17	0.13	0.26	0.13	0.29
Ketoprofen							0.23	0.42	0.04	0.19		
Ketorolac							0.58	0.78				
Lornoxicam							0.00	0.05				
Mefenamic acid											0.02	0.10
Meloxicam	0.04	0.18			0.20	0.45	0.18	0.32	0.00	0.11	0.09	0.29
Nabumetone					0.00	0.09	0.00	0.04	0.01	0.07		
Naproxen	0.18	0.40	0.40	1.72	0.49	0.84	0.00	0.08	0.02	0.12	0.14	0.37
Nimesulide							0.74	1.07				
Oxaprozin							0.00	0.03				
Piroxicam		0.06					0.21	0.39	0.38	0.61	0.03	0.12
Proglumetacin					0.00	0.00	0.00	0.03				
Rofecoxib					0.38	0.68	0.11	0.24	0.36	0.59	0.34	0.60
Sulindac					0.03	0.15					0.00	0.00
Tenoxicam							0.00	0.05	0.00	0.04		
Tiaprofenic acid	0.00	0.00					0.00	0.00				
Valdecoxib							0.00	0.02				

Supplementary Table 7. Attributable risk and population attributable risk of AMI within each database.

6

NSAIDs and risk of AMI | 243



Supplementary Figure 1. Flowchart of source population and study population per database

* In IPCI cancer subjects have been excluded from the incident NSAID users cohort in order to do case validation of outcomes, therefore numbers in the flowchart at the level of 'Incident NSAID users' and 'Cancer free at NSAID cohort entry' for IPCI are similar.



Supplementary Figure 2. Relation between degree of inhibition of whole blood COX-2 ⁴⁶¹ and risk of AMI for individual NSAIDs in the three databases that included doses (THIN, IPCI, PHARMO).

* the OR for dose 0.8-1.2 pdd/ddd was chosen for plotting in this figure.





Supplementary Figure 3A shows the estimated dose-response curves for current use of diclofenac.

The dose-response relationship is modeled through restricted cubic splines, implemented in a conditional logistic regression model. A cubic spline is a smoothly joined piecewise cubic polynomial curve. In particular, in cubic spline models the observed range of exposure is divided into different categories, and within each category a third-order polynomials is fitted. Cubic spline models provide great flexibility for fitting dose-response curves to data. To obtain a regular pattern even in the most extreme ranges of the dose, restricted cubic splines were considered. Restricted cubic splines have a linear trend outside the most extreme knots. In the present analysis three knots were considered corresponding to 0 DDD, 0.8 DDDs and 1.2 DDDs. This choice of knots allows to represent a dose-response relationship potentially non-linear in the dose range from 0 DDD to 1.2 DDD, and assumed to be linear for doses over 1.2 DDDs

The bold blue line represents the polynomial curve with 1^{st} degree term with corresponding 95% confidence intervals, the bold red line represents polynomial curve with 2^{nd} degree term with corresponding 95% confidence intervals.

Dose on the x-asis represents the dose as was estimated from the prescribing regimen and strength. The dose is calculated by dividing the prescribed dose by the recommended daily dose (DDD).



Supplementary Figure 4. Adjusted risk estimates of AMI in current users of individual NSAIDs for duration of use in three databases pooled (THIN, IPCI, PHARMO) using short duration (7-29 days) as reference group.

CHAPTER 6.2

Individualized NSAID prescribing based on gastrointestinal and cardiovascular risks: a decision model in the SOS project

Gwen MC Masclee, Vera E Valkhoff, René Schade, Martijn J Schuemie, Yvonne Vergouwe, Ewout Steyerberg, Jordi Castellsague, Ron Herings, Huub Straatman, Edeltraut Garbe, Tania Schink, Andrea Arfè, Silvia Lucchi, Marco Villa, Miriam CJM Sturkenboom, Silvana Romio

ABSTRACT

BACKGROUND

Use of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) increases the risk of upper gastrointestinal (GI) complications and cardiovascular (CV) events. However, the risk may differ between individual NSAIDs and subjects. Decision models for selecting the safest NSAID to treat individual patients are not available.

AIM

To develop a decision model integrating GI and CV risks.

METHODS

The decision model integrated information from 1) case-control studies risks of individual NSAIDs on GI and CV events [acute myocardial infarction (AMI), ischemic stroke (IS), heart failure (HF)]; 2) a risk function for patient characteristics associated with GI and CV events; 3) disutility weights for each outcome. Data were retrieved from six European healthcare data sources: IPCI, PHARMO (NL); SISR, OSSIFF (Italy); GePaRD (Germany) and THIN (UK) during 1999-2011. For thirteen individual NSAID we provided an overall risk from the decision model.

RESULTS

In the case-control studies 15,046 upper GI complication; 95,163 HF; 79,553 AMI and 35,691 IS cases were identified among 8.9 million new NSAID users. The lowest risks were seen for use of celecoxib for upper GI complication (OR=1.1) and for HF (OR=1.0), for IS for ketoprofen (OR=0.9) and for AMI for tenoxicam and aceclofenac (OR=1.0). For all outcomes ketorolac yielded the highest risks. In the risk function and for each outcome, age was the most important predictor, followed by history of the outcome and sex. In the final decision model, over different scenarios, most preferable NSAIDs were aceclofenac and celecoxib, thereafter nimesulide and ibuprofen. Piroxicam and ketorolac were the least preferable NSAIDs.

CONCLUSION

We provided an integrated GI and CV safety decision model for new NSAID users, which may guide physicians in clinical decision making.

INTRODUCTION

Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) are commonly used painkillers with antipyretic, anti-inflammatory and pain relieving properties and are considered relatively harmless drugs. However, since long time it is known that their use is restricted by the occurrence of upper gastrointestinal (GI) complications such as peptic ulcer perforations, obstructions, and bleeding.³²⁵ In order to reduce the upper GI complication risk associated with NSAID use, selective cyclo-oxygenase (COX)-2 inhibitors were developed. By preferentially inhibiting COX-2, and to a lesser extent the house-keeper isoform COX-1, selective COX-2 inhibitors are effective pain relievers while having a lower risk of upper GI complication compared with the traditional, nonselective (ns)NSAIDs.^{10, 11, 464} Yet, this preferable benefit of COX-2 inhibitors over the traditional NSAIDs was abolished by the risk increase of serious cardiovascular (CV) events following clinical trials.^{11, 89, 95} This led to the recommendation from the United States (US) Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and the European Medicines Agency (EMA) to avoid selective COX-2 inhibitors in patients with ischemic heart disease, stroke or peripheral arterial disease.^{89, 94, 95, 465} However, subsequent signals regarding the increased arterial thrombosis risk for use of the traditional nsNSAIDs arose,²⁹³ particularly when they were used at high doses and for long-term therapy leading to restriction of diclofenac use in 2013.451

The integration of this information for clinicians is difficult as the risk of an NSAIDrelated adverse event may be different between individuals and dependent on underlying comorbid conditions and indications of use. For instance, the GI and CV risk profile of subjects influence the risk of NSAID-related adverse events which in turn may influence the choice for NSAID prescription to either a nsNSAID or a selective COX-2 inhibitor. Besides, we currently know that the risk of GI and CV events differs for each individual NSAID and should not be considered class-specific (eg. nsNSAIDs and selective COX-2 inhibitors). A decision model is an intuitive tool to visualize the sequences of events that can occur following decisions, taking the negative impact of health outcomes into account. Previous decision analytic studies have reported on a difference in risk for single outcomes,⁴⁶⁶ provided cost-effectiveness analyses,⁴⁶⁷ reported population risk estimates rather than the risk for an individual patient, or did not differentiate between individual types of NSAIDs.^{468, 469} However, in clinical practice it is more informative to know which individual NSAID yields the lowest upper GI and CV risk for an individual patient. The SOS (Safety of Non-steroidal Anti-inflammatory Drugs) project was initiated as a project funded by the European Commission to address issues on CV and UGI risks for the EMA. The aim of the current study was to provide a decision analytic model for each individual NSAID compound balancing the upper GI and CV safety for individual patients.
METHODS

Data sources

Data for this study was obtained from six different longitudinal population-based health care databases from four European countries [Germany (GE), Italy (IT), Netherlands (NL) and United Kingdom (UK)] covering a source population of around 32 million subjects. All databases have been used for pharmacoepidemiological research (see Supplementary Table 1 Chapter 6.1).^{237, 238, 435, 436}

In short, the German Pharmacoepidemiological Research Database (GePaRD) is a database comprising data from five statutory health insurances throughout Germany that is created and maintained by BIPS. It currently covers around 14 million insurants and represents approximately 20% of the German population.⁴³⁶ The Health Improvement Network (THIN) database is a general practice database in the UK and currently captures medical records of 11.1 million patients.²³⁷ The Integrated Primary Care Information (IPCI) database is also a general practice database but from the Netherlands and currently covers over 1.5 million people,²³⁸ PHARMO database is a medical record linkage system of 2.2 million communitydwelling inhabitants in the Netherlands.⁴³⁵ OSSIFF (Osservatorio Interaziendale per la Farmacoepidemiologia e la Farmacoeconomia) is a database capturing national health service data and clinical registries from several local health agencies in Lombardy) for a population of about 2.9 million people. The second Italian database SISR (Sistema Informativo Sanitario Regionale) obtains national health service data from the Lombardy region, with about nine million inhabitants (approximately 16% of the national population). OSSIFF was included in addition to the Lombardy SISR as it allows for validation of outcomes; overlapping patients were excluded from the Lombardy SISR.

All general practice and claims databases contain information on demographics of the population, diagnoses (in- and/or outpatient), and drug prescriptions/dispensings. The diagnoses captured by the databases are coded with four different disease coding systems including the International Classification of Diseases (ICD) 9th or 10th revision,³²³ International Classification for Primary Care (ICPC),²⁴⁰ or READ.⁴³⁸ Mapping of concepts and codes was performed using the Unified Medical Language System (UMLS), a biomedical terminology integration system handling more than 150 medical dictionaries, according to a previously described workflow.^{439, 440} All drugs were mapped to the World Health Organization's (WHO) classification of Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical (ATC).²⁴² A distributed approach was used for collaboration: all database custodians extracted data locally; original data were transformed into a simple common data model (Jerboa© input files); mapping of codes for outcome and covariates was verified using an extensive harmonization strategy; and a common standardized script (Jerboa©, Java-based)³⁴⁶ was supplied to create the aggregated tables that were subsequently encrypted and shared on a central data warehouse for further analysis and pooling. Details have been described previously.^{346, 380}

NSAID Cohort

In each database, we identified a cohort of patients aged 18 years or older who received at least one NSAID prescription (see Supplementary Table 2 Chapter 6.1) during the database-specific study period which started at the first of January 1999 or later, depending on data availability (see Supplementary Table 1 Chapter 6.1).

Cohort entry was defined as the date of first NSAID prescription/dispensing during the study period. Subjects receiving any NSAID prescription in the year prior to cohort entry were excluded in order to construct a new user cohort to avoid potential biases derived from the inclusion of prevalent users.⁴⁷⁰ Patients were required to have at least one year of continuous database history. All subjects with a cancer diagnosis (except non-melanoma skin cancer) in the year preceding cohort entry were excluded from the cohort. All NSAID cohort members were followed from the date of cohort entry until the date of outcome (see below), exclusion criteria, death, last data supply, transferring out of the database, or end of the database-specific study period, whichever was earliest.

Definition of Outcomes and related risk factors

Events of interest included upper GI complication, acute myocardial infarction (AMI), ischemic stroke (IS) and heart failure (HF). More detailed information is given in Supplementary Table 3. The choice of risk factors was made based on literature review, consortium agreement and on importance of the risk factors and ease and availability in clinical practice. In order to keep the model as simple as possible but still including the most relevant risk factors, age, sex and a prior history of the outcome were included.

Decision model development

The decision model was developed following the process depicted in Figure 1. The model was derived from 1) risk estimates for individual NSAIDs for each of the four outcomes; 2) absolute risk of outcomes based on risk factors; and 3) impact of the event on the health of the individual, presented as disutility. The decision model integrated all these results to provide one overall absolute risk yielding the relative safety for each individual NSAID for a specific patient with certain characteristics.

1. Risk estimates from case-control studies

Four matched case-control studies nested within a new NSAID user cohort were conducted within each database. For each outcome (upper GI complication, AMI, IS and HF) the odds ratios and corresponding 95% confidence intervals (CI) during individual NSAID exposure were obtained by conditional logistic regression models, adjusting for selected confounders. These confounders were classified into two sets: 1) a priori confounders that were always considered

6

in the model; and 2) a set of confounders that underwent a backward selection. A random effects meta-analytic approach was applied to obtain an overall pooled estimate for each individual NSAID per outcome. The risk estimates for each NSAID are shown in Table 1.



Figure 1. Work flow for development of the decision model.

 Table 1. Odds Ratio estimates from random effects meta-analysis model on individual NSAIDs from the SOS case control studies (current use vs. past use of any NSAID).

	Upper gastro- intestinal	Heart failure	Acute	Ischemic Stroke	Available in decision
	complication		infarction	Stroke	model
Past use of any NSAID	1 (ref)	1 (ref)	1 (ref)	1 (ref)	
Current use of:					
Aceclofenac	1.20	0.97	1.04	1.24	Yes
Celecoxib	1.16	0.96	1.15	1.02	Yes
Diclofenac	3.26	1.21	1.31	1.30	Yes
Diclofenac, combi	2.15	1.02	1.27		No
Etoricoxib	3.26	1.67	1.28	1.11	Yes
Flurbiprofen	3.69		1.05		
Ibuprofen	1.53	1.24	1.24	1.16	Yes
Indometacin	3.00	1.55	1.47	1.18	Yes
Ketoprofen	2.83	1.04	1.12	0.93	Yes
Ketorolac	6.53	1.85	2.06	1.46	Yes
Lornoxicam	4.06		1.08		No
Meloxicam	3.17	1.04	1.18	0.99	Yes
Nabumetone		1.48	1.03		No
Naproxen	2.96	1.18	1.19	1.06	Yes
Nimesulide	1.21	1.19	1.16	1.14	Yes
Oxaprozin	6.07		0.93		No
Piroxicam	4.16	1.28	1.17	1.13	Yes
Rofecoxib	2.12	1.36	1.26	1.18	Yes
Tenoxicam	2.88		1.02		No
Valdecoxib			1.00		No
Nr of studied NSAIDs	18	15	20	13	13

2. Risk estimates from prediction models

A risk function was built to investigate the effect of patient characteristics such as age, sex, medical history of an outcome, country of origin and follow-up period on the risk of each outcomes using a Poisson regression model. Age was categorized in 10 year groups (18-29; 30-39; 40-49; 50-59; 60-69; 70-79 and ≥80 years) using age group 40-49 years as reference group. We fitted models in each of the six databases and pooled the regression coefficients by a random effects model in order to account for clustering of patients within databases and to obtain an overall estimate for each characteristic. The model intercepts were adjusted per database for the pooled regression coefficients.

3. Utilities of health states

Utilities are cardinal values between 0 (death) and 1 (perfect health). A value representing the impact of the outcome on the quality of life (utility) was derived from literature.⁴⁷¹ The disutility (i.e., 1-utility) is the negative impact of the occurrence of the event on the patient's quality of life. By using disutilities, the probabilities (i.e., the risk based on risk functions) of developing an outcome can be compared between individual NSAIDs. We considered utilities of outcomes in two periods: at 4 weeks (for an acute effect) and at 1 year (for a chronic effect) (Table 2). It shows that experiencing IS provides the largest disutility both on the short term and long term. This means that NSAIDs associated with a higher risk of IS (given all other risks remain the same) will be preferred less.

		Outcon	ne	
Time Horizon	Upper	Heart Failure	Acute	Ischemic
	Gastrointestinal		Myocardial	Stroke
	Complication		Infarction	
Acute effect	0.54	0.29	0.63	0.65
Chronic effect	0.02	0.00	0.12	0.29

 Table 2. Disutilities used to assess the impact of the occurrence of the outcome on the quality of life*.

* Derived from Latimer *et al.*⁴⁷¹. Acute effect at 4 weeks, chronic effect at 1 year.

Integration of results

To arrive from the cumulative risk estimates to NSAID associated absolute risk, the risk needs to be integrated with the relative risk associated with the NSAID. The risk functions provided the absolute risk of an outcome given a certain follow-up period. In order to calculate the NSAID related absolute risk the relative risk estimates from the case-control studies should be included as well. Thus the final decision model required information from the risk function, utilities and the estimates from the case-control studies. In order to combine this information for the calculation of the absolute risks, the baseline risk in each database was adjusted for the

proportion of follow-up time that consisted of the duration of NSAID exposure. In this way, the original database specific intercepts were independent of the overall effect of NSAIDs. Finally the estimates from the case-control analyses for each individual NSAID were incorporated to the model. By applying the disutilities the final cumulative risks were obtained.

Model performance

Model performance of the prediction models was assessed through calibration and discrimination. Calibration provides information on whether the predictions agree with the actual observations. It was evaluated by the slope of the linear predictor of the regression model used to compare the observed and predicted outcomes. Ideally the calibration slope is equal to 1. The calibration slope was calculated through a Poisson regression model for the outcome and the linear predictors as only covariable.⁴⁷² The linear predictor was calculated as summing up the products of the regression coefficients of the model and the predictor values. Discrimination is the ability to distinguish between patient with and without the event. Discrimination was assessed by concordance (c) statistic. The *c*-statistic ranges from 0.5 (no discriminative ability; no better than flipping a coin) to 1.0 (model perfectly discriminates between those patients who will develop an event and who not).

Validation

The performance of prediction models in new patients is often worse than expected based on performance estimated from the development data. This optimism and overfitting was diminished by applying an internal validation technique as cross-validation. Six-fold cross validation was done by creating a model and quantifying the model performance (calibration and discrimination) six times while omitting one database each time from the development process and using as validation cohort.

Subgroup analyses

We performed subgroup analyses by considering the use of PPIs and low-dose aspirin as an effect modifier for the NSAID effect on the outcomes (for PPI on upper GI complication and for low-dose aspirin on upper GI complication and AMI).

RESULTS

Study Population

The study population included 8.9 million new NSAID users, of which the majority was female (55%-57%) in the Netherlands, Italy and the United Kingdom, except for Germany in which 49% was female (Table 3). Mean age in the cohort of incident NSAID users was between 46

and 49 years in the Netherlands, Germany and the United Kingdom, but was higher in Italy (55 to 57 years). The mean time spent in the NSAID cohort was shortest in IPCI with 2 years and longest in the Italian database OSSIFF with 4.1 years.

Upper GI complications had the lowest incidence (between 3.4-9.7) per 10,000 person-years (PYs), with a total of 23,411 events occurring after a median of 1.1 years (IPCI) up to 2 years (OSSIFF and TIN) after start of NSAID therapy (Table 3). There were 79,876 events of heart failure resulting in incidence rates between 14 and 40 events per 10,000 PYs with the highest incidence in Italy. We observed 68,757 AMI events, yielding incidence rates between 16 and 30 events per 10,000 PYs and we captured 35,691 IS with incidences ranging between 6.5 (THIN) and 18.5 (GePaRD) per 10,000 PYs.

Risk estimates from case-control studies

Over all databases, 15,046 upper GI complication; 95,163 HF; 79,553 AMI and 35,691 IS cases were included in the case-control studies. For thirteen individual NSAIDs a risk estimate was available for all four outcomes. Ketorolac had the highest risk estimate for all outcomes (Table 1). For other NSAIDs, ranking differed across the outcomes. Risk estimates were highest for the outcome upper GI complications.

Risk estimates from prediction models

The incidence rate ratios derived from the prediction models are shown in Table 4. For all outcomes increasing age, male sex, a history of the event were predictors of the outcome. A longer follow-up was inversely associated with the outcome. Cumulative risk could be calculated for each of the outcomes based on the integration of the prediction models and NSAID specific risk estimates. The cumulative risk varied by age, sex, a prior history of the event and time horizon. In Figure 2 the cumulative risks of each of the outcomes at 1 year for a male subject with and without a prior history of the event are shown.



Figure 2. Cumulative 1 year risk of outcomes in male patients with and without a prior history of the outcome by age and by database.



Figure 2. Cumulative 1 year risk of outcomes in male patients with and without a prior history of the outcome by age and by database.

	- Ha-IN	والمتعادية المراجع	1			11.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1
	Netne	erlands	Ita	۱۷ ا	Germany	United Kingdom
	PHARMO	IPCI	OSSIFF	SISR	GePaRD	THIN
Nr of subjects	952,345	190,920	1,165,303	2,451,574	2,595,738	1,587,646
Females (%)	525,701 (55)	106,570 (56)	652,759 (56)	1,400,806 (57)	1,263,901 (49)	879,244 (55)
Age Mean (SD)	46 (17.3)	49 (16.7)	55 (17)	57 (16.6)	48 (15.8)	49 (17.4)
Age Median (IQR)	44 (33-58)	48 (37-61)	56 (42-68)	58 (42-68)	47 (37-60)	47 (35-61)
Mean follow-up (years)	3.8	2.0	4.1	3.5	2.5	3.6
Age in categories: (%)						
18-29	18.9	13.3	7.7	5.8	14.9	14.9
30-39	20.9	17.2	13.8	12.1	19.3	19.3
40-49	20.2	22.6	16.7	15.9	19.9	19.9
50-59	16.5	19.8	19.2	19.3	17.7	17.7
60-69	11.5	14.2	20.5	21.7	14.2	14.2
70-79	8.1	8.9	15.6	17.3	9.4	9.4
≥ 80	3.8	4.1	6.7	8.0	4.7	4.7
Upper GI complications						
Nr of events	1,232	223	3,713	6,257	6,498	5,488
Person Time (PYs)	3,675,376	387,149	4,876,260	8,609,191	6,715,040.50	5,774,448
Rate per 10,000 PYs	3.4	5.8	7.6	7.3	9.7	9.5
Median time until UGIC in years (IQR) ⁺	1.8 (0.5-3.2)	1.1 (0.5-2.2)	2.0 (0.7-3.5)	1.9 (0.7-3.2)	1.4 (0.5-2.5)	2.0 (0.8-3.3)
Heart Failure						
Nr of events	5,150	NA	18,074	34,176	11,153	11,323
Person Time (PYs)	3,579,388	NA	4,734,179	8,566,871	6,544,561	5,765,051
Rate per 10,000 PYs	14.4	NA	38.2	39.9	17.0	19.6
Median time until HF in years (IQR) +	2.2 (1.0-3.6)	1.9 (1.1-3.3)	2.3 (1.1-3.6)	2.1 (1-3.4)	1.5 (0.7-2.6)	2.0 (0.9-3.3)
Acute Myocardial Infarction						
Nr of events	6,659	918	14,150	25,391	12,674	8,965
Person Time (PYs)	3,573,658	376,805	4,737,697	8,577,055	6,540,328	5,767,358
Rate per 10,000 PYs	18.6	24.3	29.9	29.6	19.4	15.5
Median time until AMI in years (IQR) ⁺	2.2 (1.0-3.5)	1.3 (0.6-2.4)	2.4 (1.2-2.6)	2.1 (1-3.4)	1.5 (0.7-2.6)	2.0 (0.9-3.3)

Table 3. Demographics of study population per database.

6

	Nethe	erlands	Ita	Ŋ	Germany	United Kingdom
	PHARMO	IPCI	OSSIFF	SISR	GePaRD	THIN
Nr of subjects	952,345	190,920	1,165,303	2,451,574	2,595,738	1,587,646
Ischemic Stroke						
Nr of events	NA	NA	7,155	12,669	12,090	3,777
Person Time (PYs)	NA	NA	4,751,317	8,600,081	6,541,726	5,778,751
Rate per 10,000 PYs	NA	NA	15.1	14.7	18.5	6.5
Median time until IS in years (IQR) +	2.7 (1.3-3.7)	1.4 (0.6-2.1)	2.4 (1.2-3.7)	2.1 (1-3.4)	1.6 (0.7-2.6)	2.2 (1-3.5)
Comorbidities:						
Prior Upper GI complication	0	4.6	0.1	0.1	1.1	0.4
Prior Upper GI disease	0	1.8	0.3	0.2	8.6	1.8
Chronic hepatic disorders	0	1.8	0.5	0.6	6.8	0.1
Alcohol abuse	0.1	5.2	0.2	0.2	1.1	11.8
Smoking	0	15.1	0	0	0	6.7
Inflammatory polyarthritis	0.1	14.7	0.1	0.2	2.2	0.4
Osteoarthritis	0.7	c	0.6	0.7	14.4	5.7
Cancer	0.1	8.7	2	2.5	9.7	1
Use of:						
Glucocorticoids	1.1	0.8	2	2.3	2.5	0.9
Low-dose aspirin	5.6	5.4	4.4	6.5	1.8	6.4
Antiplatelets	0.5	0.7	0.7	1.2	0.6	0.6
Anticoagulants	1.4	1.7	1.7	2.1	2.4	0.4
Gastroprotective agents	9.3	19.7	5.6	8.7	8.3	9.5

9	
stroke	
emic	
s, isch	
ion; IS	
ıfarct	
rdial ii	
луоса	
cute n	
AMI, a	
lure; 4	
art fai	
IF, hea	
inal; H	
intest	
gastro	
s; Gl, į	
-year.	
versor	
PYS, F	
sable;	
asses	
A, not	
ent; N,	
he eve	
nted t	
erime er.	
idmur dxə or	
ose wł ?, Nr, i	
ng thu range	
y amc ıartile	
(†) on interqu	

Table 3. Demographics of study population per database (continued).

	Upper GI Compl IRR (95%CI)	Heart Failure IRR (95%Cl)	AMI IRR (95%CI)	Ischemic Stroke IRR (95%CI)
Age (years):				
40-49	1 (ref)	1 (ref)	1 (ref)	1 (ref)
18-29	0.38 (0.3-0.5)	0.10 (0.08-0.13)	0.04 (0.03-0.05)	0.18 (0.14-0.23)
30-39	0.60 (0.5-0.7)	0.32 (0.29-0.36)	0.24 (0.23-0.26)	0.39 (0.33-0.45)
50-59	1.80 (1.6-2.0)	3.33 (2.97-3.72)	2.04 (1.94-2.15)	2.60 (2.45-2.76)
60-69	3.13 (2.6-3.8)	9.94 (9.42-10.49)	3.24 (3.09-3.41)	6.14 (5.81-6.49)
70-79	5.71 (4.2-7.8)	30.65 (28.10-33.46)	5.46 (5.04-5.91)	14.07 (12.58-15.73)
> 80	10.9 0(6.9-17)	74.13 (70.27-78.21)	8.91 (7.35-10.81)	25.25 (20.49-31.11)
Sex:				
Male	1 (ref)	1 (ref)	1 (ref)	1 (ref)
Female	0.63 (0.5-0.8)	0.65 (0.64-0.66)	0.42 (0.39-0.44)	0.64 (0.59-0.70)
History of				
Outcome*:				
No	1 (ref)	1 (ref)	1 (ref)	1 (ref)
Yes	2.43 (1.9-3.1)	2.59 (1.84-3.64)	1.74 (1.11-2.73)	2.23 (1.70-2.92)
Follow-up				
time:				
0-2 weeks	1 (ref)	1 (ref)	1 (ref)	1 (ref)
2-4 weeks	0.69 (0.6-0.8)	0.79 (0.69-0.90)	0.78 (0.65-0.94)	0.83 (0.73-0.93)
4 weeks-1 year	0.32 (0.2-0.5)	0.57 (0.50-0.65)	0.64 (0.56-0.72)	0.72 (0.64-0.81)
1-2 years	0.29 (0.2-0.4)	0.59 (0.53-0.66)	0.66 (0.58-0.75)	0.74 (0.68-0.82)
2-5 years	0.30 (0.2-0.4)	0.67 (0.64-0.71)	0.71 (0.63-0.81)	0.85 (0.78-0.92)
Databases:				
SISR	1 (ref)	1 (ref)	1 (ref)	1 (ref)
GePaRD	1.98 (1.9-2.1)	1.08 (1.05-1.10)	0.90 (0.88-0.92)	2.14 (2.08-2.19)
THIN	1.86 (1.8-1.9)	0.83 (0.81-0.85)	0.74 (0.72-0.76)	0.70 (0.67-0.72)
IPCI	1.08 (1.0-1.2)	0.04 (0.03-0.06)	1.22 (1.14-1.30)	0.10 (0.07-0.14)
PHARMO	0.78 (0.7-0.8)	0.73 (0.72-0.76)	1.05 (1.02-1.07)	0.03 (0.02-0.04)
OSSIFF	1.19 (1.1-1.2)	1.03 (1.01-1.05)	1.10 (1.08-1.12)	1.14 (1.11-1.18)

 Table 4. Multivariable rate ratios of risk factors for the outcome after pooling the estimates across databases by a random effects meta-analysis.

Cross validation

The performance of the prediction models showed a fairly good *c*-statistic for each of the outcomes in each database by means of cross validation (Supplementary Table 4). Only for upper GI complication when the model was created in SISR, OSSIFF, PHARMO, THIN and GePaRD and subsequently tested in IPCI, the predictive ability for upper GI complication was lower than in the other databases.

The calibration slopes were in general close to 1, except for upper GI complication (IPCI and THIN <1 representing optimism), AMI (IPCI) and IS (PHARMO).

Decision Model

By integration of the cumulative risks with the disutilities we could compare the different NSAIDs over a number of scenarios (Table 5). For thirteen NSAIDs we had a risk estimate for all four outcomes and these NSAIDs were included in the decision model. In general, celecoxib

was first or second preferred NSAID over all different scenarios. Thereafter, ketoprofen and aceclofenac were often first or second preferred choices, particularly when a prior history of events was present, though they also ranked up to 6th option. Naproxen was between 5th to 7th option, rofecoxib between 5th and 9th option, while diclofenac ranked from 9th option to 11th option. Ketorolac and etoricoxib ranked lowest and were least preferable NSAIDs. However based on the absolute risks, for some scenarios all NSAIDs may provide a similar absolute risk and thus more NSAIDs may be considered appropriate than the first or second highest ranked NSAID (Supplementary Table 5). For instance, in scenario 7; a male aged between 18 and 29 in the UK without any history of the outcomes, the absolute risks ranged between 0.000016% for celecoxib (safest) and 0.000038% for etoricoxib (most harmful) which is a doubling in risk, but the absolute difference is still small.

Subgroup analyses

When considering the use of PPIs as effect modifier for upper GI complications (e.g. those using an NSAID concurrently with a PPI have a lower risk of upper GI complications than those only using an NSAID) still celecoxib, ketoprofen and aceclofenac were most preferred NSAIDs and ketorolac and etoricoxib least preferred NSAIDs (data not shown). Low-dose aspirin affects the risk of cardiovascular events and upper GI complications, therefore when LDA is used concomitantly with an NSAID again ketoprofen and celecoxib were considered relatively safest. Meloxicam also was relatively safe. Ketorolac, indometacin and diclofenac were considered most harmful (data not shown).

Table 5. Decision model outcome: example of the result of the decision model; the NSAID which is considered the safest with respect to upper gastrointestinal complication, heart failure, acute myocardial infarction, and ischemic stroke is ranked highest. Effectiveness in pain relief is assumed similar between NSAIDs.

	Scenario	1	2	3	4	5
	DB	United Kingdom				
	Sex	Female	Male	Female	Male	Female
	Age	50-60	50-60	60-70	60-70	18-30
	UGIC	No	No	No	No	No
	AMI	No	No	No	No	No
	HF	No	No	No	No	No
	IS	No	No	No	No	No
	Time period	4 weeks				
Safest	1	Celecoxib	Ketoprofen	Ketoprofen	Aceclofenac	Celecoxib
	2	Ketoprofen	Celecoxib	Celecoxib	Celecoxib	Aceclofenac
	3	Aceclofenac	Aceclofenac	Meloxicam	Nimesulide	Nimesulide
	4	Nimesulide	Nimesulide	Nimesulide	Ibuprofen	Ibuprofen
	5	Meloxicam	Meloxicam	Aceclofenac	Rofecoxib	Rofecoxib
	6	Naproxen	Naproxen	Naproxen	Ketoprofen	Ketoprofen
	7	Ibuprofen	Ibuprofen	Ibuprofen	Naproxen	Naproxen
	8	Rofecoxib	Piroxicam	Rofecoxib	Meloxicam	Indometacin
	9	Piroxicam	Rofecoxib	Piroxicam	Indometacin	Meloxicam
	10	Diclofenac	Diclofenac	Indometacin	Diclofenac	Diclofenac
	11	Indometacin	Indometacin	Diclofenac	Piroxicam	Etoricoxib
Most	12	Ketorolac	Etoricoxib	Ketorolac	Etoricoxib	Piroxicam
harmful	13	Etoricoxib	Ketorolac	Etoricoxib	Ketorolac	Ketorolac

	Scenario	6	7	8	9	10
	DB	United Kingdom	United Kingdom	United Kingdom	Italy (SISR)	Italy (SISR)
	Sex	Female	Male	Male	Female	Male
	Age	80+	18-30	80+	50-60	50-60
	UGIC	No	No	No	No	No
	AMI	No	No	No	No	No
	HF	No	No	No	No	No
	IS	No	No	No	No	No
	Time period	4 weeks	4 weeks	4 weeks	4 weeks	4 weeks
Safest	1	Ketoprofen	Celecoxib	Ketoprofen	Ketoprofen	Ketoprofen
	2	Celecoxib	Nimesulide	Celecoxib	Celecoxib	Celecoxib
	3	Meloxicam	Aceclofenac	Meloxicam	Meloxicam	Aceclofenac
	4	Nimesulide	Ibuprofen	Nimesulide	Aceclofenac	Meloxicam
	5	Naproxen	Ketoprofen	Aceclofenac	Nimesulide	Nimesulide
	6	Aceclofenac	Rofecoxib	Naproxen	Naproxen	Naproxen
	7	Ibuprofen	Meloxicam	Ibuprofen	Piroxicam	Piroxicam
	8	Rofecoxib	Naproxen	Piroxicam	Ibuprofen	Ibuprofen
	9	Piroxicam	Indometacin	Rofecoxib	Rofecoxib	Rofecoxib
	10	Indometacin	Piroxicam	Indometacin	Diclofenac	Diclofenac
	11	Diclofenac	Diclofenac	Diclofenac	Indometacin	Indometacin
Most	12	Ketorolac	Ketorolac	Ketorolac	Ketorolac	Ketorolac
harmful	13	Etoricoxib	Etoricoxib	Etoricoxib	Etoricoxib	Etoricoxib
	Scenario	11	12	13	14	15
	Scenario DB	11 United Kingdom	12 United Kingdom	13 United Kingdom	14 United Kingdom	15 NL (IPCI)
	Scenario DB Sex	11 United Kingdom Female	12 United Kingdom Female	13 United Kingdom Female	14 United Kingdom Female	15 NL (IPCI) Female
	Scenario DB Sex Age	11 United Kingdom Female 50-60	12 United Kingdom Female 50-60	13 United Kingdom Female 50-60	14 United Kingdom Female 50-60	15 NL (IPCI) Female 50-60
	Scenario DB Sex Age UGIC	11 United Kingdom Female 50-60 No	12 United Kingdom Female 50-60 Yes	13 United Kingdom Female 50-60 Yes	14 United Kingdom Female 50-60 No	15 NL (IPCI) Female 50-60 No
	Scenario DB Sex Age UGIC AMI	11 United Kingdom Female 50-60 No No	12 United Kingdom Female 50-60 Yes Yes	13 United Kingdom Female 50-60 Yes Yes	14 United Kingdom Female 50-60 No No	15 NL (IPCI) Female 50-60 No No
	Scenario DB Sex Age UGIC AMI HF	11 United Kingdom Female 50-60 No No No	12 United Kingdom Female 50-60 Yes Yes Yes	13 United Kingdom Female 50-60 Yes Yes Yes	14 United Kingdom Female 50-60 No No No	15 NL (IPCI) Female 50-60 No No No
	Scenario DB Sex Age UGIC AMI HF IS	11 United Kingdom Female 50-60 No No No No No	12 United Kingdom Female 50-60 Yes Yes Yes Yes	13 United Kingdom Female 50-60 Yes Yes Yes Yes	14 United Kingdom Female 50-60 No No No No	15 NL (IPCI) Female 50-60 No No No No No
	Scenario DB Sex Age UGIC AMI HF IS Time period	11United KingdomFemale50-60NoNoNoNoNoNoNo1 year	12 United Kingdom Female 50-60 Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 1 year	13 United Kingdom Female 50-60 Yes Yes Yes Yes 4 weeks	14 United Kingdom Female 50-60 No No No No S years	15 NL (IPCI) Female 50-60 No No No No No 4 weeks
Safest	Scenario DB Sex Age UGIC AMI HF IS Time period 1	11United KingdomFemale50-60NoNoNoNoNo1 yearKetoprofen	12 United Kingdom Female 50-60 Yes Yes Yes Yes 1 year Celecoxib	13United KingdomFemale50-60YesYesYesYes4 weeksCelecoxib	14 United Kingdom Female 50-60 No No No So S years Aceclofenac	15 NL (IPCI) Female 50-60 No No No Aveeks Aceclofenac
Safest	Scenario DB Sex Age UGIC AMI HF IS Time period 1 2	11 United Kingdom Female 50-60 No No No No No So Ketoprofen Celecoxib	12 United Kingdom Female 50-60 Yes Yes Yes Yes 1 year Celecoxib Ketoprofen	13United KingdomFemale50-60YesYesYesYes4 weeksCelecoxibKetoprofen	14 United Kingdom Female 50-60 No No No So Syears Aceclofenac Celecoxib	15 NL (IPCI) Female 50-60 No No No 4 weeks Aceclofenac Celecoxib
Safest	Scenario DB Sex Age UGIC AMI HF IS Time period 1 2 3	11 United Kingdom Female 50-60 No No No No No Ketoprofen Celecoxib Aceclofenac	12 United Kingdom Female 50-60 Yes Yes Yes 1 yes 1 year Celecoxib Ketoprofen Aceclofenac	13United KingdomFemale50-60YesYesYesYes4 weeksCelecoxibKetoprofenAceclofenac	14 United Kingdom Female 50-60 No No So Syears Aceclofenac Celecoxib Nimesulide	15 NL (IPCI) Female 50-60 No No No 4 weeks Aceclofenac Celecoxib Nimesulide
Safest	Scenario DB Sex Age UGIC AMI HF IS Time period 1 2 3 4	11 United Kingdom Female 50-60 No No No No 1 year Ketoprofen Celecoxib Aceclofenac Nimesulide	12 United Kingdom Female 50-60 Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 1 year Celecoxib Ketoprofen Aceclofenac Nimesulide	13 United Kingdom Female 50-60 Yes Yes Yes Yes 4 weeks Celecoxib Ketoprofen Aceclofenac Nimesulide	14 United Kingdom Female 50-60 No No No Syears Aceclofenac Celecoxib Nimesulide Ibuprofen	15 NL (IPCI) Female 50-60 No No No 4 weeks Aceclofenac Celecoxib Nimesulide Ibuprofen
Safest	Scenario DB Sex Age UGIC AMI HF IS Time period 1 2 3 4 5	11 United Kingdom Female 50-60 No No No No 1 year Ketoprofen Celecoxib Aceclofenac Nimesulide Meloxicam	12 United Kingdom Female 50-60 Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Celecoxib Ketoprofen Aceclofenac Nimesulide Meloxicam	13 United Kingdom Female 50-60 Yes Yes Yes Yes 4 weeks Celecoxib Ketoprofen Aceclofenac Nimesulide Meloxicam	14 United Kingdom Female 50-60 No No No Syears Aceclofenac Celecoxib Nimesulide Ibuprofen Rofecoxib	15 NL (IPCI) Female 50-60 No No No 4 weeks Aceclofenac Celecoxib Nimesulide Ibuprofen Rofecoxib
Safest	Scenario DB Sex Age UGIC AMI HF IS Time period 1 2 3 4 5 5 6	11 United Kingdom Female 50-60 No No No No No State Aceclofenac Nimesulide Meloxicam Naproxen	12 United Kingdom Female 50-60 Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Celecoxib Ketoprofen Aceclofenac Nimesulide Meloxicam Naproxen	13 United Kingdom Female 50-60 Yes Yes Yes Yes 4 weeks Celecoxib Ketoprofen Aceclofenac Nimesulide Meloxicam Naproxen	14 United Kingdom Female 50-60 No No No S years Aceclofenac Celecoxib Nimesulide Ibuprofen Rofecoxib Ketoprofen	15 NL (IPCI) Female 50-60 No No No 4 weeks Aceclofenac Celecoxib Nimesulide Ibuprofen Rofecoxib Ketoprofen
Safest	Scenario DB Sex Age UGIC AMI HF IS Time period 1 2 3 4 5 6 7	11 United Kingdom Female 50-60 No No No No No Retoprofen Celecoxib Aceclofenac Nimesulide Meloxicam Naproxen Ibuprofen	12 United Kingdom Female 50-60 Yes Yes Yes Yes 1 year Celecoxib Ketoprofen Aceclofenac Nimesulide Meloxicam Naproxen Ibuprofen	13 United Kingdom Female 50-60 Yes Yes Yes 4 weeks Celecoxib Ketoprofen Aceclofenac Nimesulide Meloxicam Naproxen Ibuprofen	14 United Kingdom Female 50-60 No No No So Aceclofenac Celecoxib Nimesulide Ibuprofen Rofecoxib Ketoprofen Naproxen	15 NL (IPCI) Female 50-60 No No No 4 weeks Aceclofenac Celecoxib Nimesulide Ibuprofen Rofecoxib Ketoprofen Naproxen
Safest	Scenario DB Sex Age UGIC AMI HF IS Time period 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	11 United Kingdom Female 50-60 No No No No 1 year Ketoprofen Celecoxib Aceclofenac Nimesulide Meloxicam Naproxen Ibuprofen Piroxicam	12 United Kingdom Female 50-60 Yes Yes Yes 1 year Celecoxib Ketoprofen Aceclofenac Nimesulide Meloxicam Naproxen Ibuprofen Rofecoxib	13United Kingdom Female50-60YesYesYes4 weeksCelecoxib Ketoprofen Aceclofenac Nimesulide Meloxicam Naproxen Ibuprofen Rofecoxib	14 United Kingdom Female 50-60 No No No 5 years Aceclofenac Celecoxib Nimesulide Ibuprofen Rofecoxib Ketoprofen Naproxen Meloxicam	15 NL (IPCI) Female 50-60 No No No 4 weeks Aceclofenac Celecoxib Nimesulide Ibuprofen Rofecoxib Ketoprofen Naproxen Meloxicam
Safest	Scenario DB Sex Age UGIC AMI HF IS Time period 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9	11 United Kingdom Female 50-60 No No No No 1 year Ketoprofen Celecoxib Aceclofenac Nimesulide Meloxicam Naproxen Ibuprofen Piroxicam Rofecoxib	12 United Kingdom Female 50-60 Yes Yes Yes 1 year Celecoxib Ketoprofen Aceclofenac Nimesulide Meloxicam Naproxen Ibuprofen Rofecoxib Piroxicam	13 United Kingdom Female 50-60 Yes Yes Yes 4 weeks Celecoxib Ketoprofen Aceclofenac Nimesulide Meloxicam Naproxen Ibuprofen Rofecoxib Piroxicam	14 United Kingdom Female 50-60 No No No 5 years Aceclofenac Celecoxib Nimesulide Ibuprofen Rofecoxib Ketoprofen Naproxen Meloxicam Indometacin	15 NL (IPCI) Female 50-60 No No No 4 weeks Aceclofenac Celecoxib Nimesulide Ibuprofen Rofecoxib Ketoprofen Naproxen Meloxicam Diclofenac
Safest	Scenario DB Sex Age UGIC AMI HF IS Time period 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 7 8 9 10	11 United Kingdom Female 50-60 No No No No 1 year Ketoprofen Celecoxib Aceclofenac Nimesulide Meloxicam Naproxen Ibuprofen Piroxicam Rofecoxib Diclofenac	12 United Kingdom Female 50-60 Yes Yes Yes 1 year Celecoxib Ketoprofen Aceclofenac Nimesulide Meloxicam Naproxen Ibuprofen Rofecoxib Piroxicam Diclofenac	13 United Kingdom Female 50-60 Yes Yes Yes 4 weeks Celecoxib Ketoprofen Aceclofenac Nimesulide Meloxicam Naproxen Ibuprofen Rofecoxib Piroxicam Indometacin	14 United Kingdom Female 50-60 No No No S years Aceclofenac Celecoxib Nimesulide Ibuprofen Rofecoxib Ketoprofen Naproxen Meloxicam Indometacin Diclofenac	15 NL (IPCI) Female 50-60 No No No 4 weeks Aceclofenac Celecoxib Nimesulide Ibuprofen Rofecoxib Ketoprofen Naproxen Meloxicam Diclofenac Etoricoxib
Safest	Scenario DB Sex Age UGIC AMI HF IS Time period 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11	11 United Kingdom Female 50-60 No No No No 1 year Ketoprofen Celecoxib Aceclofenac Nimesulide Meloxicam Naproxen Ibuprofen Piroxicam Rofecoxib Diclofenac Indometacin	12 United Kingdom Female 50-60 Yes Yes Yes 1 year Celecoxib Ketoprofen Aceclofenac Nimesulide Meloxicam Naproxen Ibuprofen Rofecoxib Piroxicam Diclofenac Indometacin	13 United Kingdom Female 50-60 Yes Yes Yes 4 weeks Celecoxib Ketoprofen Aceclofenac Nimesulide Meloxicam Naproxen Ibuprofen Rofecoxib Piroxicam Indometacin Diclofenac	14 United Kingdom Female 50-60 No No No Syears Aceclofenac Celecoxib Nimesulide Ibuprofen Rofecoxib Ketoprofen Naproxen Meloxicam Indometacin Diclofenac Piroxicam	15 NL (IPCI) Female 50-60 No No No 4 weeks Aceclofenac Celecoxib Nimesulide Ibuprofen Rofecoxib Ketoprofen Naproxen Meloxicam Diclofenac Etoricoxib Piroxicam
Safest	Scenario DB Sex Age UGIC AMI HF IS Time period 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12	11 United Kingdom Female 50-60 No No No No Aceclofenac Nimesulide Meloxicam Naproxen Ibuprofen Piroxicam Rofecoxib Diclofenac Indometacin Ketorolac	12 United Kingdom Female 50-60 Yes Yes Yes 1 year Celecoxib Ketoprofen Aceclofenac Nimesulide Meloxicam Naproxen Ibuprofen Rofecoxib Piroxicam Diclofenac Indometacin Ketorolac	13 United Kingdom Female 50-60 Yes Yes Yes 4 weeks Celecoxib Ketoprofen Aceclofenac Nimesulide Meloxicam Naproxen Ibuprofen Rofecoxib Piroxicam Indometacin Diclofenac Ketorolac	14 United Kingdom Female 50-60 No No No S years Aceclofenac Celecoxib Nimesulide Ibuprofen Rofecoxib Ketoprofen Naproxen Meloxicam Indometacin Diclofenac Piroxicam Etoricoxib	15 NL (IPCI) Female 50-60 No No No 4 weeks Aceclofenac Celecoxib Nimesulide Ibuprofen Rofecoxib Ketoprofen Naproxen Meloxicam Diclofenac Etoricoxib Piroxicam Indometacin

Table 5. Decision model outcome: example of the result of the decision model; the NSAID which is considered the safest with respect to upper gastrointestinal complication, heart failure, acute myocardial infarction, and ischemic stroke is ranked highest. Effectiveness in pain relief is assumed similar between NSAIDs (*continued*).

NL, the Netherlands

DISCUSSION

In the current study we provided an integrated decision model for new NSAID users on upper gastrointestinal and cardiovascular outcomes as we took advantage of the heterogeneity of NSAID exposure across European countries and of the sample size. Individualized predictions of NSAID treatment effects did not differ largely on patient characteristics as age, sex, country or comorbid diseases. Over a range of scenarios least harmful NSAIDs included celecoxib and ketoprofen, while ketorolac and etoricoxib were preferred less.

In recent years we have learned that the cardiovascular safety of NSAIDs was not a sole feature attributed to selective COX-2 inhibitors but as well to the nonselective NSAIDs.^{96, 97, 293, 434, 446-449, 473, 474} Particularly for diclofenac evidence - for observational studies derived from the SOS-project - of an increased risk of AMI has accumulated in past years.^{293, 434} This resulted in the European regulatory agency EMA to restrict the use of diclofenac.⁴⁷⁵ However, the benefit-risk balance of NSAIDs includes besides cardiovascular outcomes also the upper gastrointestinal tract. Selective COX-2 inhibitors were developed as safer NSAIDs than the traditional ones and have been proven to be less harmful in clinical trials with respect to the upper gastrointestinal tract.^{10, 11} The dilemma about cardiovascular and gastrointestinal risks of different NSAIDs is however what a physician in routine clinical care needs to deal with. Individualized predictions of NSAID treatment effects therefore, provide an opportunity to determine what the implications of NSAID treatment decisions would be on an individual level. Making treatment decisions on the basis of a predicted treatment effect for individual patients may in some situations result in more net benefit on a group level than treating all patients.

There are only a few studies available integrating CV and GI risks for NSAIDs. In line with a simulation study comparing the additional number of GI and CV events that would occur for use of diclofenac, ibuprofen and naproxen compared to use of celecoxib,⁴⁷⁶ also celecoxib appeared to have the least harmful profile. However, this study relied on a simulated population and information on relative risks of individual NSAIDs on coronary heart disease, congestive heart failure and peptic ulcer complications was retrieved from the literature.⁴⁷⁶ Another simulation study showed that the harm-benefit ratio of selective COX-2 inhibitors on the incidence of upper GI events may be offset by an increase in AMI events, when assuming drug effects from trials or the CPRD population.⁴⁶⁸ In contrast to both studies, we were able to estimate both the individual NSAID effects in a new user NSAID cohort and the risk factors for the outcomes in the same underlying cohort. A decision analysis comparing only rofecoxib with naproxen, as a typical participant of the VIGOR trial that resulted in the rofecoxib scandal, incorporated AMI risk and upper GI toxicity on life expectancy.⁴⁷⁷ Apart from the result that naproxen may result in longer life expectancy in 58-year old women with rheumatoid arthritis. the generalizability of the study is limited as it included only 2 individual NSAID compounds.⁴⁷⁷ The results of the decision model in the current study were mainly driven by the highest risk estimates that were seen for upper GI complication as outcome. Although the impact of having an AMI and IS at 4 weeks and 1 year was considered worse than an upper GI complication, NSAIDs risks on upper GI complication ranged between 1.2 and 6.5 whereas those for AMI and IS between 0.9 and 2.1 and 1.0 and 1.3, respectively. Even when considering that PPIs and low-dose aspirin affect the risk of upper GI²⁴³ and cardiovascular endpoints²⁹³, results of the decision model were pretty consistent.

In this study we took the perspective of the physician and of the patient, rather than of the healthcare payer. We have not considered cost-effectiveness of treatments in the models, because since PPIs and NSAIDs have become available generically on the market, costs of adding a PPI to NSAID therapy, both nsNSAIDs and selective COX-2 inhibitors, has been shown cost-effective.⁴⁷⁸

The strengths of the current study include the setting and design of the study. We were able to estimate NSAID treatment effects in a new user cohort in all six databases using the same protocol and data transformations. By profiting the heterogeneity of NSAID exposure and the size of the SOS platform we were able to include thirteen different individual NSAID compounds and provide robust estimates from cross-validated prediction models.

We acknowledge the following limitations. Firstly, we assumed that all NSAID compounds were equally effective in pain relief, though this is generally observed in clinical trials ^{11, 318, 458} and based on a review ⁴⁷⁹ it may not be necessarily applicable to our study population. Secondly, we assumed that prognostic risk factors for the outcomes, such as male sex, were similar for the different NSAIDs. Thirdly, the risk of upper GI complication and CV outcomes on short-term and long-term was based on baseline information and did not incorporate the duration of NSAID therapy. This was considered given common clinical practice where a physician needs to decide which NSAID to prescribe based on information at that current moment. Fourthly, the disutilities chosen may not be applicable to all patients. For instance, the impact of an outcome may differ between each individual patient and the disutility at 1 year may not be the same at 5 years, though we did consider it as such in the model.

In conclusion, we assessed and compared the cardiovascular and gastrointestinal safety of individual NSAIDs and provided a decision analytic model to aid in the choice of treatment, taking into account both the cardiovascular (ischemic stroke, myocardial infarction, heart failure) and upper gastrointestinal complications risks. Over a range of scenarios celecoxib and ketoprofen were considered the relative safest of 13 individual NSAIDs studied. Our results may aid physicians in clinical decision making.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

Supplementary Table 3. Definition of Events of Interest.

Event	Definition
Upper Gastrointestinal	Upper gastrointestinal complication (UGIC) events were defined as a patient
Complication	with peptic ulcer disease or gastritis complicated by bleeding, perforation or obstruction.
	Uncomplicated peptic ulcer disease, lower GI disease, unspecified GI bleeding, or symptoms indicating UGI bleeding, such as melena or hematemesis without
	a diagnosis of peptic ulcer disease, were not considered as UGI event.
Acute Myocardial Infarction	Acute myocardial infarction was defined as an infarction of myocardial tissue
	including transmural, subendocardial, or unspecified acute myocardial
	infarction.
Heart Failure	Heart failure was defined as a patient with congestive heart failure, left sided
	heart failure and unspecified heart failure being the main reason for
	hospitalization or diagnosis. Heart failure incidental to hospitalization for other causes were not considered.
Ischemic stroke	Ischemic stroke was defined as an occlusion of cerebral arteries resulting in
	signs and disturbances of cerebral function lasting > 24 hours.
	Transient cerebral ischemia (TIA) was not considered as ischemic stroke. Stroke
	secondary to a trauma was also not included.

Events of interest included a first encountered hospitalization of the event in hospital discharge or administrative databases (GePaRD, PHARMO, OSSIFF and SISR) or a first diagnosis of the event in primary care databases (THIN, IPCI).

Dataset	SISR	OSSIFF	PHARMO	IPCI	THIN	GePaRD
		Upp	er gastrointes	tinal complicat	ions	
c-statistic	0.75	0.75	0.75	0.75	0.75	0.75
calibration slope (SE)	1.15 (0.016)	1.15 (0.016)	1.15 (0.016)	1.15 (0.016)	1.15 (0.016)	1.15 (0.016)
			Heart	Failure		
c-statistic	0.84	0.84	0.89	0.87	0.87	0.87
calibration slope (SE)	1.05 (0.006)	1.01 (0.007)	1.01 (0.007)	0.96 (0.172)	0.95 (0.009)	1.06 (0.007)
			Acute myocar	dial infarction		
c-statistic	0.75	0.75	0.75	0.75	0.75	0.75
calibration slope (SE)	1.06 (0.009)	1.06 (0.009)	1.06 (0.009)	1.06 (0.009)	1.06 (0.009)	1.06 (0.009)
			Ischemic	stroke (IS)		
c-statistic	0.79	0.79	0.79	0.79	0.79	0.79
calibration slope (SE)	1.10 (0.011)	1.10 (0.011)	1.10 (0.011)	1.10 (0.011)	1.10 (0.011)	1.10 (0.011)

Supplementary Table 4. Performance of prediction models at cross validation by outcomes.

		Absolute								
Scenario	1	risk (%)	2	risk (%)	°	risk (%)	4	risk (%)	5	risk (%)
	United		United		United		United		United	
DB	Kingdom									
Sex	Female		Male		Female		Male		Female	
Age	50-60		50-60		60-70		60-70		18-30	
Prior UGIC	No									
Prior AMI	No									
Prior HF	No									
Prior IS	No									
Time										
period	4 weeks									
1	Celecoxib	0.000188	Ketoprofen	0.000376	Ketoprofen	0.000358	Aceclofenac	0.000366	Celecoxib	0.000010
2	Ketoprofen	0.000189	Celecoxib	0.000376	Celecoxib	0.000360	Celecoxib	0.000369	Aceclofenac	0.000010
3	Aceclofenac	0.000195	Aceclofenac	0.000380	Meloxicam	0.000381	Nimesulide	0.000383	Nimesulide	0.000010
4	Nimesulide	0.000198	Nimesulide	0.000394	Nimesulide	0.000384	Ibuprofen	0.000425	Ibuprofen	0.000012
5	Meloxicam	0.000201	Meloxicam	0.000399	Aceclofenac	0.000386	Rofecoxib	0.000480	Rofecoxib	0.000016
9	Naproxen	0.000206	Naproxen	0.000408	Naproxen	0.000393	Ketoprofen	0.000499	Ketoprofen	0.000020
7	lbuprofen	0.000209	lbuprofen	0.000416	Ibuprofen	0.000403	Naproxen	0.000530	Naproxen	0.000021
8	Rofecoxib	0.000216	Piroxicam	0.000424	Rofecoxib	0.000415	Meloxicam	0.000542	Indometacin	0.000022
6	Piroxicam	0.000217	Rofecoxib	0.000428	Piroxicam	0.000416	Indometacin	0.000592	Meloxicam	0.000023
10	Diclofenac	0.000237	Diclofenac	0.000465	Indometacin	0.000454	Diclofenac	0.000592	Diclofenac	0.000024
11	Indometacin	0.000240	Indometacin	0.000481	Diclofenac	0.000457	Piroxicam	0.000632	Etoricoxib	0.000026
12	Ketorolac	0.000336	Etoricoxib	0.000668	Ketorolac	0.000626	Etoricoxib	0.000693	Piroxicam	0.000029
13	Etoricoxib	0.000368	Ketorolac	0 000674	Etoricovih	0 000769	Katorolar	0 001013	Ketorolac	0 000046

Supplementary Table 5. Decision model ranking with absolute risks associated with each individual NSAID per scenario.

			Absolute								
	Scenario	9	risk (%)	7	risk (%)	8	risk (%)	9	risk (%)	10	risk (%)
		United		United		United					
	DB	Kingdom		Kingdom		Kingdom		SISR		SISR	
	Sex	Female		Male		Male		Female		Male	
	Age	80+		18-30		80+		50-60		50-60	
	Prior UGIC	No									
	Prior AMI	No									
	Prior HF	No									
	Prior IS	No									
	Time										
	period	4 weeks									
Safest	1	Ketoprofen	0.001237	Celecoxib	0.000016	Ketoprofen	0.002284	Ketoprofen	0.000261	Ketoprofen	0.000523
	2	Celecoxib	0.001253	Nimesulide	0.000017	Celecoxib	0.002317	Celecoxib	0.000269	Celecoxib	0.000538
	c	Meloxicam	0.001318	Aceclofenac	0.000017	Meloxicam	0.002429	Meloxicam	0.000277	Aceclofenac	0.000546
	4	Nimesulide	0.001349	Ibuprofen	0.000018	Nimesulide	0.002470	Aceclofenac	0.000281	Meloxicam	0.000554
	S	Naproxen	0.001366	Ketoprofen	0.000018	Aceclofenac	0.002477	Nimesulide	0.000284	Nimesulide	0.000563
	9	Aceclofenac	0.001377	Rofecoxib	0.000020	Naproxen	0.002508	Naproxen	0.000286	Naproxen	0.000569
	7	Ibuprofen	0.001406	Meloxicam	0.000020	Ibuprofen	0.002585	Piroxicam	0.000296	Piroxicam	0.000583
	8	Rofecoxib	0.001451	Naproxen	0.000020	Piroxicam	0.002643	Ibuprofen	0.000298	Ibuprofen	0.000593
	6	Piroxicam	0.001456	Indometacin	0.000022	Rofecoxib	0.002662	Rofecoxib	0.000305	Rofecoxib	0.000606
	10	Indometacin	0.001565	Piroxicam	0.000023	Indometacin	0.002905	Diclofenac	0.000330	Diclofenac	0.000650
	11	Diclofenac	0.001603	Diclofenac	0.000023	Diclofenac	0.002916	Indometacin	0.000335	Indometacin	0.000674
Most	12	Ketorolac	0.002134	Ketorolac	0.000034	Ketorolac	0.003976	Ketorolac	0.000456	Ketorolac	0.000923
harmful	13	Etoricoxib	0.002889	Etoricoxib	0.000038	Etoricoxib	0.004909	Etoricoxib	0.000530	Etoricoxib	0.000960

Supplementary Table 5. Decision model ranking with absolute risks associated with each individual NSAID per scenario (continued).

			Absolute		Absolute		Absolute		Absolute		Absolute
	Scenario	11	risk (%)	12	risk (%)	13	risk (%)	14	risk (%)	15	risk (%)
		United		United		United		United		Netherlands	
	DB	Kingdom		Kingdom		Kingdom		Kingdom		(IPCI)	
	Sex	Female		Female		Female		Female		Female	
	Age	50-60		50-60		50-60		50-60		50-60	
	Prior UGIC	No		Yes		Yes		No		No	
	Prior AMI	No		Yes		Yes		No		No	
	Prior HF	No		Yes		Yes		No		No	
	Prior IS	No		Yes		Yes		No		No	
	Time										
	period	1 year		1 year		4 weeks		5 years		4 weeks	
Safest	1	Ketoprofen	0.000374	Celecoxib	0.000738	Celecoxib	0.000370	Aceclofenac	0.000061	Aceclofenac	0.000059
	2	Celecoxib	0.000375	Ketoprofen	0.000743	Ketoprofen	0.000375	Celecoxib	0.000061	Celecoxib	0.000063
	3	Aceclofenac	0.000390	Aceclofenac	0.000782	Aceclofenac	0.000392	Nimesulide	0.000064	Nimesulide	0.000064
	4	Nimesulide	0.000396	Nimesulide	0.000784	Nimesulide	0.000393	Ibuprofen	0.000072	lbuprofen	0.000071
	ß	Meloxicam	0.000398	Meloxicam	0.000792	Meloxicam	0.000400	Rofecoxib	0.000083	Rofecoxib	0.000077
	9	Naproxen	0.000408	Naproxen	0.000813	Naproxen	0.000411	Ketoprofen	0.0000000	Ketoprofen	0.000077
	7	Ibuprofen	0.000416	Ibuprofen	0.000824	Ibuprofen	0.000414	Naproxen	0.000095	Naproxen	0.000082
	8	Piroxicam	0.000429	Rofecoxib	0.000854	Rofecoxib	0.000429	Meloxicam	0.000098	Meloxicam	0.000083
	6	Rofecoxib	0.000430	Piroxicam	0.000864	Piroxicam	0.000438	Indometacin	0.000104	Diclofenac	0.0000000
	10	Diclofenac	0.000470	Diclofenac	0.000942	Indometacin	0.000475	Diclofenac	0.000106	Etoricoxib	0.00001
	11	Indometacin	0.000477	Indometacin	0.000942	Diclofenac	0.000475	Piroxicam	0.000117	Piroxicam	0.000092
Most	12	Ketorolac	0.000664	Ketorolac	0.001315	Ketorolac	0.000667	Etoricoxib	0.000121	Indometacin	0.000095
harmful	13	Etoricoxib	0.000734	Etoricoxib	0.001532	Etoricoxib	0.000770	Ketorolac	0.000187	Ketorolac	0.000154

Supplementary Table 5. Decision model ranking with absolute risks associated with each individual NSAID per scenario (continued).

SECTION 7

Pooling of data from multiple data sources

CHAPTER 7.1

Pooling of individual patient-level data or summary estimates from multiple nested case-control studies in the SAFEGUARD project

Gwen MC Masclee, Maria de Ridder, Miriam CJM Sturkenboom, John D Seeger

ABSTRACT

BACKGROUND

Combining data from several databases is increasingly gaining popularity. There is uncertainty whether analysis of pooled individual-patient level data (one-stage) or meta-analysis of database-specific estimates (two-stage) should be preferred.

AIM

To compare one- and two-stage analyses in the context of a matched nested case-control design.

METHODS

Within the SAFEGUARD project 8 European and 1 US database collected data on incident T2DM subjects (1999-2013). Within each database a common work-up of definitions and data model was used. Cases with acute myocardial infarction (AMI) were matched to maximum 10 controls on age (±1 year), sex, database and follow-up time (±3 months). Effects of metformin and glimepiride monotherapy were estimated relative to a common reference exposure. One-and two-stage analyses were conducted including common confounders. In the one-stage model, we evaluated whether database acted as an effect modifier for confounders and exposure estimates. Heterogeneity in meta-analytic pooling was assessed by I2 values.

RESULTS

In total 25,979 AMI cases were matched to 127,570 controls. Metformin monotherapy was used by 24% of cases; glimepiride monotherapy by 6.9%. Unadjusted one-stage and two-stage analyses provided similar estimates (metformin: $OR_{one-stage}=0.82$, 95% CI: 0.78-0.86; $OR_{fixed}=0.83$, 95% CI: 0.79-0.88; I²=49%; glimepiride: $OR_{one-stage}=0.99$, 95% CI: 0.93-1.05 versus $OR_{random}=1.04$, 95% CI: 0.90-1.20; I²=68.1%;). Adjusting for confounders did not provide larger differences between the models. In one-stage analysis, the database does however seem to act as an effect modifier when including interactions with exposure and covariates (P<0.05).

CONCLUSION

One- and two-stage analyses yielded similar estimates including a range of confounders in the setting of the SAFEGUARD project with a common work up and common data model. In the one-stage analysis the database seemed to act as an effect modifier for confounder and exposure effects despite homogeneity in the exposure estimates according to meta-analytic pooling.

INTRODUCTION

One of the most important reasons to conduct observational studies is the allowance of addressing research questions of drug safety in the "real world" that cannot be addressed in randomized clinical trials.^{133, 480} Observational studies utilizing electronic healthcare data from primary or secondary care are therefore particularly valuable when adverse events are unknown or considered rare.¹³³ Initially, these studies were conducted independently of each other. This resulted in studies addressing the same research question by different study designs and different definitions of outcomes, covariables and exposure. In order to derive more robust evidence from these single studies, study-specific results were combined in metaanalyses. In recent years, collaboration between data sources to collectively study the same research question has gained popularity.^{243, 346, 440, 481, 482} This resulted in several multi-database studies using multiple data sources from different sites and countries with a high potential of heterogeneity between the data sources. Combining data from several sources is possible in mainly two ways: 1) one-stage analysis; which consists of performing the analysis on one large database where individual patient-level data from different databases is pooled; or 2) twostage meta-analysis; in which the analyses are performed on each single database and the summary statistics are combined using standard meta-analysis techniques.⁴⁸³ There is an ongoing debate whether one of the two techniques should be preferred over the other.484 Despite clear practical and flexibility reasons for analyzing individual patient-level data, the main disadvantage of these analyses remains data sharing and privacy issues.⁴⁸⁴ Another proposed method of pooling data from different study sites is pooling on propensity scores.⁴⁸⁵ Cohort studies using this propensity score-based pooling yielded similar estimates as derived from meta-analyzing the estimates when adjusting for universal (common) or local (data site specific) confounders.⁴⁸⁵⁻⁴⁸⁷ How these methods perform in the context of multi-database studies with a matched case-control design is unknown, particularly when a common data model is used. The aim of the current study is to compare one-stage and two-stage metaanalyses using data from the SAFEGUARD project.

METHODS

Data sources

Data for this study was obtained from nine longitudinal population-based health care databases participating in the SAFEGUARD project (Safety Evaluation of Adverse Reactions in Diabetes: http://www.safeguard-diabetes.org/) from five European countries [Germany (GE), Italy (IT), the Netherlands (NL), Spain (ES), the United Kingdom (UK)] and the United States (US) covering a source population of around 50 million subjects. All databases have been extensively used for pharmacoepidemiological research. Characteristics of the databases are summarized in Table 1. In short, the Clinical Practice Research Datalink (CPRD) database is a

general practice (GP) database in the UK and currently captures medical records of 13.2 million patients. BIFAP (Base de Datos para la Investigación Farmacoepidemiologica en Atención Primaria) is a Spanish GP database in which GPs from different communities in Spain are captured.⁴⁸⁸ The Integrated Primary Care Information (IPCI) database is a GP database from the Netherlands and covers over 1 million people.²³⁸ PHARMO database is a medical record linkage system of 2.2 million community-dwelling inhabitants in the Netherlands.⁴³⁵ Three Italian databases were included: the Health Search Database/CSD Longitudinal Patient (HSD), Regional Database Puglia (CMNS), and Regional Database Lombardy (UNIMIB). HSD is a GP database which covers 1.5 million patients (aged 15 years and older). CMNS and UNIMIB are administrative databases with regional coverage of the Italian citizens. UNIMIB has full population coverage of the Lombardia region, resulting in electronic medical records from 16% of the Italian population. The German Pharmacoepidemiological Research Database (GePaRD) is a database comprising data from five statutory health insurances throughout Germany. It currently covers around 14 million insurants and represents approximately 20% of the German population.⁴³⁶ The Caremark-Medicare linked database provides healthcare transaction data on US community-dwelling patients 65 years and older who receive their health insurance through Medicare. Medicare retrieves information on drug prescriptions and claims through Caremark.

All GP and administrative databases contain information on demographics of the population, diagnoses (in- and/or outpatient), and drug prescriptions/dispensings. The diagnoses captured by the databases are coded with four different disease coding systems including the International Classification of Diseases (ICD) 9th or 10th revision,³²³ International Classification for Primary Care (ICPC),²⁴⁰ or READ system.⁴³⁸ Details on the databases regarding coding systems, study period and drug exposure are listed in Table 1.

Mapping of concept and codes was performed using the Unified Medical Language System (UMLS). The UMLS is a biomedical terminology integration system handling more than 150 medical dictionaries, according to a previously described workflow.^{380, 440} All drugs were mapped to the World Health Organization's (WHO) classification of Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical (ATC).²⁴² A distributed approach was used for collaboration: all database custodians processed data locally; original data were transformed into a simple common data model (Jerboa ©);³⁴⁶ mapping of codes for outcome and covariates was verified using an extensive harmonization strategy; and a common standardized script was used to create an aggregated data output for all databases that were subsequently encrypted and shared on a central remote research environment for further analysis and pooling. Details on such a collaborative approach have been described previously.^{346, 380}

Approval by the institutional review boards was obtained.

Table 1 . Charac	cteristics of the Da	tabases involved in	n the SAFEGUARD	project.					
Country	Germany		Italy		Spain	Ν	z	_	NSA
Name of data source	GePaRD	CMNS	UNIMIB	HSD	BIFAP	CPRD	IPCI	PHARMO	Medicare
Type of data source	Administrative database	Administrative database	Administrative database	Electronic medical record	Electronic medical record	Electronic medical record	Electronic medical record	Record linkage system	Administrative database (≥65 years)
Period covered	2003-2009	2001-2010	1999-2010	2000-2010	2001-2011	199-2011	1999-2012	1998-2010	2005-2008
No. source population	> 14 million	5 million	9 million	1.4 million	3.2 million	8 million	1.1 million	4 million	>4 million
Setting	In- and outpatient care	Outpatient care	Outpatient care	Primary care	Primary care	Primary care	Primary care	Out and in patient care	In- and outpatient care
Diagnosis terminology*	ICD-10-GM	ICD-9 CM	ICD-9 CM	ICD-9 CM and free text	ICPC and free text	READ codes	ICPC and free text	ICD-9 CM	ICD-9 CM
Drugs	Dispensings	Dispensings	Dispensings	Prescriptions	Prescriptions	Prescriptions	Prescriptions	Dispensings	Dispensings
Drug coding system **	ATC	ATC	ATC	ATC	ATC	Multilex	ATC	ATC	NDC System
Laboratory values	No	NO	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes (subset)	No
* ICD-9= Internati	ional Classification o	f Diseases, 9 th edition,	; ICD-10= Internationu	al Classification of L	Diseases, 10 th editio	n; ICD-10-GM= Inte	ernational Classificat	tion of Diseases, 10	th edition German

Modification; ICPC= International Cassification of Primary Care; READ: It is the clinical terminology system used in General Practice in the United Kingdom. ** ATC= Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical Classification System; NDC System=National Drug Code System; Multilex BNF=British National Formulary.

Pooling of data from multiple data sources | 279

7

Study Cohorts

A cohort of patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) was identified using a harmonized definition of T2DM across the databases. The cohort included all patients who an incident prescription of non-insulin blood glucose lowering drug (NIBGLD). At least one year of available healthcare data prior to study entry was required in order to assess the patient's medical history and to discriminate between prevalent and incident T2DM.

Follow-up started at the date of first NIBLGD prescription recording and ended at date of study outcome (see below), death, end of study period (Table 1) or moving out of region, whichever was earliest. Gestational diabetes was not considered as inclusion criterion. Subjects with any type of malignancy (except for non-melanoma skin cancer) before cohort entry were excluded. Cancers occurring during cohort time were censored at date of cancer diagnosis.

Cases and controls

In the SAFEGUARD project several outcomes were analyzed. For this study, we used acute myocardial infarction (AMI) as outcome as this is a clearly defined outcome and has been validly used in previous studies. Codes used to identify AMI are given in Supplementary Table 1. Cases experiencing their first AMI during cohort time were matched to a maximum of 10 controls by incidence density sampling on age (±1 year), sex, database and time in the cohort (±3 months).

Exposure

Exposure to NIBGLDs was obtained from either prescriptions (BIFAP, CPRD, HSD, IPCI, PHARMO) or from outpatient drug dispensings claims (CMNS, GePaRD, MEDICARE, PHARMO and UNIMIB). Duration of a single NIBGLD dispensing/prescription was obtained by dividing the total units by the daily number of units prescribed (BIFAP, CPRD, HSD, IPCI, PHARMO), for other databases standard durations were used based on the country specific defined daily dose (DDD) values.²⁴²

Classification of the recency of exposure to NIBGLDs was based on the interval between index date and the end of the most recent NIBGLD use before the index date. If the exposure period 1) overlapped or ended within 30 days before index date use was classified as 'current' use; 2) ended between 31 and 62 days before the index date as 'recent' use and; 3) ended more than 63 days before the index date as 'past' use.

Exposure of interest included two medications that are likely to be commonly used, namely metformin and glimepiride as monotherapy. We considered current use of metformin with a sulfonylurea (either in fixed or loose combination) as reference category to compare our exposures of interest to. Current use of any other NIBGLD as monotherapy or combination of drugs was considered as separate category. Exposure groups were therefore mutually

exclusive. It should be noted that monotherapy of metformin and glimepiride are primarily used in the first stage of T2DM treatment, whereas the common reference group to which we compared our exposures of interest to is considered at a second stage of T2DM therapy. For the purpose of comparing the one- and two-stage analyses we assumed the stage at which the drug is considered would not affect the comparison between one-stage and two-stage analyses.

Covariate selection

For the SAGFEGUARD study, a list of covariates was defined based on scientific and clinical knowledge. Time window of covariate assessment was 1 year prior to cohort entry date or index date for comorbid diseases and 30 days prior to cohort entry or index date for use of drugs. Covariates that were assessed at 1) cohort entry included use of ACE-inhibitors, anticoagulants, anti-hypertensive drugs, angiotensin II agonists, beta-blockers, calcium antagonists, hormone replacement therapy, diuretics, lipid lowering drugs, oestrogens, systemic contraceptives, vasodilators; 2) at index date use of anti-arrythmic drugs, anticoagulants, antiplatelets, high-dose aspirin (>325 mg/day), low-dose aspirin (<325 mg/day), hormone replacement therapy, estrogens, systemic contraceptives, vasodilators; hyperlipidemia, heart failure, obesity, smoking and hypoglycemic events; 3) or both at cohort entry and index date: atrial fibrillation, cerebrovascular diseases, chronic kidney disease, ischemic heart disease, myocardial infarction, peripheral arterial disease, renal failure, alcohol abuse, cardiomyopathy, chronic liver disease, coagulopathies, congenital heart disease, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, drug abuse, deep vein thrombosis and pulmonary embolism, endocarditis, cardiac valve disorders, ventricular arrhythmia. In case there was no or missing information on the variable in the specific time window, the variable was considered as absence of the condition.

We considered different ways to include confounders, based on: 1) the prevalence of the confounder; 2) their association with the outcome, e.g. the difference between the crude beta and beta adjusted for the confounder; 3) the strength of confounding as defined by the Bross formula,⁴⁴² which is a function of the first two steps as described above. Covariates were selected for adjustment in the three abovementioned ways in each database separately and in the pooled data. Furthermore we selected single confounders and confounders that were present in all databases ('common confounders') and showed the strongest potential for confounding across the databases (point 3 as described above).

Statistical analyses

The study populations were described by database. Conditional logistic regression was conducted both within each database and within the pooled data (one-stage analysis). In case a confounder was not available or present in a database this database was left out of the one-and two-stage analyses.

We investigated whether database acted as effect modifier for confounder and exposure associations by adding interactions of database with confounders to allow for varying strengths of confounding effects across the databases and the one-stage analysis is 'allowed' and one overall estimate for exposure and confounders can be considered in the individual patient-level pooled dataset.

The two-stage analysis was conducted by meta-analyzing the estimates obtained in each single database and weighing each database using the inverse of the variance.⁴⁹¹ As a measure of heterogeneity in the estimates across the databases the I^2 was calculated.⁴⁹²

RESULTS

Out of the source population of over 52 million subjects we identified 1.8 million incident T2DM subjects. In this cohort, we could match 25,979 AMI cases to 127,570 controls (Table 2). Basic demographics and prevalence of confounders in cases and controls per database are shown in Table 3. Mean age at index date was lowest for IPCI (64.2 and 63.2 years, for cases and controls respectively) and highest for Medicare (77.9 years both). Most study subjects were male (51% to 69%). Median time in the cohort for cases varied between 0.8 year (IPCI) and 3.5 years (UNIMIB); and varied for controls between 0.7 year (IPCI) and 3.6 years (UNIMIB).

	Total	Total	Metformin	Metformin monotherapy		nonotherapy
	Number	Number	Cases	Controls	Cases	Controls
		of				
	of Cases	Controls	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)
GePaRD	3,511	16,153	1,174 (33.4)	6,027 (37.3)	405 (11.5)	1,451 (9.0)
CMNS	2,062	10,375	346 (16.8)	2,037 (19.6)	131 (6.4)	639 (6.2)
UNIMIB	9,794	48,154	1,508 (15.4)	7,945 (16.5)	807 (8.2)	3,586 (7.4)
HSD	748	3,678	165 (22.1)	880 (23.9)	53 (7.1)	285 (7.7)
BIFAP	802	3,848	252 (31.4)	1,360 (35.3)	22 (2.7)	96 (2.5)
CPRD	4,598	22,429	1,764 (38.4)	9,247 (41.2)	66 (1.4)	260 (1.2)
IPCI	76	303	48 (63.2)	206 (68.0)	0 (0)	0 (0)
PHARMO	1,483	7,359	510 (34.4)	2,595 (35.3)	137 (9.2)	705 (9.6)
MEDICARE	2,905	15,271	486 (16.7)	3,456 (22.6)	181 (6.2)	756 (5.0)
Pooled dataset	25.979	127.570	6.253 (24.1)	33.753 (26.5)	1.802 (6.9)	7.778 (6.1)

Table 2. Exposure of metformin and glimepiride per database.

Prevalence of Confounders

Prevalences of confounders in cases and controls varied between databases (Table 3). In general, use of antiplatelets, low-dose aspirin beta-blockers, vasodilators and respiratory drugs close to index date and presence of cerebrovascular diseases, chronic kidney disease, ischemic heart disease, hyperlipidemia, peripheral arterial disease, renal failure and smoking were more frequent among cases than controls. Presence of obesity and chronic liver disease was more

common among controls than among cases. The prevalence of some confounders among cases and controls was different between databases, for instance use of diuretics was more common among cases in Medicare and BIFAP, whereas the opposite was seen in the other databases. Use of ACE-inhibitors was almost as frequent as in controls in all databases except for CPRD and Medicare.

Exposure

Current metformin use was common at index date, with between 15% and 63% of cases and between 16% and 68% of controls exposed. Glimepiride was less often used, by 1.4% to 11.5% of cases and 1.2% to 9.6% of controls. None of the study subjects in IPCI was exposed to glimepiride, thus IPCI was not included in the analyses on glimepiride.

Unadjusted analysis

Estimates per database and from one-stage and two-stage analyses are shown in Figure 1. For metformin heterogeneity between databases was observed (I^2 =49%) with one-stage and two-stage analyses providing very similar estimates (OR_{one-stage}=0.82, 95% CI: 0.78-0.86; OR_{fixed}=0.83, 95% CI: 0.79-0.88). For glimepiride the level of heterogeneity was larger (I^2 =68%). The estimates from one-stage and two-stage analyses were still close to each other (OR_{one-stage}=0.99, 95% CI: 0.93-1.05 versus OR_{random}=1.04, 95% CI: 0.90-1.20), with the estimate from the random effects model was included in the 95% confidence limit of the one-stage analysis.



Figure 1. Unadjusted odds ratios by one- and two-stage analyses for current use of metformin as monotherapy and glimepiride as monotherapy versus current use of metformin plus a sulfonylurea.

GePaRD CMNS UNIMIB Cases Controls Cases Controls Cases Controls N (%) N (%) N (%) N (%) N (%) N (%) Total number 16.153 2.062 10.375 9.794 48.154 3.511 Age Mean (SD) 67.6 (11.2) 67.4 (11.1) 69.3 (12) 67.5 (11.6) 67.5 (11.5) 69.5 (11.9) Median (IQR) 68 (60-75) 68 (60-75) 67 (59-77) 67 (59-76) 70 (61-79) 70 (61-78) Sex Female 1,079 (30.7) 4,931 (30.5) 646 (31.3) 3,236 (31.2) 3,139 15,514 (32.05) (32.2) Male 11,222 6,655 (67.9) 32,640 2,432 (69.3) 1,416 (68.7) 7,139 (68.8) (69.5) (67.8) A priori defined confounders Use of: ACE-inhibitors* 1,056 (30.1) 4,572 (28.3) 412 (20.0) 2,018 (19.5) 2,346 10,750 (23.95)(22.3)Anticoagulants* 114 (3.2) 522 (3.2) 39 (1.9) 175 (1.7) 233 (2.38) 1,045 (2.17) Anti-hypertensive drugs* 112 (3.2) 433 (2.7) 49 (2.4) 296 (2.85) 311 (3.18) 1,296 (2.7) Angiotensin II 431 (12.3) 1974 (12.2) 212 (10.3) 1,071 (10.2) 1,064 (10.9) 4,722 (9.8) antagonists* Beta-blockers* 1064 (30.3) 4495 (27.8) 796 (7.7) 5,527 (11.5) 216 (10.5) 1,498 (15.3) Calcium antagonists* 260 (7.4) 121 (5.9) 463 (4.5) 2,853 (5.9) 1,011 (6.3) 769 (7.9) Hormone replacement 338 (2.1) 53 (0.5) 329 (0.7) 64 (1.8) therapy* Diuretics* 1,141 (32.5) 5,135 (31.8) 445 (21.6) 2,380 (22.9) 2,311 (23.6) 10,628 (22.1)Lipid lowering drugs* 6,084 (12.6) 682 (19.4) 2,738 (17.0) 287 (13.9) 1,215 (11.7) 1,498 (15.3) Oestrogens* 61 (1.7) 323 (2.0) 6 (0.3) 22 (0.2) 71 (0.72) 432 (0.9) Systemic contraceptives* 13 (0.13) 64 (0.1) 174 (8.4) Vasodilators* 263 (7.5) 665 (4.1) 443 (4.3) 958 (9.78) 2,402 (5.0) Hyperlipidemia: 1,999 (56.9) 8294 (51.3) 487 (23.6) 2,110 (20.3) 2,299 9,135 (19.0) (23.47)Anti-arrythmic drugs# 273 (2.79) 20 (0.6) 114 (0.7) 45 (2.28) 234 (2.3) 1,358 (2.8) Anticoagulants[#] 197 (5.6) 791 (4.9) 72 (3.5) 336 (3.2) 373 (3.81) 1,403 (2.9) Antiplatelets[#] 232 (6.6) 531 (3.3) 142 (6.9) 384 (3.7) 508 (5.19) 1,541 (3.2) Aspirin in high dose[#] 30 (0.9) 106 (0.7) Low-dose aspirin[#] 452 (12.9) 1,295 (8.0) 470 (22.8) 2,126 (20.5) 2.073 7,727 (16.0) (21.17)Hormone replacement 51 (1.5) 315 (2.0) 20 (0.2) 139 (0.3) therapy# Oestrogens# 7 (0.3) 22 (0.2) 30 (0.31) 50 (1.4) 297 (1.8) 186 (0.39) Systemic contraceptives[#] 7 (0.1) 22 (0.05) Vasodilators[#] 398 (11.3) 667 (4.1) 256 (12.4) 575 (5.5) 1558 (15.9) 3,221 (6.7) Comorbid diseases: Atrial Fibrillation⁺ 424 (12.1) 1,485 (9.2) 84 (4.1) 331 (3.2) 525 (5.4) 2,054 (4.3) Any cerebrovascular 856 (24.4) 3,244 (20.1) 199 (9.7) 615 (5.9) 1,104 (11.3) 3,510 (7.3) diseaset 1,317 (2.7) Chronic Kidney disease⁺ 853 (24.3) 3,256 (20.2) 119 (5.7) 298 (2.9) 499 (5.1) Ischemic Heart Disease⁺ 1,916 (54.6) 4,819 (29.8) 372 (18.0) 811 (7.8) 1,755 (17.9) 4,627 (9.6) Myocardial Infarction+ 1,088 (31.0) 1334 (8.3) 172 (8.3) 391 (3.8) 1,051 (10.7) 2,864 (5.9) **Peripheral Arterial** 794 (22.6) 2,694 (16.7) 115 (5.6) 275 (2.7) 584 (5.96) 1,323 (2.7) Disease[†] Renal Failure⁺ 39 (1.1) 66 (0.4) 12 (0.6) 10 (0.10) 61 (0.62) 104 (0.22) Heart Failure: 586 (16.7) 1,856 (11.5) 98 (4.8) 358 (3.5) 530 (5.4) 1,586 (3.3) Obesity: 943 (26.9) 4,518 (28.0) 33 (1.6) 162 (1.6) 125 (1.3) 536 (1.1) Smoking[†] Cancer 240 (6.8) 1,235 (7.6) 72 (3.5) 330 (3.2) 506 (5.2) 2,382 (4.9)

Table 3. Prevalence of Confounders in cases and controls per database.

	GeP	PaRD	CM	NS	UN	MIB
	Cases	Controls	Cases	Controls	Cases	Controls
	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)
Total number	3,511	16,153	2,062	10,375	9,794	48,154
Potential Confounders						
Use of:						
PDE5 inhibitors*						
Respiratory drugs*	173 (4.9)	594 (3.7)	96 (4.7)	382 (3.7)	354 (3.6)	1,516 (3.1)
Cardiac glycosides [#]	101 (2.9)	288 (1.8)	58 (2.8)	247 (2.4)	195 (2.0)	718 (1.5)
PDE5 inhibitors [#]						
Respiratory drugs [#]	226 (6.4)	697 (4.3)	120 (5.8)	441 (4.3)	522 (5.3)	1,818 (3.8)
Glucocorticoids [#]	205 (5.8)	535 (3.3)	109 (5.3)	318 (3.1)	288 (2.9)	822 (1.7)
Comorbid diseases:						
Alcohol Abuse ⁺	186 (5.3)	828 (5.1)	14 (0.7)	68 (0.7)	105 (1.1)	495 (1.0)
Cardiomyopathy ⁺	103 (2.9)	292 (1.8)	27 (1.3)	96 (0.9)	194 (2.0)	636 (1.3)
Chronic Liver disease ⁺	918 (26.1)	4,493 (27.8)	144 (7.0)	619 (6.0)	389 (4.0)	1942 (4.0)
Coagulopathies ⁺	214 (6.1)	935 (5.8)	9 (0.4)	33 (0.3)	49 (0.5)	198 (0.4)
Congenital heart disease ⁺	22 (0.6)	87 (0.5)			17 (0.2)	58 (0.1)
Chronic Obstructive	591 (16.8)	2162 (13.4)	226 (11.0)	771 (7.4)	565 (5.8)	2008 (4.2)
Pulmonary Disease ⁺						
Drug abuse†	52 (1.5)	207 (1.3)			9 (0.1)	40 (0.1)
Deep Vein Thrombosis/	93 (2.6)	355 (2.2)	6 (0.3)	22 (0.2)	85 (0.9)	346 (0.7)
Pulmonary Embolism ⁺						
Endocarditis ⁺	21 (0.6)	126 (0.8)				
Cardiac valve disorders ⁺	512 (14.6)	1581 (9.8)	68 (3.3)	193 (1.9)	238 (2.4)	853 (1.8)
Ventricular arrythmia ⁺	69 (2.0)	165 (1.0)	12 (0.6)	31 (0.3)	53 (0.5)	222 (0.5)
Hypoglycemic events [#]	21 (0.6)	67 (0.4)			9 (0.1)	18 (0.04)

Table 3. Prevalence of Confounders in cases and controls per database (continued).

* assessed in 30 days before cohort entry; [#] assessed 30 days before index date; [†] assessed at cohort entry and index date; [‡] assessed 1 year before cohort entry.

HSD CPRD BIFAP Cases Controls Cases Controls Cases Controls N (%) N (%) N (%) N (%) N (%) N (%) Total number 3.678 4.598 22.429 802 3.848 748 Age Mean (SD) 68.5 (10.9) 68.6 (10.6) 67.5 (12.8) 67.5 (12.5) 67.8 (12.5) 67.4 (12) Median (IQR) 69 (61-77) 69 (61-77) 68 (58-77) 69 (59-77) 68 (58-78) 68 (58-77) Sex Female 247 (33.0) 1,223 (33.3) 1,708 (37.1) 8,365 (37.3) 235 (29.3) 1,094 (28.4) Male 501 (67.0) 2,455 (66.7) 14,064 567 (70.7) 2,754 (71.6) 2,890 (62.9) (62.7)A priori defined confounders Use of: ACE-inhibitors* 144 (19.3) 747 (20.3) 1,175 (25.6) 5,084 (22.7) 128 (16.0) 659 (17.1) Anticoagulants* 13 (1.7) 89 (2.4) 128 (2.8) 443 (2.0) 28 (3.5) 102 (2.7) Anti-hypertensive drugs* 15 (2.0) 89 (2.4) 164 (3.6) 843 (3.8) 18 (2.2) 74 (1.9) Angiotensin II 73 (9.8) 342 (9.3) 294 (6.4) 1,302 (5.8) 75 (9.4) 339 (8.8) antagonists* Beta-blockers* 27 (3.6) 148 (4.0) 1,113 (24.2) 4.451 (19.8) 70 (8.7) 290 (7.5) Calcium antagonists* 62 (8.3) 325 (8.8) 638 (13.9) 2.659 (11.9) 43 (5.4) 210 (5.5) Hormone replacement 410 (1.8) 92 (2.0) therapy* Diuretics* 758 (20.6) 803 (20.9) 141 (18.9) 1,272 (27.7) 5.612 (25.0) 191 (23.8) Lipid lowering drugs* 89 (11.9) 431 (11.7) 1,646 (35.8) 6,815 (30.4) 154 (19.2) 761 (19.8) Oestrogens* 118 (2.6) 501 (2.2) Systemic contraceptives* Vasodilators* 38 (5.1) 140 (3.8) 539 (11.7) 1,045 (4.7) 28 (3.5) 99 (2.6) Hyperlipidemia: 140 (18.7) 639 (17.4) 1,875 (40.8) 7,677 (34.2) 217 (27.1) 1087 (28.2) Anti-arrythmic drugs# 15 (2.0) 216 (1.0) 9 (1.1) 33 (0.9) 72 (2.0) 62 (1.3) Anticoagulants^{*} 47 (6.3) 140 (3.8) 246 (5.4) 860 (3.8) 47 (5.9) 178 (4.6) Antiplatelets[#] 56 (7.5) 192 (5.2) 405 (8.8) 1,015 (4.5) 71 (8.9) 199 (5.2) Aspirin in high dose[#] 61 (1.3) 159 (0.7) Low-dose aspirin[#] 235 (31.4) 1,023 (27.8) 2,015 (43.8) 8,532 (38.0) 218 (27.2) 809 (21.0) Hormone replacement 56 (1.2) 284 (1.3) therapy[#] Oestrogens[#] 80 (1.7) 353 (1.6) Systemic contraceptives[#] Vasodilators[#] 110 (14.7) 254 (6.9) 869 (18.9) 1,347 (6.0) 83 (10.3) 153 (4.0) Comorbid diseases: Atrial Fibrillation⁺ 30 (4.0) 120 (3.3) 292 (6.4) 827 (3.7) 33 (4.1) 126 (3.3) Any cerebrovascular 81 (10.8) 306 (8.3) 321 (7.0) 49 (6.1) 151 (3.9) 1,017 (4.5) disease[†] Chronic Kidney disease[†] 64 (8.6) 147 (4.0) 760 (16.5) 3,019 (13.5) 27 (3.4) 87 (2.3) Ischemic Heart Disease⁺ 108 (14.4) 268 (7.3) 1,150 (25.0) 2,563 (11.4) 79 (9.9) 116 (3.0) Myocardial Infarction⁺ 7 (0.9) 74 (1.9) 5 (0.7) 81 (2.2) 180 (3.9) 603 (2.7) Peripheral Arterial 31 (4.1) 83 (2.3) 627 (13.6) 2,131 (9.5) 35 (4.4) 85 (2.2) Diseaset Renal Failure⁺ 56 (1.2) 192 (0.9) Heart Failure‡ 21 (2.8) 108 (2.9) 98 (2.1) 210 (0.9) 27 (3.5) 92 (2.4) Obesity‡ 45 (6.0) 204 (5.5) 1,660 (36.1) 7,629 (34.0) 169 (21.1) 919 (23.9) Smoking[‡] 36 (4.8) 96 (2.6) 259 (5.6) 1,121 (5.0) 105 (13.1) 393 (10.2) Cancer 38 (5.1) 190 (5.2) 177 (3.8) 549 (2.4) 15 (1.9) 111 (2.9)

Table 3. Prevalence of Confounders in cases and controls per database (continued).

	H	SD	CP	RD	BI	FAP
	Cases	Controls	Cases	Controls	Cases	Controls
	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)
Total number	748	3,678	4,598	22,429	802	3,848
Potential Confounders						
Use of:						
PDE5 inhibitors*			83 (1.8)	378 (1.7)		
Respiratory drugs*	32 (4.3)	100 (2.7)	480 (10.4)	1474 (6.7)	33 (4.1)	207 (5.4)
Cardiac glycosides [#]	22 (2.9)	105 (2.9)	197 (4.3)	585 (2.6)	25 (3.1)	77 (2.0)
PDE5 inhibitors [#]			192 (4.2)	1118 (5.0)		
Respiratory drugs [#]	43 (5.7)	135 (3.7)	624 (13.6)	1702 (7.6)	56 (7.0)	248 (6.4)
Glucocorticoids [#]	23 (3.1)	89 (2.4)	480 (10.4)	1238 (5.5)	26 (3.2)	75 (1.9)
Comorbid diseases:						
Alcohol Abuse ⁺	5 (0.7)	49 (1.3)	121 (2.6)	541 (2.4)	37 (4.6)	217 (5.6)
Cardiomyopathy ⁺			18 (0.4)	38 (0.2)	9 (1.1)	31 (0.8)
Chronic Liver disease ⁺	28 (3.7)	217 (5.9)	70 (1.5)	255 (1.1)		
Coagulopathies ⁺	6 (0.8)	22 (0.6)	21 (0.5)	63 (0.3)	10 (1.2)	44 (1.14)
Congenital heart			5 (0.1)	15 (0.1)		
disease ⁺						
Chronic Obstructive	50 (6.7)	167 (4.5)	409 (8.9)	1,056 (4.7)	38 (4.7)	148 (3.85)
Pulmonary Disease ⁺						
Drug abuse ⁺	41 (5.5)	182 (4.9)	18 (0.4)	25 (0.1)		
Deep Vein Thrombosis/			85 (1.8)	239 (1.1)	14 (1.7)	36 (0.9)
Pulmonary Embolism ⁺						
Endocarditis ⁺						
Cardiac valve disorders ⁺	19 (2.5)	59 (1.6)	118 (2.6)	320 (1.4)	19 (2.4)	44 (1.1)
Ventricular arrythmia ⁺	9 (1.2)	12 (0.3)				
Hypoglycemic events [#]						

Table 3. Prevalence of Confounders in cases and controls per database (continued).

* assessed in 30 days before cohort entry; # assessed 30 days before index date; † assessed at cohort entry and index date; \ddagger assessed 1 year before cohort entry.
IPCI PHARMO MEDICARE Controls Cases Controls Controls Cases Cases N (%) N (%) N (%) N (%) N (%) N (%) Total number 76 303 1,483 7,359 2,905 15,271 Age Mean (SD) 64.2 (11.2) 63.2 (10.4) 67.7 (12) 67.6 (11.8) 77.9 (6.7) 77.9 (6.7) Median (IQR) 65 (55.5-65 (55-70) 69 (59-77) 69 (59-77) 78 (72-83) 77 (72-83) 71.5) Sex Female 28 (36.8) 117 (38.6) 507 (34.2) 2498 (33.9) 7,458 (48.8) 1,374 (47.3) Male 48 (63.2) 186 (61.4) 976 (65.8) 4861 (66.1) 7,813 (51.2) 1,531 (52.7) A priori defined confounders Use of: ACE-inhibitors* 10 (13.2) 38 (12.5) 225 (15.2) 1,065 (14.5) 283 (9.7) 1,212 (7.9) Anticoagulants* 3 (1.0) 74 (5.0) 310 (4.2) 118 (4.1) 451 (3.0) Anti-hypertensive drugs* 2 (2.6) 11 (3.6) 12 (0.8) 66 (0.9) 71 (2.4) 199 (1.3) Angiotensin II 9 (11.8) 34 (11.2) 158 (10.7) 661 (9.0) 245 (8.4) 896 (5.9) antagonists* Beta-blockers* 6 (7.9) 29 (9.6) 444 (29.9) 1,835 (24.9) 478 (16.5) 1682 (11.0) Calcium antagonists* 15 (19.7) 59 (19.5) 117 (7.9) 426 (5.8) 307 (10.6) 992 (6.5) 2 (2.6) Hormone replacement 12 (4.0) 10 (0.7) 62 (0.8) 27 (0.9) 127 (0.8) therapy* Diuretics* 0 (0.0) 1 (0.3) 391 (26.4) 1,854 (25.2) 537 (18.5) 1,948 (12.8) Lipid lowering drugs* 17 (22.4) 84 (27.7) 335 (22.6) 1,567 (21.3) 613 (21.1) 2,356 (15.4) Oestrogens* 2 (2.6) 4 (1.3) 28 (1.9) 124 (1.7) 11 (0.4) 70 (0.4) Systemic contraceptives* 2 (2.6) 2 (0.7) 17 (1.1) 62 (0.8) Vasodilators* 3 (3.9) 5 (1.65) 143 (9.6) 332 (4.5) 108 (3.7) 196 (1.3) 1,748 (23.8) Hyperlipidemia: 16 (21.1) 55 (18.2) 1272 (43.8) 4,954 (32.4) 379 (25.6) Anti-arrythmic drugs[#] 0 (0.0) 1 (0.3) 14 (0.9) 79 (1.1) 60 (2.1) 265 (1.7) Anticoagulants[#] 5 (1.7) 128 (8.6) 1 (1.3) 533 (7.2) 323 (11.1) 1,332 (8.7) Antiplatelets[#] 0 (0.0) 2 (0.7) 334 (22.5) 626 (21.5) 1,093 (14.9) 1,729 (11.3) Aspirin in high dose# 8 (10.5) 23 (7.6) Low-dose aspirin[#] 0 (0.0) 1 (0.3) 305 (20.6) 1,165 (15.8) Hormone replacement 0 (0.0) 2 (0.7) 10 (0.7) 46 (0.6) 71 (2.4) 434 (2.8) therapy# Oestrogens[#] 1 (1.3) 3 (1.0) 28 (1.9) 97 (1.3) 35 (1.2) 246 (1.6) Systemic contraceptives[#] 2 (0.7) 51 (0.7) 1(1.3)18 (1.2) Vasodilators[#] 3 (3.9) 4 (1.3) 294 (19.8) 451 (6.1) 338 (11.6) 716 (4.7) Comorbid diseases: Atrial Fibrillation+ 0 (0.0) 1 (0.3) 65 (4.4) 256 (3.5) 491 (16.9) 1,414 (9.3) Any cerebrovascular 0 (0.0) 2 (0.7) 77 (5.2) 212 (2.9) 535 (18.4) 1,373 (9.0) disease[†] Chronic Kidney disease[†] 2 (2.6) 3 (1.0) 18 (1.2) 55 (0.7) 616 (21.2) 1,454 (9.5) Ischemic Heart Disease⁺ 1 (1.3) 2 (0.7) 226 (15.2) 474 (6.4) 1,354 (46.6) 3,405 (22.3) Myocardial Infarction⁺ 2 (2.63 0 (0.0) 104 (7.0) 256 (3.5) 375 (12.9) 942 (6.2) Peripheral Arterial 0 (0.0) 1 (0.3) 45 (3.0) 116 (1.6) 449 (15.5) 989 (6.5) Disease⁺ Renal Failure⁺ 0 (0.0) 0 (0.0) 5 (0.3) 14 (0.2) 73 (2.5) 87 (0.6) Heart Failure: 94 (1.3) 446 (15.4) 1057 (6.9) 25 (32.9) 101 (33.3) 27 (1.8) 27 (0.4) 288 (1.9) Obesity: 2 (2.6) 1 (0.3) 6 (0.4) 81 (2.8) Smoking[‡] 4 (5.3) 9 (3.0) 118 (4.1) 295 (1.9) 617 (4.0) 3 (3.9) Cancer 1 (0.3) 55 (3.7) 257 (3.5) 170 (5.9)

Table 3. Prevalence of Confounders in cases and controls per database (continued).

	IF	PCI	PHA	RMO	MEDI	CARE
	Cases	Controls	Cases	Controls	Cases	Controls
	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)
Total number	76	303	1,483	7,359	2,905	15,271
Potential Confounders						
Use of:						
PDE5 inhibitors*	0 (0)	1 (0.3)			12 (0.4)	57 (0.4)
Respiratory drugs*	2 (2.6)	16 (5.3)	87 (5.9)	459 (6.2)	103 (3.5)	234 (1.5)
Cardiac glycosides [#]	2 (2.6)	4 (1.3)	47 (3.2)	197 (2.7)	128 (4.4)	478 (3.1)
PDE5 inhibitors [#]			19 (1.3)	59 (0.8)	28 (1.0)	138 (0.9)
Respiratory drugs [#]	2 (2.6)	18 (5.9)	122 (8.2)	548 (7.4)	258 (8.9)	761 (5.0)
Glucocorticoids [#]	2 (2.6)	7 (2.3)	86 (5.8)	278 (3.8)	182 (6.3)	450 (2.9)
Comorbid diseases:						
Alcohol Abuse ⁺	1 (1.3)	1 (0.3)	11 (0.7)	42 (0.6)	31 (1.1)	68 (0.4)
Cardiomyopathy ⁺	2 (2.6)	0 (0.0)	5 (0.3)	23 (0.3)	180 (6.2)	356 (2.3)
Chronic Liver disease ⁺	0 (0.0)	1 (0.3)	8 (0.5)	40 (0.5)	76 (2.6)	286 (1.9)
Coagulopathies ⁺					199 (6.9)	522 (3.4)
Congenital heart					21 (0.7)	56 (0.4)
disease ⁺						
Chronic Obstructive			39 (2.6)	150 (2.0)	610 (21.0)	1,513 (9.9)
Pulmonary Disease ⁺						
Drug abuse†					29 (1.0)	58 (0.4)
Deep Vein Thrombosis/					80 (2.8)	217 (1.4)
Pulmonary Embolism ⁺						
Endocarditis ⁺	0 (0.0)	1 (0.3)			21 (0.7)	57 (0.4)
Cardiac valve disorders ⁺	1 (1.3)	1 (0.3)	21 (1.4)	76 (1.0)	344 (11.8)	861 (5.6)
Ventricular arrythmia ⁺			5 (0.34)	31 (0.42)	7 (0.2)	18 (0.1)
Hypoglycemic events [#]					53 (1.8)	58 (0.4)

Table 3. Prevalence of Confounders in cases and controls per database (continued).

* assessed in 30 days before cohort entry; [#] assessed 30 days before index date; † assessed at cohort entry and index date; ‡ assessed 1 year before cohort entry.

Adjusted analyses

Figure 2 shows the estimates for metformin obtained from one-stage and two-stage analyses when adjusting for a single confounder. Little effect on the estimate by adjusting for single variables was seen. Also adding 5 common confounders to the models did not affect the exposure estimate. The difference between the estimate from one- and two-stage analyses was small when adjusting for most confounders. However, when we adjusted for 1^{st} year of type 2 diabetes mellitus or for use of PDE5 inhibitors and no interaction term of the covariate with database was included, the one-stage estimate was different from the two-stage estimate (T2DM: $OR_{one-stage}=0.82$, 95% CI: 0.79-0.87 versus $OR_{random}=0.88$, 95% CI: 0.82-0.95; PDE5 inhibitors: $OR_{one-stage}=0.82$, 95% CI: 0.78-0.86 versus $OR_{random}=0.89$, 95% CI: 0.81-0.98) (Figure 2 and Supplementary Table 2). When adding the interaction term, the exposure estimates were very similar for all adjusted estimates. However, based on the P-value of the interaction terms, one should consider to stratify in the one-stage analysis on database level (P interaction terms < 0.05) when adjusting for most confounders; which means database specific estimates should be considered.

	÷
	ä
	⊆.
	\geq
	≥
	F
	¥
1	3
	S
	B
1	Ξ.
	≥
	2
	1
	3
	Ξ.
	2
	Ę.
	Ψ.
	⊏
	÷
	0
	Ð
	S
	_
	Ę
	Ð
	5
	5
	Ū
	0
	-
1	Ö
	é.
	a
	ά
	3
	ō
	ũ
	>
	Ó.
	່ຫ
	Ľ
	ĕ
1	Ę.
	2
	5
	č
	S
	æ
1	Ξ
	5
	b
•	Ē
	ē
	È
	Ξ.
1	õ
	~
	ă٠.
	ŝ
	nse i
	t use i
	ent use
	rent use
	irrent use
	current use
	r current use
	or current use
	tor current use
	es tor current use
	ses for current use
	lyses for current use i
	alyses for current use
	nalyses for current use
	analyses for current use
	e analyses for current use
	ige analyses for current use
	tage analyses for current use
	 stage analyses for current use
	o-stage analyses for current use
	vo-stage analyses for current use
	two-stage analyses for current use
	d two-stage analyses for current use
	nd two-stage analyses for current use
	and two-stage analyses for current use
	e- and two-stage analyses for current use
	ne- and two-stage analyses for current use
	one- and two-stage analyses for current use
	/ one- and two-stage analyses for current use
	oy one- and two-stage analyses for current use
	s by one- and two-stage analyses for current use
	os by one- and two-stage analyses for current use
	tios by one- and two-stage analyses for current use i
	atios by one- and two-stage analyses for current use
	ratios by one- and two-stage analyses for current use
	Is ratios by one- and two-stage analyses for current use
	dds ratios by one- and two-stage analyses for current use i
	odds ratios by one- and two-stage analyses for current use i
	a odds ratios by one- and two-stage analyses for current use i
	ed odds ratios by one- and two-stage analyses for current use i
	ted odds ratios by one- and two-stage analyses for current use i
	isted odds ratios by one- and two-stage analyses for current use i
	ijusted odds ratios by one- and two-stage analyses for current use i
	adjusted odds ratios by one- and two-stage analyses for current use i
	adjusted odds ratios by one- and two-stage analyses for current use
	nd adjusted odds ratios by one- and two-stage analyses for current use i
	and adjusted odds ratios by one- and two-stage analyses for current use i
	and adjusted odds ratios by one- and two-stage analyses for current use
	ed and adjusted odds ratios by one- and two-stage analyses for current use i
	ted and adjusted odds ratios by one- and two-stage analyses for current use i
	isted and adjusted odds ratios by one- and two-stage analyses for current use i
	justed and adjusted odds ratios by one- and two-stage analyses for current use i
	idjusted and adjusted odds ratios by one- and two-stage analyses for current use i
	adjusted and adjusted odds ratios by one- and two-stage analyses for current use i
	Inadjusted and adjusted odds ratios by one- and two-stage analyses for current use i
	Unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios by one- and two-stage analyses for current use
	Unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios by one- and two-stage analyses for current use
	2. Unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios by one- and two-stage analyses for current use
	re 2. Unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios by one- and two-stage analyses for current use i
	ure 2. Unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios by one- and two-stage analyses for current use of
	igure 2. Unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios by one- and two-stage analyses for current use o

f ² =4.	/ ² =14.3%	l ² =68.1%	l ² =71.5%	l ² =37.8%	/ ² =48.1%	l ² =46.8%	l ² =53.5%	l ² =48.4%	l ² =40.0%	r ² =63.9%	r ² =48.5%
ŢŢŢŢ											0.6 Odds Ratio (95% Cis)
random - fixed - one stage interaction - one stage no interaction -	random - fixed - one stage interaction -	one stage no interaction - random - fixed - one stage interaction -	one stage no interaction - fixed - one stage interaction - one stage no interaction -	random - fixed - one stage interaction - one stage no interaction -	random - fixed - one stage interaction - one stage no interaction -	random - fixed - one stage interaction - one stage no interaction -	random - fixed - one stage interaction - one stage no interaction -	random - fixed - one stage interaction - one stage no interaction -	random - fixed - one stage interaction - one stage no interaction -	random - fixed - one stage interaction -	one stage no interaction - one stage no interaction - one stage no interaction -
Vasodilator use	1st year of T2DM ^{\$\$}	Systemic contraceptives^	Renal failure [#]	PDE5 inhibitor use**	Peripheral arterial disease	Obesity	Myocardial Infarction*	Lipid Lowering Drugs	lschemic Heart disease	Hypoglycemic Events ^{\$}	Hyperlipidemia
											Jrs,
l ² =47.3%	<i>I</i> ² =53.1%	l ² =46.8%	r ² =48.6%	Γ=49.1%	ר =48.3% ר = 48.3% ר = ה ה ה ה ה ה ה ה ה ה ה ה ה ה ה ה ה ה	r	<i>P</i> ² =46.6%	r ² =48.5%	f ² =42.0%	: r [/] =48.9% 1	ase, use of lipid g drugs, vasodilatt
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	r − − − − − − − − − − − − − − − − − − −	r 1 2 46.3%	¹				r • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •			0.6 0.8 1	Odds Ratio (95% CIs) adjusted for hyperlipidemia, ischemic heart disease, use of lipid lowenng drugs, vasodilators and beta-blockers adjusted for hyperlipidemia, use of lipid lowering drugs, vasodilat low-dose aspirin and beta-blockers





For glimepiride the one-stage and two-stage analyses yielded similar estimates, also when adjusting for a single confounder of when adjusting for multiple common confounders. However, for most adjusted estimates a higher level of heterogeneity was seen than for metformin. Adding the interaction term of confounder with database did not affect the exposure estimate, though the interaction terms were significant (Supplementary Table 3).

DISCUSSION

In this matched nested case-control study among nine databases in the SAFEGUARD project using a common data model we compared one-stage and two-stage analyses to obtain an overall meta-analytic estimate. Both analyses provided similar estimates even when including a variety of confounders and interactions of database with the covariates.

Nowadays there are many projects that are using a common data model or distributed network, such as Mini-Sentinel,^{490, 493} HMO Research Network,⁴⁹⁴ the Observational Medical Outcomes Partnership (OMOP),⁴⁸⁹ the EU-ADR project³⁴⁶ and IMI-PROTECT.²³⁷ One of the key reasons that such distributed networks have been developed is the need to conduct large-scale epidemiologic studies while preserving data privacy and legacy issues. Within these networks it is possible that data partners contribute summary data or results while keeping

data on individual-level locally and thus accounting for security issues. In one-stage analyses information from individual study subjects is needed. A disadvantage of the one-stage analysis, also known as individual patient-level pooled data analysis, is that only variables and exposures common to all databases can be used, whereas in two-stage meta-analysis estimates can be pooled when adjustment for varying confounders between the databases was performed or when not all separate databases provide a risk estimate. On the contrary, in two-stage meta-analyses statistical heterogeneity is often obtained rapidly due to the sizes of the single databases, but this may not be always clinically relevant.⁴⁹² However, neglecting the fact that the confounder strength could vary between databases analyzing individual patient-level pooled data as one large dataset may result in biased exposure estimates. The inclusion of the data source as a possible effect modifier in one-stage analyses may encounter these effects.

Several studies from the US have used local or universal propensity score (PS) models to summarize individual-level data from a large number of covariates in such way that use of this non identifiable measure of the propensity score subsequently allows pooling of site specific data.⁴⁸⁵⁻⁴⁸⁷ These cohort studies showed that estimates from analyses with adjustment for local or universal PS provided results that are similar to results from analyses using individual-patient level data.485-487 Despite that PS-based pooling allows for consistency of adjustment for common confounders across the data sites, it does not fully use additional confounder information that may be available at certain data sites. The final obtained exposure estimates in each of the data sites should still be summarized in a summary and overall statistic.⁴⁸⁵ A key advantage of the ability to pool individual patient-level data is to conduct more specific and flexible analyses, such as multivariable-adjusted and stratified analyses. Additionally, considering a rare exposure it may be possible to obtain enough exposed events when combining all data from partners, whereas this may not be possible when each individual data site provides a risk estimate. However, when considering that different data sources may contain heterogeneous populations and variations of the ability to capture covariates we evaluated whether individual-patient level pooling of data should be preferred over two-stage analysis that is usually considered in distributed networks.⁴⁹⁰

We noticed that both methods provided similar results, not only when adjusting for single variables, but also when adjusting for covariates that were common across all the databases. It has been proven that, if there is no heterogeneity of the exposure effect among databases, the individual-patient level data analysis and meta-analysis provide similar results when a maximum likelihood estimation, such as in logistic regression, is used.⁴⁹⁵ What may be one of the main reasons that we observed very similar results between the one-stage and two-stage analyses is the common work-up in a distributed network of electronic healthcare databases. The EU-ADR project has provided a platform that allowed data partners to locally extract and transform data to a standard format before running the common software (Jerboa©).³⁴⁶ By using a common model, uniform data-file structures, definitions of events and covariates are achieved. The subsequent statistical analysis on the obtained data is a fairly easy step which may be easily applied to each site-specific dataset. Besides this common data

model, a huge effort within the SAFEGUARD project was done to harmonize definitions of events and covariates to identify disease codes from different coding systems, health care systems and different natures of the databases for the same clinical concept. As we have learned in the past years, interpretation of the same research question or even same protocol applied to the same database may lead to different programming specifications and diverse conclusions.⁴⁹⁶⁻⁴⁹⁹ The statistical combination of results from different databases may be more problematic and jeopardized when underlying populations, definitions and confounding aspects are more heterogeneous between the databases.⁵⁰⁰ It is therefore highly important to consider combining data or results only from populations and databases that in principle can be considered equal or comparable. Although the US population in the current study may be of older age, it appeared that the exposure effect and confounder-outcome associations showed the same pattern as in the other databases. For instance, we included two versions of adjustment for five common confounders with one version excluding the Medicare dataset as this did not contain information on low-dose aspirin use. Nevertheless, both versions of adjustment for common confounders provided similar results.

Within the incident type 2 diabetes mellitus cohort we matched on the most important factors for outcomes in these patients. This may subsequently have resulted in removing most important confounding, although the matching itself may as well have introduced residual confounding.

Strength of the current study is the availability of data on both stages of the models while having a common work-up, data transformation and statistical analyses in a large distributed network of data partners. By doing so, we removed any influence of different interpretations and programming specifications from each data site.

Our study also suffers from limitations. First, we used a nested case-control design matching up to 10 controls to each case thus we relied on conditional logistic regression whereas generalized linear mixed models may allow more flexible analyses. Also, we used a common data model and thus our results of comparison between one- and two-stage analyses may not necessarily be applicable to studies or distributed networks not using a common data model. As we have investigated acute myocardial infarction, assuming this is a commonly investigated outcome and likely captured accurately in all of the participating databases, our results are theoretically only applicable to this outcome and two exposures. Although caution should be considered, interpretation of our results in the context of other acute, common and easily defined outcomes and other types of drugs may be applicable.

In conclusion, in this nested case-control study among nine databases in the SAFEGUARD project using a common data model estimates from one-stage and two-stage analyses were similar in unadjusted analyses and when including a variety of confounders. When sharing individual-level data is not possible, meta-analysis of estimates from different data sites obtained in a distributed network with a common data model may be considered an as good alternative to one-stage analysis.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

ICD-9 codes	ICD-10 codes	ICPC codes	Read codes
CMNS, MEDICARE, PHARMO, UNIMIB	GePaRD	BIFAP, IPCI	CPRD
	Hospital main discharge diagnosis		32300 - ECG: myocardial infarction G3000 - Acute myocardial infarction G3015 - MI - acute myocardial infarction G309.00 - Acute Q-wave infarct G307000 - Acute Stegment elevation myocardial infarction G307000 - Acute an-AD wave infarction
410 - Acute myocardial infarction	121 - Acute myocardial infarction	K75 - Acute myocardial infarction	G307100 - Acute non-57 segment elevation myocardial infarction G309.00 - Acute non-57 segment elevation myocardial infarction G309.11 - Attack – heart G3014 - Heart attack
410.0x - Of anterolateral wall	l21.0 - acute transmural myocardial infarction of anterior wall		G300.00 - Acute anterolateral infarction 3233 - ECG: antero-septal infarct.
410.1x - Of other anterior wall	121.1 - Acute transmural mvocardial infarction of		G301100 - Acute anteroseptal infarction G301.00 - Other specified anterior myocardial infarction G301000 - Acute anteroapical infarction G301200 - Anterior myocardial infarction NOS
410.2x - Of inferolateral wall 410.3x - Of inferoposterior wall	inferior wall		G302.00 - Acute inferolateral infarction 3234 - ECG:posterior/inferior infarct G304.00 - Posterior myocardial infarction NOS G303.00 -Acute inferoposterior infarction
410.4x - Of other inferior wall			G308.00 - Inferior myocardial infarction NOS 3236 - ECG: lateral infarction G305.00 - lateral myocardial infarction NOS
410.5x - Of other later at wall 410.6x - True posterior wall infarction			osoe.uo - Acute posterior injocar dari marcuon G306.00 - True posterior myocardial infarction 3235 - ECG: subendocardial infarct
410.7x - Subendocardial infarction	121.4 - Acute subendocardial myocardial infarction		G307.00 - Acute subendocardial infarction G30v000 - Acute atrial infarction
410.8x - Of other specified sites	121.2 - Acute transmural myocardial infarction of other sites		G30y100 - Acute papillary muscle infarction G30y200 - Acute septal infarction 323Z.00 - ECG: myocardial infarct NOS
410.9x - Unspecified site	121.3 - Acute transmural myocardial infarction of unspecified site		G302.00 -Acute myocardial infarction NOS G30y200 -Other acute myocardial infarction NOS G30y.00 -Other acute myocardial infarction G30X.00 -Acute transmural myocardial infarction of unspecif site

Supplementary Table 1. Codes used to identify Acute Myocardial Infarction in databases participating in SAFEGUARD project.

7

Read codes	CPRD	889A.00 - Diab mellit insulin-glucose infus acute myocardial infarct	G3013 - Cardiac rupture following myocardial infarction (MI)	G3017 - Silent myocardial infarction	G3500 - Subsequent myocardial infarction	G350.00 - Subsequent myocardial infarction of anterior wall	G351.00 - Subsequent myocardial infarction of inferior wall	G353.00 - Subsequent myocardial infarction of other sites	G35X.00 - Subsequent myocardial infarction of unspecified site	G3800 - Postoperative myocardial infarction	G380.00 - Postoperative transmural myocardial infarction anterior wall	G381.00 - Postoperative transmural myocardial infarction inferior wall	G384.00 - Postoperative subendocardial myocardial infarction	G382.00 - Postoperative myocardial infarction, unspecified
ICPC codes	BIFAP, IPCI													
ICD-10 codes	GePaRD	121.9 - Acute myocardial infarction unspecified												
ICD-9 codes	CMNS, MEDICARE, PHARMO, UNIMIB													

Supplementary Table 1. Codes used to identify Acute Myocardial Infarction in databases participating in SAFEGUARD project (continued).

			One-Sta	ge			Tv	vo-Stage	•	
	No i	nteraction	Int	eraction	P-value	Fixe	d effects	Rand	om effects	
Model	OR	95%CI	OR	95%CI	‡	OR	95%CI	OR	95%CI	²
Matched	0.82	0.78-0.86	NA			0.83	0.79-0.88	0.84	0.78-0.91	49
Adjusted:										
5 common										
confounders*	0.82	0.78-0.86	0.82	0.78-0.86		0.82	0.78-0.87	0.83	0.77-0.90	42
5 common										
confounders [#]	0.81	0.77-0.85	0.81	0.78-0.86		0.82	0.78-0.86	0.83	0.77-0.90	49
Use of:										
ACE-inhibitors	0.82	0.78-0.86	0.82	0.78-0.86	0.001	0.83	0.79-0.87	0.84	0.77-0.90	47
Low-dose										
aspirin	0.82	0.78-0.86	0.82	0.78-0.87	< 0.0001	0.83	0.79-0.88	0.84	0.77-0.93	56
Beta-blockers	0.81	0.78-0.86	0.81	0.78-0.85	< 0.0001	0.83	0.79-0.87	0.83	0.77-0.90	48
Calcium										
antagonists	0.82	0.78-0.86	0.82	0.78-0.86	< 0.0001	0.83	0.79-0.87	0.83	0.77-0.90	49
Diuretics	0.82	0.78-0.86	0.82	0.78-0.86	< 0.0001	0.83	0.79-0.87	0.83	0.77-0.90	47
Lipid lowering										
drugs	0.81	0.77-0.85	0.81	0.77-0.85	< 0.0001	0.82	0.78-0.86	0.83	0.76-0.89	49
PDE5										
inhibitors	0.82	0.78-0.86	0.90	0.83-0.96	0.341	0.90	0.84-0.97	0.89	0.81-0.98	38
Systemic										
contraceptives	0.82	0.78-0.86	0.83	0.78-0.88	0.657	0.84	0.79-0.88	0.85	0.75-0.96	68
Vasodilators	0.82	0.79-0.87	0.82	0.78-0.86	< 0.0001	0.83	0.79-0.88	0.84	0.78-0.91	45
Diseases:										
Atrial										
Fibrillation	0.82	0.78-0.86	0.82	0.78-0.86	< 0.0001	0.79	0.76-0.83	0.80	0.74-0.86	51
Chronic Kidney										
Disease	0.82	0.78-0.86	0.82	0.78-0.86	< 0.0001	0.83	0.79-0.88	0.84	0.78-0.91	49
Deep Vein										
Thrombosis/Pu										
Imonary										
embolism	0.82	0.78-0.86	0.82	0.78-0.86	0.068	0.83	0.79-0.87	0.84	0.77-0.91	53
Endocarditis	0.82	0.78-0.86	0.81	0.77-0.85	0.916	0.82	0.78-0.86	0.82	0.76-0.89	47
Hyperlipidemia	0.81	0.77-0.85	0.81	0.77-0.85	< 0.0001	0.82	0.78-0.86	0.83	0.76-0.89	49
Hypoglycemic										
events	0.82	0.78-0.86	0.83	0.79-0.87	0.004	0.84	0.8-0.89	0.85	0.78-0.94	64
Ischemic Heart										
Disease	0.82	0.78-0.86	0.82	0.78-0.86	<0.0001	0.83	0.79-0.87	0.84	0.78-0.9	40
Myocardial										
Infarction	0.83	0.79-0.87	0.82	0.79-0.87	<0.0001	0.83	0.79-0.87	0.84	0.77-0.91	54
Obesity	0.82	0.78-0.86	0.82	0.78-0.86	0.008	0.83	0.79-0.87	0.84	0.78-0.91	47
PAD†	0.83	0.79-0.87	0.83	0.79-0.87	< 0.0001	0.84	0.8-0.88	0.85	0.78-0.91	48
Renal Failure	0.82	0.78-0.86	0.82	0.78-0.86	<0.0001	0.84	0.8-0.89	0.85	0.77-0.95	72
1st year of										
12DM	0.82	0.79-0.87	0.89	0.83-0.95	0.111	0.89	0.83-0.95	0.88	0.82-0.95	14

Supplementary Table 2. Odds Ratios from one-stage and two-stage analyses for current use of metformin monotherapy compared to current use of metformin with a sulfonylurea.

NA, not applicable.

*adjusted for hyperlipidemia, ischemic heart disease, use of lipid lowering drugs, vasodilators and beta-blockers.

adjusted for hyperlipidemia, use of lipid lowering drugs, vasodilators, low-dose aspirin and beta-blockers. † PAD, peripheral arterial disease. ‡ P-value interaction.

SECTION 8

Summary and General Discussion



SUMMARY

Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) are frequently used for pain relief and antiinflammatory purposes. They are often combined with proton pump inhibitors (PPIs), the most potent blockers of gastric acid secretion to reduce gastroduodenal complications of NSAID use. This thesis studied the use and safety of NSAIDs and PPIs. An overview of the main results of studies in this thesis is shown in Table 1. After an introduction to the topic in the first section we continue in the second section with a review of the use of PPIs in elderly. PPIs are often coprescribed with NSAIDs in order to mitigate the risk of NSAID-related upper gastrointestinal (GI) erosions and ulcers, including complicated ulcer disease. However, the use of PPIs is associated with increased risks of adverse events, as is discussed in *Chapter 2.1*. The evidence that has been accumulated for these associations so far is, nevertheless, scarce.

In Section 3 we focus on the occurrence of two esophageal diseases [i.e., Barrett's esophagus (BE) and esophageal adenocarcinoma (EAC)] that may be prevented or treated by use of NSAIDs or PPIs. The pathogenesis of Barrett's esophagus (BE) include prolonged gastroesophageal reflux from the stomach into the lower esophagus. Subsequently, esophageal adenocarcinoma (EAC) could develop through stepwise progression from BE to low-grade and high-grade dysplasia until neoplasia. Current treatment regimens for patients diagnosed with BE include amongst others the use of proton pump inhibitors. We first showed that the incidence of BE increased in the Netherlands and the United Kingdom until 2003 and levelled off thereafter. In contrast, the incidence of EAC continued to increase until now. However, among BE patients incident EAC occurred in only 0.3% of BE patients (*Chapter 3.1*). The survival rate of EAC is still very poor, leaving substantial need for additional therapy or prevention of EAC. However, we could not demonstrate that NSAIDs and PPIs resulted in a decrease in risk of EAC among BE patients (*Chapter 3.2*).

Section 4 is devoted to the risk of upper gastrointestinal (GI) events associated with NSAIDs. NSAIDs inhibit cyclo-oxygenase (COX)-1 and COX-2 enzyme to a varying extent. After the introduction of selective COX-2 inhibitors on the market, these were preferentially prescribed to high-risk patients. In *Chapter 4.1* we demonstrate that use of a propensity score based on information in the electronic health care record allows to take channeling of NSAIDs to higher risk patients into account. Based on a similar propensity (or chance) to receive either nonselective (ns) NSAIDs or selective COX-2 inhibitors the use of a PPI with traditional nsNSAIDs yielded an equal risk of upper GI complications as selective COX-2 inhibitors (*Chapter 4.2*). The risk of upper GI events may be influenced by other patient characteristics and by use of other drugs. Though guidelines suggest to avoid certain drug combinations it was unclear to which extent the risk of upper GI bleeding was increased and whether there could be a difference between nsNSAIDs and selective COX-2 inhibitors. In *Chapter 4.3* we show that when multiple drugs are used concomitantly with nsNSAIDs, selective COX-2 inhibitors or low-

dose aspirin, the risk of upper GI bleeding differs and may be higher than expected on the basis of the individual risks.

In section 5 we look at the effects of NSAIDs and PPIs on the lower GI tract. First we looked at the occurrence of microscopic colitis (MC) and demonstrated that the increase in incidence of MC in the Netherlands is not explained by an increase in the total number of colonoscopies in the last decade, which is a procedure that is required to detect microscopic colitis (*Chapter 5.1*). We demonstrated that NSAIDs and PPIs were associated with an increase in the risk of MC (*Chapter 5.2*). In the last chapter of section 5 (*Chapter 5.3*) we looked at the prognosis of MC patients by using data from the national pathology registers in Denmark and the Netherlands. Patients with MC were more often diagnosed with colorectal polyps and adenomas during follow-up as compared to the general population.

In section 6 we continued with NSAIDs but now focused on their cardiovascular effects. Based on a multi-national project we were able to estimate the risk of acute myocardial infarction (AMI) for twenty-eight individual NSAID compounds. The risk of AMI was increased for thirteen different NSAIDs (*Chapter 6.1*). When combining all evidence from different studies in the multi-national project we were able to provide a decision model to assess for an individual patient which NSAID is relatively the safest choice (*Chapter 6.2*). It appeared that celecoxib and ketoprofen were most favorable NSAIDs while ketorolac and etoricoxib were most harmful NSAIDs.

Since all of the work in the previous sections is based on the use of electronic health care databases in one or more countries, the last section (section 7, *Chapter 7.1*) describes a methodological approach on how to integrate and how to combine results or data from these separate data sources. Individual patient-level data analysis appeared to provide very similar results as compared to the regular meta-analysis from data site specific results.

Chapter	Research Topic	Result
2.1	Use and safety of proton pump inhibitors among elderly	Use of PPIs among elderly provided inconsistent evidence with low strengths of association for drug interaction with clopidogrel, low-dose aspirin and levothyroxine; bone fractures, pneumonia and vitamin B12 absorption. Moderate strength
		was seen for <i>Clostridium difficile</i> infection and other enteric infections. Unknown strengths for iron absorption, hypomagnesemia and acute interstitial nephritis.
3.1	Incidence of BE and EAC among BE patients	Incidence rates of BE in the UK and NL increased until 2003, but levelled off thereafter. In contrast, the IR of EAC continued to
		increase until now, although among BE patients, incident EAC occurred in only 0.3% of BE patients.
3.2	Chemoprevention of EAC among patients with BE	Use of NSAIDs, PPIs, low-dose aspirin or statins did not reduce the risk of high-grade dysplasia and EAC among patients with BE
		in a population based cohort.
4.1	Generating high-dimensional propensity score on	It was possible to generate a PS model with use of unstructured free text and relevant covariates for the PS model to be
	unstructured information from medical records	identified automatically.
4.2	Selective COX-2 inhibitors or nonselective NSAIDs	The risk of upper GI events was similar in nsNSAID+GPA (280% adherence) and COX-2 inhibitors users. In patients concurrently
	plus gastroprotective agents and risk of upper GI	using glucocorticoids a significant increase in the risk of upper GI events for nsNSAID+GPA users was observed and COX-2
	outcomes	inhibitors should be preferred.
4.3	Concomitant use of drugs with nsNSAIDs,	Concomitant use of nsNSAIDs, COX-2 inhibitors, or low-dose aspirin with SSRIs significantly increases the risk of upper GI
	selective COX-2 inhibitors and low-dose aspirin	bleeding. Concomitant use of nsNSAIDs or low-dose aspirin, but not COX-2 inhibitors, with corticosteroids, aldosterone
	and risk of upper GI bleeding	antagonists, or anticoagulants produces significant excess risk for upper GI bleeding.
5.1	Incidence of microscopic colitis in relation to	The incidence of MC remained fairly stable during a 10-year period in the Netherlands and increases that may be seen on the
	number of colonoscopies	population level are due to increasing rates of colonoscopies.
5.2	Risk of microscopic colitis during use of drugs	NSAIDs and PPIs are associated with an increased risk of MC. The association of MC with use of the other drugs is probably
		explained by worsening of diarrhea/symptoms rather than increasing the risk of MC itself.
5.3	Risk of colorectal neoplasia in microscopic colitis	Patients newly diagnosed with microscopic colitis were not at increased risk of CRC one or more years after their diagnosis,
		compared to the general population in Denmark and The Netherlands. The high observed incidence of non-adenomatous
		polyps, adenomas, and CRC, particularly in the first year following MC diagnosis, was probably due to surveillance bias, with
		better screening and treatment for precursor lesions leading to a lower rate of CRC.
6.1	Risk of acute myocardial infarction during use of	The risk of AMI differed between 28 individual NSAIDs. The risk was highest for ketorolac, but was increased also for several
	individual NSAIDs	other selective COX-2 and nonselective NSAIDs and was higher when using higher daily doses.
6.2	Individualized NSAID prescribing based on	We provided an integrated decision model for new NSAID users on upper gastrointestinal and cardiovascular outcomes. Over a
	cardiovascular and GI risks	range of scenarios least harmful NSAIDs included celecoxib and ketoprofen, while ketorolac and etoricoxib were preferred less.
7.1	Pooling of data from multiple data sources	One- and two-stage analyses yielded similar estimates including a range of confounders in the setting of the SAFEGUARD
		project with a common work up and common data model.
ANAL acut	to musical inferention. DE Descritto sconbastic (DC	alaantal maana EAC maakaanal adamaana El antraintartinal. EDA antronontartina anaat. MC microrcanic aditic.

Table 1. Overview of main study results of studies in this thesis.

NL, the Netherlands; NSAID, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug; PPI, proton pump inhibitor; PS, propensity score; SSRI, selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor; UK, United Kingdom.

DISCUSSION

USE AND EFFECTS OF PROTON PUMP INHIBITORS

Health care is a rapidly evolving and developing area. Nowadays, many novel, experimental therapies are being studied, implemented and becoming available for a wide variety of patients. The field of medicine is shifting from patient care to cure and prevention of disease. This goes hand in hand with increasing use of medical diagnostic and therapeutic utilities, including medication. In this thesis, we focus on the gastro-intestinal (GI) tract. Proton pump inhibitors are drugs that are used for gastrointestinal diseases and have been on the market for decades. The use of proton pump inhibitors have made a major change in the frequency of hospitalizations for GI events in the past decades.

As PPIs are the most potent acid-inhibiting drugs, they are often co-prescribed with NSAIDs to prevent the negative effect that NSAIDs may have on the GI tract. However, there are other indications for use of PPIs as described in this thesis The majority of PPI users are elderly people and use of these drugs in elderly has been reported to be associated with adverse events such as fractures, bacterial enteric infections and vitamin deficiencies. However based on the available literature, we could not find evidence that there would be strong associations between PPI use and outcomes including bone fractures, pneumonia, vitamin B12 and iron absorption, Clostridium difficile infection and other enteric infections, hypomagnesemia and acute interstitial nephritis. Also the inconsistency of evidence leaves it unclear whether drug-interaction between PPIs and clopidogrel or low-dose aspirin would be clinically relevant. The risks reported in the different studies are modest and many questions can be raised when interpreting the results. In addition the outcomes are rare resulting in low excess risks in the population even if the risk would be slightly elevated. Considering the benefits and the risks of PPIs the relevant question to ask nowadays is probably not so much whether we should treat or not with a PPI based on potential risks, but whether the elderly patient has the proper indication for continued use of the PPI. Properly balancing the indication, benefits and harms of PPI therapy on an individual level can substantially minimize avoidable risk, morbidity and reduce health care costs.

We know that PPIs are very effective drugs to reduce the risk of upper GI events, such as bleeding and perforation. Furthermore in recent years, the costs of PPIs have dropped considerably. The widespread use of PPIs for a large variety of indications and often prolonged duration led to an enormous amount of costs in health care budgets.¹⁶ The minister of Health, Welfare and Sport decided in 2013 therefore that PPIs should no longer be reimbursed for all patients. Since this decision could have a negative effect on the prevention of GI bleedings when using NSAIDs or low-dose aspirin it was surprising that the number of upper GI bleedings was reported to decrease in 2014.¹⁶ Not only a decrease in the budget of PPI reimbursement was achieved, but as well in care of patients with upper GI bleeding or complications. However

this was an ecological study (a study in which variables are correlated based on group level measurements). Typically ecological studies are used to describe patterns among the population, e.g. the incidence of cancer in different geographical areas in a country, but do not allow to make causal statements. This implies that the observed simultaneous occurrence of reduced reimbursement of PPIs and a decrease in incidence of upper GI bleedings can also be attributed to an ecological fallacy. It would be highly counterintuitive to assume that not reimbursing PPIs (thereby reducing the use in the population) reduces the risk of upper GI bleeding. It is likely that other factors may explain this finding, such as: those that need the PPIs the most, e.g. high risk patients actually are using the PPIs; whereas the 'inappropriate' users are not anymore. A more in to depth and detailed study on the actual intake of PPIs, the characteristics of patients using PPIs and the outcome of these patients (e.g. need of emergency department visits, hospitalization, endoscopy) should be performed before making such a strong statement on the 'effective' removal of PPI reimbursement.

NSAIDS AND PPIS IN THE CONTEXT OF BARRETT'S ESOPHAGUS AND ESOPHAGEAL ADENOCARCINOMA

Incidence of Barrett's esophagus and esophageal adenocarcinoma

Barrett's esophagus (BE) is characterized by replacement of the squamous epithelium of the esophagus by metaplastic columnar epithelium. It is considered a consequence of prolonged gastro-esophageal reflux into the lower esophagus.^{219, 220} Apart from obesity and smoking, BE is an important risk factor for the development of esophageal adenocarcinoma (EAC) via a stepwise pathway of low-grade and high-grade dysplasia.^{219, 220} It is estimated that the risk of EAC is increased approximately 30 to 125 fold in persons with BE.²²¹ Endoscopic surveillance for EAC among patients with BE is therefore recommended,²²² though there is only modest evidence that endoscopic surveillance of BE improves EAC-related outcomes.⁵⁰¹ Although several studies reported on incidences of BE based on selected patients in hospitals or specialty clinics, ^{232, 234, 235} the epidemiology of BE and EAC among the general population, and particularly of EAC among patients with BE remained until some years ago largely unknown. We showed that the incidence of BE increased in the beginning of the millennium both in the United Kingdom with 35% and in the Netherlands with 41%, but the incidence levelled off after 2003. In contrast, the incidence of EAC in a cohort of BE patients continues to increase. The one-year risk of EAC among newly diagnosed BE patients was 0.09%. The levelling off of BE incidence was also observed by others,²²³ and may be explained by the following items: 1) restriction of gastroscopy referrals in dyspepsia guidelines; 2) birth cohort effect; 3) better and earlier treatment of GERD and dyspepsia. Since BE is a well acknowledged risk factor for EAC development, patterns in the incidence of BE are likely to impact the incidence of EAC as well, although any effect of this is likely to appear in the next 10 to 15 years due to the decade-long lag time between BE and EAC development. Given the fact that many BE patients are asymptomatic, identifying the 'true' incidence of BE among the general population is challenging. A population-based screening program to diagnose and detect all subjects with BE in the population may not be cost-effective as screening for EAC is not cost effective either.⁵⁰² Although we adhere to the stepwise development of neoplasia approach from BE to EAC, it was shown that 95% of subjects undergoing EAC resection had not been diagnosed with BE before.⁵⁰³ The current endoscopic surveillance regimen for patients with BE is therefore under debate.⁵⁰⁴ This debate is also fueled by the fact that 25% of EACs are diagnosed within 1 year after initial BE diagnosis.⁵⁰⁴ A better diagnostic approach may be to screen high-risk patients. Additional risk stratification methods such as molecular markers may be considered for this and are currently being studied.⁵⁰² In order to identify the most promising markers for appropriate and optimal risk stratification with individual patient predictions requires close collaboration across different Barrett's disease cohorts to capitalize on power and heterogeneity across populations. The benefit of screening for BE or EAC should not be limited to the effect of EAC development but also to the effect on EAC-specific and overall mortality. Recognizing a large variety of potential, yet imperfect, strategies and markers to control the overall burden of EAC, the optimal way at the moment to gain effective primary prevention of BE and EAC would be controlling for risk factors of BE such as obesity, smoking and gastroesophageal reflux.⁵⁰²

Risk of esophageal adenocarcinoma in patients with Barrett's esophagus

Gastrointestinal cancers account for almost 25% of all cancers and approximately 4.9% of all deaths worldwide.²²⁵ Death rates of most cancers decreased in recent years, while the marked increase in death rate for esophageal adenocarcinoma between 1970 and 2005 is now also slowly tapering off and decreasing.⁵⁰⁵ Despite the evolving therapeutic options for esophageal cancer, the age-standardized mortality rate remains 5.1/100,000 person-years.²⁵⁴ As a result, there remains a substantial need for additional therapy or even effective prevention of esophageal cancer, particularly given the low 5-year survival rate of 13% to 17%. 505 Some investigators have shown unexpectedly large risk reductions of EAC, up to 70% by use of NSAIDs, PPIs, low-dose aspirin and statins. These results were however seen in selected populations and immortal time bias was present.^{245, 261, 266} Whether such a chemopreventive effect of these drugs applies to an unselected population of newly diagnosed BE patients is unknown. We could not show a significant risk reduction of high-grade dysplasia (HGD) or EAC by use of these drugs as reported in this thesis. This indicates that for an unselected group of patients with BE, as is common in daily clinical practice in non-academic, non-specialized hospitals, chemoprevention of EAC by NSAIDs, PPIs, low-dose aspirin and statins should not be considered as routine care. There are several reasons why our study may have been unable to confirm results from previous studies. First we had less power than other studies, which impacts significance of effect sizes and demonstrates that previously observed effects are

likely to be much smaller. Second we were rigorous in addressing biases that may have been part of previous studies such as selective survival bias,⁵⁰⁶ disease severity, time window bias or immortal time bias.^{276, 277} Third, drug exposure may be misclassified in some of the studies; it is not clear what the correct exposure window should be for prevention of cancer, and what the shape an exposure-effect relation would be. If there would be a chemopreventive effect it could be in the stage of BE to EAC, but also occur at an earlier stage, such as; prevention of BE or dysplasia development rather than of adenocarcinoma.^{507, 508} It is, however, difficult to disentangle drug exposure effects in three different risk periods: induction (dysplasia), latent (between dysplasia and cancer) and disease period (cancer). Ideally, this requires knowledge on exact timing of the first aberrant Barrett's cell and subsequent stages towards HGD and EAC develop, which in practice is not possible. The fourth explanation for not observing a preventive effect in our study is the exposure prevalence, as over-the-counter use of NSAIDs was not captured. Putting these considerations together leads us to conclude that based on current evidence unguarded use of statins, NSAIDs, PPIs and low-dose aspirin for the purpose of EAC prevention should not be started when a patient is newly diagnosed with BE. The benefit-risk assessment does not seem positive. Large sample studies are needed that avoid the biases as stated above and should consider overall and cancer-specific survival. Even though effects on survival may seem marginal on an individual basis (e.g. a risk reduction of 19% of dying from esophageal cancer by use of statins⁵⁰⁹), such a difference may potentially have large population impact. The risk-benefit balance and associated costs for prolonged survival of cancer patients should be taken into account as well.

NSAIDS AND THE RISK OF UPPER GASTROINTESTINAL BLEEDING

Although the pathophysiological effect of NSAIDs on the upper gastrointestinal (GI) tract is well-known, NSAID-related upper GI bleeding remains an important area of research. We know for several decades that particularly nonselective (ns) NSAIDs increase the risk of upper GI bleeding, ulcerations and complications by 2 to 4 fold, whereas selective COX-2 inhibitors are considered less harmful. However the effects of NSAIDs are not limited to the upper GI tract only, but extend to the lower GI tract as well.^{82, 330} In order to mitigate the increased risk of upper GI bleeding among NSAID users with increased risk of these events, clinical guidelines^{5, 99, 100, 315} suggest strategies as prescription of cyclo-oxygenase (COX)-2-selective inhibitors or concurrent use of gastroprotective agents (GPAs), such as proton pump inhibitors (PPIs). Although both preventive strategies aim to reduce the incidence of upper GI events, the risk of such complications cannot be eliminated completely; a considerable proportion of NSAID plus GPA users (6.3% to 8.5%) and COX-2 inhibitor users (3.7% to 8.9%) continues to experience upper GI events.⁷⁶⁻⁷⁹ Most of the clinical trials were not able to show a difference between COX-2 inhibitor use or NSAIDs+GPA in terms of the frequency of GI events, although the results may not easily be extrapolated to clinical practice due to selective inclusion of patients in trials, use of supra-therapeutic doses and exclusion of patients with frequently used concomitant medications as low-dose aspirin and corticosteroids.^{76-78, 82} Comparison of nsNSAIDs and selective COX-2 inhibitors was also done through observational studies. However, such studies are challenging in an observational setting since COX-2 inhibitors are preferentially prescribed to persons at higher risk of GI events. This phenomenon is referred to as 'channeling' ^{290, 291} of certain drugs – in this instance selective COX-2 inhibitors – to patients at high risk.^{294, 322, 510} This means that the baseline risk of developing the event of interest is not similar between the two groups of patients exposed to different drugs. This may arise due to differences in co-morbidity, which can cause confounding by indication. One way to deal with confounding by indication is the use of propensity scores, a method that is exponentially being used in (pharmaco)epidemiology studies as it allows in several ways to balance any of the baseline disproportionalities between the treatment groups and may mimic a randomized clinical trial.^{297, 302} However, identifying which information should be considered in the propensity score model in large structured electronic health record databases is challenging. The high-dimensional propensity score was developed to empirically identify a large number of covariates that may be confounders or proxies for otherwise unmeasurable confounders.³⁰² Computerization of health care provides us with large amounts of electronic data and often these data are not recorded in a structured way, e.g. discharge letters, notes from physicians are composed of abbreviated words, incomplete phrases and medical acronyms. In general investigators use structured information for creation of propensity scores. In this thesis we explored whether we could create a PS model using both unstructured and structured information using data from the IPCI medical record database, that contains a lot of textual unstructured information. It was possible to generate a PS model with use of unstructured free text and relevant covariates for the PS model to be identified automatically.

While dealing with channeling of COX-2 inhibitors, we observed in this thesis that the risk of an upper GI event and upper GI bleeding does not differ between users of nsNSAIDs in combination with adherent use of a GPA and COX-2 inhibitor users. In a further analysis of the EU-ADR data, we also investigated whether concomitant use of drugs that increase the risk of upper GI events are adding up or have synergistic effects. We noticed that the risk of upper GI bleeding was increased for the combination of glucocorticoids and nonselective NSAIDs, the combined effect was stronger than adding up the separate effects. There were also drug combinations with selective COX-2 inhibitors that in combination showed an excess risk that exceeded the sum of the individual risks. Patients may not know that when they buy a painkiller over-the-counter – as they would normally have done – they expose themselves to a hazardous risk of bleeding especially if they are concurrently using other drugs. Many drug combinations can increase the upper GI risk, while the use of the concomitant drugs is common and often for long-term, e.g. aldosterone antagonists, glucocorticoids, low-dose aspirin and selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors. When an NSAID is indicated personalized medicine is important to consider the 'safest' group of NSAIDs for the patient. We provided strong evidence that this issue should be addressed by physicians, pharmacists and patients. However, whether risks and drug-drug interactions differ per individual type of NSAIDs is unclear. Also, to which extent the newer oral anticoagulants (nOACs) cause interaction with

other drugs should deserve attention in future research.^{511,512} The reach of scientific knowledge to the lay public is still an area that may deserve some attention. Despite news letters, radio interviews and guidelines, an interactive tool for patients to easily access and use may help towards a safer environment. By preventing upper GI bleedings through education, substantial reductions in health care costs can be achieved. Future studies should validate our findings and explore effects of subgroup interactions, such as aldosterone antagonists.

NSAIDS AND THE RISK OF MICROSCOPIC COLITIS

One of the most important functions of the colon is the resorption of water from the wastes that pass through. Inflammation of the colon interferes with this process and results in decreased water resorption and ultimately diarrhea. Microscopic colitis (MC) is a condition characterized by chronic watery diarrhea, normal radiological and endoscopic appearance, and microscopic inflammation of the colon. MC is recognized as a form of chronic inflammatory bowel diseases (IBD). IBD has been associated with an increased risk of colorectal cancer due to chronic inflammation.³⁹⁷ In recent years several studies reported on an increasing incidence of MC.^{371, 372, 395} Clinical awareness, more liberal use of colonoscopy, and routine random biopsy sampling in normal colonoscopies may have distorted the estimation of the 'true' incidence of the disease. These types of detection and diagnostic biases are, however, difficult to account for in incidence studies. In this thesis we dealt with this bias by estimating incidence not only on a general population level but also based on the number of colonoscopies. Our findings show that the actual incidence of MC remained fairly stable during a 10-year period in the Netherlands, and that increases that may be seen on the population level are due to increasing numbers of colonoscopies performed. The etiology of the disease is largely unknown, but because of its inflammatory character NSAIDs and PPIs have been suggested to alter MC development. Using a case-control design we showed that use of NSAIDs, PPIs, selective serotonin re-uptake inhibitors, low-dose aspirin, ACE-inhibitors, and beta-blockers were associated with an increased risk of MC. However, when taking confounding by indication, diagnostic delay and diagnostic bias into account (by comparing with subjects who have had a colonoscopy negative for colorectal cancer and MC), only PPIs and NSAIDs significantly increased the risk of MC. This finding was supported by dose-response analyses showing increasing estimates with higher cumulative doses used. The clinical implications of this study are that PPIs and NSAIDs should be avoided in subjects with a prior diagnosis of MC and careful evaluation about drug intake is needed when a patient is presenting with devastating watery diarrhea.

Continued chronic inflammation of the colon may result in changes of cell compositions in the colon predisposing to development of precancerous lesions and cancer. If one would be able to disentangle an increased risk, extensive surveillance strategies may be implemented for patients with MC. Therefore we investigated the risk of colorectal polyps, adenomas and cancer in MC patients. We found that MC patients did not have an increased

long-term risk of CRC as compared to the general population. MC patients are however more likely to develop colorectal polyps and adenomas on the long-term, which may resulted from prolonged colonic microscopic inflammation. Due to detection and diagnostic bias after MC diagnosis, more colorectal polyps, adenomas and CRC were diagnosed resulting in an increased risk of these outcomes in the first year following MC diagnosis. Nevertheless our findings did not suggest that a more extensive or tailored CRC screening program for MC patients than currently recommended for the general population should be considered.

There is a large amount of data that shows that MC is a common GI disease with an important impact on the patients' quality of life. Future research on MC should focus on shortening the diagnostic delay: e.g. primary care physicians, gastroenterologists and pathologists should be more aware of the disease. Unravelling the etiology of the disease and considering pharmacogenetic aspects may help educating physicians. Patients presenting to their physician with chronic diarrhea should be referred for colonoscopy or even only sigmoidoscopy ^{513, 514} with biopsy taking. As not all patients respond immediately to therapy and the disease is characterised by relapses careful monitoring of patients diarrhea symptoms and complaints is necessary. A follow-up colonoscopy for new MC patients after healing of the mucosal inflammation for assessment of colorectal polyps and cancer may be recommended,³⁴² though colonoscopy on long-term is not needed for CRC screening.

NSAIDS AND THE RISK OF CARDIOVASCULAR EVENTS

After successful market introduction of the selective COX-2 inhibitors ^{10, 75} concerns were raised about their cardiovascular safety resulting in the voluntary withdrawal of rofecoxib in 2004.¹¹ Though the United States Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and the European Medicines Agency (EMA) concluded that selective COX-2 inhibitors increased the risk of cardiovascular events³⁶² and posted the recommendation that these should be avoided in patients with ischemic heart disease, stroke or peripheral arterial disease^{89, 94, 95}, it remained unclear what the cardiovascular risk of the traditional nsNSAIDs was. As part of the European Commission funded Safety of NSAIDs (SOS) Study we report on the risk of acute myocardial infarction with use of individual NSAIDs. We noticed that among twenty-eight individual NSAID compounds the risk of acute myocardial infarction varied with each individual agent, 13 of them were associated with a significant risk increase of small size. It appeared that the degree of COX-2 inhibition is not the unique feature determining the cardiovascular safety of NSAIDS. Patients with cardiovascular comorbid diseases often require co-prescriptions for comorbid conditions. This may challenge the physician for NSAID prescribing given the fact he needs to incorporate cardiovascular and gastrointestinal risk profiles, availability of drugs in his country and concomitant medications used. As we learned that risk of acute myocardial infarction, but upper GI bleeding as well, may differ per individual NSAID compound, it is important to balance and weigh individual patient risk to consider the relative safest NSAID for an individual patient. Despite some guidance from the clinical guidelines, it remains difficult for a physician

to tailor NSAID-therapy and appropriate gastric protection for an individual patient. As part of the SOS project we assessed for an individual patient given his/her upper GI and cardiovascular risk profile which individual NSAID should be preferred. We built an overall decision tool to assess on individual patient-level which individual NSAID is the preferred choice. Over a range of different scenarios we noticed that only a few NSAIDs always were considered the relative safest NSAIDs. Despite the fact that patient characteristics alter the risk of adverse events, such as age, sex and presence of comorbid diseases, this apparently did not affect the choice which NSAID yielded the lowest risk of upper GI complication, ischemic stroke, acute myocardial infarction and heart failure. However, as is common in pharmacoepidemiology, discrete ranking levels considering the 'safest' choice may not be clinically applicable as for some scenarios absolute differences are very small. However, since many of the NSAIDs included in the decision model are available world-wide over the counter, it may be an even safer strategy to take all NSAIDs off-the-counter. Also, considering the interactions with other chronically used drugs this would result in reductions of healthcare costs, an aspect currently highly important for government and medical decision makers.

Prior studies have suggested that PPIs may reduce the efficacy of clopidogrel in patients with a history of acute coronary syndrome.^{515, 516} The clinical impact of these observations remains unclear. More recent studies did not observe a difference in mortality or ischemic cardiovascular events.^{169, 517, 518} There has been a recent signal that PPIs may adversely impact vascular function and increase the risk of acute myocardial infarction.⁵¹⁹ Before conclusions on this data-mining study can be drawn, further investigation towards any interaction or channeling of PPIs should be performed.

POOLING OF DATA FROM MULTIPLE DATA SOURCES

Scientific studies in the medical field using 'big data' are gaining popularity, as if the terminology by itself assigns scientific plausibility and importance to the study. There are currently many projects using 'big data' with a common data model or distributed network, for example the SOS study was performed using the model. Other projects with such networks include Mini-Sentinel,^{490, 493} HMO Research Network,⁴⁹⁴ the Observational Medical Outcomes Partnership (OMOP),⁴⁸⁹ the EU-ADR project³⁴⁶ and IMI-PROTECT.⁴⁵⁹ One of the key reasons that such widely distributed networks have been developed is the ambition to conduct large-scale epidemiologic studies meanwhile guaranteeing data privacy and legacy issues.³⁴⁶ Within these networks it is possible that data partners contribute summary data or results while keeping individual-level data locally and thereby account for security issues. However, the 'optimal' way to pool and aggregate site-, population- and study-specific estimates is an area that does not include fully developed and validated methods, let alone our assumption there should be an optimal way. We and others have shown that one-stage analyses (individual patient-level pooled data) and two-stage analyses (regular meta-analysis on site-specific estimates) perform very similar to each other in a setting where a common data model is used.⁴⁸⁵⁻⁴⁸⁷ How to

proceed with these methods and to integrate this information in the field of observational studies and clinical trials when a common data model is not applied needs further exploration. For instance, whether factors as the differences in prevalence, associations between varying confounders and outcome in different study designs can affect the results of pooling in the two different methods should be clarified. Although it is assumed that clinical trials are free of confounding, combining of data from different trials may however be problematic, as study populations with very specific in- and exclusion criteria likely differ between trials.

FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

In general

Scientific research in all areas of interest is growing rapidly and requires close collaboration between research groups. In this thesis the focus is directed towards drugs (NSAIDs and PPIs) and their effects on the gastrointestinal and cardiovascular system, and we have studied the effects by using several electronic health care databases. When looking at the aspect of 'combining' databases, data and results; not only are studies being designed across countries but also data from different cohorts and countries are being aggregated or 'pooled' to obtain more robust estimates. Statistical models that allow a certain degree of heterogeneity between the studies are often considered standard, though individual patient-level pooling without taking the site-specific effects into account is often used nowadays. Whether the latter method may be applied in pooling results of randomized clinical trials, observational studies and clinical cohorts should be investigated. By pooling on individual patient-level main advantages are the availability of more flexible analyses and investigation of rare exposures. Site-specific elements such as confounders, differences in prescribing behaviors, health care and most importantly study populations, analysis and design may contribute to a substantial degree of heterogeneity. Different techniques to adjust for the 'best' confounders or selecting these automatically need more exploration in the area of medical healthcare records from hospitals and primary care practices where more unstructured data is available. Data mining techniques will allow for better characterization of data and covariates than currently used methods for identification of covariables. A large amount of data is stored and entered into medical records and there is an enormous gap between availability and our ability to use these data. Despite many efforts to 'automate' the use of this data and our ability to create more sophisticated models, clinical and a-priori knowledge remains an important pillar in all research facets.

Besides these concerns, international collaboration between groups and cohorts linking different registries will enable future research efforts to gain transatlantic knowledge and improve health care. In such way, otherwise unknown and remaining research questions can be addressed. Personalized medicine, public health and prevention are important targets for future research in helping to focus more specifically on the 'best' and 'safest' care. However, in case large study populations are needed the results should be interpreted with caution by the general public. As high relative risks do not necessarily mean a clinically meaningful increase in absolute terms for the general population.

Topic specific

Clinical practice on Barrett's esophagus and esophageal adenocarcinoma would benefit if research on this topic would focus on identifying optimal risk stratification models and markers for individual patients predictions on progression rates and prevention. Collaboration between large cohorts of BE patients across countries would offer large sample sizes for estimation of risk reductions on cancer and cancer-related mortality.

Upper GI bleeding is a traditional area of research with respect to drug-related adverse events. With the newer oral anticoagulants on the market, future research should identify interactions with these drugs and the clinical impact of other important interactions such as aldosterone antagonists with NSAIDs. Risk factors for patients on chronic therapies such as low-dose aspirin in need of gastroprotective agents but not being adherent to these should be identified.

Microscopic colitis in increasingly being recognized by physicians as well as a disease that significantly impacts quality of life of patients. Lack of knowledge resulting in diagnostic delay remains an important issue. When the etiology of the disease and the long-term consequences of MC are better understood such aspects may be encountered. Development of clinical decision models may aid the physician.

Much more clinical and observational research should distinguish between the effects of individual drugs or the effects of a group of drugs. As we showed for NSAID-related AMI, the risk of the outcome of interest may be different by individual drugs. One way to achieve this is the combination and pooling of data taking the above mentioned considerations into account.



APPENDICES

NEDERLANDSE SAMENVATTING

Een overzicht van de belangrijkste resultaten van studies beschreven in dit proefschrift is te zien in Tabel 1.

Niet-steroïdale anti-inflammatoire medicijnen (NSAID's) worden veelvuldig gebruikt voor pijnstilling en ontstekingsremming. Ze worden vaak gelijktijdig gebruikt met proton pomp remmers (PPI's) die de belangrijkste middelen zijn om productie van maagzuur te remmen en zo de kans op complicaties van NSAID gebruik zoals maagdarm bloedingen, verder bovenste tractus digestivus bloedingen, te verkleinen. In dit proefschrift is het gebruik en de veiligheid van NSAID's en PPI's bestudeerd. Na een algemene introductie in sectie 1 vervolgen we in sectie 2 met een review van het gebruik van PPI's bij ouderen. PPI's worden vaak gegeven aan mensen die NSAID's gebruiken om zo het risico op NSAID-gerelateerde bovenste tractus digestivus erosies en ulcera te voorkomen. Echter, het gebruik van PPI's geeft ook bijwerkingen, zoals beschreven in *hoofdstuk 2.1.* Het bewijs dat deze bijwerkingen ondersteunt is desalniettemin inconsistent en van matige sterkte.

In sectie 3 wordt gekeken naar de frequentie van twee slokdarm aandoeningen, zoals Barrett slokdarm en slokdarm adenocarcinoom. Deze aandoeningen kunnen mogelijk worden voorkomen door gebruik van NSAID's of PPI's. De pathogenese van Barrett slokdarm bestaat uit langdurige gastroesofageale reflux vanuit de maag naar het onderste deel van de slokdarm. Vervolgens kan er door stapsgewijze progressie van Barrett slokdarm via laaggradige en hooggradige dysplasie uiteindelijke kwaadaardige groei van cellen (neoplasie) ontstaan. Momenteel worden patiënten met een Barrett slokdarm behandeld middels een PPI. In hoofdstuk 3.1 laten we zien dat de incidentie van Barrett slokdarm steeg in Nederland en het Verenigd Koninkrijk tot 2003 maar in de jaren daarna gelijk bleef. Dit in tegenstelling tot de incidentie van slokdarm adenocarcinoom die juist bleef stijgen tot nu toe. Slechts 0,3% van de patiënten met een Barrett slokdarm bleek uiteindelijk na verloop van tijd een slokdarm adenocarcinoom te ontwikkelen. Ondanks het lage risico op progessie is er gezien de nog steeds matige overleving van patiënten met slokdarm adenocarcinoom een hoge noodzaak om preventieve therapieën te ontdekken. In hoofdstuk 3.2 hebben we gekeken naar de preventieve werking van NSAID's en PPI's op het ontwikkelen van slokdarm adenocarcinoom bij patiënten met een Barrett slokdarm. Gebruik van NSAID's en PPI's bleek echter het risico op slokdarm adenocarcinoom niet te verlagen.

Sectie 4 bekijkt het risico op bovenste tractus digestivus bloedingen en complicaties bij gebruik van NSAID's. NSAID's remmen het enzym cyclo-oxygenase (COX)-1 en COX-2. Nadat er nieuwere en potentieel veiligere NSAID's ontwikkeld waren, de zogenoemde selectieve COX-2 remmers, werden deze nieuwere middelen met name voorgeschreven aan patiënten met een hoog risico op een bovenste tractus digestivus complicatie. In *hoofdstuk 4.1* demonstreren we dat het gebruik van een propensity score door middel van informatie uit een elektronisch patiënten dossier rekening kan houden met het selectief voorschrijven van de selectieve COX-2 remmers aan hoog risico patiënten. Bij patiënten met even hoog risico op bovenste tractus digestivus complicaties bleek dat gelijktijdig gebruik van een traditioneel niet-selectief (ns) NSAID met een PPI een even hoog risico op bovenste tractus digestivus complicaties gaf als gebruik van een selectieve COX-2 remmer (hoofdstuk 4.2). Het risico op een bovenste tractus digestivus complicatie is mede afhankelijk van patiënt karakteristieken en gelijktijdig gebruik van medicijnen. Alhoewel in richtlijnen beschreven staat dat sommige medicijncombinaties vermeden dienen te worden, was het onduidelijk in hoeverre het risico op een bovenste tractus digestivus bloeding is toegenomen en of er hierbij een verschil is tussen de klasse nsNSAID's en klasse selectieve COX-2 remmers. In hoofdstuk 4.3 tonen we aan dat bij gelijktijdig gebruik van medicijnen met nsNSAID's, selectieve COX-2 remmers of cardiovasculair aspirine het risico op een bovenste tractus digestivus bloeding verschilt tussen deze middelen en hoger is dan het risico dat we verwachtten op basis van de som van de individuele risico's.

In sectie 5 onderzoeken we effecten van NSAID's en PPI's op het onderste deel van het maag-darm stelsel, namelijk de dikke darm. Eerst bekijken we in *hoofdstuk 5.1* de frequentie van microscopische colitis in Nederland en tonen aan dat de toename in nieuwe diagnoses van microscopische colitis in Nederland niet verklaard kan worden door een toename in het totale aantal colonoscopieën in de laatste tien jaar. Een colonoscopie is een diagnostische procedure om microscopische colitis te diagnosticeren. Vervolgens laten we in *hoofdstuk 5.2* zien dat NSAID's en PPI's de kans op het ontwikkelen van microscopische colitis verhogen. In *hoofdstuk 5.3* onderzoeken we de prognose van patiënten met microscopische colitis door gebruik te maken van nationale pathologie registers van Denemarken en Nederland. Patiënten met microscopische colitis werden met colorectale poliepen en adenomen dan in vergelijking met de algemene bevolking gedurende follow-up.

We onderzoeken ook de effecten van NSAID's op het cardiovasculaire systeem in sectie 6. We konden het risico op het ontwikkelen van een acuut myocard infarct (hartaanval) voor gebruik van 28 verschillende NSAID's schatten binnen een multi-nationaal project. Het risico op een acuut myocard infarct was verhoogd voor dertien verschillende NSAID's zoals we laten zien in *hoofdstuk 6.1*. Door integratie van gegevens van NSAID's en het risico op het maag-darm stelsel en het cardiovasculaire systeem ontwikkelden we een beslissingsmodel om voor een individuele patiënt, op basis van specifieke karakteristieken, te beoordelen welk individueel NSAID relatief gezien het veiligste is (*hoofdstuk 6.2*). Bij verschillende karakteristieken bleken celecoxib en ketoprofen relatief gezien het vaakst het veiligste, terwijl ketorolac en etoricoxib het minst te prefereren waren.

Aangezien alle hoofdstukken in de eerdere secties gebaseerd zijn op gebruik van elektronische patiënten dossiers in databases van één of meerdere landen beschrijven we in sectie 7 (*hoofdstuk 7.1*) een methode om informatie, resultaten en data van verschillende databronnen te combineren. Individuele patiënt-level data analyse gaf vergelijkbare resultaten als de reguliere methode om resultaten te combineren namelijk meta-analyse.

		_
Hoofdstuk	Onderwerp	Resultaat
2.1	Gebruik en veiligheid van proton pomp	Gebruik van PPI's onder ouderen toonde inconsistent bewijs met een zwakke associatie voor medicijn interactie met clopidogrel,
	remmers bij ouderen	cardiovasculair aspirine, levothyroxine; bot fracturen, pneumonie en vitamine B12 absorptie. Matige associatie was gevonden voor <i>Clostridium difficile</i> infectie en andere maag-darm infecties. Onbekende sterkte associatie was gevonden voor ijzer absorptie, hypomagnesiëmie en acute interstitiële nefritis.
3.1	Incidentie van Barrett slokdarm en	Incidentie van Barrett slokdarm in Verenigd Koninkrijk en Nederland steeg tot 2003, maar bleef gelijk daarna. In tegenstelling, de
	slokdarm adenocarcinoom bij patiënten	incidentie van slokdarm adenocarcinoom bleef stijgen tot nu toe, echter slechts 0,3% van de patiënten met Barrett slokdarm
	met Barrett slokdarm	ontwikkelden slokdarm adenocarcinoom.
3.2	Chemopreventie van slokdarm	Gebruik van NSAID's, PPI's, cardiovasculair aspirine en statines verminderden het risico op hooggradige dysplasie en slokdarm
	adenocarcinoom bij patiënten met Barrett slokdarm	adenocarcinoom bij patiënten met Barrett slokdarm in een populatie gebaseerd cohort niet.
4.1	Genereren van een propensity score	Het was mogelijk om een propensity score model te ontwikkelen met ongestructueerde medische informatie en automatisch
	model op ongestructureerde informatie van een elektronisch patiënten dossier	relevante covariaten te identificeren.
	database	
4.2	Selectieve COX-2 remmers of niet-	Het risico op een bovenste tractus digestivus bloeding was even hoog voor gebruikers van nsNSAID's+maagbeschermer en selectieve
	selectieve NSAID's plus maagbeschermers	COX-2 remmers. Bij gelijktijdig gebruik van corticosteroïden moet aan selectieve COX-2 remmers de voorkeur gegeven worden.
	en het risico op een bovenste tractus	
	digestivus bloeding	
4.3	Gelijktijdig gebruik van medicijnen met	Bij gelijktijdig gebruik van nsNSAID's, selectieve COX-2 remmers of cardiovasculair aspirine met SSRIs neemt het risico op een
	nsNSAID's, selectieve COX-2 remmers en	bovenste tractus digestivus bloeding toe. Bij gelijktijdig gebruik van nsNSAID's of cardiovasculair aspirine, maar niet selectieve COX-2
	cardiovasculair aspirine en het risico op	remmers, met corticosteroïden, aldosteron antagonisten of anticoagulantia is er een sterk verhoogd risico en versterkt effect op een
	bovenste tractus digestivus bloeding	bovenste tractus digestivus bloeding.
5.1	Incidentie van microscopische colitis in	De incidentie van microscopische colitis bleef stabiel gedurende 10 jaar in Nederland en een toename van het aantal patiënten met
	relatie tot het aantal colonoscopieën	microscopische colitis op populatie niveau kan worden verklaard door toename van het aantal colonoscopieën.
5.2	Risico op microscopische colitis bij gebruik	NSAID's en PPI's verhogen het risico op microscopische colitis, terwijl de associatie met gebruik van andere medicijnen waarschijnlijk
	van medicijnen	wordt verklaard door verergering van diarree/symptomen.
5.3	Risico op colorectale neoplasie in	Patiënten met microscopische colitis hebben geen verhoogd risico op colorectaal carcinoom in vergelijking met de algemene
	microscopische colitis	bevolking in Denemarken en Nederland. Het hoge aantal colorectale poliepen en adenomen en carcinoom in het eerste jaar na
		diagnose van microscopische colitis komt waarschijnlijk door betere en veelvuldigere screening en behandeling van precursor lesies.
6.1	Risico op acuut myocard infarct bij	Het risico op acuut myocardinfarct wisselt tussen 28 individuele NSAID's. Het risico was het hoogste voor ketorolac maar was ook
	gebruik van individuele NSAID's	verhoogd voor verschillende andere selectieve COX-2 remmers en nietselectieve NSAID's. Het risico was hoger bij een hogere dosis
()		van een NSAU.
D. Z	Besilssingsmodel voor NSAIU 5 per individu on hasis van cardiovasculaire en	we creeerden een beslissingmooei op basis van cardiovasculaire en maag-darm risico s voor individuen die een NSAID nooig hebben. Bij verschillende karakteristieken hieken relecroxih en ketonrofen relatief <i>ee</i> zien het vaakst het veiligste terwiil ketorrolac en
	maag-darm risicoprofielen	etoricoxib het minst te prefereren waren.
7.1	Samenvoegen van data en resultaten van meerdere data bronnen	Individuele patiënt-level data analyse gaf vergelijkbare resultaten als de reguliere methode om resultaten te combineren namelijk meta-analyse hij gebruik van data van det SAEFGLIARD ordiert

Table 1. Overzicht van belangrijkste resultaten van studies beschreven in dit proefschrift.

PPI, proton pomp remmer; NSAID, niet-steroïdaal anti-inflammatoir medicijn; COX, cyclo-oxygenase; SSRIS, selectieve serotonine heropname remmers

REFERENCES

- 1. Jasani MK, Downie WW, Samuels BM, et al. Ibuprofen in rheumatoid arthritis. Clinical study of analgesic and anti-inflammatory activity. Ann Rheum Dis 1968;27:457-62.
- Jones R. Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug prescribing: past, present, and future. Am J Med 2001;110:4S-7S.
- Helin-Salmivaara A, Klaukka T, Huupponen R. Heavy users of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs: a nationwide prescription database study in Finland. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 2003;59:477-82.
- 4. Lochhead P, Chan AT. Statins and colorectal cancer. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2013;11:109-18; quiz e13-4.
- Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network, Management of early rheumatoid arthritis (Guideline 48). Edinburgh, SIGN. 2000.
- Hochberg MC, Altman RD, April KT, et al. American College of Rheumatology 2012 recommendations for the use of nonpharmacologic and pharmacologic therapies in osteoarthritis of the hand, hip, and knee. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken) 2012;64:465-74.
- Schoen RT, Vender RJ. Mechanisms of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug-induced gastric damage. Am J Med 1989;86:449-58.
- Meade EA, Smith WL, DeWitt DL. Differential inhibition of prostaglandin endoperoxide synthase (cyclooxygenase) isozymes by aspirin and other non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. J Biol Chem 1993;268:6610-4.
- Laine L, Takeuchi K, Tarnawski A. Gastric mucosal defense and cytoprotection: bench to bedside. Gastroenterology 2008;135:41-60.
- 10. Silverstein FE, Faich G, Goldstein JL, et al. Gastrointestinal toxicity with celecoxib vs nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs for osteoarthritis and rheumatoid arthritis: the CLASS study: A randomized controlled trial. Celecoxib Long-term Arthritis Safety Study. JAMA 2000;284:1247-55.
- Bombardier C, Laine L, Reicin A, et al. Comparison of upper gastrointestinal toxicity of rofecoxib and naproxen in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. VIGOR Study Group. N Engl J Med 2000;343:1520-8, 2 p following 1528.
- 12. Het Genees- en hulpmiddelen Informatie Project (GIP) databank. Available at: https://www.gipdatabank.nl/databank.asp. Accessed 23rd March 2015.
- 13. DeVault KR, Castell DO. Updated guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of gastroesophageal reflux disease. Am J Gastroenterol 2005;100:190-200.
- Beales IL, Vardi I, Dearman L. Regular statin and aspirin use in patients with Barrett's oesophagus is associated with a reduced incidence of oesophageal adenocarcinoma. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2012;24:917-23.
- 15. Azoulay L, Suissa S. Immortal person-time bias in relation to the use of nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs and statins in the prevention of esophageal cancer in patients with Barrett's esophagus. Gastroenterology 2012;142:e20-1; author reply e21.
- 16. Flinterman L, Hek K, Korevaar J, et al. Maagzuurremmers: gevolgen van de veranderingen in de vergoeding. Utrecht, NIVEL. 2014.
- 17. Corley DA, Kubo A, Zhao W, et al. Proton pump inhibitors and histamine-2 receptor antagonists are associated with hip fractures among at-risk patients. Gastroenterology 2010;139:93-101.
- Kwok CS, Yeong JK, Loke YK. Meta-analysis: risk of fractures with acid-suppressing medication. Bone 2011;48:768-76.
- 19. Laine L. Proton pump inhibitors and bone fractures? Am J Gastroenterol 2009;104 Suppl 2:S21-6.
- Moayyedi P, Yuan Y, Leontiadis G, et al. Canadian Association of Gastroenterology position statement: Hip fracture and proton pump inhibitor therapy - a 2013 update. Can J Gastroenterol 2013;27:593-595.

- Ngamruengphong S, Leontiadis GI, Radhi S, et al. Proton pump inhibitors and risk of fracture: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. Am J Gastroenterol 2011;106:1209-18; quiz 1219.
- 22. Targownik LE, Lix LM, Metge CJ, et al. Use of proton pump inhibitors and risk of osteoporosis-related fractures. CMAJ 2008;179:319-26.
- Vestergaard P, Rejnmark L, Mosekilde L. Proton pump inhibitors, histamine H2 receptor antagonists, and other antacid medications and the risk of fracture. Calcif Tissue Int 2006;79:76-83.
- 24. Yang YX, Lewis JD, Epstein S, et al. Long-term proton pump inhibitor therapy and risk of hip fracture. JAMA 2006;296:2947-53.
- 25. Food and Drug Administration. FDA Drug Safety Communication: Possible increased risk of fractures of the hip, wrist, and spine with the use of proton pump inhibitors. Available at: http://www.fda.gov/DrugS/DrugSafety/PostmarketDrugSafetyInformationforPatientsandProviders/u cm213206.htm. Accessed August 8, 2013.
- 26. el-Serag HB, Sonnenberg A. Comorbid occurrence of laryngeal or pulmonary disease with esophagitis in United States military veterans. Gastroenterology 1997;113:755-60.
- 27. Eom CS, Jeon CY, Lim JW, et al. Use of acid-suppressive drugs and risk of pneumonia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. CMAJ 2011;183:310-9.
- Filion KB, Chateu D, Targownik LE, et al. Proton pump inhibitors and the risk of hospitalisation for community-acquired pneumonia: replicated cohort studies with meta-analysis. Gut 2014;63:552-8.
- 29. Fine MJ, Smith MA, Carson CA, et al. Prognosis and outcomes of patients with community-acquired pneumonia. A meta-analysis. JAMA 1996;275:134-41.
- Gulmez SE, Holm A, Frederiksen H, et al. Use of proton pump inhibitors and the risk of communityacquired pneumonia: a population-based case-control study. Arch Intern Med 2007;167:950-5.
- Inglis TJ, Sherratt MJ, Sproat LJ, et al. Gastroduodenal dysfunction and bacterial colonisation of the ventilated lung. Lancet 1993;341:911-3.
- 32. Puisieux F, D'Andrea C, Baconnier P, et al. Swallowing disorders, pneumonia and respiratory tract infectious disease in the elderly. Rev Mal Respir 2011;28:e76-93.
- 33. Sarkar M, Hennessy S, Yang YX. Proton-pump inhibitor use and the risk for community-acquired pneumonia. Ann Intern Med 2008;149:391-8.
- Simms HH, DeMaria E, McDonald L, et al. Role of gastric colonization in the development of pneumonia in critically ill trauma patients: results of a prospective randomized trial. J Trauma 1991;31:531-6; discussion 536-7.
- Torres A, El-Ebiary M, Soler N, et al. Stomach as a source of colonization of the respiratory tract during mechanical ventilation: association with ventilator-associated pneumonia. Eur Respir J 1996;9:1729-35.
- Carmel R, Perez-Perez GI, Blaser MJ. Helicobacter pylori infection and food-cobalamin malabsorption. Dig Dis Sci 1994;39:309-14.
- 37. Dharmarajan TS, Kanagala MR, Murakonda P, et al. Do acid-lowering agents affect vitamin B12 status in older adults? J Am Med Dir Assoc 2008;9:162-7.
- Lindenbaum J, Rosenberg IH, Wilson PW, et al. Prevalence of cobalamin deficiency in the Framingham elderly population. Am J Clin Nutr 1994;60:2-11.
- Marcuard SP, Albernaz L, Khazanie PG. Omeprazole therapy causes malabsorption of cyanocobalamin (vitamin B12). Ann Intern Med 1994;120:211-5.
- 40. Pennypacker LC, Allen RH, Kelly JP, et al. High prevalence of cobalamin deficiency in elderly outpatients. J Am Geriatr Soc 1992;40:1197-204.
- 41. Sagar M, Janczewska I, Ljungdahl A, et al. Effect of CYP2C19 polymorphism on serum levels of vitamin B12 in patients on long-term omeprazole treatment. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 1999;13:453-8.
- 42. Saltzman JR, Kemp JA, Golner BB, et al. Effect of hypochlorhydria due to omeprazole treatment or atrophic gastritis on protein-bound vitamin B12 absorption. J Am Coll Nutr 1994;13:584-91.

- 43. Schenk BE, Festen HP, Kuipers EJ, et al. Effect of short- and long-term treatment with omeprazole on the absorption and serum levels of cobalamin. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 1996;10:541-5.
- 44. Schenk BE, Kuipers EJ, Klinkenberg-Knol EC, et al. Atrophic gastritis during long-term omeprazole therapy affects serum vitamin B12 levels. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 1999;13:1343-6.
- 45. Steinberg WM, King CE, Toskes PP. Malabsorption of protein-bound cobalamin but not unbound cobalamin during cimetidine administration. Dig Dis Sci 1980;25:188-91.
- 46. Termanini B, Gibril F, Sutliff VE, et al. Effect of long-term gastric acid suppressive therapy on serum vitamin B12 levels in patients with Zollinger-Ellison syndrome. Am J Med 1998;104:422-30.
- 47. Valuck RJ, Ruscin JM. A case-control study on adverse effects: H2 blocker or proton pump inhibitor use and risk of vitamin B12 deficiency in older adults. J Clin Epidemiol 2004;57:422-8.
- Andres E, Federici L, Serraj K, et al. Update of nutrient-deficiency anemia in elderly patients. Eur J Intern Med 2008;19:488-93.
- 49. Gaskell H, Derry S, Andrew Moore R, et al. Prevalence of anaemia in older persons: systematic review. BMC Geriatr 2008;8:1.
- 50. Guyatt GH, Patterson C, Ali M, et al. Diagnosis of iron-deficiency anemia in the elderly. Am J Med 1990;88:205-9.
- 51. Hodges K, Gill R. Infectious diarrhea: Cellular and molecular mechanisms. Gut Microbes 2010;1:4-21.
- 52. Hutchinson C, Geissler CA, Powell JJ, et al. Proton pump inhibitors suppress absorption of dietary non-haem iron in hereditary haemochromatosis. Gut 2007;56:1291-5.
- 53. Stewart CA, Termanini B, Sutliff VE, et al. Iron absorption in patients with Zollinger-Ellison syndrome treated with long-term gastric acid antisecretory therapy. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 1998;12:83-98.
- 54. Food and Drug Administration. FDA Drug Safety Communication: Proton Pump Inhibitors (PPIs) Drug Safety Communication: Clostridium Difficile-Associated Diarrhea (CDAD) Can be Associated With Stomach Acid Drugs. Available at: http://www.fda.gov/Safety/MedWatch/SafetyInformation/SafetyAlertsforHumanMedicalProducts/u
- cm290838.htm. Accessed August, 16th, 2013.
 Janarthanan S, Ditah I, Adler DG, et al. Clostridium difficile-associated diarrhea and proton pump inhibitor therapy: a meta-analysis. Am J Gastroenterol 2012;107:1001-10.
- 56. Kwok CS, Arthur AK, Anibueze CI, et al. Risk of Clostridium difficile infection with acid suppressing drugs and antibiotics: meta-analysis. Am J Gastroenterol 2012;107:1011-9.
- 57. Leonard J, Marshall JK, Moayyedi P. Systematic review of the risk of enteric infection in patients taking acid suppression. Am J Gastroenterol 2007;102:2047-56; quiz 2057.
- Broeren MA, Geerdink EA, Vader HL, et al. Hypomagnesemia induced by several proton-pump inhibitors. Ann Intern Med 2009;151:755-6.
- 59. Epstein M, McGrath S, Law F. Proton-pump inhibitors and hypomagnesemic hypoparathyroidism. N Engl J Med 2006;355:1834-6.
- 60. Faulhaber GA, Ascoli BM, Lubini A, et al. Serum magnesium and proton-pump inhibitors use: a crosssectional study. Rev Assoc Med Bras 2013;59:276-9.
- 61. Hoorn EJ, van der Hoek J, de Man RA, et al. A case series of proton pump inhibitor-induced hypomagnesemia. Am J Kidney Dis 2010;56:112-6.
- 62. Kuipers MT, Thang HD, Arntzenius AB. Hypomagnesaemia due to use of proton pump inhibitors--a review. Neth J Med 2009;67:169-72.
- 63. Shabajee N, Lamb EJ, Sturgess I, et al. Omeprazole and refractory hypomagnesaemia. BMJ 2008;337:a425.
- Food and Drug Administration. Proton Pump Inhibitor drugs (PPIs): Drug Safety Communication Low Magnesium Levels Can Be Associated With Long-Term Use. Available at: http://www.fda.gov/Safety/MedWatch/SafetyInformation/safetyAlertsforHumanMedicalProducts/uc m245275.htm. Accessed August, 20th, 2013.

- 65. Helsby NA, Lo WY, Simpson IJ, et al. Omeprazole-induced acute interstitial nephritis is not related to CYP2C19 genotype or CYP2C19 phenotype. Br J Clin Pharmacol 2010;69:516-9.
- Perazella MA, Markowitz GS. Drug-induced acute interstitial nephritis. Nat Rev Nephrol 2010;6:461 70.
- Sierra F, Suarez M, Rey M, et al. Systematic review: Proton pump inhibitor-associated acute interstitial nephritis. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2007;26:545-53.
- 68. Simpson IJ, Marshall MR, Pilmore H, et al. Proton pump inhibitors and acute interstitial nephritis: report and analysis of 15 cases. Nephrology (Carlton) 2006;11:381-5.
- 69. van Leerdam ME. Epidemiology of acute upper gastrointestinal bleeding. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol 2008;22:209-24.
- Lanas A, Garcia-Rodriguez LA, Polo-Tomas M, et al. Time trends and impact of upper and lower gastrointestinal bleeding and perforation in clinical practice. Am J Gastroenterol 2009;104:1633-41.
- van Leerdam ME, Vreeburg EM, Rauws EA, et al. Acute upper GI bleeding: did anything change? Time trend analysis of incidence and outcome of acute upper GI bleeding between 1993/1994 and 2000. Am J Gastroenterol 2003;98:1494-9.
- 72. García Rodríguez LA, Hernández-Díaz S. The risk of upper gastrointestinal complications associated with nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, glucocorticoids, acetaminophen, and combinations of these agents. Arthritis Res 2001;3:96-101.
- 73. Lanas A, Garcia-Rodriguez LA, Arroyo MT, et al. Risk of upper gastrointestinal ulcer bleeding associated with selective cyclo-oxygenase-2 inhibitors, traditional non-aspirin non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs, aspirin and combinations. Gut 2006;55:1731-8.
- Moore RA, Derry S, McQuay HJ. Cyclo-oxygenase-2 selective inhibitors and nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs: balancing gastrointestinal and cardiovascular risk. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 2007;8:73.
- 75. Goldstein JL, Silverstein FE, Agrawal NM, et al. Reduced risk of upper gastrointestinal ulcer complications with celecoxib, a novel COX-2 inhibitor. Am J Gastroenterol 2000;95:1681-90.
- 76. Chan FK, Hung LC, Suen BY, et al. Celecoxib versus diclofenac plus omeprazole in high-risk arthritis patients: results of a randomized double-blind trial. Gastroenterology 2004;127:1038-43.
- 77. Chan FK, Hung LC, Suen BY, et al. Celecoxib versus diclofenac and omeprazole in reducing the risk of recurrent ulcer bleeding in patients with arthritis. N Engl J Med 2002;347:2104-10.
- 78. Lai KC, Chu KM, Hui WM, et al. Celecoxib compared with lansoprazole and naproxen to prevent gastrointestinal ulcer complications. Am J Med 2005;118:1271-8.
- 79. Simon LS, Weaver AL, Graham DY, et al. Anti-inflammatory and upper gastrointestinal effects of celecoxib in rheumatoid arthritis: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 1999;282:1921-8.
- 80. Lanas A, Perez-Aisa MA, Feu F, et al. A nationwide study of mortality associated with hospital admission due to severe gastrointestinal events and those associated with nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drug use. Am J Gastroenterol 2005;100:1685-93.
- Sostres C, Gargallo CJ, Lanas A. Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and upper and lower gastrointestinal mucosal damage. Arthritis Res Ther 2013;15 Suppl 3:S3.
- Chan FK, Lanas A, Scheiman J, et al. Celecoxib versus omeprazole and diclofenac in patients with osteoarthritis and rheumatoid arthritis (CONDOR): a randomised trial. Lancet 2010;376:173-9.
- Burgel N, Bojarski C, Mankertz J, et al. Mechanisms of diarrhea in collagenous colitis.
 Gastroenterology 2002;123:433-43.
- Laine L, Curtis SP, Langman M, et al. Lower gastrointestinal events in a double-blind trial of the cyclooxygenase-2 selective inhibitor etoricoxib and the traditional nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug diclofenac. Gastroenterology 2008;135:1517-25.
- Mahmud T, Scott DL, Bjarnason I. A unifying hypothesis for the mechanism of NSAID related gastrointestinal toxicity. Ann Rheum Dis 1996;55:211-3.

- Maiden L, Thjodleifsson B, Seigal A, et al. Long-term effects of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and cyclooxygenase-2 selective agents on the small bowel: a cross-sectional capsule enteroscopy study. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2007;5:1040-5.
- 87. Mullin JM, Valenzano MC, Whitby M, et al. Esomeprazole induces upper gastrointestinal tract transmucosal permeability increase. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2008;28:1317-25.
- Murray LJ, Gabello M, Rudolph DS, et al. Transmucosal gastric leak induced by proton pump inhibitors. Dig Dis Sci 2009;54:1408-17.
- Bresalier RS, Sandler RS, Quan H, et al. Cardiovascular events associated with rofecoxib in a colorectal adenoma chemoprevention trial. N Engl J Med 2005;352:1092-102.
- 90. Singh D. Merck withdraws arthritis drug worldwide. BMJ. London, 2004.
- 91. DIRECTIVE 2010/84/EU OF THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND OF THE COUNCIL of 15 December 2010. Available at: http://eur-

lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2010:348:0074:0099:EN:PDF.

- 92. 2010. RENOTEPAOTCoD. Available at: http://eur-
- lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2010:348:0001:0016:EN:PDF.
- 93. European Medicines Agency concludes action on COX-2 inhibitors. Available at: http://www.ema.europa.eu/docs/en_GB/document_library/Press_release/2010/01/WC500059088.p df. (accessed September 23, 2013). 2005.
- 94. Ott E, Nussmeier NA, Duke PC, et al. Efficacy and safety of the cyclooxygenase 2 inhibitors parecoxib and valdecoxib in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass surgery. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2003;125:1481-92.
- 95. Solomon SD, McMurray JJ, Pfeffer MA, et al. Cardiovascular risk associated with celecoxib in a clinical trial for colorectal adenoma prevention. N Engl J Med 2005;352:1071-80.
- Andersohn F, Suissa S, Garbe E. Use of first- and second-generation cyclooxygenase-2-selective nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs and risk of acute myocardial infarction. Circulation 2006;113:1950-7.
- 97. Garcia Rodriguez LA, Tacconelli S, Patrignani P. Role of dose potency in the prediction of risk of myocardial infarction associated with nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs in the general population. J Am Coll Cardiol 2008;52:1628-36.
- Barkun AN, Bardou M, Kuipers EJ, et al. International consensus recommendations on the management of patients with nonvariceal upper gastrointestinal bleeding. Ann Intern Med 2010;152:101-13.
- Lanza FL, Chan FK, Quigley EM. Guidelines for prevention of NSAID-related ulcer complications. Am J Gastroenterol 2009;104:728-38.
- 100. Moens HJ, van Croonenborg JJ, Al MJ, et al. [Guideline 'NSAID use and the prevention of gastric damage']. Ned Tijdschr Geneeskd 2004;148:604-8.
- 101. Targownik LE, Metge CJ, Leung S, et al. The relative efficacies of gastroprotective strategies in chronic users of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. Gastroenterology 2008;134:937-44.
- Valkhoff VE, van Soest EM, Mazzaglia G, et al. Adherence to gastroprotection during cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor use and the risk of upper gastrointestinal events: A population-based study. Arthritis Rheum 2012;64:2792-2802.
- Rassen JA, Schneeweiss S. Using high-dimensional propensity scores to automate confounding control in a distributed medical product safety surveillance system. Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf 2012;1:41-9.
- 104. Pilotto A, Franceschi M, Vitale D, et al. Drug use by the elderly in general practice: effects on upper gastrointestinal symptoms. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 2006;62:65-73.
- 105. Cerreta F, Eichler HG, Rasi G. Drug policy for an aging population--the European Medicines Agency's geriatric medicines strategy. N Engl J Med 2012;367:1972-4.
- 106. Shakir SA, Layton D. Causal association in pharmacovigilance and pharmacoepidemiology: thoughts on the application of the Austin Bradford-Hill criteria. Drug Saf 2002;25:467-71.
- 107. Van Soest EM, Siersema PD, Dieleman JP, et al. Persistence and adherence to proton pump inhibitors in daily clinical practice. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2006;24:377-85.
- 108. Naunton M, Peterson GM, Bleasel MD. Overuse of proton pump inhibitors. J Clin Pharm Ther 2000;25:333-40.
- 109. Valkhoff VE, van Soest EM, Masclee GM, et al. Prescription of nonselective NSAIDs, coxibs and gastroprotective agents in the era of rofecoxib withdrawal - a 617,400-patient study. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2012;36:790-9.
- 110. de Abajo FJ, Garcia Rodriguez LA. Risk of upper gastrointestinal bleeding and perforation associated with low-dose aspirin as plain and enteric-coated formulations. BMC Clin Pharmacol 2001;1:1-8.
- 111. Cea Soriano L, Rodriguez LA. Risk of Upper Gastrointestinal Bleeding in a Cohort of New Users of Low-Dose ASA for Secondary Prevention of Cardiovascular Outcomes. Front Pharmacol 2012;1:1-9.
- 112. Lanas A, Scheiman J. Low-dose aspirin and upper gastrointestinal damage: epidemiology, prevention and treatment. Curr Med Res Opin 2007;23:163-73.
- 113. Hedberg J, Sundstrom J, Thuresson M, et al. Low-dose acetylsalicylic acid and gastrointestinal ulcers or bleeding--a cohort study of the effects of proton pump inhibitor use patterns. J Intern Med 2013;274:371-80.
- 114. Bhatt DL, Scheiman J, Abraham NS, et al. ACCF/ACG/AHA 2008 expert consensus document on reducing the gastrointestinal risks of antiplatelet therapy and NSAID use: a report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation Task Force on Clinical Expert Consensus Documents. Circulation 2008;118:1894-909.
- 115. de Jong HJ, Korevaar JC, van Dijk L, et al. Suboptimal prescribing of proton-pump inhibitors in lowdose aspirin users: a cohort study in primary care. BMJ Open 2013;3.
- 116. van Soest EM, Valkhoff VE, Mazzaglia G, et al. Suboptimal gastroprotective coverage of NSAID use and the risk of upper gastrointestinal bleeding and ulcers: an observational study using three European databases. Gut 2011;60:1650-9.
- 117. Masclee GM, Valkhoff VE, van Soest EM, et al. Cyclo-oxygenase-2 inhibitors or nonselective NSAIDs plus gastroprotective agents: what to prescribe in daily clinical practice? Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2013;38:178-89.
- 118. Hernandez-Diaz S, Rodriguez LA. Steroids and risk of upper gastrointestinal complications. Am J Epidemiol 2001;153:1089-93.
- 119. Hallas J, Dall M, Andries A, et al. Use of single and combined antithrombotic therapy and risk of serious upper gastrointestinal bleeding: population based case-control study. BMJ 2006;333:726.
- 120. Vogiagis D, Glare EM, Misajon A, et al. Cyclooxygenase-1 and an alternatively spliced mRNA in the rat stomach: effects of aging and ulcers. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 2000;278:G820-827.
- 121. Cryer B, Redfern JS, Goldschmiedt M, et al. Effect of aging on gastric and duodenal mucosal prostaglandin concentrations in humans. Gastroenterology 1992;102:1118-1123.
- 122. Cryer G, Lee E, Feldman M. Factors influencing gastroduodenal mucosal prostaglandin concentrations: roles of smoking and aging. Ann Intern Med 1992;116:636-640.
- 123. Fass R, Pulliam G, Johnson C, et al. Symptom severity and oesophageal chemosensitivity to acid in older and young patients with gastro-oesophageal reflux. Age Ageing 2000;29:125-30.
- 124. Lasch H, Castell DO, Castell JA. Evidence for diminished visceral pain with aging: studies using graded intraesophageal balloon distension. Am J Physiol 1997;272:G1-3.
- 125. Kuipers EJ, Lundell L, Klinkenberg-Knol EC, et al. Atrophic gastritis and Helicobacter pylori infection in patients with reflux esophagitis treated with omeprazole or fundoplication. N Engl J Med 1996;334:1018-22.

- Berstad AE, Hatlebakk JG, Maartmann-Moe H, et al. Helicobacter pylori gastritis and epithelial cell proliferation in patients with reflux oesophagitis after treatment with lansoprazole. Gut 1997;41:740-7.
- 127. Malfertheiner P, Megraud F, O'Morain CA, et al. Management of Helicobacter pylori infection--the Maastricht IV/ Florence Consensus Report. Gut 2012;61:646-64.
- 128. Bell JS, Strandberg TE, Teramura-Gronblad M, et al. Use of proton pump inhibitors and mortality among institutionalized older people. Arch Intern Med 2010;170:1604-5.
- 129. Teramura-Gronblad M, Bell JS, Poysti MM, et al. Risk of death associated with use of PPIs in three cohorts of institutionalized older people in Finland. J Am Med Dir Assoc 2012;13:488 e9-13.
- 130. Maggio M, Corsonello A, Ceda GP, et al. Proton pump inhibitors and risk of 1-year mortality and rehospitalization in older patients discharged from acute care hospitals. JAMA Intern Med 2013;173:518-23.
- 131. Teramura-Gronblad M, Hosia-Randell H, Muurinen S, et al. Use of proton-pump inhibitors and their associated risks among frail elderly nursing home residents. Scand J Prim Health Care 2010;28:154-9.
- 132. Cherubini A, Oristrell J, Pla X, et al. The persistent exclusion of older patients from ongoing clinical trials regarding heart failure. Arch Intern Med 2011;171:550-6.
- Black N. Why we need observational studies to evaluate the effectiveness of health care. Bmj 1996;312:1215-8.
- 134. Noguerado Asensio A, Rodriguez Barrientos R, Zelaya Castro P, et al. [Use of acid-suppressive medications in hospitalized patients]. An Med Interna 2002;19:557-60.
- 135. Pasina L, Nobili A, Tettamanti M, et al. Prevalence and appropriateness of drug prescriptions for peptic ulcer and gastro-esophageal reflux disease in a cohort of hospitalized elderly. Eur J Intern Med 2011;22:205-10.
- 136. Forgacs I, Loganayagam A. Overprescribing proton pump inhibitors. BMJ 2008;336:2-3.
- 137. Gupta R, Garg P, Kottoor R, et al. Overuse of acid suppression therapy in hospitalized patients. South Med J 2010;103:207-11.
- 138.Parsons C, Johnston S, Mathie E, et al. Potentially inappropriate prescribing in older people with
dementia in care homes: a retrospective analysis. Drugs Aging 2012;29:143-55.
- 139. Glew CM, Rentler RJ. Use of proton pump inhibitors and other acid suppressive medications in newly admitted nursing facility patients. J Am Med Dir Assoc 2007;8:607-9.
- 140. Hamzat H, Sun H, Ford JC, et al. Inappropriate prescribing of proton pump inhibitors in older patients: effects of an educational strategy. Drugs Aging 2012;29:681-90.
- 141. Sebastian SS, Kernan N, Qasim A, et al. Appropriateness of gastric antisecretory therapy in hospital practice. Ir J Med Sci 2003;172:115-7.
- 142. Lampen-Smith A, Young J, O'Rourke MA, et al. Blinded randomised controlled study of the effect of a discharge communication template on proton pump inhibitor prescribing. N Z Med J 2012;125:30-6.
- 143. Ahrens D, Chenot JF, Behrens G, et al. Appropriateness of treatment recommendations for PPI in hospital discharge letters. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 2010;66:1265-71.
- 144. Klok RM, Brouwers JR, Van den Berg PB, et al. Continued utilization and costs of proton pump inhibitors after Helicobacter pylori eradication in chronic users of gastrointestinal drugs. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2002;16:1033-4.
- 145. Williams D, O'Kelly P, Kelly A, et al. Lack of symptom benefit following presumptive Helicobacter pylori eradication therapy in primary care. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2001;15:1769-75.
- 146. Hungin AP, Rubin GP, O'Flanagan H. Long-term prescribing of proton pump inhibitors in general practice. Br J Gen Pract 1999;49:451-3.
- 147. Inadomi JM, Jamal R, Murata GH, et al. Step-down management of gastroesophageal reflux disease. Gastroenterology 2001;121:1095-100.
- 148. Murie J, Allen J, Simmonds R, et al. Glad you brought it up: a patient-centred programme to reduce proton-pump inhibitor prescribing in general medical practice. Qual Prim Care 2012;20:141-8.

- 149. Pollock K, Grime J. Strategies for reducing the prescribing of proton pump inhibitors (PPIs): patient self-regulation of treatment may be an under-exploited resource. Soc Sci Med 2000;51:1827-39.
- 150. Furuta T, Ohashi K, Kamata T, et al. Effect of genetic differences in omeprazole metabolism on cure rates for Helicobacter pylori infection and peptic ulcer. Ann Intern Med 1998;129:1027-30.
- 151. Furuta T, Shirai N, Sugimoto M, et al. Influence of CYP2C19 pharmacogenetic polymorphism on proton pump inhibitor-based therapies. Drug Metab Pharmacokinet 2005;20:153-67.
- 152. Furuta T, Shirai N, Sugimoto M, et al. Pharmacogenomics of proton pump inhibitors. Pharmacogenomics 2004;5:181-202.
- 153. Robinson M, Horn J. Clinical pharmacology of proton pump inhibitors: what the practising physician needs to know. Drugs 2003;63:2739-54.
- 154. Klotz U, Schwab M, Treiber G. CYP2C19 polymorphism and proton pump inhibitors. Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol 2004;95:2-8.
- 155. Hunfeld NG, Touw DJ, Mathot RA, et al. A comparison of the acid-inhibitory effects of esomeprazole and pantoprazole in relation to pharmacokinetics and CYP2C19 polymorphism. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2010;31:150-9.
- 156. Hunfeld NG, Touw DJ, Mathot RA, et al. A comparison of the acid-inhibitory effects of esomeprazole and rabeprazole in relation to pharmacokinetics and CYP2C19 polymorphism. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2012;35:810-8.
- 157. Furuta T, Shirai N, Watanabe F, et al. Effect of cytochrome P4502C19 genotypic differences on cure rates for gastroesophageal reflux disease by lansoprazole. Clin Pharmacol Ther 2002;72:453-60.
- 158. Hunfeld NG, Mathot RA, Touw DJ, et al. Effect of CYP2C19*2 and *17 mutations on pharmacodynamics and kinetics of proton pump inhibitors in Caucasians. Br J Clin Pharmacol 2008;65:752-60.
- 159. Andersson T, Hassan-Alin M, Hasselgren G, et al. Drug interaction studies with esomeprazole, the (S)isomer of omeprazole. Clin Pharmacokinet 2001;40:523-37.
- 160. Canada R. Prescribing information Tarceva (erlotinib). Available at: http://www.gene.com/gene/products/information/pdf/tarceva-prescribing.pdf Accessed August, 19th 2013.
- 161. McCabe SM, Smith PF, Ma Q, et al. Drug interactions between proton pump inhibitors and antiretroviral drugs. Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol 2007;3:197-207.
- 162. Rothman KJ, Greenland S, Lash TL. Causation and Causal Inference. Modern Epidemiology. 3rd ed. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, 2008.
- 163. Rothwell PM, Fowkes FG, Belch JF, et al. Effect of daily aspirin on long-term risk of death due to cancer: analysis of individual patient data from randomised trials. Lancet 2011;377:31-41.
- 164. Food and Drug Administration. Public Health Advisory: Updated Safety Information about a drug interaction between Clopidogrel Bisulfate (marketed as Plavix) and Omeprazole (marketed as Prilosec and Prilosec OTC). Available at:

http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/DrugSafety/PostmarketDrugSafetyInformationforPatientsandProviders/D rugSafetyInformationforHeathcareProfessionals/PublicHealthAdvisories/ucm190825.htm. Accessed August, 7 2013.

- 165. Kwok CS, Loke YK. Meta-analysis: the effects of proton pump inhibitors on cardiovascular events and mortality in patients receiving clopidogrel. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2010;31:810-23.
- Sibbing D, Koch W, Gebhard D, et al. Cytochrome 2C19*17 allelic variant, platelet aggregation,
 bleeding events, and stent thrombosis in clopidogrel-treated patients with coronary stent placement.
 Circulation 2010;121:512-8.
- 167. Kwok CS, Jeevanantham V, Dawn B, et al. No consistent evidence of differential cardiovascular risk amongst proton-pump inhibitors when used with clopidogrel: meta-analysis. Int J Cardiol 2013;167:965-74.

- 168. Strom BL, Kimmel SE. Textbook of Pharmacoepidemiology. In: Csizmadi I, Collet J, eds. Bias and confounding in Pharmacoepidemiology. Chichester: John Wiley & Sons, 2006:264.
- 169. Valkhoff VE, t Jong GW, Van Soest EM, et al. Risk of recurrent myocardial infarction with the concomitant use of clopidogrel and proton pump inhibitors. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2011;33:77-88.
- 170. Charlot M, Grove EL, Hansen PR, et al. Proton pump inhibitor use and risk of adverse cardiovascular events in aspirin treated patients with first time myocardial infarction: nationwide propensity score matched study. BMJ 2011;342:d2690.
- 171. Wurtz M, Grove EL, Kristensen SD, et al. The antiplatelet effect of aspirin is reduced by proton pump inhibitors in patients with coronary artery disease. Heart 2010;96:368-71.
- 172. Adamopoulos AB, Sakizlis GN, Nasothimiou EG, et al. Do proton pump inhibitors attenuate the effect of aspirin on platelet aggregation? A randomized crossover study. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 2009;54:163-8.
- 173. Garcia Rodriguez LA, Johansson S, Nagy P, et al. Use of proton pump inhibitors and the risk of coronary events in new users of low-dose acetylsalicylic acid in UK primary care. Thromb Haemost 2014;111:131-9.
- 174. Azizi F, Belur R, Albano J. Malabsorption of thyroid hormones after jejunoileal bypass for obesity. Ann Intern Med 1979;90:941-2.
- 175. Centanni M, Gargano L, Canettieri G, et al. Thyroxine in goiter, Helicobacter pylori infection, and chronic gastritis. N Engl J Med 2006;354:1787-95.
- 176. Liwanpo L, Hershman JM. Conditions and drugs interfering with thyroxine absorption. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab 2009;23:781-92.
- 177. Singh N, Singh PN, Hershman JM. Effect of calcium carbonate on the absorption of levothyroxine. JAMA 2000;283:2822-5.
- 178. Sachmechi I, Reich DM, Aninyei M, et al. Effect of proton pump inhibitors on serum thyroidstimulating hormone level in euthyroid patients treated with levothyroxine for hypothyroidism. Endocr Pract 2007;13:345-9.
- 179. Dietrich JW, Gieselbrecht K, Holl RW, et al. Absorption kinetics of levothyroxine is not altered by proton-pump inhibitor therapy. Horm Metab Res 2006;38:57-9.
- 180. Ananthakrishnan S, Braverman LE, Levin RM, et al. The effect of famotidine, esomeprazole, and ezetimibe on levothyroxine absorption. Thyroid 2008;18:493-8.
- 181. Brajkovich IE, Mashiter K, Joplin GF, et al. Serum T4, T3, and TSH levels in primary hypothyroidism during replacement therapy with thyroxine. Metabolism 1983;32:745-7.
- 182. Diamantopoulos AP, Hoff M, Skoie IM, et al. Short- and long-term mortality in males and females with fragility hip fracture in Norway. A population-based study. Clin Interv Aging 2013;8:817-23.
- 183. Haleem S, Lutchman L, Mayahi R, et al. Mortality following hip fracture: trends and geographical variations over the last 40 years. Injury 2008;39:1157-63.
- 184. Korhonen N, Niemi S, Parkkari J, et al. Continuous decline in incidence of hip fracture: nationwide statistics from Finland between 1970 and 2010. Osteoporos Int 2013;24:1599-603.
- 185. Kannus P, Parkkari J, Sievanen H, et al. Epidemiology of hip fractures. Bone 1996;18:57S-63S.
- 186. Chonan O, Takahashi R, Yasui H, et al. Effect of L-lactic acid on calcium absorption in rats fed omeprazole. J Nutr Sci Vitaminol (Tokyo) 1998;44:473-81.
- 187. Tuukkanen J, Vaananen HK. Omeprazole, a specific inhibitor of H+-K+-ATPase, inhibits bone resorption in vitro. Calcif Tissue Int 1986;38:123-5.
- 188. Mizunashi K, Furukawa Y, Katano K, et al. Effect of omeprazole, an inhibitor of H+,K(+)-ATPase, on bone resorption in humans. Calcif Tissue Int 1993;53:21-5.
- 189. Ensrud KE, Duong T, Cauley JA, et al. Low fractional calcium absorption increases the risk for hip fracture in women with low calcium intake. Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Research Group. Ann Intern Med 2000;132:345-53.

- 190. O'Connell MB, Madden DM, Murray AM, et al. Effects of proton pump inhibitors on calcium carbonate absorption in women: a randomized crossover trial. Am J Med 2005;118:778-81.
- 191. Yang YX. Chronic proton pump inihibitor therapy and calcium metabolism. Curr Gastroenterol Rep 2012;14:473-9.
- 192. Targownik LE, Lix LM, Leung S, et al. Proton-pump inhibitor use is not associated with osteoporosis or accelerated bone mineral density loss. Gastroenterology 2010;138:896-904.
- 193. Yu EW, Blackwell T, Ensrud KE, et al. Acid-suppressive medications and risk of bone loss and fracture in older adults. Calcif Tissue Int 2008;83:251-9.
- 194. Roux C, Briot K, Gossec L, et al. Increase in vertebral fracture risk in postmenopausal women using omeprazole. Calcif Tissue Int 2009;84:13-9.
- 195. Gray SL, LaCroix AZ, Larson J, et al. Proton pump inhibitor use, hip fracture, and change in bone mineral density in postmenopausal women: results from the Women's Health Initiative. Arch Intern Med 2010;170:765-71.
- 196. Roux C, Goldstein JL, Zhou X, et al. Vertebral fracture efficacy during risedronate therapy in patients using proton pump inhibitors. Osteoporos Int 2012;23:277-84.
- 197. Ozdil K, Kahraman R, Sahin A, et al. Bone density in proton pump inhibitors users: a prospective study. Rheumatol Int 2013;33:2255-60.
- 198. Maggio M, Lauretani F, Ceda GP, et al. Use of proton pump inhibitors is associated with lower trabecular bone density in older individuals. Bone 2013;57:437-42.
- 199. Cea-Soriano L, Johansson S, Garcia Rodriguez LA. Risk factors for falls with use of acid-suppressive drugs. Epidemiology 2013;24:600-7.
- Wilson KT, Fu S, Ramanujam KS, et al. Increased expression of inducible nitric oxide synthase and cyclooxygenase-2 in Barrett's esophagus and associated adenocarcinomas. Cancer Res 1998;58:2929-34.
- 201. Stabler SP. Clinical practice. Vitamin B12 deficiency. N Engl J Med 2013;368:149-60.
- 202. Murphy MF, Sourial NA, Burman JF, et al. Megaloblastic anaemia due to vitamin B12 deficiency caused by small intestinal bacterial overgrowth: possible role of vitamin B12 analogues. Br J Haematol 1986;62:7-12.
- 203. Kapadia C. Cobalamin (Vitamin B12) deficiency: is it a problem for our aging population and is the problem compounded by drugs that inhibit gastric acid secretion? J Clin Gastroenterol 2000;30:4-6.
- 204. Howden CW. Vitamin B12 levels during prolonged treatment with proton pump inhibitors. J Clin Gastroenterol 2000;30:29-33.
- 205. Schade SG, Cohen RJ, Conrad ME. Effect of hydrochloric acid on iron absorption. N Engl J Med 1968;279:672-4.
- 206. Bezwoda W, Charlton R, Bothwell T, et al. The importance of gastric hydrochloric acid in the absorption of nonheme food iron. J Lab Clin Med 1978;92:108-16.
- 207. Kuipers EJ, Surawicz CM. Clostridium difficile infection. Lancet 2008;371:1486-8.
- 208. Gravel D, Miller M, Simor A, et al. Health care-associated Clostridium difficile infection in adults admitted to acute care hospitals in Canada: a Canadian Nosocomial Infection Surveillance Program Study. Clin Infect Dis 2009;48:568-76.
- 209. Loo VG, Poirier L, Miller MA, et al. A predominantly clonal multi-institutional outbreak of Clostridium difficile-associated diarrhea with high morbidity and mortality. N Engl J Med 2005;353:2442-9.
- 210. Lo WK, Chan WW. Proton pump inhibitor use and the risk of small intestinal bacterial overgrowth: a meta-analysis. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2013;11:483-90.
- 211. Gutthann SP, Garcia Rodriguez LA, Raiford DS. Individual nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs and other risk factors for upper gastrointestinal bleeding and perforation. Epidemiology 1997;8:18-24.
- 212. Rothman KJ. Measuring interactions. Epidemiology: an introduction: Oxford: University Press, 2002.
- 213. Giannella RA, Broitman SA, Zamcheck N. Gastric acid barrier to ingested microorganisms in man: studies in vivo and in vitro. Gut 1972;13:251-6.

- 214. Doorduyn Y, Van Den Brandhof WE, Van Duynhoven YT, et al. Risk factors for Salmonella Enteritidis and Typhimurium (DT104 and non-DT104) infections in The Netherlands: predominant roles for raw eggs in Enteritidis and sandboxes in Typhimurium infections. Epidemiol Infect 2006;134:617-26.
- 215. Doorduyn Y, Van Pelt W, Siezen CL, et al. Novel insight in the association between salmonellosis or campylobacteriosis and chronic illness, and the role of host genetics in susceptibility to these diseases. Epidemiol Infect 2008;136:1225-34.
- 216. Garcia Rodriguez LA, Ruigomez A, Panes J. Use of acid-suppressing drugs and the risk of bacterial gastroenteritis. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2007;5:1418-23.
- 217. Serfaty-Lacrosniere C, Wood RJ, Voytko D, et al. Hypochlorhydria from short-term omeprazole treatment does not inhibit intestinal absorption of calcium, phosphorus, magnesium or zinc from food in humans. J Am Coll Nutr 1995;14:364-8.
- 218. Shah GM, Kirschenbaum MA. Renal magnesium wasting associated with therapeutic agents. Miner Electrolyte Metab 1991;17:58-64.
- 219. Cameron AJ, Souto EO, Smyrk TC. Small adenocarcinomas of the esophagogastric junction: association with intestinal metaplasia and dysplasia. Am J Gastroenterol 2002;97:1375-80.
- 220. Lepage C, Drouillard A, Jouve JL, et al. Epidemiology and risk factors for oesophageal adenocarcinoma. Dig Liver Dis 2013;45:625-629.
- 221. Solaymani-Dodaran M, Logan RF, West J, et al. Risk of oesophageal cancer in Barrett's oesophagus and gastro-oesophageal reflux. Gut 2004;53:1070-4.
- 222. Wang KK, Sampliner RE. Updated guidelines 2008 for the diagnosis, surveillance and therapy of Barrett's esophagus. Am J Gastroenterol 2008;103:788-97.
- 223. Coleman HG, Bhat S, Murray LJ, et al. Increasing incidence of Barrett's oesophagus: a populationbased study. Eur J Epidemiol 2011;26:739-45.
- Post PN, Siersema PD, Van Dekken H. Rising incidence of clinically evident Barrett's oesophagus in The Netherlands: a nation-wide registry of pathology reports. Scand J Gastroenterol 2007;42:17-22.
- 225. van Kerkhoven LA, van Rijswijck SJ, van Rossum LG, et al. Open-access upper gastrointestinal endoscopy a decade after the introduction of proton pump inhibitors and helicobacter pylori eradication: a shift in endoscopic findings. Digestion 2007;75:227-31.
- 226. van Soest EM, Dieleman JP, Siersema PD, et al. Increasing incidence of Barrett's oesophagus in the general population. Gut 2005;54:1062-6.
- 227. Conio M, Cameron AJ, Romero Y, et al. Secular trends in the epidemiology and outcome of Barrett's oesophagus in Olmsted County, Minnesota. Gut 2001;48:304-9.
- 228. Prach AT, MacDonald TA, Hopwood DA, et al. Increasing incidence of Barrett's oesophagus: education, enthusiasm, or epidemiology? Lancet 1997;350:933.
- 229. Botterweck AA, Schouten LJ, Volovics A, et al. Trends in incidence of adenocarcinoma of the oesophagus and gastric cardia in ten European countries. Int J Epidemiol 2000;29:645-54.
- 230. Yousef F, Cardwell C, Cantwell MM, et al. The incidence of esophageal cancer and high-grade dysplasia in Barrett's esophagus: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Epidemiol 2008;168:237-49.
- 231. Sikkema M, de Jonge PJ, Steyerberg EW, et al. Risk of esophageal adenocarcinoma and mortality in patients with Barrett's esophagus: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2010;8:235-44; quiz e32.
- 232. Hvid-Jensen F, Pedersen L, Drewes AM, et al. Incidence of adenocarcinoma among patients with Barrett's esophagus. N Engl J Med 2011;365:1375-83.
- 233. Rastogi A, Puli S, El-Serag HB, et al. Incidence of esophageal adenocarcinoma in patients with Barrett's esophagus and high-grade dysplasia: a meta-analysis. Gastrointest Endosc 2008;67:394-8.
- 234. Gerson LB, Shetler K, Triadafilopoulos G. Prevalence of Barrett's esophagus in asymptomatic individuals. Gastroenterology 2002;123:461-7.

- 235. Rex DK, Cummings OW, Shaw M, et al. Screening for Barrett's esophagus in colonoscopy patients with and without heartburn. Gastroenterology 2003;125:1670-7.
- 236. Bhat S, Coleman HG, Yousef F, et al. Risk of malignant progression in Barrett's esophagus patients: results from a large population-based study. J Natl Cancer Inst 2011;103:1049-57.
- 237. Lewis JD, Schinnar R, Bilker WB, et al. Validation studies of the health improvement network (THIN) database for pharmacoepidemiology research. Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf 2007;16:393-401.
- 238. Vlug AE, van der Lei J, Mosseveld BM, et al. Postmarketing surveillance based on electronic patient records: the IPCI project. Methods Inf Med 1999;38:339-44.
- 239. Booth N. What are the Read Codes? Health Libr Rev 1994;11:177–182.
- 240. Lamberts H, Wood M, Hofmans-Okkes IM. International primary care classifications: the effect of fifteen years of evolution. Fam Pract 1992;9:330-9.
- 241. Askling J, Linet M, Gridley G, et al. Cancer incidence in a population-based cohort of individuals hospitalized with celiac disease or dermatitis herpetiformis. Gastroenterology 2002;123:1428-35.
- 242. WHO Collaborating Centre for Drug Statistics Methodology. Guidelines for ATC classification and DDD assignment. Available at: http://www.whocc.no/atcddd/. (accessed July 21, 2014). 2014.
- 243. Masclee GM, Valkhoff VE, Coloma PM, et al. Risk of Upper Gastrointestinal Bleeding from Different Drug Combinations. Gastroenterology 2014. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2014.06.007.
- 244. DBC informatie systeem. Available at: http://www.dbcinformatiesysteem.nl/ . Accessed on 5th of July 2013.
- 245. Singh S, Garg SK, Singh PP, et al. Acid-suppressive medications and risk of oesophageal adenocarcinoma in patients with Barrett's oesophagus: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Gut 2013.
- 246. de Jongh E, Numans ME, de Wit NJ, et al. [Summary of the Dutch College of General Practitioners' (NHG) practice guideline 'Gastric symptoms']. Ned Tijdschr Geneeskd 2013;157:A6101.
- 247. van Soest EM, Dieleman JP, Siersema PD, et al. Tricyclic antidepressants and the risk of reflux esophagitis. Am J Gastroenterol 2007;102:1870-7.
- 248. Elwyn G, Owen D, Roberts L, et al. Influencing referral practice using feedback of adherence to NICE guidelines: a quality improvement report for dyspepsia. Qual Saf Health Care 2007;16:67-70.
- 249. Desai TK, Krishnan K, Samala N, et al. The incidence of oesophageal adenocarcinoma in nondysplastic Barrett's oesophagus: a meta-analysis. Gut 2012;61:970-6.
- 250. Gordon V, Jankowski J. Chemoprevention in Barrett's oesophagus. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol 2011;25:569-79.
- 251. Ronkainen J, Aro P, Storskrubb T, et al. Prevalence of Barrett's esophagus in the general population: an endoscopic study. Gastroenterology 2005;129:1825-31.
- 252. Spechler SJ, Souza RF. Barrett's esophagus. N Engl J Med 2014;371:836-45.
- 253. de Jonge PJ, van Blankenstein M, Looman CW, et al. Risk of malignant progression in patients with Barrett's oesophagus: a Dutch nationwide cohort study. Gut 2010;59:1030-6.
- 254. Globocan 2008 Worldwide Cancer Incidence M, Prevalence and Disability-adjusted life years (DALYs). Available from: http://globocan.iarc.fr/factsheet.asp, Accessed at 19th February 2013.
- 255. Masclee GM, Coloma PM, de Wilde M, et al. The incidence of Barrett's oesophagus and oesophageal adenocarcinoma in the United Kingdom and the Netherlands is levelling off. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2014;39:1321-30.
- 256. Bonderup OK, Fenger-Gron M, Wigh T, et al. Drug exposure and risk of microscopic colitis: a nationwide Danish case-control study with 5751 cases. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2014;20:1702-7.
- 257. Bjerregaard B, Larsen OB. The Danish Pathology Register. Scand J Public Health 2011;39:72-4.
- 258. Corley DA, Kerlikowske K, Verma R, et al. Protective association of aspirin/NSAIDs and esophageal cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Gastroenterology 2003;124:47-56.

- 259. Nguyen DM, Richardson P, El-Serag HB. Medications (NSAIDs, statins, proton pump inhibitors) and the risk of esophageal adenocarcinoma in patients with Barrett's esophagus. Gastroenterology 2010;138:2260-6.
- 260. Kantor ED, Onstad L, Blount PL, et al. Use of statin medications and risk of esophageal adenocarcinoma in persons with Barrett's esophagus. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2012;21:456-61.
- 261. Kastelein F, Spaander MC, Biermann K, et al. Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and statins have chemopreventative effects in patients with Barrett's esophagus. Gastroenterology 2011;141:2000-8; quiz e13-4.
- 262. Abnet CC, Freedman ND, Kamangar F, et al. Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and risk of gastric and oesophageal adenocarcinomas: results from a cohort study and a meta-analysis. Br J Cancer 2009;100:551-7.
- 263. Sivarasan N, Smith G. Role of aspirin in chemoprevention of esophageal adenocarcinoma: a metaanalysis. J Dig Dis 2013;14:222-30.
- 264. Garcia Rodriguez LA, Lagergren J, Lindblad M. Gastric acid suppression and risk of oesophageal and gastric adenocarcinoma: a nested case control study in the UK. Gut 2006;55:1538-44.
- 265. Zhang S, Zhang XQ, Ding XW, et al. Cyclooxygenase inhibitors use is associated with reduced risk of esophageal adenocarcinoma in patients with Barrett's esophagus: a meta-analysis. Br J Cancer 2014;110:2378-88.
- 266. Liao LM, Vaughan TL, Corley DA, et al. Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug use reduces risk of adenocarcinomas of the esophagus and esophagogastric junction in a pooled analysis. Gastroenterology 2012;142:442-452 e5; quiz e22-3.
- 267. Nguyen T, Khalaf N, Ramsey D, et al. Statin Use is Associated with a Decreased Risk of Barrett's Esophagus. Gastroenterology 2014;147:314-23.
- 268. Singh S, Singh AG, Singh PP, et al. Statins are associated with reduced risk of esophageal cancer, particularly in patients with Barrett's esophagus: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2013;11:620-9.
- 269. Buttar NS, Wang KK, Anderson MA, et al. The effect of selective cyclooxygenase-2 inhibition in Barrett's esophagus epithelium: an in vitro study. J Natl Cancer Inst 2002;94:422-9.
- 270. Falk GW, Buttar NS, Foster NR, et al. A combination of esomeprazole and aspirin reduces tissue concentrations of prostaglandin E(2) in patients with Barrett's esophagus. Gastroenterology 2012;143:917-26 e1.
- 271. Ogunwobi OO, Beales IL. Statins inhibit proliferation and induce apoptosis in Barrett's esophageal adenocarcinoma cells. Am J Gastroenterol 2008;103:825-37.
- 272. Sadaria MR, Reppert AE, Yu JA, et al. Statin therapy attenuates growth and malignant potential of human esophageal adenocarcinoma cells. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2011;142:1152-60.
- 273. Konturek PC, Burnat G, Hahn EG. Inhibition of Barret's adenocarcinoma cell growth by simvastatin: involvement of COX-2 and apoptosis-related proteins. J Physiol Pharmacol 2007;58 Suppl 3:141-8.
- 274. Vaughan TL, Dong LM, Blount PL, et al. Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and risk of neoplastic progression in Barrett's oesophagus: a prospective study. Lancet Oncol 2005;6:945-52.
- 275. Delgado-Rodriguez M, Llorca J. Bias. J Epidemiol Community Health 2004;58:635-41.
- 276. Suissa S, Dell'aniello S, Vahey S, et al. Time-window bias in case-control studies: statins and lung cancer. Epidemiology 2011;22:228-31.
- 277. Suissa S. Immortal time bias in pharmaco-epidemiology. Am J Epidemiol 2008;167:492-9.
- 278. Kastelein F, Spaander MC, Steyerberg EW, et al. Proton pump inhibitors reduce the risk of neoplastic progression in patients with Barrett's esophagus. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2013;11:382-8.
- Rothman KJ, Greenland S. Causation and causal inference in epidemiology. Am J Public Health 2005;95 Suppl 1:S144-50.



- Alexandre L, Clark AB, Bhutta HY, et al. Statin Use is Associated With Reduced Risk of Histologic Subtypes of Esophageal Cancer: a Nested Case-Control Analysis. Gastroenterology 2014 (doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2013.11.046.).
- Moayyedi P, Burch N, Akhtar-Danesh N, et al. Mortality rates in patients with Barrett's oesophagus. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2008;27:316-20.
- 282. Hvid-Jensen F, Pedersen L, Funch-Jensen P, et al. Proton pump inhibitor use may not prevent highgrade dysplasia and oesophageal adenocarcinoma in Barrett's oesophagus: a nationwide study of 9883 patients. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2014.
- 283. Masclee GM, Valkhoff VE, Coloma PM, et al. Risk of upper gastrointestinal bleeding from different drug combinations. Gastroenterology 2014;147:784-792 e9; quiz e13-4.
- 284. Strom BL, Carson JL. Automated databases used for pharmacoepidemiology research. Clin Pharmacol Ther 1989;46:390-4.
- 285. Allen-Dicker J, Klompas M. Comparison of electronic laboratory reports, administrative claims, and electronic health record data for acute viral hepatitis surveillance. J Public Health Manag Pract 2012;18:209-14.
- 286. Linder JA, Haas JS, Iyer A, et al. Secondary use of electronic health record data: spontaneous triggered adverse drug event reporting. Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf 2010;19:1211-5.
- 287. Schneeweiss S, Avorn J. A review of uses of health care utilization databases for epidemiologic research on therapeutics. J Clin Epidemiol 2005;58:323-37.
- 288. Suissa S, Garbe E. Primer: administrative health databases in observational studies of drug effects-advantages and disadvantages. Nat Clin Pract Rheumatol 2007;3:725-32.
- 289. Salas M, Hofman A, Stricker BH. Confounding by indication: an example of variation in the use of epidemiologic terminology. Am J Epidemiol 1999;149:981-3.
- 290. Walker AM. Confounding by indication: Epidemiology. 1996 Jul;7(4):335-6.
- 291. Mosis G, Stijnen T, Castellsague J, et al. Channeling and prevalence of cardiovascular contraindications in users of cyclooxygenase 2 selective nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs. Arthritis Rheum 2006;55:537-42.
- 292. Moride Y, Abenhaim L. Evidence of the depletion of susceptibles effect in non-experimental pharmacoepidemiologic research. J Clin Epidemiol 1994;47:731-7.
- 293. Bhala N, Emberson J, Merhi A, et al. Vascular and upper gastrointestinal effects of non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs: meta-analyses of individual participant data from randomised trials. Lancet 2013;382:769-79.
- 294. van Soest EM, Valkhoff VE, Mazzaglia G, et al. Suboptimal gastroprotective coverage of NSAID use and the risk of upper gastrointestinal bleeding and ulcers: an observational study using three European databases. Gut 2011;60:1650-1659.
- 295. Cox E, Martin BC, Van Staa T, et al. Good research practices for comparative effectiveness research: approaches to mitigate bias and confounding in the design of nonrandomized studies of treatment effects using secondary data sources: the International Society for Pharmacoeconomics and Outcomes Research Good Research Practices for Retrospective Database Analysis Task Force Report--Part II. Value Health 2009;12:1053-61.
- 296. Garbe E, Kloss S, Suling M, et al. High-dimensional versus conventional propensity scores in a comparative effectiveness study of coxibs and reduced upper gastrointestinal complications. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 2013;69:549-57.
- 297. Rosenbaum P, Rubin D. The central role of the propensity score in observational studies for causal effects. Biometrika 1983;70:41-55.
- 298. Austin PC. An Introduction to Propensity Score Methods for Reducing the Effects of Confounding in Observational Studies. Multivariate Behav Res 2011;46:399-424.
- 299. Brookhart MA, Schneeweiss S, Rothman KJ, et al. Variable selection for propensity score models. Am J Epidemiol 2006;163:1149-56.

References | 333

- 300. Rubin DB. Estimating causal effects from large data sets using propensity scores. Ann Intern Med 1997;127:757-63.
- Toh S, Garcia Rodriguez LA, Hernan MA. Confounding adjustment via a semi-automated highdimensional propensity score algorithm: an application to electronic medical records. Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf 2011;20:849-57.
- 302. Schneeweiss S, Rassen JA, Glynn RJ, et al. High-dimensional propensity score adjustment in studies of treatment effects using health care claims data. Epidemiology 2009;20:512-22.
- 303. Afzal Z, Schuemie MJ, van Blijderveen JC, et al. Improving sensitivity of machine learning methods for automated case identification from free-text electronic medical records. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2013;13:1472-6947.
- Genkin A, Lewis DD, Madigan D. Large-scale bayesian logistic regression for text categorization. Technometrics 2007;49:291-304.
- 305. Pirracchio R, Petersen ML, van der Laan M. Improving propensity score estimators' robustness to model misspecification using super learner. Am J Epidemiol 2015;181:108-19.
- 306. Mosteller F, Tukey JW. Data analysis, including statistics. In: Lindzey G, Aronson E, eds. The handbook of social psychology. Volume 2. Reading, Massachussets, USA.: Addison-Wesley, 1968:80-203.
- Rassen JA, Shelat AA, Myers J, et al. One-to-many propensity score matching in cohort studies.
 Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf 2012;2:69-80.
- 308. Brookhart MA, Sturmer T, Glynn RJ, et al. Confounding control in healthcare database research: challenges and potential approaches. Med Care 2010;48.
- Franklin JM, Eddings W, Glynn RJ, et al. Regularized Regression Versus the High-Dimensional Propensity Score for Confounding Adjustment in Secondary Database Analyses. Am J Epidemiol 2015;1.
- 310. Myers JA, Rassen JA, Gagne JJ, et al. Effects of adjusting for instrumental variables on bias and precision of effect estimates. Am J Epidemiol 2011;174:1213-22.
- 311. Piper JM, Ray WA, Daugherty JR, et al. Corticosteroid use and peptic ulcer disease: role of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. Ann Intern Med 1991;114:735-40.
- 312. Le HV, Poole C, Brookhart MA, et al. Effects of aggregation of drug and diagnostic codes on the performance of the high-dimensional propensity score algorithm: an empirical example. BMC Med Res Methodol 2013;13:1471-2288.
- 313. Hernan MA, Hernandez-Diaz S, Robins JM. A structural approach to selection bias. Epidemiology 2004;15:615-25.
- Sun SX, Lee KY, Bertram CT, et al. Withdrawal of COX-2 selective inhibitors rofecoxib and valdecoxib: impact on NSAID and gastroprotective drug prescribing and utilization. Curr Med Res Opin 2007;23:1859-66.
- 315. Recommendations for the medical management of osteoarthritis of the hip and knee: 2000 update. American College of Rheumatology Subcommittee on Osteoarthritis Guidelines. Arthritis Rheum 2000;43:1905-15.
- Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network, Control of pain in adults with cancer (Guideline 106).
 Edinburgh, SIGN. 2008.
- 317. Goldstein JL CB, Amer F, Hunt B. Celecoxib plus aspirin versus naproxen and lansoprazole plus aspirin: a randomized, double-blind, endoscopic trial. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2007;5:1167-1174.
- 318. Schnitzer TJ, Burmester GR, Mysler E, et al. Comparison of lumiracoxib with naproxen and ibuprofen in the Therapeutic Arthritis Research and Gastrointestinal Event Trial (TARGET), reduction in ulcer complications: randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2004;364:665-74.
- 319. Rahme E, Barkun AN, Toubouti Y, et al. Do proton-pump inhibitors confer additional gastrointestinal protection in patients given celecoxib? Arthritis Rheum 2007;57:748-55.

- 320. Van der Linden MW, Gaugris S, Kuipers EJ, et al. Gastroprotection among new chronic users of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs: a study of utilization and adherence in The Netherlands. Curr Med Res Opin 2009;25:195-204.
- van Soest EM, Sturkenboom MC, Dieleman JP, et al. Adherence to gastroprotection and the risk of NSAID-related upper gastrointestinal ulcers and haemorrhage. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2007;26:265-75.
- 322. Goldstein JL, Howard KB, Walton SM, et al. Impact of adherence to concomitant gastroprotective therapy on nonsteroidal-related gastroduodenal ulcer complications. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2006;4:1337-45.
- World Health Organization. Classification of Diseases. Available at: http://www.who.int/classifications/icd/en/. (accessed July 21, 2014). 2014.
- 324. Kremer D, Brown JJ, Davies DL, et al. Amiloride in Primary Hyperaldosteronism with Chronic Peptic Ulceration. British Medical Journal 1973;2:216-217.
- 325. Hernandez-Diaz S, Rodriguez LA. Association between nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and upper gastrointestinal tract bleeding/perforation: an overview of epidemiologic studies published in the 1990s. Arch Intern Med 2000;160:2093-9.
- 326. MacMahon B, Trichopoulos D. Case-control studies. Epidemiology: Principles and Methods. 2nd ed ed, 1996.
- 327. Goldstein JL, Correa P, Zhao WW, et al. Reduced incidence of gastroduodenal ulcers with celecoxib, a novel cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor, compared to naproxen in patients with arthritis. Am J Gastroenterol 2001;96:1019-27.
- 328. Micklewright R, Lane S, Linley W, et al. Review article: NSAIDs, gastroprotection and cyclo-oxygenase-II-selective inhibitors. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2003;17:321-32.
- 329. Valkhoff VE, van Soest EM, Sturkenboom MC, et al. Time-trends in gastroprotection with nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs). Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2010;31:1218-28.
- 330. Laine L, Connors LG, Reicin A, et al. Serious lower gastrointestinal clinical events with nonselective NSAID or coxib use. Gastroenterology 2003;124:288-92.
- 331. Goldstein JL, Eisen GM, Lewis B, et al. Small bowel mucosal injury is reduced in healthy subjects treated with celecoxib compared with ibuprofen plus omeprazole, as assessed by video capsule endoscopy. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2007;25:1211-22.
- 332. Hawkey CJ, Ell C, Simon B, et al. Less small-bowel injury with lumiracoxib compared with naproxen plus omeprazole. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2008;6:536-44.
- 333. Wallace JL, Syer S, Denou E, et al. Proton pump inhibitors exacerbate NSAID-induced small intestinal injury by inducing dysbiosis. Gastroenterology 2011;141:1314-22, 1322 e1-5.
- 334. Garcia Rodriguez LA, Lin KJ, Hernandez-Diaz S, et al. Risk of upper gastrointestinal bleeding with lowdose acetylsalicylic acid alone and in combination with clopidogrel and other medications. Circulation 2011;123:1108-15.
- 335. Luo JC, Shin VY, Liu ES, et al. Dexamethasone delays ulcer healing by inhibition of angiogenesis in rat stomachs. Eur J Pharmacol 2004;485:275-81.
- 336. Luo JC, Cho CH, Ng KM, et al. Dexamethasone inhibits tumor necrosis factor-alpha-stimulated gastric epithelial cell migration. J Chin Med Assoc 2009;72:509-14.
- 337. Fried M, Siegrist H, Frei R, et al. Duodenal bacterial overgrowth during treatment in outpatients with omeprazole. Gut 1994;35:23-6.
- 338. Thorens J, Froehlich F, Schwizer W, et al. Bacterial overgrowth during treatment with omeprazole compared with cimetidine: a prospective randomised double blind study. Gut 1996;39:54-9.
- Parkman HP, Urbain JL, Knight LC, et al. Effect of gastric acid suppressants on human gastric motility. Gut 1998;42:243-50.
- 340. Laine L, Maller ES, Yu C, et al. Ulcer formation with low-dose enteric-coated aspirin and the effect of COX-2 selective inhibition: a double-blind trial. Gastroenterology 2004;127:395-402.

- 341. Alacqua M, Trifiro G, Cavagna L, et al. Prescribing pattern of drugs in the treatment of osteoarthritis in Italian general practice: the effect of rofecoxib withdrawal. Arthritis Rheum 2008;59:568-74.
- 342. Sonnenberg A, Genta RM. Low Prevalence of Colon Polyps in Chronic Inflammatory Conditions of the Colon. Am J Gastroenterol 2015;28:130.
- 343. Rostom A, Muir K, Dube C, et al. Prevention of NSAID-related upper gastrointestinal toxicity: a metaanalysis of traditional NSAIDs with gastroprotection and COX-2 inhibitors. Drug Healthc Patient Saf 2009;1:47-71.
- 344.
 Rahme E, Barkun AN, Adam V, et al. Treatment Costs to Prevent or Treat Upper Gastrointestinal

 Adverse Events
 associated with NSAIDs. Drug Safety 2004;27:1-21.
- Lanas A, Bajador E, Serrano P, et al. Nitrovasodilators, low-dose aspirin, other nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs, and the risk of upper gastrointestinal bleeding. N Engl J Med 2000;343:834-9.
- 346. Coloma PM, Schuemie MJ, Trifiro G, et al. Combining electronic healthcare databases in Europe to allow for large-scale drug safety monitoring: the EU-ADR Project. Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf 2011;20:1-11.
- 347. Herings R, Klungel O. An epidemiological approach to assess the economic burden of NSAID-induced Gastrointestinal Events in the Netherlands. Pharmacoeconomics 2001;19:655-665.
- 348. Verhamme K, Mosis G, Dieleman J, et al. Spironolactone and risk of upper gastrointestinal events: population based case-control study. BMJ 2006;333:330.
- 349. Sorensen HT, Mellemkjaer L, Blot WJ, et al. Risk of upper gastrointestinal bleeding associated with use of low-dose aspirin. Am J Gastroenterol 2000;95:2218-24.
- 350. Whitaker HJ, Farrington CP, Spiessens B, et al. Tutorial in biostatistics: the self-controlled case series method. Stat Med 2006;25:1768-97.
- 351. Whitaker HJ, Hocine MN, Farrington CP. The methodology of self-controlled case series studies. Stat Methods Med Res 2009;18:7-26.
- 352. Valkhoff VE, Coloma PM, Masclee GMC, et al. Outcome misclassification in multiple electronic healthcare records affects precision but not magnitude of UGIB risk. Journal of Clinical Epidemiology 2014.
- 353. Delaney JA, Opatrny LO, Brophy JM, et al. Drug-drug interactions between antithrombotic medications and the risk of gastrointestinal bleeding. CMAJ 2007;177:347-351.
- 354. Garcia Rodriguez LA, Hernandez-Diaz S, de Abajo FJ. Association between aspirin and upper gastrointestinal complications: systematic review of epidemiologic studies. Br J Clin Pharmacol 2001;52:563-71.
- 355. Weil J, Langman MJS, Wainwright P, et al. Peptic ulcer bleeding: accessory risk factors and interactions with non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. Gut 2000;46:27-31.
- 356. Targownik LE, Bolton JM, Metge CJ, et al. Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors are associated with a modest increase in the risk of upper gastrointestinal bleeding. Am J Gastroenterol 2009;104:1475-82.
- 357. Lanas A, Garcia-Rodriguez LA, Arroyo MT, et al. Effect of antisecretory drugs and nitrates on the risk of ulcer bleeding associated with nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, antiplatelet agents, and anticoagulants. Am J Gastroenterol 2007;102:507-15.
- 358. Gulmez SE, Lassen AT, Aalykke C, et al. Spironolactone use and the risk of upper gastrointestinal bleeding: a population-based case-control study. Br J Clin Pharmacol 2008;66:294-299.
- 359. García Rodríguez LA, Cattaruzzi C, Troncon MG, et al. Risk of hospitalization for upper gastrointestinal tract bleeding associated with ketorolac, other nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, calcium antagonists, and other antihypertensive drugs. Arch Intern Med 1998;158:33-39.
- 360. Kaplan RC, Heckbert SR, Koepsell TD, et al. Use of calcium channel blockers and risk of hospitalized gastrointestinal tract bleeding. Arch Intern Med 2000;160:1849-1855.
- 361. Rothman KJ. Interactions between causes. Mod Epidemiol 1986:311-326.



- Hosmer DW, Lemeshow S. Confidence interval estimation of interaction. Epidemiology 1992;3:452-6.
 Dalton SO, Johansen C, Mellemkjaer L, et al. Use of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors and risk of upper gastrointestinal tract bleeding: a population-based cohort study. Arch Intern Med 2003;163:59-64.
- 364. de Abajo FJ, Rodriguez LA, Montero D. Association between selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors and upper gastrointestinal bleeding: population based case-control study. BMJ 1999;319:1106-9.
- 365. Tata LJ, Fortun PJ, Hubbard RB, et al. Does concurrent prescription of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors and non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs substantially increase the risk of upper gastrointestinal bleeding? Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2005;22:175-81.
- 366. Schuemie MJ. Methods for drug safety signal detection in longitudinal observational databases: LGPS and LEOPARD. Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf 2011;20:292-9.
- 367. Cryer B, Lee E, Feldman M. Factors influencing gastroduodenal mucosal prostaglandin concentrations: roles of smoking and aging. Annals of Internal Medicine 1992;116:636-640.
- 368. Farrington CP, Anaya-Izquierdo K, Whitaker HJ, et al. Self-Controlled Case Series Analysis With Event-Dependent Observation Periods. Journal of the American Statistical Association 2011;106:417-426.
- 369. Tong J, Zheng Q, Zhang C, et al. Incidence, prevalence, and temporal trends of microscopic colitis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Gastroenterol 2015;110:265-76; quiz 277.
- Rothman KJ, Greenland S, Poole C, et al. Causation and Causal Inference. In: Rothman KJ, Greenland
 S, Lash TL, eds. Modern Epidemiology. 3rd ed. Philidephia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, 2008:25-26.
- 371. Pardi DS, Loftus EV, Jr., Smyrk TC, et al. The epidemiology of microscopic colitis: a population based study in Olmsted County, Minnesota. Gut 2007;56:504-8.
- 372. Wickbom A, Bohr J, Eriksson S, et al. Stable incidence of collagenous colitis and lymphocytic colitis in örebro, sweden, 1999-2008: a continuous epidemiologic study. Inflammatory Bowel Diseases 2013;19:2387-2393.
- 373. Pardi DS. Microscopic colitis: an update. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2004;10:860-70.
- Roth B, Manjer J, Ohlsson B. Microscopic Colitis is Associated with Several Concomitant Diseases.
 Drug Target Insights 2013;7:19-25.
- 375. Jobse P, Flens MJ, Loffeld RJ. Collagenous colitis: description of a single centre series of 83 patients. Eur J Intern Med 2009;20:499-502.
- 376. Macaigne G, Lahmek P, Locher C, et al. Microscopic colitis or functional bowel disease with diarrhea: a French prospective multicenter study. Am J Gastroenterol 2014;109:1461-70.
- 377. Fernandez-Banares F, Esteve M, Espinos JC, et al. Drug consumption and the risk of microscopic colitis. Am J Gastroenterol 2007;102:324-30.
- 378. Keszthelyi D, Jansen SV, Schouten GA, et al. Proton pump inhibitor use is associated with an increased risk for microscopic colitis: a case-control study. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2010;32:1124-8.
- 379. Masclee GM, Sturkenboom MC, Kuipers EJ. A benefit-risk assessment of the use of proton pump inhibitors in the elderly. Drugs Aging 2014;31:263-82.
- 380. Avillach P, Coloma PM, Gini R, et al. Harmonization process for the identification of medical events in eight European healthcare databases: the experience from the EU-ADR project. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2013;20:184-92.
- 381. Masclee GM, Coloma PM, Wilde dM, et al. Incidences of Barrett's oesophagus and oesophageal adenocarcinoma in the United Kingdom and the Netherlands are levelling off. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2014;39:1321-1330.
- 382. Fernandez-Banares F, de Sousa MR, Salas A, et al. Epidemiological risk factors in microscopic colitis: a prospective case-control study. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2013;19:411-7.
- 383. Gonzalez-Gay MA, Vazquez-Rodriguez TR, Lopez-Diaz MJ, et al. Epidemiology of giant cell arteritis and polymyalgia rheumatica. Arthritis Rheum 2009;61:1454-61.
- 384. Greenland S, Robins JM. Confounding and misclassification. Am J Epidemiol 1985;122:495-506.

- 385. Bonderup OK, Fenger-Gron M, Wigh T, et al. Drug Exposure and Risk of Microscopic Colitis: A Nationwide Danish Case-Control Study with 5751 Cases. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2014.
- 386. Al-Ghamdi MY, Malatjalian DA, Veldhuyzen van Zanten S. Causation: Recurrent collagenous colitis following repeated use of NSAIDs. Can J Gastroenterol 2002;16:861-2.
- 387. Pascua MF, Kedia P, Weiner MG, et al. Microscopic colitis and Medication Use. Clin Med Insights Gastroenterol 2010;2010:11-19.
- 388. Capurso G, Marignani M, Attilia F, et al. Lansoprazole-induced microscopic colitis: an increasing problem? Results of a prospecive case-series and systematic review of the literature. Dig Liver Dis 2011;43:380-5.
- 389. Wilcox GM, Mattia AR. Microscopic colitis associated with omeprazole and esomeprazole exposure. J Clin Gastroenterol 2009;43:551-3.
- 390. McIntyre AS, Thompson DG, Day S, et al. Modulation of human upper intestinal nutrient transit by a beta adrenoreceptor mediated pathway. Gut 1992;33:1062-70.
- 391. Ahluwalia NK, Thompson DG, Barlow J, et al. Beta adrenergic modulation of human upper intestinal propulsive forces. Gut 1994;35:1356-9.
- 392. Gershon MD, Tack J. The serotonin signaling system: from basic understanding to drug development for functional GI disorders. Gastroenterology 2007;132:397-414.
- 393. MacMahon B, Trichopoulos D. Case-control studies. In: Epidemiology: Principles and Methods. , 1996.
- Rothman KJ, Greenland S, Lash TL. Case-Control Studies. In: Rothman KJ, Greenland S, Lash TL, eds.
 Modern Epidemiology. 3rd ed. Philidephia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, 2008:111-128.
- 395. Tong J, Zheng Q, Zhang C, et al. Incidence, prevalence, and temporal trends of microscopic colitis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Gastroenterol 2015;110:265-76.
- 396. Masclee GM, Coloma PM, Kuipers EJ, et al. Increased Risk of Microscopic Colitis With Use of Proton Pump Inhibitors and Non-Steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs. Am J Gastroenterol. 2015;110:749-759. doi: 10.1038/ajg.2015.119. Epub 2015 Apr 28.
- 397. Lutgens MW, van Oijen MG, van der Heijden GJ, et al. Declining risk of colorectal cancer in inflammatory bowel disease: an updated meta-analysis of population-based cohort studies. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2013;19:789-99.
- 398. Winawer S, Fletcher R, Rex D, et al. Colorectal cancer screening and surveillance: Clinical guidelines and rationale—Update based on new evidence. Gastroenterology 2003;124:544-560.
- 399. Cairns SR, Scholefield JH, Steele RJ, et al. Guidelines for colorectal cancer screening and surveillance in moderate and high risk groups (update from 2002). Gut 2010;59:666-89.
- 400. Yen EF, Pokhrel B, Bianchi LK, et al. Decreased colorectal cancer and adenoma risk in patients with microscopic colitis. Dig Dis Sci 2012;57:161-9.
- 401. Chan JL, Tersmette AC, Offerhaus GJ, et al. Cancer risk in collagenous colitis. Inflamm Bowel Dis 1999;5:40-3.
- 402. Bonderup OK, Folkersen BH, Gjersoe P, et al. Collagenous colitis: a long-term follow-up study. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 1999;11:493-5.
- 403. Williams JJ, Kaplan GG, Makhija S, et al. Microscopic colitis-defining incidence rates and risk factors: a population-based study. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2008;6:35-40.
- 404. Schmidt M, Pedersen L, Sorensen HT. The Danish Civil Registration System as a tool in epidemiology. Eur J Epidemiol 2014;29:541-9.
- 405. Schmidt M, Schmidt SA, Sandegaard JL, et al. The Danish National Patient Registry: a review of content, data quality, and research potential. Clin Epidemiol 2015;7:449-90.
- 406. Lynge E, Sandegaard JL, Rebolj M. The Danish National Patient Register. Scand J Public Health 2011;39:30-3.
- 407. Kappelman MD, Farkas DK, Long MD, et al. Risk of Cancer in Patients With Inflammatory Bowel Diseases: A Nationwide Population-based Cohort Study With 30 Years of Follow-up Evaluation. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2014;12:265-273 e1.

- 408. Casparie M, Tiebosch AT, Burger G, et al. Pathology databanking and biobanking in The Netherlands, a central role for PALGA, the nationwide histopathology and cytopathology data network and archive. Cell Oncol 2007;29:19-24.
- 409. Cote RA, Robboy S. Progress in medical information management. Systematized nomenclature of medicine (SNOMED). JAMA 1980;243:756-62.
- 410. Van den Brandt PA, Schouten LJ, Goldbohm RA, et al. Development of a record linkage protocol for use in the Dutch Cancer Registry for Epidemiological Research. Int J Epidemiol 1990;19:553-8.
- 411. Bonderup OK, Wigh T, Nielsen GL, et al. The epidemiology of microscopic colitis: a 10-year pathologybased nationwide Danish cohort study. Scand J Gastroenterol 2015;50:393-8.
- 412. Verhaegh BP, Jonkers DM, Driessen A, et al. Incidence of microscopic colitis in the Netherlands. A nationwide population-based study from 2000 to 2012. Dig Liver Dis 2015;47:30-6.
- Greenland S, Rothman KJ, Lash TL. Measures of Effect and Measures of Association. In: Rothman KJ, Greenland S, Lash TL, eds. Modern Epidemiology. 3rd ed. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams&Wilkins, 2008:68-69.
- 414. Globocan 2012 Estimated Cancer Incidence, Mortality and Prevalence Worldwide in 2012. Accessed 8th January 2016. Available at: http://globocan.iarc.fr/Default.aspx.
- 415. Brenner H, Altenhofen L, Kretschmann J, et al. Trends in Adenoma Detection Rates During the First 10 Years of the German Screening Colonoscopy Program. Gastroenterology 2015;149:356-366.
- 416. Brenner H, Altenhofen L, Stock C, et al. Incidence of colorectal adenomas: birth cohort analysis among 4.3 million participants of screening colonoscopy. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2014;23:1920-7.
- 417. Martinez ME, Baron JA, Lieberman DA, et al. A pooled analysis of advanced colorectal neoplasia diagnoses after colonoscopic polypectomy. Gastroenterology 2009;136:832-41.
- 418. Stoop EM, de Haan MC, de Wijkerslooth TR, et al. Participation and yield of colonoscopy versus noncathartic CT colonography in population-based screening for colorectal cancer: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet Oncol 2012;13:55-64.
- 419. Stegeman I, de Wijkerslooth TR, Stoop EM, et al. Colorectal cancer risk factors in the detection of advanced adenoma and colorectal cancer. Cancer Epidemiol 2013;37:278-83.
- van Heijningen EM, Lansdorp-Vogelaar I, Kuipers EJ, et al. Features of adenoma and colonoscopy associated with recurrent colorectal neoplasia based on a large community-based study.
 Gastroenterology 2013;144:1410-8.
- 421. Loeve F, Boer R, Zauber AG, et al. National Polyp Study data: evidence for regression of adenomas. Int J Cancer 2004;111:633-9.
- 422. Sonnenberg A, Genta RM. Lymphocytic and collagenous colitis: epidemiologic differences and similarities. Dig Dis Sci 2013;58:2970-5.
- 423. de Jonge PJ, van Blankenstein M, Looman CW, et al. Risk of colorectal cancer in patients with Barrett's esophagus: A Dutch population-based study. Am J Gastroenterol 2010;105:77-83.
- 424. Masclee GM, Coloma PM, Kuipers EJ, et al. Incidence of Microscopic Colitis in Relation to the Number of Colonoscopies Over Time. Am J Gastroenterol 2015;110:1246-7.
- 425. Brenner H, Hoffmeister M, Jansen L. Comparisons of colorectal cancer mortality between screening participants and the general population are strongly biased unless an incidence-based mortality approach is used. J Clin Epidemiol 2014;67:184-9.
- Chiu SY, Chuang SL, Chen SL, et al. Faecal haemoglobin concentration influences risk prediction of interval cancers resulting from inadequate colonoscopy quality: analysis of the Taiwanese Nationwide Colorectal Cancer Screening Program. Gut 2015;29:2015-310256.
- 427. Winawer SJ, Zauber AG, Ho MN, et al. Prevention of colorectal cancer by colonoscopic polypectomy. The National Polyp Study Workgroup. N Engl J Med 1993;329:1977-81.
- 428. Lansdorp-Vogelaar I, van Ballegooijen M, Zauber AG, et al. Individualizing colonoscopy screening by sex and race. Gastrointest Endosc 2009;70:96-108.

- Stolfi C, De Simone V, Pallone F, et al. Mechanisms of action of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) and mesalazine in the chemoprevention of colorectal cancer. Int J Mol Sci 2013;14:17972-85.
- 430. Lopez A, Peyrin-Biroulet L. 5-Aminosalicylic acid and chemoprevention: does it work? Dig Dis 2013;31:248-53.
- 431. Freeman HJ. Lymphoproliferative and intestinal malignancies in 214 patients with biopsy-defined celiac disease. J Clin Gastroenterol 2004;38:429-34.
- 432. Elfstrom P, Granath F, Ye W, et al. Low risk of gastrointestinal cancer among patients with celiac disease, inflammation, or latent celiac disease. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2012;10:30-6.
- 433. Helqvist L, Erichsen R, Gammelager H, et al. Quality of ICD-10 colorectal cancer diagnosis codes in the Danish National Registry of Patients. Eur J Cancer Care (Engl) 2012;21:722-7.
- 434. Varas-Lorenzo C, Riera-Guardia N, Calingaert B, et al. Myocardial infarction and individual nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs meta-analysis of observational studies. Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf 2013;22:559-70.
- 435. Herings R. PHARMO: a record linkage system for postmarketing surveillance of prescription drugs in the Netherlands. [PhD thesis]. University of Utrecht 1993.
- 436. Pigeot I, Ahrens W. Establishment of a pharmacoepidemiological database in Germany: methodological potential, scientific value and practical limitations. Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf 2008;17:215-23.
- 437. Valkhoff VE, Schade R, t Jong GW, et al. Population-based analysis of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug use among children in four European countries in the SOS project: what size of data platforms and which study designs do we need to assess safety issues? BMC Pediatr 2013;13:192.
- 438. Chisholm J. The Read clinical classification. BMJ 1990;300:1092.
- 439. Unified Medical Language System® (UMLS®) from the U.S. National Library of Medicine. Available at: http://www.nlm.nih.gov/research/umls/. (accessed July 24, 2014).
- 440. Avillach P, Mougin F, Joubert M, et al. A semantic approach for the homogeneous identification of events in eight patient databases: a contribution to the European eu-ADR project. Stud Health Technol Inform 2009;150:190-4.
- 441. Greenland S. Quantitative methods in the review of epidemiologic literature. Epidemiol Rev 1987;9:1-30.
- 442. Bross ID. Spurious effects from an extraneous variable. J Chronic Dis 1966;19:637-47.
- 443. Cornell JE, Mulrow CD, Localio R, et al. Random-effects meta-analysis of inconsistent effects: a time for change. Ann Intern Med 2014;160:267-70.
- 444. Durrleman S, Simon R. Flexible regression models with cubic splines. Stat Med 1989;8:551-61.
- 445. Coughlin SS, Benichou J, Weed DL. Attributable risk estimation in case-control studies. Epidemiol Rev 1994;16:51-64.
- 446. Ray WA, Varas-Lorenzo C, Chung CP, et al. Cardiovascular risks of nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs in patients after hospitalization for serious coronary heart disease. Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes 2009;2:155-63.
- 447. Schjerning Olsen AM, Fosbol EL, Lindhardsen J, et al. Duration of treatment with nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs and impact on risk of death and recurrent myocardial infarction in patients with prior myocardial infarction: a nationwide cohort study. Circulation 2011;123:2226-35.
- 448. Abraham NS, El-Serag HB, Hartman C, et al. Cyclooxygenase-2 selectivity of non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs and the risk of myocardial infarction and cerebrovascular accident. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2007;25:913-24.
- 449. McGettigan P, Henry D. Cardiovascular risk with non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs: systematic review of population-based controlled observational studies. PLoS Med 2011;8:e1001098.

3401

- Salvo F, Fourrier-Reglat A, Bazin F, et al. Cardiovascular and gastrointestinal safety of NSAIDs: a systematic review of meta-analyses of randomized clinical trials. Clin Pharmacol Ther 2011;89:855-66.
- 451. European Medicines Agency (EMeA) safety advice for diclofenac. Available at: http://www.ema.europa.eu/ema/index.jsp?curl=pages/news_and_events/news/2013/06/news_deta il_001830.jsp&mid=WC0b01ac058004d5c1. Accessed latest 7th January 2014. 2013.
- 452. Gulmez SE, Larrey D, Pageaux GP, et al. Transplantation for acute liver failure in patients exposed to NSAIDs or paracetamol (acetaminophen): the multinational case-population SALT study. Drug Saf 2013;36:135-44.
- 453. Johnsen SP, Larsson H, Tarone RE, et al. Risk of hospitalization for myocardial infarction among users of rofecoxib, celecoxib, and other NSAIDs: a population-based case-control study. Arch Intern Med 2005;165:978-84.
- 454. Schjerning Olsen AM, Gislason GH, McGettigan P, et al. Association of NSAID use with risk of bleeding and cardiovascular events in patients receiving antithrombotic therapy after myocardial infarction. JAMA 2015;313:805-14.
- 455. Jick SS, Kaye JA, Jick H. Diclofenac and acute myocardial infarction in patients with no major risk factors. Br J Clin Pharmacol 2007;64:662-7.
- 456. Graham DJ, Campen D, Hui R, et al. Risk of acute myocardial infarction and sudden cardiac death in patients treated with cyclo-oxygenase 2 selective and non-selective non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs: nested case-control study. Lancet 2005;365:475-81.
- 457. Helin-Salmivaara A, Virtanen A, Vesalainen R, et al. NSAID use and the risk of hospitalization for first myocardial infarction in the general population: a nationwide case-control study from Finland. Eur Heart J 2006;27:1657-63.
- 458. Farkouh ME, Kirshner H, Harrington RA, et al. Comparison of lumiracoxib with naproxen and ibuprofen in the Therapeutic Arthritis Research and Gastrointestinal Event Trial (TARGET), cardiovascular outcomes: randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2004;364:675-84.
- 459. Varas-Lorenzo C, Castellsague J, Stang MR, et al. The use of selective cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitors and the risk of acute myocardial infarction in Saskatchewan, Canada. Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf 2009;18:1016-25.
- 460. Cannon CP, Curtis SP, FitzGerald GA, et al. Cardiovascular outcomes with etoricoxib and diclofenac in patients with osteoarthritis and rheumatoid arthritis in the Multinational Etoricoxib and Diclofenac Arthritis Long-term (MEDAL) programme: a randomised comparison. Lancet 2006;368:1771-81.
- 461. Antman EM, DeMets D, Loscalzo J. Cyclooxygenase inhibition and cardiovascular risk. Circulation 2005;112:759-70.
- 462. Patrignani P, Panara MR, Sciulli MG, et al. Differential inhibition of human prostaglandin endoperoxide synthase-1 and -2 by nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. J Physiol Pharmacol 1997;48:623-31.
- 463. Schneeweiss S. Sensitivity analysis and external adjustment for unmeasured confounders in epidemiologic database studies of therapeutics. Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf 2006;15:291-303.
- 464.Rostom A, Muir K, Dube C, et al. Gastrointestinal safety of cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitors: a Cochrane
Collaboration systematic review. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2007;5:818-28, 828 e1-5; quiz 768.
- 465. European Medicines Agency concludes action on COX-2 inhibitors. Available at: http://www.ema.europa.eu/docs/en_GB/document_library/Press_release/2010/01/WC500059088.p df. (accessed April 4, 2012). 2005.
- 466. Chancellor JV, Hunsche E, de Cruz E, et al. Economic evaluation of celecoxib, a new cyclo-oxygenase 2 specific inhibitor, in Switzerland. Pharmacoeconomics 2001;19 Suppl 1:59-75.
- 467. Brown TJ, Hooper L, Elliott RA, et al. A comparison of the cost-effectiveness of five strategies for the prevention of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug-induced gastrointestinal toxicity: a systematic review with economic modelling. Health Technol Assess 2006;10:iii-iv, xi-xiii, 1-183.

- 468. van Staa TP, Smeeth L, Persson I, et al. What is the harm-benefit ratio of Cox-2 inhibitors? Int J Epidemiol 2008;37:405-13.
- 469. Lanas A, Polo-Tomas M, Casado-Arroyo R. The aspirin cardiovascular/gastrointestinal risk calculator-a tool to aid clinicians in practice. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2013;37:738-48.
- 470. Ray WA. Evaluating medication effects outside of clinical trials: new-user designs. Am J Epidemiol 2003;158:915-20.
- 471. Latimer N, Lord J, Grant RL, et al. Cost effectiveness of COX 2 selective inhibitors and traditional NSAIDs alone or in combination with a proton pump inhibitor for people with osteoarthritis. BMJ 2009;339:b2538.
- 472. Steyerberg EW. Clinical Prediction Models. A Practical Approach to Development, Validation, and Updating. New York: Springer 2009.
- 473. Cardiovascular and cerebrovascular events in the randomized, controlled Alzheimer's Disease Anti-Inflammatory Prevention Trial (ADAPT). PLoS Clin Trials 2006;1.
- 474. Kearney PM, Baigent C, Godwin J, et al. Do selective cyclo-oxygenase-2 inhibitors and traditional nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs increase the risk of atherothrombosis? Meta-analysis of randomised trials. BMJ 2006;332:1302-8.
- 475. European Medicines Agency. Safety Report on Diclofenac. Available at: http://www.ema.europa.eu/docs/en_GB/document_library/Referrals_document/Diclofenaccontaining_medicinal_products/European_Commission_final_decision/WC500155819.pdf Accessed: 18th of August 2014.
- 476. Varas-Lorenzo C, Maguire A, Castellsague J, et al. Quantitative assessment of the gastrointestinal and cardiovascular risk-benefit of celecoxib compared to individual NSAIDs at the population level.
 Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf 2007;16:366-76.
- 477. Choi HK, Seeger JD, Kuntz KM. Effects of rofecoxib and naproxen on life expectancy among patients with rheumatoid arthritis: a decision analysis. Am J Med 2004;116:621-9.
- 478. Latimer N, Lord J, Grant RL, et al. Cost effectiveness of COX 2 selective inhibitors and traditional NSAIDs alone or in combination with a proton pump inhibitor for people with osteoarthritis. BMJ 2009;14.
- 479. Chou R, ., McDonagh MS, Nakamoto E, et al. Analgesics for Osteoarthritis: An Update of the 2006 Comparative Effectiveness Review [Internet]. Rockville (MD): Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US). Comparative Effectiveness Reviews, No. 38. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK65646/ 2011.
- 480. Vandenbroucke JP. When are observational studies as credible as randomised trials? The Lancet 2004;363:1728-1731.
- 481. Abbing-Karahagopian V, Kurz X, de Vries F, et al. Bridging differences in outcomes of pharmacoepidemiological studies: design and first results of the PROTECT project. Curr Clin Pharmacol 2014;9:130-8.
- 482. Robb MA, Racoosin JA, Sherman RE, et al. The US Food and Drug Administration's Sentinel Initiative: expanding the horizons of medical product safety. Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf 2012;21 Suppl 1:9-11.
- 483. Simmonds MC, Higgins JP, Stewart LA, et al. Meta-analysis of individual patient data from randomized trials: a review of methods used in practice. Clin Trials 2005;2:209-17.
- 484. Toh S, Platt R. Is size the next big thing in epidemiology? Epidemiology 2013;24:349-51.
- 485. Rassen JA, Solomon DH, Curtis JR, et al. Privacy-maintaining propensity score-based pooling of multiple databases applied to a study of biologics. Med Care 2010;48.
- 486. Toh S, Shetterly S, Powers JD, et al. Privacy-preserving analytic methods for multisite comparative effectiveness and patient-centered outcomes research. Med Care 2014;52:664-8.
- 487. Toh S, Reichman ME, Houstoun M, et al. Multivariable confounding adjustment in distributed data networks without sharing of patient-level data. Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf 2013;22:1171-7.

488. Salvador Rosa A, Moreno Perez JC, Sonego D, et al. [The BIFAP project: database for pharmacoepidemiological research in primary care]. Aten Primaria 2002;30:655-61. 489. Stang PE, Ryan PB, Racoosin JA, et al. Advancing the science for active surveillance: rationale and design for the Observational Medical Outcomes Partnership. Ann Intern Med 2010;153:600-6. 490. Platt R, Carnahan RM, Brown JS, et al. The U.S. Food and Drug Administration's Mini-Sentinel program: status and direction. Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf 2012;1:1-8. 491. Egger M, Smith GD, Phillips AN. Meta-analysis: principles and procedures. Bmj 1997;315:1533-7. 492. Higgins JP, Thompson SG, Deeks JJ, et al. Measuring inconsistency in meta-analyses. BMJ 2003;327:557-60. 493 Behrman RE, Benner JS, Brown JS, et al. Developing the Sentinel System--a national resource for evidence development. N Engl J Med 2011;364:498-9. 494. Platt R, Davis R, Finkelstein J, et al. Multicenter epidemiologic and health services research on therapeutics in the HMO Research Network Center for Education and Research on Therapeutics. Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf 2001;10:373-7. 495. Lin DY, Zeng D. On the relative efficiency of using summary statistics versus individual-level data in meta-analysis. Biometrika 2010;97:321-332. 496. Meier CR, Schlienger RG, Kraenzlin ME, et al. HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors and the risk of fractures. Jama 2000:283:3205-10. 497. van Staa TP, Wegman S, de Vries F, et al. Use of statins and risk of fractures. Jama 2001;285:1850-5. Cardwell CR, Abnet CC, Cantwell MM, et al. Exposure to oral bisphosphonates and risk of esophageal 498. cancer. Jama 2010;304:657-63. 499. Green J, Czanner G, Reeves G, et al. Oral bisphosphonates and risk of cancer of oesophagus, stomach, and colorectum: case-control analysis within a UK primary care cohort. Bmj 2010;1. 500. Egger M, Schneider M, Davey Smith G. Spurious precision? Meta-analysis of observational studies. Bmj 1998;316:140-4. 501. El-Serag HB, Naik AD, Duan Z, et al. Surveillance endoscopy is associated with improved outcomes of oesophageal adenocarcinoma detected in patients with Barrett's oesophagus. Gut 2015;26:2014-308865. 502. di Pietro M, Chan D, Fitzgerald RC, et al. Screening for Barrett's Esophagus. Gastroenterology 2015;148:912-23. Dellon ES, Shaheen NJ. Does screening for Barrett's esophagus and adenocarcinoma of the esophagus 503. prolong survival? J Clin Oncol 2005;23:4478-82. 504. Visrodia K, Singh S, Krishnamoorthi R, et al. Magnitude of Missed Esophageal Adenocarcinoma After Barrett's Esophagus Diagnosis: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. Gastroenterology 2016:150:599-607. 505. Cancer Research UK. Oesophageal cancer survival statistics. Accessed 18th of October 2013. Available at: http://www.cancerresearchuk.org/cancer-info/cancerstats/types/oesophagus/survival/#Trends. 506. Neyman J. Statistics; servant of all sciences. Science 1955;122:401-6. 507. Khalaf N, Nguyen T, Ramsey D, et al. Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and the risk of Barrett's esophagus. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2014;12:1832-9. 508. Thrift AP, Pandeya N, Smith KJ, et al. The use of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and the risk of Barrett's oesophagus. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2011;34:1235-44. Nielsen SF. Nordestgaard BG. Boiesen SE. Statin use and reduced cancer-related mortality. N Engl J 509. Med 2012;367:1792-802. 510. Walker AM. Confounding by indication. Epidemiology 1996;7:335-6. 511. Holster IL, Valkhoff VE, Kuipers EJ, et al. New oral anticoagulants increase risk for gastrointestinal bleeding: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Gastroenterology 2013;145:105-112. 512. Chan EW, Lau WC, Leung WK, et al. Prevention of Dabigatran-Related Gastrointestinal Bleeding With Gastroprotective Agents: A Population-Based Study. Gastroenterology 2015;149:586-95.

- 513. Chapman TP, Macfaul G, Abraham A. Diagnosing microscopic colitis: is flexible sigmoidoscopy a reliable alternative to colonoscopy?: Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2015 Mar;13(3):618. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2014.08.033. Epub 2014 Sep 3.
- 514. Bjornbak C, Engel PJ, Nielsen PL, et al. Microscopic colitis: clinical findings, topography and persistence of histopathological subgroups. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2011;34:1225-34.
- 515. Ho PM, Maddox TM, Wang L, et al. Risk of adverse outcomes associated with concomitant use of clopidogrel and proton pump inhibitors following acute coronary syndrome. JAMA 2009;301:937-44.
- 516. Juurlink DN, Gomes T, Ko DT, et al. A population-based study of the drug interaction between proton pump inhibitors and clopidogrel. CMAJ 2009;180:713-8.
- 517. Bhatt DL, Cryer BL, Contant CF, et al. Clopidogrel with or without omeprazole in coronary artery disease. N Engl J Med 2010;363:1909-17.
- 518. Cardoso RN, Benjo AM, DiNicolantonio JJ, et al. Incidence of cardiovascular events and gastrointestinal bleeding in patients receiving clopidogrel with and without proton pump inhibitors: an updated meta-analysis. Open Heart 2015;2:2015-000248.
- 519. Shah NH, LePendu P, Bauer-Mehren A, et al. Proton Pump Inhibitor Usage and the Risk of Myocardial Infarction in the General Population. PLoS One 2015;10.

ABBREVIATIONS

5-ASA	5-Aminosalicylic Acid
AIN	Acute Interstitial Nephritis
AMI	Acute Myocardial Infarction
AP	proportion attributable to interaction
ATC	Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical
BE	Barrett's esophagus
BIFAP	Base de Datos para la Investigación Farmacoepidemiologica en Atención Primaria
BMD	Bone Mineral Density
BMI	Body Mass Index
BNF	British National Formulary
сс	Collagenous Colitis
CD	Crohn's Disease
CDI	Clostridium difficile infection
CI	Confidence Interval
сох	Cyclo-oxygenase
CPRD	Clinical Practice Research Datalink
CRC	Colorectal Cancer
CV	Cardiovascular
СҮР	Cytochrome P-450
DDD	Defined Daily Dose
DK	Denmark
DNPR	Danish National Patient Register
EAC	Esophageal Adenocarcinoma
EHR	Electronic Healthcare Record
EMA	European Medicines Agency
ES	Spain
EU	European Union
EU-ADR	Exploring and Understanding Adverse Drug Reactions by integrative mining of clinical records and biomedical knowledge
FDA	Food and Drug Administration
GE	Germany
GERD	Gastroesophageal Reflux Disease
GePaRD	German Pharmacoepidemiological Research Database
GI	Gastrointestinal
GP	General Practitioner
GPA	Gastroprotective Agent
GPRD	General Practitioner Research Database

H2RA	Histamine-2 Receptor Antagonists
Hd-PS	High Dimensional-Propensity Score
HF	Heart Failure
HGD	High-grade dysplasia
H. pylori	Helicobacter pylori
HSD	Health Search/CSD Longitudinal Patient Database
IBD	Inflammatory Bowel Disease
ICD	International Classification of Diseases
ICPC	International Classification for Primary Care
IPCI	Integrated Primary Care Information
IQR	Interquartile Range
IR	Incidence Rate
IRR	Incidence Rate Ratio
IS	Ischemic Stroke
ΙТ	Italy
LC	Lymphocytic Colitis
LDA	Low-dose Aspirin
MC	Microscopic Colitis
MI	Myocardial Infarction
N adh	Non adherent
NA	Not Applicable
NIBLGD	Non-insulin blood glucose lowering drug
NL	the Netherlands
NSAID	Non-Steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs
nsNSAID	Nonselective Non-Steroidal Anti-inflammatory Drug
OR	Odds Ratio
OSSIFF	Osservatorio Interaziendale per la Farmacoepidemiologia e la
	Farmacoeconomia
отс	Over-the-counter
PPIs	Proton Pump Inhibitors
PS	Propensity Score
PYs	Person-Years
RERI	Relative Excess Risk due to Interaction
S	Synergy index
Safeguard	Safety Evaluation of Adverse Reactions in Diabetes
SIBO	Small Intestinal Bacterial Overgrowth
SIR	Standardized Incidence Rate
SISR	Sistema Informativo Sanitario Regionale
SNOMED	Systematized Nomenclature of Medicine
SOS	Safety Of non-Steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs
SSRI	Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitor

T2DM	Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus
THIN	The Health Improvement Network
TSH	Thyroid-stimulating Hormone
UC	Ulcerative Colitis
UK	United Kingdom
WHO	World Health Organization of the United Nations

CONTRIBUTING AUTHORS

In alphabetical order. Affiliations at the time this research was conducted.

Division of Biostatistics and Public Health, Department of Quantitative Methods, University Milano-Bicocca, Milano, Italy. Andrea Arfè, Lorenza Scotti

Department of Clinical Epidemiology, Aarhus University Hospital, Aarhus, Denmark. Rune Erichsen, Lars Pedersen, Henrik Toft Sørensen

Department of Clinical Epidemiology, Leibniz Institute of Prevention Research and Epidemiology, Bremen, Germany. *Edeltraut Garbe, Bianca Kollhorst, Tania Schink*

Department of Epidemiology ,Harvard School of Public Health, Boston, Massachusetts, United States of America. Sonia Hernández-Díaz

Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Erasmus University Medical Center, Rotterdam, The Netherlands. *V. Manon C.W. Spaander*

Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology and Department of Internal Medicine, Erasmus University Medical Center, Rotterdam, The Netherlands. *Ernst J. Kuipers*

Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatoloy and Department of Medical Informatics, Erasmus University Medical Center, Rotterdam, The Netherlands Vera E. Valkhoff

Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Maastricht University Medical Center, Maastricht, The Netherlands. *Marieke J. Pierik, Bas P.M. Verhaegh*

Department of Medical Informatics, Erasmus University Medical Center, Rotterdam, The Netherlands.

M. Zubair Afzal, Preciosa M. Coloma, Johan van der Lei, Jan A. Kors, Maria de Ridder, René Schade, Eva M. van Soest, Miriam C.J.M. Sturkenboom, Marcel de Wilde Department of Medical Informatics, Erasmus University Medical Center, Rotterdam, The Netherlands and Agenzi Regionali di Sanità della Toscana, Florence, Italy. *Rosa Gini*

Department of Medical Informatics, Erasmus University Medical Center, Rotterdam, The Netherlands and Division of Biostatistics and Public Health, Department of Quantitative Methods University Milano-Bicocca Milano, Italy. *Silvana A. Romio*

Department of Medical Informatics, Erasmus University Medical Center, Rotterdam, The Netherlands and Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine and Pharmacology, University of Messina, Messina, Italy. *Gianluca Trifirò*

Department of Medical Informatics, Erasmus University Medical Center, Rotterdam and Janssen Research and Development LLC, Titusville, New Jersey, United States. *Martijn J. Schuemie*

Department of Medicine, Division of Gastroenterology, NorthShore University HealthSystem, Evanston, Illinois, United States of America. *Jay L. Goldstein*

Department of Pathology, Erasmus University Medical Center, Rotterdam, The Netherlands. *Folkert J. van Kemenade*

Department of Pharmacoepidemiology and Pharmacoeconomics, Medicine, the Brigham and Women's Hospital, Boston, Massachusetts, USA. *John D. Seeger*

Health Search, Italian College of General Practitioners, Florence, Italy. *Giampiero Mazzaglia*

Local Health Authority ASL Cremona, Cremona, Italy. Silvia Lucchi, Marco Villa

Pedianet, Societa' Servizi Telematici SRL, Padova, Italy. Gino Picelli

PHARMO Institute, Utrecht, The Netherlands. Ron Herings, Huub Straatman Primary Care & Public Health Sciences, Kings College London, London, United Kingdom. *Mariam Molokhia*

RTI Health Solutions, Barcelona, Spain. Jordi Castellsague, Susana Perez-Gutthann, Cristina Varas-Lorenzo



PhD PORTFOLIO

Name:	Gwen Marilou Cootje Masclee
Promotores:	Prof. M.C.J.M. Sturkenboom
	Prof. dr. E.J. Kuipers
Copromotor:	Dr. P.M. Coloma
Affiliation:	Erasmus University Medical Center
Departments:	Medical Informatics
	Gastroenterology and Hepatology
PhD period:	December 2011 – October 2015

PHD TRAINING

Research Skills

Master of Science in Clinical Epidemiology, Netherlands Institute for Health
Sciences (NIHES), Erasmus University Medical Center, Rotterdam
Research Integrity, Erasmus University, Rotterdam
Scientific English writing course, Erasmus University, Rotterdam

Oral Presentations

Risk of colorectal polyps, adenomas and cancer in Microscopic Colitis

- United European Gastroenterology Week, Barcelona, Spain 2015

Individualized NSAID prescribing based on gastrointestinal and cardiovascular risks: a decision model in the SOS project

- International Conference on Pharmacoepidemiology and Therapeutic Risk Management, Boston, MA, USA 2015

Incidence of Barrett's esophagus and esophageal adenocarcinoma in the United Kingdom and the Netherlands are leveling off

- Digestive Disease Week, Chicago, ILL, USA 2014
- International Conference on Pharmacoepidemiology and Therapeutic Risk Management, Taipei, Taiwan 2014
- United European Gastroenterology Week, Berlin, Germany 2013
- Dutch Gastroenterology Society, Veldhoven, the Netherlands 2013

Incidence of Microscopic Colitis in the Netherlands

- United European Gastroenterology Week, Vienna, Austria 2014, awarded as 'Oral Free Paper Prize' in the Free Paper Session: IBD: Epidemiology and disease outcomes

Comparison of Incidence Rates of Acute Pancreatitis and Pancreatic Cancer among the general population and type 2 Diabetes Mellitus patients between different Databases in the SAFEGUARD project

- Digestive Disease Week, Chicago, ILL, USA 2014
- Dutch Gastroenterology Society, Veldhoven, the Netherlands 2014

NSAIDs, statins, low-dose aspirin and PPIs, and the risk of oesophageal adenocarcinoma among patients with Barrett's oesophagus: a population-based case-control study

- Dutch Gastroenterology Society, Veldhoven, the Netherlands 2014

Cyclo-oxygenase-2 inhibitors or nonselective NSAIDs plus gastroprotective agents: what to prescribe in daily clinical practice?

- Dutch Gastroenterology Society, Veldhoven, the Netherlands 2013
- Digestive Disease Week, Orlando ,FL, USA 2013

Risk of Upper Gastrointestinal Bleeding from Different Drug Combinations

- Digestive Disease Week, Orlando ,FL, USA 2013
- International Conference on Pharmacoepidemiology and Therapeutic Risk Management, Montreal, Canada 2013

Poster Presentations

Risk of acute myocardial infarction during use of individual NSAIDs: a nested case-control study in the SOS project

- International Conference on Pharmacoepidemiology and Therapeutic Risk Management, Boston, MA, USA 2015

Increased risk of Microscopic Colitis with use of Proton Pump Inhibitors and Non-Steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs

- United European Gastroenterology Week, Vienna, Austria 2014. Poster of Excellence and awarded as 'Poster Champ'
- International Conference on Pharmacoepidemiology and Therapeutic Risk Management, Taipei, Taiwan 2014

Incidence of Microscopic Colitis in the Netherlands

 International Conference on Pharmacoepidemiology and Therapeutic Risk Management, Taipei, Taiwan 2014



NSAIDs, statins, low-dose aspirin and PPIs, and the risk of oesophageal adenocarcinoma among patients with Barrett's oesophagus: a population-based case-control study

- Digestive Disease Week, Chicago, ILL, USA 2014, Poster of Excellence Cyclo-oxygenase-2 inhibitors or nonselective NSAIDs plus gastroprotective agents: what to prescribe in daily clinical practice?

 International Conference on Pharmacoepidemiology and Therapeutic Risk Management, Montreal, Canada 2013

Harmonization of Acute Pancreatitis diagnoses from different Databases in the SAFEGUARD project.

- International Conference on Pharmacoepidemiology and Therapeutic Risk Management, Montreal, Canada 2013

Harmonization of Acute Myocardial infarction identifications from different Databases in the SAFEGUARD project.

- International Conference on Pharmacoepidemiology and Therapeutic Risk Management, Montreal, Canada 2013

Workshops lecturing

Workshop 'Safety of novel diabetes drugs from the SAFEGUARD project. In memoriam: Prof. Diamant'

- European Association for the Study of Diabetes, Vienna, Austria 2014

NSAIDs and risk profiling

- Symposium 'What's new in Gastrointestinal Bleeding', Rotterdam, 2014

Membership Dutch Society of Gastroenterology, 2012 International Society of Pharmacoepidemiology, 2013

Peer reviews

Gut

Alimentary Pharmacology & Therapeutics Sir Henry Welcome Postdoctoral Fellowship, grant application Broad Medical Research Program, Michael Parks; grant proposal International Journal of Clinical Practice Therapeutics and Clinical Risk Management Pharmaceuticals

Other activities

Research fellow at Department of Pharmacoepidemiology, Brigham Women's Hospital, Harvard University, Boston, Massachusetts, United States of America, May 2015-September 2015

TEACHING

Supervising activities	
2015	Leader of a 1-year Scientific Study for a pharmaceutical company
2015	Course Study Design, presentations, NIHES, Rotterdam
2014	Course Study Design, presentations, NIHES, Rotterdam
2014-2015	Kartini Gadroen, Caitlin Dodd, PhD students, project 'Measles and infections'
2014-2015	Kartini Gadroen, PhD student, project 'Hepatitis vaccination and multiple sclerosis'
2013-2015	Zubair Afzal, PhD student, project 'Propensity scores and upper gastrointestinal bleeding'



LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

Manuscripts related to this thesis

- Masclee GMC, Coloma PM, Kuipers EJ, Sturkenboom MCJM. Letter: Incidence of Microscopic Colitis. American Journal of Gastroenterology 2015; 110:749-759.
- Masclee GMC, Coloma PM, Kuipers EJ, Sturkenboom MCJM. Increased risk of Microscopic Colitis with use of Proton Pump Inhibitors and Non-Steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs. American Journal of Gastroenterology 2015; 110:749-759.
- Masclee GMC, Coloma PM, Spaander MCW, Kuipers EJ, Sturkenboom MCJM. NSAIDs, statins, low-dose aspirin and PPIs, and the risk of oesophageal adenocarcinoma among patients with Barrett's oesophagus: a population-based case-control study. BMJ Open. 2015 Jan 29;5(1):e006640.
- Masclee GMC, Valkhoff VE, Coloma PM, de Ridder M, Romio S, Schuemie MJ, Herings R, Gini, R, Mazzaglia G, Picelli G, Scotti L, Pedersen L, Kuipers EJ, van der Lei J, Sturkenboom M.

Risk of Upper Gastrointestinal Bleeding from Different Drug Combinations. Gastroenterology. 2014 Oct;147(4):784-792.e9.

- Masclee GMC, Coloma PM, de Wilde M, Kuipers EJ, Sturkenboom MCJM. Letter: Incidence rates of Barrett's esophagus and esophageal adenocarcinoma in the United Kingdom and the Netherlands are leveling off. Alimentary Pharmacology & Therapeutics. 2014 Aug;40(4):404.
- Masclee GMC, Coloma PM, de Wilde M, Kuipers EJ, Sturkenboom MCJM. Incidence of Barrett's esophagus and esophageal adenocarcinoma in the United Kingdom and the Netherlands are leveling off. Alimentary Pharmacology & Therapeutics. 2014 Jun;39(11):1321-30.
- Masclee GMC, Sturkenboom MCJM, Kuipers EJ. *A Benefit-Risk assessment of the use of proton pump inhibitors in the elderly.* Drugs & Aging. 2014 Apr;31(4):263-82.

- 8. Masclee GMC, Valkhoff VE, van Soest EM, Schade R, Mazzaglia G, Molokhia M, Trifirò G, Goldstein JL, Hernández-Díaz S, Kuipers EJ, Sturkenboom MCJM. Cyclo-oxygenase-2 inhibitors or nonselective NSAIDs plus gastroprotective agents: what to prescribe in daily practice? Alimentary Pharmacology & Therapeutics. 2013 Jul;38(2):178-89.
- Masclee GMC, Varas-Lorenzo C, Castellsague J, Arfe A, Garbe E, Herings E, Lucchi S, Perez-9. Gutthann, Romio S, Schuemie MJ, Schade R, Schink T, Straatman H, Valkhoff VE, Villa M, Sturkenboom MCJM. Risk of acute myocardial infarction during use of individual NSAIDs: a nested case-control study in the SOS project. Submitted.
- 10. Afzal MZ, Masclee GMC, Sturkenboom MCJM, Kors JA, Schuemie MJ Generating and evaluating a propensity model using textual features from electronic medical records. Submitted.
- 11. Masclee GMC, Pedersen L, Coloma PM, Erichsen R, Toft Sørensen, van Kemenade FJ, Verhaegh BPM, Pierik MJ, Kuipers EJ, Sturkenboom MCJM. Risk of colorectal neoplasia in patients with microscopic colitis. Submitted.

Other Publications

- 12. Valkhoff VE, Coloma PM, Masclee GMC, Gini R, Innocenti F, Lapi F, Molokhia M, Mosseveld M, Schou Nielsson M, Schuemie M, Thiessard F, van der Lei J, Sturkenboom MCJM, Trifiro G, on behalf of the EU-ADR Consortium. Validation study in four health-care databases: upper gastrointestinal bleeding misclassification affects precision but not magnitude of drug-related upper gastrointestinal bleeding risk. Journal of Clinical Epidemiology. 2014 Aug;67(8):921-31.
- 13. Valkhoff VE, van Soest EM, Masclee GMC, de Bie S, Mazzaglia G, Molokhia M, Kuipers EJ, Sturkenboom MCJM. Prescription of non-selective NSAIDs, coxibs and gastroprotective agents in the era of rofecoxib withdrawal - a 617,400-patient study.



Alimentary Pharmacology & Therapeutics. 2012 Oct;36(8):790-9.

14. Masclee GMC

Anti-inflammatory and antipyretic analgesics and drugs used in gout. Book chapter in: Side Effects of Drug Annals, Vol 35, Chapter 9, 2013. Editor: JK Aronson. Publisher: Elsevier.

15. Masclee GMC, Aronson JK.

Drugs that act on the immune system: cytokines and monoclonal antibodies. Book chapter in: Side Effects of Drug Annals, Vol 35, Chapter 37, 2013. Editor: JK Aronson. Publisher: Elsevier.

16. Masclee GMC

Anti-inflammatory and antipyretic analgesics and drugs used in gout. Book chapter in: Side Effects of Drug Annals, Vol 36, Chapter 9, 2014. Editor: JK Aronson. Publisher: Elsevier.

- Masclee GMC, Penders J, Pierik M, Wolffs P, Jonkers D. Enteropathogenic viruses: Triggers for exacerbation in IBD? A prospective cohort study using real-time quantitative polymerase chain reaction. Inflammatory Bowel Diseases. 2013 Jan;19(1):124-31.
- Masclee GMC, Penders J, Jonkers D, Wolffs P, Pierik M. Is Clostridium difficile associated with relapse of inflammatory bowel disease? A combined retrospective and prospective cohort study using real-time quantitative polymerase chain reaction.

Inflammatory Bowel Diseases. 2013 Sep; 19(10):2125-31.

- Keszthelyi D, Dackus GH, Masclee GMC, Kruimel J, Masclee AA. Association Between Medication Use and Irritable Bowel Syndrome: A Case-Control Study. BMC Gastroenterology. 2012 Sep 5;12:121.
- Lucchi S, Valkhoff VE, Castellsague J, Arfe A, Garbe E, Herings R, Masclee GMC, Romio S, Schade R, Schuemie MJ, Schink T, Straatman H, Villa M, Sturkenboom MCJM. *Risk of upper gastrointestinal complications during the use of individual NSAIDs: a nested case-control study in the SOS project.* Submitted.

DANKWOORD

"De wetenschap als een online computergame. Je komt steeds een level hoger, je kunt jezelf eindeloos verbeteren. Je kunt het niet alleen doen, maar hebt andere spelers van over de hele wereld nodig." (P. Valkenburg)

Dit proefschrift is met ondersteuning van verschillende mensen tot stand gekomen. Ik wil graag een aantal van hen in het bijzonder bedanken.

Allereest mijn beide promotoren, professor M.C.J.M. Sturkenboom en professor E.J. Kuipers die als een 'vanzelfsprekend' team me hebben uitgedaagd en gesteund. Door de vrijheid en verantwoordelijkheid die ik kreeg voelde ik me vanaf het begin op mijn plek.

Beste Miriam, jouw spontaniteit, laagdrempeligheid en bevlogenheid hebben ervoor gezorgd dat ik de samenwerking prettig heb ervaren. Je creëerde een veilige omgeving waar ook altijd tijd was voor een lach tussendoor om vervolgens weer naadloos verder te gaan met het inhoudelijke gesprek. Je gedrevenheid werkte aanstekelijk en je dacht mee over nieuwe uitdagingen, zo gaf je me het vertrouwen om naar Boston te gaan en een leerzame en leuke tijd te ervaren die ik altijd met me mee zal nemen.

Beste Ernst, dankzij je praktische, kritische en klinische blik op epidemiologische onderwerpen was ons overleg uitermate doeltreffend en ontspannen. Het enthousiasme wat ik na ons allereerste gesprek had is nooit weggegaan. Ik waardeer jouw steun en supervisie tijdens mijn promotietraject enorm. Dankzij je openheid en bereidheid om benaderd te worden mag ik zelfs zeggen dat ik aan het hoofd van de voorzitterstafel heb gepresenteerd.

Mijn co-promotor, dr. P.M. Coloma, beste Preci, tijdens mijn promotietraject werd je mijn directe aanspreekpunt voor praktische en inhoudelijke punten. Met zowel een klinische als epidemiologische achtergrond bood je de support die ik nodig had.

Graag bedank ik prof. dr. Bruno Stricker, prof. dr. Marco Bruno, prof. dr. Eugène van Puijenbroek, prof. dr. Patrick Bindels en prof. dr. Peter Siersema voor het deelnemen in mijn promotie commissie.

Het vertrouwen om mij op te leiden tot maag-darm-leverarts dank ik aan prof. dr. R.A. de Man.

Een promotietraject is niets zonder meelevende kamergenoten! Initieel in kamer Ee-2159 met Vera, Sandra, Marjolein en Kartini; we bleven regelmatig 'even' hangen tijdens de vele thee momentjes bij het koffieapparaat. In het nieuwe gebouw mochten we hoger zitten (Na-2713), Marjolein ik ben blij dat wij alle tijd samen hebben mee gemaakt. Inge jouw verrassende kreten vanachter de computer waren een bijzondere, gezellige en spontane afleiding. Vera, dankzij jou heb ik een snelle en welkome start bij IPCI gehad. Leuk dat we in de toekomst opnieuw collega's worden. Kartini, ik was telkens pleasantly suprised and amused door jouw

tomeloze en bizarre verhalen. Sandra, altijd alles op orde, jammer dat we maar zo kort overlap hadden in de kliniek.

Technische ondersteuning van IPCI, Marcel, Mees, Kris; een IPCI-medewerker kan geen onderzoek doen zonder correcte data en hardwerkende en gedisciplineerde medewerkers die altijd open staan voor vragen. Marcel, ik ben blij dat ik met je heb mogen samenwerken en je (eindeloze) inzet en gedrevenheid onder andere in het Barrett-project heb mogen ervaren. Je bood me tevens (minder naïeve) inzichten in de IPCI data. Mees, ik weet niet hoe vaak ik 'mijn scherm kwijt was' en jij de redder in nood. Kris, tja, zelfs collega's kwamen mij bij jou op de kamer zoeken. Ik heb zowel met als om (het laatste misschien iets meer dan het eerste) je gelachen (alhoewel ik ook mijn eigen bijdrage hierin had...); en toch ook wel ergens wat geleerd, ik hoop dat dat wederzijds is. Het secretariaat; Tineke: bedankt voor de gezelligheid, Desiree: je hulp heeft het daadwerkelijke promoveren een stuk makkelijker gemaakt. Carmen en Wendy, dankzij jullie organisatiehulp van twee drukke agenda's kon ik zowel Ernst als Miriam tegelijk zien. Sander, de koffieleuter ga ik missen. Formulieren invullen was niet zo spetterend, maar ze bij jou inleveren was altijd erg gezellig. Zubair, during our projects I enjoyed and laughed a lot together with you. I will remember the Hello Kitty ride in Taipei, your needless desire for the mango smoothie and the Zub-air internet possibilities. Osemeke, my sweet and always smiling dance partner in crime! Toke, ik kijk uit naar de nog te komen concerten. Maria, jouw hulp bij verschillende projecten was van doorslaggevende waarde om ze met een mooi resultaat te kunnen afsluiten. Katia, ondanks dat we niet samen hebben gewerkt, heb ik altijd erg kunnen lachen met en om je Belgische leuzes, begrippen en ook hilarische verhalen, zo zal ik de ananas en theedoos niet vergeten. Nico, je had altijd een praktisch antwoord indien ik met een dataprobleem zat. IPCI group members, thanks for the interesting discussions during the meetings, relaxing moments near the coffee machine, fun at conferences and the small talk in the hallway.

Special words of thanks to international researchers I worked with. I would like to thank the SOS members for their dedication to finalize the work. Vera, je onuitputtelijke enthousiasme en betrokkenheid gaven altijd een welkom inzicht. Silvana, thank you for your enormous commitment in SOS and SAFEGUARD. To all collaborators of the SAFEGUARD consortium, with whom I've had fruitful and fun consortium meetings, long discussions about definitions, but also important methodological issues. Thank you for the nice collaboration. Ingrid, samen als PhD student begonnen op dit project, ik wens je veel succes met afronden van je proefschrift; en Peter, dank voor je inzet, lach maar vooral ook geduld tijdens het opnemen en monteren van de video. John, thank you for welcoming me warmly in the DoPE group in Boston. I enjoyed our discussions about many fundamental and heterogeneous pharmacoepidemiological topics. From the Århus group; besides our short and efficient collaboration also a lovely city to have visited with a new insight into Danish opthalmology.

Remadora's, ondanks dat we verspreid over het land zitten, streven we gelijke doelen na. Ben benieuwd naar de toekomstperspectieven van jullie allemaal. Op nog vele avondjes, promoties en gezelligheid. Marloes, onwijs gaaf dat je ook jouw bijdrage hebt willen leveren aan mijn proefschrift! Ik hoop dat de komende jaren de afstand van 010 - 020 nog vaak door ons bereisd wordt. Never a dull moment with you!

Collega-onderzoekers van de Maag-, Darm-, en Leverziekten; hoewel ik op afstand zat, voelde ik me dankzij jullie enthousiasme en betrokkenheid altijd verbonden. Ik dank jullie voor leerzame en gezellige binnen- en buitenlandse congressen. Ook collega-onderzoekers van de pharmaco-epidemiologie groep, dank voor jullie gezellige, mopper, ontspannen theemomenten en sociale controle om me op zijn tijd achter mijn computer vandaan te trekken.

Myrte, met een gedeelde achtergrond vanuit het mooie Maastricht zijn we allebei in Rotterdam terecht gekomen en vandaag een gelijktijdige afsluiting! Met jouw positiviteit en je aanstekelijke lach was ieder koffie/theemoment, fietstocht, vakantie, culturele expeditie een ware ontspanning. Marjolein, ik ben blij dat ons pad heeft gekruist. Zowel frustraties als blijdschap met elkaar gedeeld de afgelopen jaren wat voor gelijkgestemde gedachtes en meningen heeft gezorgd, af en toe tot hilariteit leidend. Ik vind het een eer dat je mij wilt bijstaan vandaag. Arnout, ongelofelijk leuk dat we de laatste fase in Boston ook samen hebben mogen ervaren. Dank voor de fijne momenten samen.

Ook een woord van trots aan mijn liefdevolle oma's; daadkrachtige en zelfstandige vrouwen aan wie ik een goed voorbeeld heb kunnen nemen. Lieve Ward, dank voor je wijze woorden op 14 december 2011. Naast een leerzame periode de afgelopen jaren, heb je me herinnerd om vooral ook te genieten van dit traject. Ik ben trots op je dat je zo gepassioneerd en gedreven in alle aspecten door het leven gaat. Lieve pap en mam, ik kan geen woorden bedenken om jullie te bedanken voor alle jaren van onvoorwaardelijke steun en liefde. Een luisterend oor zowel dichtbij als op afstand tijdens de leuke en moeilijke tijden heeft me geholpen om mijn eigen weg te kiezen en op mezelf te vertrouwen. Jullie advies om 'te doen wat volgens mezelf goed voelt' gaat me nauw aan het hart.

Gwen
ABOUT THE AUTHOR



Gwen Marilou Cootje Masclee was born on December 11th 1987 in Nijmegen, the Netherlands. She attended the Stedelijk Gymnasium Leiden in Leiden in 2000 where she graduated in 2005 (*cum laude*) with a combined profile in both biology and science. In the same year, she started medical school at Maastricht University. During her study she completed two internships at the University Hospital of Leuven in Leuven, Belgium. She performed one internship at the department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology and one at the department of Internal Medicine. Furthermore, she became interested in scientific research and conducted a scientific internship within the laboratory of Medical Microbiology in collaboration with

the department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology at the University Hospital Maastricht. In 2011 she obtained her Master of Science degree in Medicine. Directly following, she started her PhD traject as described in this thesis. Gwen was tutored by Prof. Miriam Sturkenboom, Prof. Ernst Kuipers and dr. Preci Coloma. During her PhD traject she obtained a Master of Science degree in Clinical Epidemiology at the Netherlands Institute for Health Sciences (NIHES) in Rotterdam. She has collaborated in the SAFEGUARD project and conducted research as a research fellow at the Department of Pharmacoepidemiology and Pharmacoeconomics (DoPE) at the Brigham and Women's Hospital (Harvard Medical School) in Boston (Massachusetts, USA) under supervision of John Seeger.

As of October 2015 she started her Internal Medicine residency (Sint Franciscus Hospital, Rotterdam, program director dr. A.P. Rietveld) as part of the formal training in Gastroenterology and Hepatology at Erasmus University Medical Center in Rotterdam. She will also follow residency in Deventer (Deventer Hospital, program director dr. F. ter Borg) and finalize her training at the Erasmus Medical Center (head of Gastroenterology and Hepatology department prof. dr. M. Bruno and program director prof. dr. R.A. de Man).

